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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”) of Wheels Up Experience Inc. (“Wheels Up”, or “we”, “us”, “our” or the “Company”), contains
certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Forward-looking statements provide current expectations of future circumstances or events
based on certain assumptions and include any statement, projection or forecast that does not directly relate to any historical or current fact. Forward-looking
statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other important factors, many of which are outside of the control of Wheels Up,
that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include, but are
not limited to, statements regarding: (i) Wheels Up’s growth plans, the size, demand, competition in and growth potential of the markets for Wheels Up’s service
offerings and the degree of market adoption of Wheels Up’s member programs, charter offerings and any future services it may offer; (ii) the potential impact of
Wheels Up’s cost reduction and operational efficiency initiatives on its business and results of operations, including timing, magnitude and possible effects on
liquidity levels and working capital; (iii) Wheels Up’s fleet modernization strategy first announced in October 2024, its ability to execute such strategy on the
timeline that it currently anticipates and the expected commercial, financial and operational impacts to Wheels Up; (iv) Wheels Up’s liquidity, future cash flows and
certain restrictions related to its indebtedness obligations, as well as its ability to perform under its contractual and indebtedness obligations; (v) Wheels Up’s ability
to achieve positive Adjusted EBITDA (as defined herein) in the future pursuant to the most recent schedule that it has announced; (vi) the potential impacts or
benefits from pursuing strategic actions involving Wheels Up or its subsidiaries or affiliates, including, among others, acquisitions and divestitures, new debt or
equity financings, refinancings of existing indebtedness, or commercial partnerships or arrangements; and (vii) the impacts of general economic and geopolitical
conditions on Wheels Up’s business and the aviation industry, including due to, among others, fluctuations in interest rates, inflation, foreign currencies, taxes,
tariffs and trade policies, and consumer and business spending decisions. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “can,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“future,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “strive,” “would” and similar expressions may identify forward-
looking statements, but the absence of these words does not mean that statement is not forward-looking. We have identified certain known material risk factors
applicable to Wheels Up in this Annual Report under Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors,” Part II, Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations,” and elsewhere in this Annual Report. It is not always possible for us to predict how new risks and uncertainties that arise from time to
time may affect us. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance upon any forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date made. Except as required
by law, we do not intend to update any of these forward-looking statements after the date of this Annual Report.
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RISK FACTORS SUMMARY

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that represent challenges that we face in connection with our go-forward strategy and growth plans.
The occurrence of one or more of the events or circumstances described in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report may adversely affect our business,
prospects, results of operations and financial condition. Such risks include, but are not limited to:

We may not be able to successfully implement our growth strategies or realize the expected benefits of our member program changes and operational
efficiency and cost reduction initiatives.

We have a history of net losses, have not consistently generated positive cash flow from operations and our operating results are expected to be difficult to
predict.

We may be unable to execute our fleet modernization strategy first announced in October 2024 on the timeline that we currently anticipate or may fail to
realize the expected benefits from such strategy.

We periodically evaluate strategic transactions which involve risk, and we are exposed to the risk of a decrease in demand for private aviation services. In
addition, our business is primarily focused on certain targeted geographic regions, which makes us vulnerable to risks associated with having
geographically concentrated operations.

The private aviation industry is highly competitive.
Delta Air Lines, Inc. (“Delta”) may have the right to terminate its commercial agreements with us.

The loss of key personnel upon whom we depend on to operate our business or the inability to attract additional qualified personnel could adversely affect
our business. In addition, the supply of pilots is limited and increases in our labor costs may adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition. We may also be subject to unionization, work stoppages, slowdowns or increased labor costs.

We may never realize the full value of our tangible and intangible assets and the residual value of our owned aircraft may be less than estimated.
If we face problems with any of our third-party service providers, our operations could be adversely affected.

Significant reliance on relatively few original equipment manufacturers of aircraft, engine and parts poses risks to our business and prospects.
We may incur substantial costs in connection with our leased aircraft.

We are exposed to operational disruptions and costs due to maintenance and repairs of our aircraft, and we may be unsuccessful in balancing the mix of
maintenance activities handled at our facilities and by third parties.

Significant increases in fuel costs could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

As an aviation business, we are affected by air and ground traffic congestion, airport restrictions, air traffic control inefficiencies, security measures and
regulatory requirements.

Extreme weather, natural disasters and other adverse events could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

The operation of aircraft is subject to various risks, and our failure, or the failure of the aviation industry, to maintain an acceptable safety record may have
an adverse impact on our ability to obtain and retain



members and customers. We could also suffer losses and adverse publicity stemming from any accident involving our aircraft models operated by third
parties.

Terrorist activities, geopolitical hostilities or other security events may adversely impact our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Any damage to our reputation or brand image could adversely affect our business or financial results. If our efforts to continue to build our strong brand
identity and improve member satisfaction and loyalty are not successful, we may not be able to attract or retain members and customers. Any failure to
offer high-quality customer support may harm our relationships with our members and customers.

If third-party operators that we rely on to provide certain flights to our members and charter customers do not perform adequately or terminate their
relationships with us, our costs may increase and our business, prospects, operations, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely
affected.

If we are unable to maintain sufficient insurance coverage, it may adversely affect our business and financial condition.

An inability to keep up with and implement technology for our business or a failure in our technology or the technology of our service providers or
breaches of the security of our information technology infrastructure may harm our reputation and adversely affect our business and financial condition.

Our obligations in connection with our contractual agreements, including operating leases and debt financing obligations, could impair our liquidity.

Our ability to obtain additional financing or refinance our existing debt obligations in the future on terms we deem attractive or access the capital markets
may be limited.

We are subject to significant governmental regulation and changes in government regulations imposing additional requirements and restrictions on our
operations could increase our operating costs and result in service delays and disruptions.

We may become involved in litigation or other legal proceedings that may materially adversely affect us. If we are unable to protect our intellectual
property or are found to infringe on the intellectual property of others, we may incur significant expense and our business may be adversely affected.

Certain stockholders have significant influence over the Company.
We may fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls.

We have consummated dilutive issuances of Common Stock in the past and we may undertake additional dilutive issuances of equity securities in the
future and the price of our equity securities may be volatile.. Future resales of our Common Stock may cause the market price of our securities to drop
significantly.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, dated November 15, 2023 (“Certificate of Incorporation”), and Amended and Restated By-Laws,
effective November 15, 2023 ( “By-Laws” and together with the Certificate of Incorporation, our “Organizational Documents™), and the Investor Rights
Agreement (as defined in Part I, Item 1 “Business™ herein) include provisions limiting voting and control by non-U.S. Citizens.



PART 1.
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Wheels Up is a leading provider of on-demand private aviation in the U.S. and one of the largest companies in the industry. Wheels Up offers a complete global
private aviation solution with a large and diverse aircraft fleet, backed by an uncompromising commitment to safety and service. Our offering is delivered through a
mix of our member programs and charter solutions that strategically utilize our owned and leased aircraft fleet and an “asset-light” charter model to deliver a greater
range of global travel alternatives. In addition, our first-of-its-kind partnership with Delta Air Lines, Inc. (“Delta”) provides our members and customers with a
seamless offering across both private and premium commercial travel.

Our Offerings and Services

We offer numerous services to our members, customers and industry partners, and generate the majority of our revenue from flights through our member
programs and charter solutions. Flight revenue includes revenue earned from member and customer flights, whether as part of Wheels Up Membership or Wheels
Up Charter, and from the use of pre-purchased dollar-denominated credits that can be applied to future costs, including flight services, annual membership fees and
other incidental costs such as catering and ground transportation (“Prepaid Blocks”). Membership revenue includes fees paid for Wheels Up’s annual membership,
which provides members with access to one of the world’s largest combined fleets of owned, leased and third-party aircraft.

Over time, our member programs and global charter offerings have evolved to meet the varying needs of private fliers across the markets we serve. In June
2024, we announced our newly aligned offerings — Wheels Up Membership and Wheels Up Charter — which we believe simplify the private aviation experience for
our members and customers, provides attractive benefits for the full spectrum of private fliers, and grants private fliers the freedom to tailor each trip to their
specific needs. We expect our service offerings will continue to evolve as we implement our fleet modernization strategy and fully integrate new aircraft types into
our operations.

Join Up: Wheels Up Membership

Private fliers with predictable annual spend can utilize Wheels Up Membership, where a small annual fee and purchase of Prepaid Blocks unlock increased
flexibility and expanded global access and for certain fliers, guaranteed availability and recovery within the continental U.S., U.K. and Europe, subject to certain
terms and conditions. Wheels Up Membership also provides access to an enhanced lifestyle program of events, experiences and member benefits. Wheels Up
members have the opportunity to earn Delta Diamond Medallion® status based on their qualifying Wheels Up spend and use Prepaid Blocks to purchase discounted
Delta flights and receive other benefits with Delta, in each case subject to certain terms and conditions. All membership options provide access through the Wheels
Up mobile app and website to charter flights and dynamic pricing.

Wheels Up Membership provides varying benefits and services that we believe suit a range of existing and potential individual and business private fliers.
Wheels Up Membership offers a simplified on-ramp to private flying with less complexity and lower up-front cost compared to traditional competitive private
aviation programs. Wheels Up Membership is comprised of two primary membership categories — Individual and UP for Business:

*  Our Individual membership, when paired with the purchase of a Prepaid Block, affords members with preferential benefits, such as capped hourly rate
pricing in high density travel regions in the U.S. along the east coast, west coast and travel in between (our “Primary Service Area”), greater aircraft
availability, including during peak demand days, access across cabin classes and, depending on the size of the Prepaid Block, guaranteed availability and
recovery within the continental U.S., U.K. and Europe, subject to certain terms and conditions. The flexibility of our Individual membership is designed
for individual fliers, as well as business fliers that opt to purchase Prepaid Blocks at more modest levels.

*  Our UP for Business membership consists of small and medium enterprise, and custom enterprise solutions for business fliers that tend to spend at higher
levels than individual members. Whether Wheels Up is the primary provider of the member’s private flights or a supplementary solution to the member’s
own aircraft



operations, our UP for Business membership provides business fliers with tailored options to fit their needs. The flexibility of our offering also provides
our UP for Business members with the ability to book, purchase and manage their private travel needs and book commercial travel through Delta, all from
a single source. UP for Business members that purchase Prepaid Blocks receive enhanced benefits, including, among others, guaranteed aircraft
availability and capped or fixed hourly rate pricing, subject to certain terms and conditions.

Our member programs are designed to enhance travel benefits for our members in our Primary Service Area and utilize our charter solutions to service demand
in all regions in North America and globally. The breadth of our complementary charter solutions enables us to offer flexible global solutions to our members. In
June 2024, we enhanced our Wheels Up Membership offering by providing expanded global aircraft access and guaranteed availability and recovery outside of our
Primary Service Area in the continental U.S., U.K. and Europe, subject to certain terms and conditions, for members that purchase higher levels of Prepaid Blocks.
While capped hourly rate pricing continues to apply only in our Primary Service Area, we believe that the expansion of guaranteed availability and recovery, as well
as generally shorter aircraft call out times, position us well to deliver enhanced value, flexibility and accessibility to members with an array of flight missions. We
anticipate that these additional member benefits will be an important driver of future revenue growth.

In general, members pay for their flights based on either a capped or fixed rate associated with a Prepaid Block or dynamic pricing depending on the specific
mission. Capped and fixed rates are based on cabin class and rules associated with the applicable Prepaid Block. The cost of a flight is based on the quoted amount
at time of booking. For trips that are charged based on a capped or fixed rate, the cost of the trip is calculated by multiplying the applicable capped or fixed rate by
the estimated flight and taxi time with minimum flight hours for each cabin class and adding applicable fuel costs, fees and taxes.

Fly Up: Wheels Up Charter

For travelers who are looking to pay as they go, Wheels Up Charter allows members and non-member customers to book charter trips with no upfront costs for
everything from a family vacation to a multi-stop, international business itinerary. Wheels Up Charter is a global solution that leverages the capabilities of our
domestic charter teams and the global capabilities of our subsidiary Air Partner Limited (“Air Partner”), which allows us to offer options to suit virtually every
charter need through our international network of trusted partners. Our charter offerings customize the member and customer experience for short- or long-haul
flights with bespoke private jet arrangements or group charters, including for commercial-size charters with large passenger groups of 15 or more, sports teams,
global corporate events and tour operations. Wheels Up Charter complements Wheels Up Membership and provides a leading solution for members and non-
member customers wishing to fly globally through attractive market-based pricing and personalized alternatives.

In June 2024, we announced enhancements to Wheels Up Charter intended to incentivize and reward frequent charter bookings. Wheels Up Charter customers
earn rewards for each flight equal to a 2% flight credit for every $50,000 spent on charter flights and Delta Diamond Medallion® status after achieving qualifying
flight spend, subject to certain terms and conditions. In addition, we have transitioned our Connect and Core “pay-as-you-fly” memberships to our charter business.
We expect that this transition will result in cost savings to these customers that did not previously enjoy the capped or fixed hourly rate pricing. We believe that
Wheels Up Charter provides users of our platforms with a greater range of flight alternatives and is an important part of our value proposition and position in the
private aviation industry.

In general, charter customers pay for their flights based on dynamic pricing depending on the specific mission. Our ability to source a wide variety of aircraft
from a geographically diverse set of operators, as well as Wheels Up operated aircraft to the extent there is excess capacity, allows us to present an array of travel
options to our charter customers. The cost of a charter flight is based on the quoted amount at time of booking and includes applicable fuel costs, fees and taxes.



Other Activities & Services

In addition to our Wheels Up Membership and Wheels Up Charter offerings, we provide wholesale charter services to customers such as charter flight brokers
and third-party operators. Our wholesale customers typically pay us an agreed fixed rate for a flight that we operate on their behalf, which varies based on factors
such as the aircraft type and date of the flight, and in turn sell the flight to their own retail customers.

We also generate Other revenue from group charter flights, cargo flights, maintenance, repair and operations services (“MRO”), fixed-base operator (“FBO”)
services, safety and security services, and special missions, including government, defense, emergency and medical transport.

We believe that these primarily non-member facing activities and services complement our core private aviation business and provide additional sources of
revenue.

Service Delivery
Controlled Fleet

We fulfill both Wheels Up Membership and Wheels Up Charter flights using our owned and leased fleet of aircraft, depending on the specific mission of the
member or customer. We believe that use of our controlled aircraft fleet to fulfill Wheels Up Membership flights allows us to better control our operations and cost
structure, while maintaining high levels of service. In addition, we use our controlled fleet to opportunistically fulfill Wheels Up Charter demand, which we believe
enhances the value proposition for our dynamically priced flights, and will drive increased efficiency in our operations aircraft utility and incremental revenue
generation opportunities during periods of higher aircraft availability. We believe that tailoring the composition and size of our controlled aircraft fleet to meet the
varying demands of private fliers will continue to be an important part of our service delivery and long-term strategy. See “Aircraft Assets” included in Part I, Item
2 “Properties” in this Annual Report for more information about our controlled aircraft fleet and our current fleet modernization strategy.

Relationships with Third-Party Operators

We complement flight activity fulfilled on our controlled aircraft fleet with flights fulfilled by independent third-party operators. Our relationships with third-
party operators provide access to a wide variety of aircraft to meet the specific mission of the member or customer, supply additional aircraft to more efficiently
service flight requests in diverse geographies and during peak demand periods and widen the aperture of dynamically priced flights we offer our members and
customers. The availability of third-party aircraft also enables more cost-efficient member flying outside of our Primary Service Area and guaranteed availability
and recovery within the continental U.S., U.K. and Europe for certain member fliers that purchase Prepaid Blocks. Our dedicated team of charter brokers and other
aviation professionals both in the U.S. and globally, including our Air Partner team, leverage our relationships with third-party operators to facilitate global
passenger, cargo, emergency and government services on behalf of our customers. We have devoted, and expect to continue to devote, significant resources to
growing our relationships with third-party operators as we expand our charter offerings alongside our member programs.

Member Experience
Sales and Account Management

We have developed a sales organization to capitalize on the various lead generation efforts and customer acquisition channels of our business, including
through our partnership with Delta. Our sales organization consists of experienced inside sales, field sales, strategic enterprise sales, corporate sales and charter
sales professionals who sell and market both Wheels Up Membership and Wheels Up Charter offerings. Through our first-of-its kind industry partnership with
Delta, we also cross-collaborate on targeted sales efforts intended to showcase the breadth of our private aviation solutions and Delta’s premium travel offerings.

Charter sales are generally handled by our global team of charter brokers or direct inquiries to our charter quotation team. We also have a Wheels Up account
management team that is in regular contact with our members and educates them on the benefits of Wheels Up Membership. Account managers serve as dedicated
private aviation



consultants for members with respect to evaluating options for specific flights and their overall Wheels Up relationship. Our account management team plays a
critical role in driving membership renewals and the purchase of Prepaid Blocks. This team also assists members in activating Delta and other partner benefits.

Member Relationships

We are dedicated to delivering a superior flight experience worth repeating to our members and customers. Retention of our existing members is essential to the
growth of our business. We drive retention by taking a holistic view of the member journey, from onboarding to the member’s booking and flight experience and
extending to every moment of member engagement thereafter. We believe each of these touchpoints is an essential element of the overall member experience. Our
member experience team monitors member engagement and is tasked with driving an exceptional experience. We believe the feedback loop facilitated among our
members and customers, member experience team and account managers is important to consistent improvement in our service delivery and value proposition to
current and prospective members and customers.

Competition & Strategic Outlook

The private aviation industry is highly competitive and fragmented, with operators providing an array of service options primarily in the forms of whole aircraft
ownership, fractional aircraft ownership, aircraft management, lease-based models, jet cards, membership programs, charter solutions and wholesale operations.
Many private jet operators only provide one service option; however, larger operators are increasingly adding service options to serve the diverse needs of their
customers and better utilize their aircraft assets. These different service models result in drastically different business and operating models, as well as significantly
different levels of up-front and ongoing financial commitment required by the customer. We compete with providers across all of the incumbent categories. This
means we also experience the same cycles in these industries as our competitors, which is generally marked by periods of rapid expansion that result in short-term
supply constraints, followed by periods of more moderate growth that provide opportunities for consolidation. We expect that competition in the private aviation
industry will remain strong.

We believe that our diversified offering of both membership-based programs and global charter solutions produces significant advantages over our competitors
and can be scaled to meet the varying needs of a wider array of private fliers across our global platform. We look to take advantage of our market opportunities by
elevating the following priorities:

Creating Exceptional Customer Experiences

Our goal is to create an exceptional member and customer experience worth repeating. We have built an industry-leading brand that creates broad consumer
awareness, offerings designed to attract new and retain existing members and customers, and a first-of-its-kind partnership with Delta that provides our members
and customers with unmatched premium commercial travel benefits. We believe that our Wheels Up Membership and Wheels Up Charter offerings uniquely
position us to provide these experiences to members and customers of varying types. We also offer Wheels Up members with a lifestyle program that enhances the
member experience beyond our core aviation offerings, which includes celebrations around popular sports and cultural events, partnerships with certain of the
world’s top lifestyle brands and other benefits, such as third-party luxury concierge, vacation and travel experience providers. We expect to continue to build and
tailor our platform to meet the varying needs of private fliers.

Leveraging the Scale of Our Network

Wheels Up Membership and Wheels Up Charter are designed to address the needs of a wide range of individual, business and other private fliers. We utilize
our controlled aircraft fleet to support both Wheels Up Membership and Wheels Up Charter flights depending on the member’s or customer’s specific mission. We
also have access to a large global network of safety-vetted charter operators. Together, our controlled aircraft fleet and global network of third-party operators
position us to provide our members and customers with the right aircraft for their mission, and give them the opportunity to select a mode of travel that works best
for their specific needs.



We have made, and expect to continue to make, significant investments in our brand, aircraft fleet, service offerings, sales network and technology, including
through strategic acquisitions, and have advanced our development of a comprehensive platform that we believe would take years and significant investment of
capital to replicate in its scale and breadth of offering. We believe that leveraging the scale of our operations and breadth of our global charter relationships are
important drivers of our long-term member and customer value proposition, as well as financial performance.

We also believe that the varying needs of individual, business and other travelers presents an opportunity to drive long-term growth and profitability outcomes.
Historically, individual members travel at the highest rates during peak periods, such as weekends, holidays and warmer months, while business members travel
more evenly over weekdays and outside of peak holiday periods. This balance among natural demand patterns in our member base presents a significant
opportunity to leverage the scale of our operations and network to drive aircraft utility, while delivering a range of mission-specific solutions to our diverse member
and customer base. Over the last several years, we have made operational and maintenance-related improvements intended to drive aircraft availability and
reliability, while supporting higher volumes of flight activity. We believe that the opportunity to scale our business while maintaining balanced growth among
individual and business members will contribute meaningfully to our overall growth and ability to reach and sustain profitability in the future.

Enhancing Our Strategic Relationship with Delta

Our first-of-its-kind partnership with Delta allows us to address the needs of our members and charter customers across both private and premium commercial
travel. Wheels Up members and charter customers have the unique opportunity to earn Delta Diamond Medallion® status and receive other benefits with Delta, in
each case subject to certain terms and conditions. In addition, through our long-term Commercial Cooperation Agreement with Delta (as amended and restated, the
“CCA”), we have partnered with Delta’s sales teams to target individual, business and other potential customers through targeted sales efforts and co-branded
experiences. We believe that our ability to work alongside Delta to enhance our sales and marketing efforts, operations and corporate management will ultimately
improve our value proposition and the services that we offer our members and customers. We also anticipate that our partnership with Delta will allow us to further
evolve our service offerings and business in the future at a rate that meets or exceeds that of the rest of the industry, which we believe will provide additional
growth and profitability opportunities as we continue to mature. We continue to collaborate with Delta on additional commercial and strategic partnerships to
provide our members and customers with premium travel experiences worth repeating.

Evolving Our Strategic Development and Integration Initiatives

We have completed multiple strategic transactions to accelerate our growth and the breadth of our private aviation offerings. As we focus on delivering
exceptional customer experiences worth repeating and achieving more profitable operations, our execution plan includes the following priorities:

*  Our Fleet Modernization Strategy — We have tailored, and continue to tailor, our fleet of controlled aircraft across all cabin class categories to meet the
needs of our members and customers. In October 2024, we announced our current fleet modernization strategy, which we expect will result in the
transition from the operation of four current private jet models - Cessna Citation CJ3, X, and Excel/XLS and Hawker 400XP aircraft - to two different
private jet models - Embraer Phenom 300 series and Bombardier Challenger 300 series aircraft - while we continue to operate our Beechcraft King Air
3501 turboprop aircraft. We believe that our current fleet modernization strategy, latest member program changes and the growth of our charter offerings
position us well to deliver a greater range of global travel alternatives and leverage our network for future growth.

*  Driving Demand to Our Platform — We believe that we have created a hard-to-replicate service offering that meets the diverse flying needs of individual,
business and other customers. We believe that our sales channels and marketing efforts are crucial to identifying and converting potential members and
customers. In addition, our strategic relationship with Delta provides exposure to high-value Delta individual and corporate customers. We view our ability
to drive member and customer demand through new member
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acquisitions, retention of existing members and customers, and increasing customer interest and utilization of our platform, as well through the success of
our operations, as important drivers of our long-term success.

*  Realizing the Benefits of Strategic Transactions — Over the past several years, we made substantial progress to further integrate past acquisitions, realize
cost savings and rationalize our asset portfolio. In the third quarter of 2023, we sold our aircraft management business to an unaffiliated third-party in order
to focus on our core flight services business, which removed complexity in our business related to the consolidation of our U.S. Federal Aviation
Administration (“FAA”) operating certificates as part of our integration and efficiency efforts. In the fourth quarter of 2024, we acquired 17 Embraer
Phenom 300 series aircraft, as well as related maintenance assets and an existing customer program, from GrandView Aviation LLC, and immediately
introduced the Phenom fleet into our operations in furtherance of our fleet modernization strategy. We are continuing to expand the delivery of our charter
solutions globally through Air Partner, whose deep experience with global charter brokerage gives us the opportunity to extend additional benefits to our
members and customers. We also implemented, and continue to pursue, additional measures to fully integrate past acquisitions and realize cost savings in
areas that do not directly impact the member and customer experience. We expect that our continued efforts to integrate and optimize past acquisitions, as
well as acquire new members and customers, are important to pursuing more profitable long-term growth.

Effective Deployment of Leading Technology

We believe that technology and data science will continue to play a key role in our operations and strategic decision making in the future. We have invested
significantly in extending our technology and data intelligence platforms to support a growing global aviation solutions business offered through industry-leading
mobile and web experiences. We continue to accelerate our use of automation to remove manual processes and improve real-time decision making across our
commercial operations. Our technology and automation investments have also begun to enable more streamlined processes with certain aspects of Delta’s business
in furtherance of our commercial partnership and objectives.

Our global aviation solutions platform comprises three main elements: intuitive digital front-end interfaces; a middle tier supported by data-driven optimization
and pricing algorithms; and a back-end featuring a comprehensive flight operations platform, with connectivity to a network of third-party operators, supported by
our cloud-based flight management system, UP FMS. Our provision of the UP FMS system facilitates fleet optimization for our controlled fleet of aircraft and
provides a pathway for third-party operators to access Wheels Up flight demand. We are also actively working to enhance UP FMS and the Wheels Up mobile app
and website to attract more members, customers and operators, which we anticipate will drive additional benefits through fleet optimization and greater availability
of “asset-right” aircraft availability.

Operations
Air Carrier Operations & Certificate Consolidation

Wheels Up currently provides its passenger air carrier services through two FAA Part 135 (as defined below) operating certificates across our consolidated
subsidiaries:

*  Wheels Up Private Jets LLC (“WUPJ”) is an FAA Part 135 operator and additionally holds a FAA Part 145 repair station certificate. WUPJ provides
private aircraft charter services, and FBO and MRO services. It operates tech service centers strategically located across the country, which provide
comprehensive MRO facilities and services for aircraft operated by WUPJ and WUP LLC (as defined below).

*  Wheels Up Partners LLC (“WUP LLC”) is an FAA Part 135 operator providing private aviation charter services and the registered owner of all of our
owned aircraft fleet, including Wheels Up branded aircraft.

Since 2022, we have taken substantial operational and regulatory-driven actions to simplify our flight operations by harmonizing our procedures across the
entire company, which includes a reduction in the number of FAA
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operating certificates under which we operate from five at the beginning of 2023 to two at the end of 2024. Steps we have taken to execute our FAA operating
certificate consolidation plan include:

* In February 2023, we consolidated our Cessna Citation CJ3 aircraft to one FAA operating certificate;
* In September 2023, we sold our non-core aircraft management business, which included the disposition of the two related FAA operating certificates;

* In November 2023, the FAA approved the movement of our Cessna Citation Excel/XLS fleet to WUPJ, which already included our Hawker 400XP fleet,
and we completed the fleet transition in March 2024;

+ In March 2024, the FAA issued operational authority that allowed us to transition our Beechcraft King Air 3501, Cessna Citation CJ3 and Cessna Citation
X aircraft fleets to a single FAA operating certificate held by WUPJ;

* InJune 2024, we completed the transition of our Beechcraft King Air 3501 fleet to WUPJ;

* In July 2024, we satisfied FAA gatekeeping milestones allowing for the transition of our owned and leased Cessna Citation X fleet to WUPJ and
transitioned all of our Cessna Citation X aircraft to WUPJ,

* In October 2024, the FAA approved our revised certificate consolidation plans addressing the streamlined addition of the Embraer Phenom 300 and
Phenom 300E, and Bombardier Challenger 300 and Challenger 350 aircraft types to the WUPJ FAA operating certificate;

* In December 2024, we consolidated the FAA operating certificate held by our former subsidiary, Mountain Aviation, LLC (“Mountain Aviation”), with that
of WUP LLC through the merger of Mountain Aviation and WUP LLC; and

* InJanuary 2025, the FAA approved the addition of the Embraer Phenom 300 and Phenom 300E aircraft types to the WUPJ FAA operating certificate, and
we immediately began transferring our controlled aircraft to WUPJ.

We expect our FAA operating certificate consolidation and related operational efficiency efforts, including the anticipated addition of the Bombardier
Challenger 300 and Challenger 350 aircraft types to the WUPJ FAA operating certificate in March 2025, will continue to contribute meaningfully to our service
delivery, fleet modernization plan and financial results in future periods. See “Principal Domestic Regulatory Authorities” below for additional information on our
FAA Part 135 and FAA Part 145 certificate operations.

Controlled Fleet Flight Operations

Our operations team is integral to our ability to provide flight and non-flight services to our members and customers. Our operations team operates nationwide
and includes team members that facilitate booking, flight scheduling, destination transportation and other member services. Our operations team members are either
located on-site at certain airport locations or at our state-of-the-art Member Operations Center located in the Atlanta, Georgia area (the “Atlanta Member Operations
Center”), which opened in May 2023. Since the opening of the Atlanta Member Operations Center, we have already experienced, and expect to continue to see,
additional improvements in our service delivery and operations. We believe that our experienced operations team is vital to providing smooth experiences for our
members and customers, and to ensuring safe operation of our flights.

Charter Operations

Wheels Up Charter is supported by a dedicated team of charter brokers and other aviation professionals both in the U.S. and globally. In addition, we leverage
our Air Partner team’s expertise in global charter solutions to provide customers and businesses with global passenger, cargo, emergency and government services.
We believe that our ability to provide global charter solutions to our members and customers is a unique advantage and important part of our value proposition. We
have devoted, and expect to continue to devote, significant resources to growing our global charter offerings alongside our member programs.
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Seasonality

The private aviation industry is subject to seasonal fluctuations and changes in economic conditions. Our operations, including Flight revenue, are typically
favorably affected by increased utilization of our aircraft in the summer months and close in time to major U.S. holidays. In addition, we have historically
experienced the highest volume of Prepaid Block purchases in the fourth quarter of each calendar year.

Fuel

Our operations are impacted by changes in the price and availability of aircraft fuel. We have pricing agreements with various fuel providers located across the
U.S., primarily at FBOs or with local airport authorities, pursuant to which we receive agreed upon pricing for fuel and handling/facility fees at each location. We
are currently able to obtain adequate supplies of aircraft fuel. For Wheels Up operated flights, we apply a fuel surcharge to the cost of the flight when the cost of Jet
A fuel, as published by the Argus U.S. Jet Fuel Index™, is more than $2.00 per gallon. We calculate the fuel surcharge based on estimated billable flight time.
Charter customers pay fuel costs for charter flights on third-party operated aircraft as part of the total invoiced cost of the flight. Our direct exposure to fluctuations
in aircraft fuel prices for such arrangements is limited; however, changes in aircraft fuel prices can result in fluctuations in the demand for certain aircraft types,
service models or private aviation services generally. See the caption titled “Significant increases in fuel costs could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations” in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report for additional information about risks related to aircraft fuel.
We also bill fliers for a carbon offset fee for each hour of flight time, which is intended to offset the costs related to the environmental impact from our flight
operations.

Safety

Each and every day, our passengers trust us with their lives, and it is paramount that we consistently reinforce this trust with our actions and words. This begins
with our uncompromising commitment to safety as our core value.

Safety is a cornerstone of our culture. We view compliance with FAA regulations as a minimum baseline for our commitment to safety. We go beyond FAA
minimum requirements by setting higher safety standards in areas of pilot experience, certification (licensing), training, safety programs and many others.

Wheels Up has implemented and maintains voluntary Safety Management Systems (“SMS”) across its FAA operating certificates, that conform to FAA
regulatory requirements for SMS. SMS is a formal, top-down, organization-wide means to identify hazards, mitigate the risk associated with those hazards, collect
safety data and act on that data to improve the safety of our operations. Each SMS is managed by a Director of Safety and a team of dedicated professionals trained
on the elements of SMS. A key component of our SMS is the Aviation Safety Action Program (“ASAP”). ASAP is a non-punitive safety program that enables
employees such as pilots, maintenance technicians and dispatchers to report safety related events for review by Wheels Up and the FAA with the purpose of
implementing corrective actions. Additional non-punitive safety reporting programs are in place for employees that are not covered by the ASAP.

In addition to our internal safety management efforts, the Wheels Up operating entities are voluntary participants in audits from a number of third-party
aviation safety organizations and independent audits by certain corporate clients, as well as the U.S. Department of Defense. These audits are opportunities to have
outside experts review and contribute to the continuous improvement of our SMS.

Pilots

Every Wheels Up flight is operated by pilots that meet stringent training and flight-hour requirements, which exceed the FAA’s requirements and training
criteria. Each Captain must hold current an FAA Airline Transport Certificate. Each pilot is required to be qualified pursuant to our FAA approved training program
in the aircraft they fly, as well as hold a valid First-Class Medical Certificate.

We have a rigorous pilot selection process that includes background and safety record screenings. This screening process includes in-person technical
interviews and written examinations, as well as a flight simulator
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assessment if appropriate. Successful candidates must also complete mandatory initial and recurrent advanced aircraft ground and flight training in a full-motion
simulator. This training is also completed annually.

We have entered into agreements with multiple industry leading third-party suppliers to provide factory-authorized training for our pilots. These agreements
provide training availability to Wheels Up pilots throughout the year for both initial and recurrent pilot training in exchange for a fixed price per training slot.

Aircraft Maintenance and Repairs

We maintain and repair our controlled aircraft to ensure the safety of our passengers, assets and the surrounding environment where we operate. Aircraft
maintenance and repair consists of scheduled and unscheduled maintenance performed during line maintenance and scheduled maintenance events. Our
maintenance and repair process also includes procedures designed to maintain the FAA airworthiness certificate of each controlled aircraft in good standing.

Line maintenance consists of daily and weekly scheduled maintenance inspections, including pre-flight, daily, weekly and overnight checks. Line maintenance
also includes any unscheduled items requiring repair on an as-needed basis. Based on the location where line maintenance occurs, work may be performed by
Wheels Up employees, as in the case of a Wheels Up facility, or by a Wheels Up mobile service unit (“MSU”) team, or by an FAA-authorized and Wheels Up
vetted third-party maintenance provider.

Scheduled airframe maintenance inspections are defined by the applicable original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) maintenance inspection program and are
a function of flight hours, flight cycles and/or calendar-based intervals. We attempt to package these airframe maintenance inspections into strategically timed
maintenance periods, with the goal of minimizing maintenance downtime while meeting the OEM’s requirements. This work may be performed by Wheels Up or
by a qualified third-party maintenance provider.

Scheduled engine hot section repairs and overhauls are performed in accordance with the OEM’s requirements and vary by engine model. Engine repairs and
overhauls are primarily driven by engine hours, engine cycles and/or calendar-based intervals. Except for certain basic maintenance activities which Wheels Up is
able to perform itself, engine maintenance, scheduled or unscheduled, is performed by Wheels Up’s contracted third-party maintenance providers. We are also a
party to engine maintenance program agreements (the “Program Agreements”) covering certain engine maintenance and overhauls on Pratt & Whitney Canada
Corp. (“Pratt and Whitney”) and Rolls-Royce Corporation (“Rolls-Royce”) aircraft engines for certain of our controlled aircraft, including our Embraer Phenom
300 series and Cessna Citation X and Excel/XLS jet fleets, and our Beechcraft King Air 350i turboprop aircraft. We anticipate that as we add additional aircraft to
our fleet, we will implement similar engine maintenance and overhaul agreements covering the engines for those aircraft. We may also negotiate additional long-
term maintenance agreements covering our controlled aircraft fleet depending on market dynamics and the fleet type.

In support of the maintenance of our fleet, we operate various maintenance facilities under FAA Part 135 or FAA Part 145 in support of our planned and
unplanned maintenance activities where Wheels Up has both the capability and the capacity. Following a comprehensive review of our maintenance and repair
activities, in 2024, we took actions to rationalize our maintenance facility footprint to meet our future anticipated needs and repositioned our MSUs in key markets
throughout the U.S. to perform line-maintenance work. In the future, we expect to focus the majority of our in-house maintenance activities at our four primary
controlled maintenance facilities. To the extent Wheels Up does not have the capability and/or capacity to perform maintenance or repairs in-house, we have entered
into certain long-term agreements with certain qualified vendors to perform maintenance on our aircraft, aircraft components and engines, generally at agreed upon
work-scopes and pricing.
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Government Regulation

We are subject to government regulation at federal, state, local and international levels. The scope of these regulations is exceedingly broad, covering a wide
range of subjects that includes, but is not limited to, those summarized below.

Principal Domestic Regulatory Authorities
U.S. Department of Transportation (“DOT”)

DOT is the principal regulator of economic matters in the aviation industry. As applied to our business, under Title 14 of the Code of Federal Regulations (“14
C.F.R.”) Part 298, DOT oversees the operations of our subsidiaries that operate as air taxis (i.e., on-demand operators of small aircraft with less than 20 passenger
seats). This includes economic authority to conduct business as an on-demand air carrier, as well as consumer protection and insurance requirements that are
applied to the conduct of such business. In 14 C.F.R. Part 380 (“Part 380”), DOT also approves and oversees the performance of public charters that may be
arranged by a non-air carrier public charter operator for the purpose of offering to the public charter flights that will be performed by an identified air carrier at a
predetermined date and time (in contrast to the on-demand, or as-needed/where-needed, character of our air taxi operations).

DOT also regulates how we advertise and hold out services. In 14 C.E.R. Part 295 (“Part 295”), DOT oversees the sale, holding out and arrangement of single
entity charter air transportation (or the entire capacity of an aircraft, in contrast to public charter flights which are sold by the seat). We are subject to DOT
jurisdiction as an “air charter broker” under Part 295 in offering and selling our membership program for single-entity charters and in acting as an agent for
members and customers in arranging flights. We are also subject to DOT’s jurisdiction as a “ticket agent” as defined by 49 U.S.C. Section 40102(a)(45). In every
aspect of our business subject to DOT’s jurisdiction, we are subject to DOT’s statutory and regulatory authorities to prohibit and enforce against engaging in
“unfair” or “deceptive” practices and unfair methods of competition pursuant to 49 U.S.C. Section 41712. DOT also promulgates and enforces consumer protection
regulations to which we are subject.

Importantly, DOT also enforces U.S. laws governing the citizenship of air carriers. For our air carrier subsidiaries to maintain their air carrier licenses,
registrations and other authorizations to hold out and operate services, we must ensure that DOT’s citizenship requirements are satisfied. This means that those air
carriers must be under the actual control of U.S. citizens (as defined in 49 U.S.C. Section 40102(a)(15)) and must satisfy certain other requirements, including that
each air carrier’s president/chief executive officer and at least two-thirds of its board and other managing officers are U.S. citizens and that at least seventy-five
percent of its voting stock is owned and controlled, directly and indirectly, by U.S. citizens. The amount of non-voting stock that may be owned or controlled by
non-U.S. citizens is limited as well.

U.S. Federal Aviation Administration
The FAA is the principal regulator of safety matters in the aviation industry. The FAA’s regulations touch on many aspects of civil aviation, such as:

+ the design and manufacturing of aircraft, engines, propellers, avionics and other key components (collectively the “aircraft,” as used below), including
engine noise and other environmental standards;

+ the inspection, maintenance, repair and registration of aircraft;
» the training, licensing or authorizing and performance of duties by pilots, cabin attendants and maintenance technicians;
» the testing of safety-sensitive personnel for prohibited drug use or alcohol consumption;

» the design, construction and maintenance of runways and other airport facilities;



» the operation of air traffic control systems, including the management of complex air traffic at busy airport facilities;
» the certification and oversight of air carriers;

* the establishment and use of SMS by air carriers;

+ the promotion of voluntary systems to encourage the disclosure of data that may aid in enhancing safety; and

» the oversight and operational control of air carriers by key personnel, including directors of operations, directors of maintenance, chief pilots, chief
inspectors and directors of safety.

There are numerous FAA regulations that may impact our operations and business. They include but are not limited to the following Parts found in 14 C.F.R.

*  “Part 5” contains the rules that govern the requirements and processes of SMS applicable to air carriers operating pursuant to Part 135. These rules govern
the methods and tools used to identify hazards, mitigate the risk associated with those hazards, collect safety data, act on that data to improve the safety of
air carrier operations and an affirmative requirement to promote a safety culture.

*  “Part 91” contains the general operating rules for flight safety. These rules govern all flight operations, including private and commercial operations,
except to the extent that the commercial operations are subject to additional rules found in other parts of the FAA regulations.

*  “Part 135” contains additional rules that apply to commercial “on-demand” operations. “On-demand” operations include flights for which the departure
location, departure time and arrival location are specifically negotiated with the customer or the customer’s representative as well as passenger-carrying
operations conducted as a public charter under Part 380.

*  “Part 145” contains the rules that govern the performance of aircraft maintenance at certificated repair stations. These include requirements related to the
quality of the facility, the qualifications of personnel and what type of repair or inspection work is authorized for performance there.

As the operator of our nation’s air traffic control system, the FAA has an especially vital role to play in the management of air traffic, including congestion at
the busiest airports and in the busiest air corridors. Also, in the case of a security threat, unusual environmental risk, or other emergency, the FAA has authority to
shut down segments of airspace or even the entire U.S. airspace to civilian use.

U.S. Transportation Security Administration (“TSA”)

As an agency of the Department of Homeland Security (“DHS”), TSA is the principal regulator of security matters in the aviation industry. Among other things,
the TSA regulates the standard security programs in use by U.S. airports and aircraft operators. These programs include elements relating to the training of flight
crews, checking the identity and screening of passengers, application of security watch lists and cooperation in threat assessments and responses.

U.S. Customs and Border Protection (“CBP”)

CBP, also an agency of DHS, is the principal regulator of customs and immigration matters affecting the aviation industry and enforcer of certain public health
matters affecting the aviation industry. Whenever our air carrier operations include an international flight segment, we must provide CBP with an advance
disclosure of passenger information, facilitate CBP’s inspection of baggage and help ensure the proper disposal of any foreign-originating refuse on the aircraft.
CBP also oversees entry and clearance into the U.S., including with respect to exports and imports, and issues landing rights approvals for aircraft arriving in the
U.S. from abroad.
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U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”)

The EPA is the principal federal environmental regulator. In January 2021, the EPA promulgated new rules relating to the greenhouse gas emissions from
carbon fuels used in aircraft engines for aircraft manufactured or in-production on or after January 1, 2028. This will bring about a change in future aircraft engine
designs and approvals and eventually require replacement of engines in future years. This area of regulation is not yet settled. It still is subject to change based on
domestic and international laws and standards intended to address global environmental issues, making it impossible to say how such developments might impact
our business in the future. The costs of complying with environmental laws were insignificant for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Local Airport Authorities

The vast majority of airports where we fly are owned and operated by state and local government entities. These airport authorities claim the right to impose
certain safety, security and other regulations so long as they do not conflict with U.S. federal law. Airport authorities also have extensive property rights that
empower them to impose conditions on leasing and using airport facilities. The terms on which an airport authority might lease or allow use of its property (or other
property and services at an airport) can, at times, be on terms less favorable than would be customary for real estate or other transactions outside of an airport
environment.

These regulatory authorities have the ability to stop a part or all of our business and flight operations such as by suspending or revoking our certifications or
other authorizations. They also have the ability to impose monetary fines and other civil penalties and to make referrals for criminal prosecution. These actions may
occur with little or no notice, depending on the circumstances as perceived by the regulators in their discretion.

Foreign Regulatory Authorities

Most foreign countries have their own regulatory authorities that parallel those found in the U.S. The complexity of interaction with the foreign regulators can
be magnified by differences in language, culture, legal and social norms, tax and budgetary practices and perspective on economic development and competition.

Privacy and Data Protection

We process personal information and other customer data, including sensitive data for certain members, customers and employees, and we rely in part on third-
parties that are not directly under our control to manage certain of these operations and to process such personal information, including payment information. Our
internal cyber team manages our cybersecurity and data privacy and protection measures, and we use outside consultants and software to assist with threat
protection. We are subject to increasing requirements by regulatory authorities and other third parties regarding the processing of personal information and other
data relating to individuals. Because our technology platform is an integral aspect of our business, compliance with laws governing processing and protecting
personal data is necessary for us to achieve our objective of continuously enhancing the user experience of our mobile application and marketing site. A variety of
federal, state, local, municipal and foreign laws and regulations, as well as industry standards (such as the payment card industry standards) govern the processing
and security of this information including but not limited to, the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) and the U.K. Data Protection Act
2018 (“U.K. DPA”). Laws and regulations relating to privacy and data protection are continually evolving and subject to potentially differing interpretations. These
requirements may not be harmonized, may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another, or may conflict with other
rules or our practices. As a result, our practices may not have complied or may not comply in the future with all such laws, regulations, requirements and
obligations. The failure to comply with such data protection and privacy regulations can result in fines, penalties and the enforcement of any non-compliance,
which could significantly impact our business operations.

Intellectual Property

The protection of our technology and other intellectual property is an important aspect of our business. We seek to protect our intellectual property, including
our technology and confidential information, through a combination of
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trademarks and trade secret protections, as well as contractual commitments and security procedures. We own certain trademarks important to our business and
brand, such as the “Wheels Up” and “Air Partner” words and design marks, and certain domain names, including “wheelsup.com” and “airpartner.com.” We
generally require our employees and consultants to enter into confidentiality agreements and certain third parties to enter into non-disclosure agreements. We
regularly review our technology development efforts and branding strategy to identify and assess the protection of new intellectual property.

Environmental

Federal, state, local and foreign laws, regulations and ordinances relating to, among other things, the protection of the environment and noise, including those
relating to emissions to the air and the use, management, disposal and release of, and exposure to, hazardous substances, oils and waste materials, have the potential
to adversely impact our operations and the private aviation industry. Our primary controlled aircraft operating locations are in the U.S.; however, we conduct charter
operations and other services globally. Our maintenance facilities and owned fueling operations are subject to numerous regulations, ordinances and permitting
requirements in the locales in which they sit. We have established controls and procedures related to our environmental compliance processes and continue to
evolve these processes as we expand.

Climate change concerns and resulting new legislation may in the future play a significant role in how we develop our business, new technologies that we may
be required to implement and the jurisdictions in which we operate. New laws may come in various forms, including more stringent emissions requirements, the
mandated use of certain aviation fuel types or fuel efficiency requirements, or required public disclosures about our carbon footprint. We are committed to reducing
the environmental impact of our aircraft fleets, as well as the long-term environmental effects of our overall operations. Over time, we expect to offset the carbon
impact of our flight operations through the purchase and retirement of applicable carbon credits or through other established and vetted mechanism. We are also
examining other sustainability initiatives, including the potential use of sustainable aviation fuel and long-range investments in other sustainability solutions, as
well as operational improvements, fleet planning initiatives, sustainable practices at our facilities and waste reduction initiatives across our operations.

Employees

As of December 31, 2024, Wheels Up and its consolidated subsidiaries had 1,866 employees, including 1,807 full-time employees and 59 part-time employees.
We employ approximately 475 pilots across our aircraft fleet. Approximately 78% of our employees are based in the U.S., with the remaining employees in Europe
and other territories. The decrease in the number of employees as of December 31, 2024 from the prior fiscal year was primarily a result of actions to streamline the
Company’s organization and reduce headcount in areas of the business that do not directly impact the Company’s operations or its members’ and customers’
experience, as well as actions to optimize the number of aircraft in our controlled fleet. We anticipate onboarding pilots and certain operations and maintenance
personnel as part of our fleet modernization strategy, including in connection with the addition of additional Embraer Phenom 300 series and Bombardier
Challenger 300 series aircraft to our fleet. We are also offering certain existing pilots the opportunity to re-train in these aircraft types to support the transition.

Our success is built upon creating and delivering highly competitive rewards for everyone. Our goal is to maximize the impact of the Wheels Up team by
attracting, engaging and retaining the most talented, dedicated and passionate people in the marketplace. To position Wheels Up at the forefront of competitive
rewards programs in order to attract and retain top talent, we continue to take a progressive approach in the provision of comprehensive benefits. We consistently
evaluate our rewards programs in light of changes in market practices and seek to design comprehensive compensation programs that align the goals of employees
with those of our stockholders. We currently offer an array of attractive benefits, including: (i) multiple counseling sessions offered through employee assistance
programs, that support employees and their families’ mental and emotional well-being; (ii) health plan coverage for infertility assistance; (iii) domestic partner
health plan coverage; (iv) health plan coverage for gender reassignment surgery; and (v) parental leave for both birth and non-birthing parents, including adoption
or foster care.
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Corporate History and Structure
Overview

Wheels Up was formed on July 1, 2013. On July 13, 2021 (the “Business Combination Closing Date”), Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company (“WUP”), consummated a business combination with Aspirational Consumer Lifestyle Corp. (“Aspirational”), a New York Stock Exchange
(“NYSE”) listed blank check company. Upon consummation of such business combination, WUP became a subsidiary of Wheels Up Experience Inc., and
beginning July 14, 2021, our shares of Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value per share (“Common Stock™), began trading on the NYSE under the ticker symbol
“Up”.

Wheels Up is a holding company with no direct operations. Wheels Up conducts its business through its direct subsidiary, WUP, and WUP’s operating
subsidiaries, including, among others, WUPJ and WUP LLC. In addition, Wheels Up conducts substantially all of its operations outside of North America through
Air Partner, which provides charter broking and other aviation-related services across four continents.

2023 Credit Agreement & Common Stock Issuances

On September 20, 2023, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement (the “Original Credit Agreement”), by and among the Company, as borrower, certain
subsidiaries of the Company as guarantors (collectively with the Company, the “Loan Parties”), Delta, CK Wheels LLC (“CK Wheels”), Cox Investment Holdings
LLC (“CIH” and collectively with Delta and CK Wheels, the “Initial Lenders”), and U.S. Bank Trust Company, N.A., as administrative agent for the Lenders (as
defined below) and as collateral agent for the secured parties (the “Agent”), which was subsequently amended by Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement, dated
November 15, 2023 (the “First Credit Agreement Amendment” and collectively with Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement, dated November 13, 2024 and the
Original Credit Agreement, the “Credit Agreement”), by and among the Company, as borrower, the other Loan Parties party thereto, as guarantors, the Initial
Lenders, certain other lenders named therein (collectively, the “Incremental Term Lenders” and together with the Initial Lenders, the “Lenders”), and the Agent.
Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, (i) the Lenders provided a term loan facility (the “Term Loan”) in the aggregate original principal amount of $390.0 million and
(ii) Delta provided commitments for a revolving loan facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) in the aggregate original principal amount of $100.0 million.

In connection with the transactions contemplated by the Credit Agreement, the Company entered into an Investment and Investor Rights Agreement on
September 20, 2023 (the “Original Investor Rights Agreement”), by and among the Company and the Initial Lenders, which was subsequently amended by
Amendment No. 1 to Investment and Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of November 15, 2023 (the “First Investor Rights Agreement Amendment” and
collectively with the Original Investor Rights Agreement, Amendment No. 2 thereto, dated September 22, 2024, and the Investor Rights Agreement Joinders (as
defined below), the “Investor Rights Agreement”), by and among the Company and Initial Lenders. Substantially concurrently with entering into the First Investor
Rights Agreement Amendment, the Company and Initial Lenders entered into joinders to the Investor Rights Agreement (collectively, the “Investor Rights
Agreement Joinders”) with each Incremental Term Lender (or its applicable affiliate), pursuant to which each Incremental Term Lender (or its applicable affiliate)
joined the Investor Rights Agreement and assumed the rights and obligations of an Additional Investor (as defined in the Investor Rights Agreement) thereunder,
including the right to receive a pro rata portion of the Investor Shares. Pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement, the Company issued, in two separate private
placements on September 20, 2023 and November 15, 2023, 671,239,941 shares of Common Stock in the aggregate to the Lenders. Such shares of Common Stock
were issued such that as of November 15, 2023, each Lender had been issued a pro rata portion of such shares equal to the proportion of its participation in the Term
Loan.

The Investor Rights Agreement sets forth certain rights and obligations applicable to the Lenders and the Company, which include, among others, the right of:
(x) Delta to designate and remove four directors to the Board so long as Delta continues to hold at least 75% of the shares of Common Stock issued to Delta
pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement; (y) CK Wheels to designate and remove four directors to the Board, so long as CK Wheels continues to hold at least
75% of the shares of Common Stock issued to CK Wheels pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement; and (z) CIH to designate and remove one director to the
Board, so long as CIH holds at least



30% of the shares of Common Stock issued to CIH pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement. In addition, certain Lenders have agreed to limit the number of
shares of Common Stock they are entitled to vote at any meeting of the Company’s stockholders or for the purpose of consummating any consent solicitation, as
follows:

*  CK Wheels may not vote more than 24.9%, less the Whitebox Non-U.S. Voting Percentage (as defined below, if any), of the Company’s issued and
outstanding shares of Common Stock as a result of restrictions on voting imposed on holders who may be deemed not to be a “citizen of the United States”
pursuant to 49 USC § 40102(a)(15)(C) (the “Citizenship Limitation”), Article X of the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation,
dated as of November 15, 2023 (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), and the Investor Rights Agreement;

*  Each of Pandora Select Partners, L.P., Whitebox Multi-Strategy Partners, L.P. and Whitebox Relative Value Partners, L.P. (collectively, the “Whitebox
Non-U.S. Entities”) may not vote more than 0.043%, 0.595% and 0.362% (collectively, the “Whitebox Non-U.S. Voting Percentage”), respectively, of the
Company’s issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock as a result of the Citizenship Limitation and pursuant to Article X of the Certificate of
Incorporation and the Investor Rights Agreement;

* by agreement with Delta, any shares of Common Stock in excess of 29.9% held by Delta will be neutral shares with respect to voting rights and voted in
proportion to all other votes cast (“for,” “against” or “abstain”) other than by Delta.

The additional shares owned by CK Wheels in excess of 24.9%, less the Whitebox Non-U.S. Voting Percentage (if any), and the additional shares owned by the
Whitebox Non-U.S. Entities in excess of the Whitebox Non-U.S. Voting Percentage, in each case will not be counted as issued and outstanding for purposes of
counting votes and will not count for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present at any meeting of the Company’s stockholders.

Information About the Company

Wheels Up’s corporate headquarters is located at 2135 American Way, Chamblee, Georgia 30341. Our telephone number is (212) 257-5252 and our internet
address is www.wheelsup.com. The information on, or that can be accessed through, such website is not deemed incorporated in, and does not form a part of, this
Annual Report. The website address is included as an inactive textual reference only.

Available Information

We make available free of charge on our website at www.wheelsup.com/investors, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, our
Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after these reports are filed with or furnished to the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The SEC also maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding
issuers that file electronically with the SEC. The Company’s filings with the SEC are available to the public on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. The information
on, or that can be accessed through, such websites is not deemed incorporated in, and does not form a part of, this Annual Report. These website addresses are
included as inactive textual references only.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry

We may not be able to successfully implement our growth strategies or realize the expected benefits of our member program changes and operational
efficiency and cost reduction initiatives.

Our growth strategies include, among other things, expanding our membership and charter offerings to meet the varying needs of private flyers and enhance
our value proposition to a broader addressable market, expanding our operations in domestic and international markets, and gaining market share within the existing
markets in which we compete by evolving our service offerings and attaining operational excellence. The timely achievement of our planned strategic business
initiatives and financial goals is dependent on, among other things, our ability to continue executing on the foregoing actions and realize cost savings, refine our
service offerings, leverage our first-of-its-kind partnership with Delta, progress our fleet modernization strategy and optimize our asset base, achieve operational
excellence and develop our technology and infrastructure to support our operations. Our efforts to implement our growth and strategic business initiatives while
elevating the experiences of our members and customers are also subject to various risks outside of our control, which may adversely impact our business, results of
operations and financial condition. We may not be successful in implementing these initiatives or may fail to realize the expected benefits on the timelines that we
anticipate, which may adversely impact our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, any assumptions underlying estimates of
growth, expected cost savings, revenues, or operational or profitability goals may turn out to be inaccurate and the timing of such results may not be predicable with
certainty.

We have a history of net losses and have not consistently generated positive cash flow from operations.

We have a history of net losses and have not consistently generated positive cash flow from operations, including during years ended December 31, 2024, 2023
and 2022. Given the significant operating and capital expenditures associated with our strategic business initiatives and financial goals, we anticipate continued
variability in our net losses during the period of transition. If we do achieve profitability, we cannot be certain that we will be able to sustain or increase such
profitability, which may require, among other things, broadening and stabilizing our sources of revenue, improving our margins, strategically controlling expenses
and timely addressing changes in market dynamics. Accomplishing these objectives may require actions to optimize our asset base, make significant capital
expenditures, including with respect to our fleet modernization strategy, enter into new markets, exit existing lines of business or implement additional changes to
our member programs or charter offerings. There can be no assurance that we will be able to achieve these objectives, that the timing of any achievement will align
with our predictions or that there will not be variability in our financial results during periods of transition. If we cannot achieve and sustain profitability or raise
additional capital, our business could be materially and adversely affected, as we may not have sufficient liquidity or be able to meet our contractual obligations,
including those arising under operating leases, debt obligations and obligations to customers to provide future services for which we have already received deferred
revenue.

We may be unable to execute our fleet modernization strategy on the timeline that we currently anticipate or may fail to realize the expected benefits from
such strategy, which may adversely impact our business, prospects, operations, results of operations and financial condition.

In October 2024, we announced our current fleet modernization strategy, which we expect will result in the transition from the operation of four current private
jet models - Cessna Citation CJ3, X, and Excel/XLS and Hawker 400XP aircraft - to two different private jet models - Embraer Phenom 300 series and Bombardier
Challenger 300 series aircraft - while we continue to operate our Beechcraft King Air 350i turboprop aircraft. We expect that our fleet modernization strategy, or
future iterations of such strategy, will take a period of years to complete due to the scale of the expected changes. To execute this strategy, we will need to, among
other things, strategically acquire aircraft, whether by purchasing aircraft, entering into aircraft leases with third parties or acquiring the businesses of other private
aviation operators, sell current owned aircraft and return current leased aircraft, hire new or re-train certain pilots, operations and maintenance personnel to support
our new fleets and further tailor our Wheels Up Membership and Wheels Up Charter offerings to fully integrate the new aircraft types.
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This strategy is expected to be capital intensive and will require significant internal and external resources to achieve. During the period of transition, we may
experience variability in, or adverse impacts to, our business and operating results, financial performance, asset base and liquidity, due to, among other things,
changes in the market for purchases and sales of aircraft, increased costs associated with such strategy, the incurrence of additional indebtedness to finance the
acquisition of assets or businesses, difficulty in hiring new or re-training pilots, operations and maintenance personnel to adequately support our aircraft fleets and
our ability to timely scale and grow our service offerings alongside changes in our aircraft fleet. In addition, we may be unable to execute our current fleet
modernization plan on the timeline that we currently anticipate, or at all, or may fail to realize the expected benefits from such strategy, which may adversely
impact our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition, or frustrate our ability to achieve our financial goals.

We periodically evaluate strategic transactions involving our business, including acquisitions, divestitures, joint ventures, mergers and similar transactions,
which involve risk and may adversely affect our ability to execute our strategic business initiatives or achieve our financial goals.

We frequently consider opportunities to acquire or merge with other entities, or acquire assets, products or technologies that may enhance our service offerings
or operations, expand the breadth of our markets or customer base, advance our strategic business initiatives, help us achieve our financial goals or otherwise
improve the long-term performance or value of the Company. We also evaluate divestitures, joint ventures and other strategic transactions in furtherance of these
goals. Any such transaction could be material to our business, results of operations and financial condition, involve substantial execution risk and result in the
payment or receipt of different types of consideration, such as cash, the issuance of additional dilutive equity securities or the assumption or issuance of
indebtedness. If we elect to pursue any strategic transaction, our ability to successfully implement and realize benefits from such transaction would depend on a
variety of factors, including the requirement to obtain third-party consents from our lenders, regulators or other constituencies, or the imposition of additional
restrictive agreements or covenants that limit our operating flexibility or the ability to enter into future strategic transactions. As a result of the risks inherent in such
transactions, we cannot guarantee that any future transaction will be completed or integrated successfully, or that it will ultimately result in the realization of our
anticipated benefits. Such transactions, including the timing thereof, may also have a material adverse impact on our business, prospects, results of operations and
financial condition.

Certain of the Company’s stockholders, including Delta, CK Wheels and CIH, collectively own a substantial majority of the outstanding shares of our Common
Stock, have consent or approval rights as lenders under our Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility, and have the contractual right to designate a total of nine of
the twelve directors on our Board of Directors as of the date of this Annual Report. As a result, such stockholders may exhibit significant influence over the
Company, including with respect to commercial and strategic transactions involving such stockholders and other strategic business initiatives. Such transactions
may be in the form of commercial partnerships, joint ventures, the issuance of additional dilutive equity interests, the implementation of leasing structures or sale-
leaseback arrangements, commercial understandings and licensing arrangements, or transactions that result in the Company’s capital stock no longer being publicly
traded. The announcement or consummation of any such strategic transaction may materially adversely impact our business, prospects, results of operations and
financial condition, or may result in significant volatility in the market for, and trading price of, our Common Stock or the Warrants (as defined herein). See also
“— Certain stockholders, which are also lenders to the Company, have significant influence over the Company.”

We are exposed to the risk of a decrease in demand for private aviation services.

Demand for private aviation services has fluctuated significantly in recent years due in part to the COVID-19 pandemic, geopolitical events and trends in the
behavior of private flyers. We face significant competition from participants in both the private aviation and commercial air travel industries. We have also made
changes to our member programs that aim to leverage our density and scale in certain geographic regions and utilize dynamically priced charter services for flights
outside of those regions. If demand for private aviation services or success in selling efforts were to decrease in the markets in which we compete, this could result
in, among other things, slower new member growth in our core geographic regions, a decline in membership renewals, lower demand for charter flight services, a
reduction in aggregate flight utilization and spend, and/or additional changes to our member
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programs and charter offerings, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Furthermore, we have historically relied on Prepaid Blocks as a source of capital to fund our ongoing operations and as an indicator of potential future flight
demand. Changes in demand for our offerings and services by our members and customers, or a significant shift in the mix between use of our member programs
and charter solutions, could result in a significant decrease in, or a change in the rate at which our members utilize, their Prepaid Blocks, which may significantly
impact our working capital and make future demand forecasting more difficult. Such changes could adversely impact our cash flows from operations, unexpectedly
accelerate our liquidity needs and require us to seek alternate sources of capital, including from equity or debt financings or asset sales, which may not be available
on acceptable terms or at all.

In addition, our customers may consider private air travel to be a luxury item, especially when compared to other modes of transportation, such as commercial
air travel. Any general downturn in economic, business and financial conditions that has an adverse effect on our members’ or customers’ spending habits could
decrease their demand for travel and, to the extent they travel, increase their use of other travel means considered to be more economical than our offerings and
services. In cases where sufficient hours of private flight are needed, many of the companies and individuals to whom we provide services have the financial ability
to seek alternative private aviation services should they elect to do so, which may reduce demand for our offerings and services.

The private aviation industry is highly competitive.

Many of the markets in which we operate are highly competitive as a result of the expansion of private aircraft operators, private aircraft ownership and
alternatives such as luxury commercial airline service. There are many private aviation industry participants in our primary geographic markets; however, the
industry is largely fragmented. There is also significant variability in private aviation business models, which means we compete with large global and smaller local
and regional private aviation operators. Factors that affect competition in the private aviation industry include price, reliability, safety, the regulatory environment,
professional reputation, aircraft and pilot availability, equipment and quality, consistency and ease of service, willingness and ability to serve specific airports or
regions and investment requirements. There can be no assurance that our competitors will not be successful in capturing a share of our present or potential customer
base, or that any market share gains we experience will be long lived. The materialization of any of these risks or variability in competition in the private aviation
industry could adversely affect our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

Our business is primarily focused on certain targeted geographic regions, which makes us vulnerable to risks associated with having geographically
concentrated operations.

Our member base is concentrated in North America, including the northeast, southeast, southwestern and western regions of the U.S. Our charter customer base
is more geographically diverse, but with higher levels of density in larger metropolitan areas in the U.S., U.K. and Europe. As a result, our business, results of
operations and financial condition are susceptible to regional economic downturns and other regional factors, including regulations and budget constraints, relations
among different territories and severe weather conditions, catastrophic events or other disruptions. Likewise, our international operations and customers may be
adversely affected by events outside of our control that impact their respective locales. As we seek to expand in our existing markets, opportunities for growth
within these regions will become more limited and the geographic concentration of our business may increase.

Delta may have the right to terminate its commercial agreements with us.

Our first-of-its-kind partnership with Delta is governed by the long-term CCA and other agreements contemplated thereby, the primary goals of which are to
enhance our offerings and services, provide our members and customers with unique Delta benefits and the ability to access private aviation services and premium
commercial travel across our respective platforms, join in certain marketing, communications and sales efforts, and expand other initiatives related to the
facilitation of their respective businesses. We believe that our partnership with Delta is an important aspect of the value proposition for current and prospective
members and customers. If we are not able to perform under our commercial agreements with Delta, Delta will have the right to terminate the CCA and

23



the other commercial agreements under certain circumstances, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations and
financial condition. In addition, any amendment or modification of the CCA or additional commercial agreements with Delta would require the consent of certain
stockholders under the Investor Rights Agreement, and there can be no assurance that we would be able to obtain such consents. Any inability to timely enter into
agreements with Delta on terms favorable to the Company could adversely affect our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

The loss of key personnel upon whom we depend on to operate our business, the inability to attract additional qualified personnel and increased labor costs
could adversely affect our business.

We believe that our future success will depend in large part on our ability to retain or attract highly qualified management, technical and other personnel. We
compete against commercial and private aviation operators, including the major airlines, for pilots, mechanics and other skilled labor, and some of the airlines or
private aviation operators may offer wage and benefit packages which exceed ours. We may not be successful in retaining key personnel or in attracting other
highly qualified personnel. Any inability to retain or attract significant numbers of qualified management and other personnel would have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The supply of pilots to the airline and private aviation industries is limited. Our pilots are subject to stringent pilot qualification and crew member flight
training standards, which, among other things, require minimum flight time for pilots, mandate strict rules to minimize pilot fatigue and require periodic
recertification. The existence of such requirements effectively limits the supply of qualified pilot candidates and increases pilot salaries and related labor costs. We
will also need to hire or re-train pilots rated in the aircraft types that we are transitioning to as part of our fleet modernization strategy, which could increase our
short-term and ongoing pilot training and labor costs or result in fluctuations in the number of pilots available to fly during periods of high demand. A shortage of
pilots would require us to further increase our labor costs or slow our growth plans, which would result in an increase in our operating expenses, adverse impacts to
our margins and an inability to achieve our financial goals. Such requirements also impact pilot scheduling, work hours and the number of pilots required to be
employed for our operations. In recent years, we have experienced significant volatility in pilot hiring and attrition, due in part to more pilots reaching retirement
age and industry-related factors outside of our control. To achieve our financial and operating goals on the expected timelines, it is important that we balance the
number of pilots we employ with the number of aircraft in our fleet and demand, as well as accurately forecast pilot attrition and hiring needs. If our forecasts are
inaccurate and we do not effectively balance the number of pilots we employ with demand, or the supply of pilots becomes constricted, our operations and financial
results could be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, our results of operations and financial condition may be adversely impacted if we are unable to train or re-train pilots in a timely manner. Due to an
industry-wide shortage of qualified pilots, pilot training timelines have fluctuated in recent years based on limited availability of flight simulators, instructors and
related training equipment. Although we have taken measures to secure pilot training resources and flight simulator availability, the training of our pilots may not be
accomplished in a cost-efficient manner or in a manner timely enough to support our operational needs.

Due to the flexibility on the types of aircraft used to fulfill our flights and the breadth of our unscheduled flight activity, we may not have access to a qualified
pilot at the departure location. Our pilots rely on commercial airlines and other modes of transportation to reach departure locations. Any disruption to commercial
airline activity or the availability of other modes of transportation may cause us to delay or cancel a flight, or experience higher costs than expected, and could
adversely affect our reputation, business, results of operation and financial condition. See “—Aviation businesses are often affected by factors beyond their control
including: air traffic and ground congestion at airports; airport capacity rvestrictions,; air traffic control inefficiencies, increased and changing security measures;
changing regulatory and governmental requirements,; new or changing travel-related taxes; any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition.”
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We may be subject to unionization, work stoppages, slowdowns or increased labor costs and the unionization of our pilots, maintenance workers and
inflight crewmembers could result in increased labor costs.

Our business is labor intensive and while our employees, particularly our pilots, maintenance and operations personnel, are not currently represented by labor
unions, we may, in the future, experience union organizing activities of our pilots, maintenance or operations personnel, or other crewmembers. In such cases, we
would likely be required to negotiate in good faith with the group’s certified representative concerning a collective bargaining agreement, which may result in
significant disruptions and adverse public attention. Such union organization activities could lead to work slowdowns or stoppages, which would be disruptive to
our operations and could harm our business. In addition, union activity could result in demands that may increase our operating expenses and adversely affect our
business, results of operations, financial condition and competitive position.

We may never realize the full value of our tangible and intangible assets, including goodwill or our long-lived assets, which has caused us to, and may
cause us in the future to, record impairments that may materially adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

In accordance with applicable accounting standards, we are required to test our indefinite-lived intangible assets, including goodwill, for impairment on an
annual basis, or more frequently where there is an indication of impairment. We are also required to test certain of our other assets for impairment where there is
any indication that an asset may be impaired, such as our market capitalization being less than the book value of our equity. In recent years, we have realized non-
cash, pre-tax impairment charges related to goodwill, including during each of the three months ended September 30, 2022, December 31, 2022, June 30, 2023, and
September 30, 2023, for our WUP Legacy reporting unit (excluding Air Partner), as a result of, among other things, changes in our business plan and forecasts and
fluctuations in the trading price per share of our Common Stock. In addition, in the first quarter of 2025, the Company expects to record a non-cash, pre-tax
impairment charge related to a right of use asset associated with vacated corporate office space.

Quantitative impairment assessments are sensitive to key assumptions, such as expected future cash flows, the degree of volatility in equity and debt markets,
and our stock price. If the assumptions used in our assessments are not realized, or such assumptions change due to a change in business or market conditions
impacting our forecasts, rises in interest rates that impact our estimate of weighted average cost of capital, or if the trading price of our Common Stock declines
significantly from historical levels, it is possible that an additional impairment charge for tangible or intangible assets, including goodwill, may need to be recorded
in the future, including as a result of the effects of factors outside our control on our business and operations. In addition, we may incur impairment charges related
to certain assets as part of our strategic business initiatives, including cost control measures, or as a result of future acquisition or disposition activity.

The value of our aircraft could also be impacted in future periods by changes in supply and demand for these aircraft, including as a result of the grounding of
aircraft, which could adversely impact our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition, and cause adverse impacts to us under the agreements
governing our indebtedness obligations. See also “—The residual value of our owned aircraft may be less than estimated in our depreciation policies.”

An impairment loss related to our tangible or intangible assets, including goodwill, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and
financial condition. In addition, an impairment loss that is based on, among others, changes in business or market conditions impacting our forecasts, the weighted
average cost of capital or the market price of our Common Stock, may adversely impact the perception of the Company held by stockholders, investors, members
and customers, which in turn may adversely impact our business, prospects, results of operations, financial condition and the volatility and trading prices for our
Common Stock. See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Note 6, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, and Note 20, Subsequent Events in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report for additional information
about impairment and non-cash, pre-tax impairment charges realized during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 or that are expected to be recorded in the
first quarter of 2025.
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The residual value of our owned aircraft may be less than estimated in our depreciation policies.

As of December 31, 2024, we had $348.3 million of property and equipment and related assets, net of accumulated depreciation, of which $297.1 million
relates to our owned aircraft. In accounting for these long-lived assets, we make estimates about the expected useful lives of the assets, the expected residual values
of certain of these assets and the potential for impairment based on the fair value of the assets and the cash flows they generate. Factors indicating potential
impairment include, but are not limited to, significant decreases in the market value of the long-lived assets, a significant change in the condition of the long-lived
assets or our use of such assets and operating cash flow losses associated with the use of the long-lived assets. If the estimated residual value of any of our aircraft
types is determined to be lower than the residual value assumptions used in our depreciation policies, the applicable aircraft type in our fleet may be impaired and
may result in a material reduction in the book value of such aircraft types or we may need to prospectively modify our depreciation policies. An impairment on any
of the aircraft types we operate or an increased level of depreciation expense resulting from a change to our depreciation policies could result in a material adverse
impact to our financial results. Similarly, any factor that may cause an impairment on any of the aircraft types we operate may result in lower appraised values for
such aircraft, which in turn could cause adverse impacts to us under the agreements governing our indebtedness obligations.

Significant reliance on relatively few original equipment manufacturers of aircraft, engine and parts poses risks to our business and prospects.

A substantial majority of our controlled aircraft fleet were manufactured by Bombardier Inc. (“Bombardier”), Embraer S.A. (“Embraer”) and Textron Inc.
(“Textron”), and as part of our fleet modernization strategy, we intend to transition more heavily to Bombardier and Embraer jets while continuing to operate many
Textron aircraft. We also rely, or expect to rely, on Honeywell, Pratt & Whitney and Rolls-Royce aircraft engines to power our controlled aircraft. We have
negotiated preferred rates with certain OEMs and other third-party service providers for maintenance services, certain component repair services and to purchase
and exchange parts. Parts and services from OEMs and other third-party service providers are subject to their product and workmanship warranties. If any of these
OEMs or other third-party service providers fail to adequately fulfill their obligations towards us or experience interruptions or disruptions in production or
provision of services due to, for example, bankruptcy, natural disasters, labor strikes or disruption of their supply chain, we may experience a significant delay in
the delivery of, or fail to receive, previously ordered aircraft, engines and parts, which would adversely affect our revenue and results of operations and could
jeopardize our ability to meet the demands of our program participants. Due to the limited number of OEMs and other third-party service providers that are
qualified to service our aircraft or that produce parts available, we are also exposed to potential rising costs passed through by such parties. In addition, if we fail to
meet our obligations or are otherwise in default under the contractual agreements with OEMs or other third-party service providers, our access to aircraft engines
and parts may become limited and we may experience adverse consequences under the agreements governing our indebtedness, each of which could adversely
impact our business, results of operations and financial condition. Although we could choose to operate aircraft of other manufacturers or increase our reliance on
third-party operators, such a change would involve substantial expense to us and could disrupt our business activities.

If we face problems with any of our third-party service providers, our operations could be adversely affected.

Our reliance upon third parties to provide essential services that enable us to operate may limit our ability to control the efficiency and timeliness of such
services, and in turn, experience disruptions or delays in our operations. We have entered into agreements with OEMs and third-party service providers for access to
various facilities and the provision of products and services required for our operations, including aircraft maintenance, ground facilities and IT services, and expect
to enter into additional similar agreements in the future. Our agreements with such third-party service providers are generally subject to termination after notice or a
stated period. If our third-party service providers terminate their contracts with us or do not provide timely or consistently high-quality service, we may not be able
to replace them in a cost-efficient manner or in a manner timely enough to support our operational needs, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition. We may also experience increased costs if we determine it is in our best interests to change from
maintenance programs facilitated through OEMs to other third-party service providers, or vice versa.
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We may incur substantial costs in connection with our leased aircraft, including for return obligations.

We lease a significant number of aircraft and other equipment used in our operations. In addition, we intend to strategically lease Embraer Phenom 300 series
and Bombardier 300 series aircraft as part of our fleet modernization strategy. Our aircraft lease agreements generally have multi-year terms, may require us to
cover all or a portion of the maintenance costs associated with the aircraft, and may contain provisions that require us to return aircraft airframes and engines to the
lessor in a specified condition or pay an amount to the lessor based on the actual return condition of the equipment. These lease return costs are recorded in the
period in which they are incurred. We estimate the cost of maintenance lease return obligations and accrue such costs over the remaining lease term when the
expense is probable and can be reasonably estimated. Any unexpected increase in lease return costs, whether due to the condition of the aircraft or the availability
and cost of any parts or equipment necessary to put the aircraft in the required return condition, may adversely impact our financial position and results of
operations. In addition, any other costs or notice requirements associated with the termination or expiration of an aircraft lease may result in significant financial
payments or limit our ability to strategically optimize our fleet, which may adversely impact our cost and fleet optimization initiatives.

We are exposed to operational disruptions and costs due to maintenance and repairs to our aircraft.

Our aircraft fleet requires regular maintenance work, which may cause operational disruption. If we are unable to perform timely maintenance and repairs to
our aircraft, our aircraft may become unavailable for extended periods or otherwise underutilized, which could have an adverse impact on our business, results of
operations and financial condition. On occasion, airframe or engine manufacturers and/or regulatory authorities require mandatory or recommended modifications
to be made across a particular fleet, which may mean having to ground a particular type of aircraft for extended periods while maintenance is performed or parts
become available to be installed. This may cause operational disruption to, and impose significant costs on, us. Furthermore, we frequently operate in remote
locations where delivery of components and parts or transportation of maintenance personnel could take a significant period of time, which could result in delays in
our ability to maintain and repair our aircraft. We often rely on commercial airlines to deliver such components and parts or transport maintenance personnel. Any
such delays may pose a risk to our business, results of operations and financial condition. Moreover, our maintenance costs could potentially increase as our fleet
ages or as we shift the types of aircraft that comprise our fleet as part of our fleet modernization strategy, and we may be unable to manage the composition of our
fleet in a manner that reduces costs due to the availability and prices for replacement aircraft and parts.

We perform certain maintenance activities internally and may be unsuccessful in balancing the mix of maintenance activities handled at our MRO
facilities and by third parties, which could impact our relationships with key vendors and have an adverse effect on our future business and results of
operations.

We operate MRO facilities and strategically shift certain maintenance and repair activities between our MRO facilities and those of third parties. The
availability of third-party maintenance and repair services is finite and geographically dispersed throughout North America. Any increase in the amount of
maintenance or repair work that we perform at our MRO facilities could adversely affect our relationships with third parties that have historically provided MRO
services to us, and from whom we expect to continue to require maintenance and other services that are in high demand. We may be unsuccessful in balancing the
mix of maintenance activities handled at our MRO facilities and by third parties, or be unable to expand our MRO activities commensurate with demand as we
execute our fleet modernization strategy, which could have an adverse effect on our future business and results of operations. In addition, performing such services
in-house internalizes the risks and potential liability for the performance of such services. If maintenance or repair services are not performed properly, this may
lead to significant damage to aircraft, injury or loss of life, adverse publicity and legal claims against us, each of which could have an adverse impact on our
business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

Significant increases in fuel costs could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Fuel is essential to the operation of our aircraft and to our ability to carry out our transport services. Fuel costs are a key component of our operating expenses.
A significant increase in fuel costs may impact flight activity by our
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members and customers, and otherwise adversely impact our revenue, operating expenses and results of operations, including our margins. Pursuant to our
agreements with members, members pay an indexed fuel surcharge that is applied when the cost of Jet A fuel, as published by the Argus U.S. Jet Fuel Index™, is
more than $2.00 per gallon, which is calculated based on estimated billable flight time. Given our contractual ability to pass on increased fuel costs, in whole or in
part, to certain of our customers and mitigate the risk with others, we do not maintain hedging arrangements for the price of fuel. However, increased fuel
surcharges may adversely affect our member retention, the demand for flight services, revenue and margins if a prolonged period of high fuel costs occurs. In
addition, potential increased environmental regulations that might require alternative fuels (e.g., sustainable aviation fuel or electrical propulsion) could lead to
increased costs. To the extent there is a significant increase in fuel costs that affects the costs of our flight operations or the amount our members and charter
customers choose to fly with us, it may have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

Abviation businesses are often affected by factors beyond their control including: air traffic and ground congestion at airports; airport capacity restrictions;
air traffic control inefficiencies; increased and changing security measures; changing regulatory and governmental requirements; new or changing travel-
related taxes; any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Like other aviation companies, our business is affected by factors beyond our control, including air traffic and ground congestion at airports, airport capacity
restrictions, air traffic control inefficiencies and staffing shortages, increased and changing security measures, changing regulatory and governmental requirements,
and new or changing travel-related taxes. Factors that cause flight delays frustrate passengers, increase operating costs and decrease revenues, which in turn could
adversely affect demand for our offerings and services and our margins. Any general reduction in flight volumes could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

In the U.S., the federal government singularly controls all U.S. airspace, and aviation operators are completely dependent on the FAA to operate that airspace in
a safe, efficient and affordable manner. The expansion of our business into international markets involves a greater degree of interaction with the regulatory
authorities of the foreign countries in which we may operate. The air traffic control system, which in the U.S. is operated by the FAA, faces challenges in managing
the growing demand for U.S. air travel and attracting air traffic controllers. U.S. and foreign air-traffic controllers rely on outdated technologies that routinely
overwhelm the system and compel aviation operators to fly inefficient, indirect routes resulting in delays and increased operational cost. Unexpected technical
system outages have occurred in the past and have resulted in the temporary grounding of all domestic commercial air traffic for periods, which adversely impacted
airlines and private aviation industry operators during the duration of the outage. There have also been recent instances where understaffing of certain U.S. and
foreign air traffic control systems have led to flight delays and cancellations and resulted in significant costs to aviation operators. These instances are capable of
repetition and may harm our business and results of operations in the future. In addition, future changes to U.S. or international air traffic control systems or
protocols could lead to increased costs, legal issues or operational inefficiencies, in each case which adversely impact our business and results of operations.

Extreme weather, natural disasters and other adverse events could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

Adverse weather conditions and natural disasters, such as pervasive thunderstorms, hurricanes, winter snowstorms, fog, mist, sea-level rise, wildfires or
earthquakes, can cause flight cancellations or significant delays and result in significant operational impacts, loss of revenue, decreased demand for our offerings
and services, and reputational harm. In addition, certain airports that we frequently utilize and certain of our facilities are in locations susceptible to the impacts of
storm-related flooding, sea-level rise and other climate-related events, which could result in increased costs and loss of revenue in those locations. We frequently fly
to small or non-primary airports without a commercial airline presence, which may not maintain the level of preparedness to continue operations during such
events. In addition, we must plan our operations around larger weather patterns or wildfires that may render vast territories inaccessible for extended periods or at
peak demand times. Cancellations or delays due to adverse weather conditions or natural disasters, air traffic control problems or inefficiencies, breaches in security
or other factors may adversely affect our flight volumes, and therefore, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition to a greater degree than other air carriers.
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Climate change-related regulatory activity and developments that may require us to reduce our emissions, make capital investments to modernize or alter our
aircraft fleet or certain aspects of our operations, purchase carbon offsets or sustainable aviation fuel, or otherwise pay for our emissions may increase our operating
costs and divert management’s attention and resources, which may have an adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.
In addition, we and other operators in the private aviation industry may be required in the future to make climate-related disclosures depending on operating
jurisdictions and status as a publicly-traded company, which could negatively impact the perception of the private aviation industry in a manner that impacts
demand or prompts additional regulation, and result in reputational harm for operators.

We could incur significant costs to improve the climate resiliency of our infrastructure and otherwise prepare for, respond to and mitigate such physical effects
of climate change on our operations. We are not able to accurately predict the materiality of any potential losses or costs associated with the physical effects of
climate change.

The operation of aircraft is subject to various risks, and our failure, or the failure of the aviation industry, to maintain an acceptable safety record may
have an adverse impact on our ability to obtain and retain members and customers.

The operation of aircraft is subject to various risks, including catastrophic disasters, collisions, crashes and mechanical failures, which may result in personal
injury, loss of life and/or damage to property and equipment. We, or other participants in the aviation industry, may experience accidents in the future. These risks
could endanger the safety of, or the perception of safety by, our members and customers, our personnel, third-parties and result in the loss of aircraft, equipment,
cargo and other property, as well as environmental damage. If any of these events were to occur, we could experience asset losses or a decline in the value of our
assets, loss of revenue, termination of customer contracts, higher insurance rates, litigation, regulatory investigations and enforcement actions, including potential
grounding of our fleet and suspension or revocation of our operating authorities, and damage to our reputation and customer relationships.

To the extent an accident occurs with an aircraft we operate or charter, we could be held liable for resulting damages, which may involve claims from injured
passengers, survivors of deceased passengers and property owners. There can be no assurance that the amount of our insurance coverage available in the event of
such losses would be adequate to cover such losses, or that we would not be forced to bear substantial losses from such events, regardless of our insurance
coverage. Moreover, any aircraft accident or other safety incident, even if fully insured, and whether involving us or other private aircraft operators, could create a
public perception that we are less safe or reliable than other private aircraft operators, which could cause our members and customers to lose confidence in us,
switch to other private aircraft operators or seek other means of transportation.

We incur considerable and increasing costs to maintain the quality of our safety program, training programs and aircraft fleet. We cannot guarantee that our
efforts will provide an adequate level of safety or an acceptable safety record. If we are unable to maintain an acceptable safety record, we may lose existing
members and customers or be unable to attract new members and customers, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of
operations and financial condition. Failure to comply with regulatory requirements related to the maintenance of our aircraft and associated operations may result in
enforcement actions, including revocation or suspension of our operating authorities. The issuance of FAA or manufacturer directives restricting or prohibiting the
use of any one or more of the aircraft types we operate could also have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations and financial
condition.

Certain aircraft models that we operate have experienced accidents while operated by third parties. If other operators experience accidents with aircraft models
that we operate, obligating us to take such aircraft out of service until the cause of the accident is determined and rectified, we may lose revenues and customers. It
is also possible that the FAA or other regulatory bodies in another country could ground a model of aircraft that we fly and restrict it from flying in their airspace. In
addition, safety issues experienced by a particular model of aircraft could negatively affect the public’s view of industry safety, result in customers refusing to use
that particular aircraft model or prompt a regulatory body to ground that particular aircraft model. The value of the aircraft model might also be permanently
reduced in the secondary market if the model were to be considered less desirable for future service, which may adversely impact our ability to comply with certain
covenants under the agreements governing our indebtedness or
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require us to post additional collateral to comply with such covenants. Such accidents or safety issues related to aircraft models that we operate could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Terrorist activities, geopolitical hostilities or other security events may adversely impact our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Terrorist activities, geopolitical hostilities or other security events, or the fear or threat of these events, have adversely impacted the aviation business in general
and may adversely impact our business, results of operations and financial condition. These events, or the fear or threat of any of these events, could cause flight
delays and disruptions or the imposition of certain travel restrictions, discourage members and customers from flying and decrease member and customer
purchases. In addition, such events, even if not made directly on or involving air travel, may result in more financial resources and time being devoted to
compliance with new regulations or heightened safety and security procedures that do not currently apply, or generally reduce the demand for private aviation
services. We cannot provide any assurance that these events will not harm the aviation industry generally or our business, prospects, results of operations and
financial condition, in particular.

Any damage to our reputation or brand image could adversely affect our business or financial results.

Maintaining a good reputation globally is critical to our business. Our reputation or brand image could be adversely impacted by, among other things, any
failure to maintain high ethical, social and environmental sustainability practices for all of our operations and activities, our impact on the environment, public
pressure from investors or policy groups to change our policies, customer perceptions of our advertising campaigns, sponsorship arrangements or marketing
programs, customer perceptions of our use of social media, or customer perceptions of statements made by us, our employees and officers, agents or other third-
parties. In addition, we operate in a highly visible industry that has significant exposure to social media. Any change in public perception of the private aviation
industry due to perceived adverse impacts on the environment and climate change may have an adverse impact on the demand for our offerings and services, and
our reputation, which could adversely affect our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition. Should we not respond in a timely and
appropriate manner to address adverse publicity, our brand and reputation may be significantly harmed. Damage to our reputation or brand image or loss of
customer confidence in our services could adversely affect our business and financial results, as well as require additional resources to rebuild or repair our
reputation.

If our efforts to continue to build our strong brand identity and improve member satisfaction and loyalty are not successful, we may not be able to attract or
retain members and customers, and our operating results may be adversely affected.

We must continue to build and maintain strong brand identity for our offerings and services. We believe that strong brand identity will continue to be important
in attracting members and customers, as well as building loyalty to Wheels Up. If our efforts to promote and maintain our brand are not successful, our operating
results and our ability to attract members and customers may be adversely affected. From time to time, our members and customers may express dissatisfaction
with our offerings and service offerings, in part due to factors that could be outside of our control, such as the timing and availability of aircraft and service
interruptions. To the extent dissatisfaction with our offerings and services is widespread or is not adequately addressed, our brand and ability to attract and retain
members and customers may be adversely affected. With respect to our expansion into additional markets, if any, we will also need to establish our brand and to the
extent we are not successful, our business in new markets would be adversely impacted.

Any failure to offer high-quality customer support may harm our relationships with our members and customers, and could adversely affect our
reputation, brand, business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

We strive to elevate member and customer satisfaction through the experience provided by our team and representatives. The ease and reliability of our
offerings, including our ability to provide high-quality customer support, is important to attract and retain members and customers. Members and customers depend
on our teams to resolve any issues relating to their experience. Our ability to provide effective and timely support is largely
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dependent on our ability to attract and retain skilled employees who can support our members and customers, and facilitate prompt, satisfactory solutions. As we
continue to grow our business and strive for operational excellence, we will face challenges related to providing quality support at an increased scale. Any failure to
provide effective and prompt customer support, or a market perception that we do not maintain high-quality support, could adversely affect our reputation, brand,
business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

If third-party operators that we rely on to provide certain flights to our members and charter customers do not perform adequately or terminate their
relationships with us, our costs may increase and our business, prospects, operations, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

While we operate a significant portion of the flights for our members and customers, we also rely on our ability to source charter services for a portion of
member and customer flight demand. The ability to source charter services from reliable third-party operators is also important to supporting guaranteed availability
and recovery in the U.S., U.K. and Europe to members who purchase higher levels of Prepaid Blocks. We expect that our charter offerings will continue to be a
significant part of our operating model. If any of our third-party operators do not fulfill their contracts and deliver their services on a timely basis, or at all, due to,
among other factors, financial difficulty, staffing shortages, security events, damages to assets, natural conditions or disasters or other disruptions to their
operations, we may be held responsible by our members and customers and suffer economic losses, as well as reputational harm.

Several of these third-party operators provide significant capacity to us that we may be unable to promptly replace if that operator fails to perform its
obligations to us. Due to aircraft supply constraints across the industry, we may be required to pay more for capacity with our third-party operators to service
flights. The failure of any third-party operators to perform to our expectations could result in delayed or cancelled flights, or increased costs, refunds or service
credits, and harm the applicable portion of our business and customer relationships. Any significant disruption to our operations as a result of problems with any of
our third-party aircraft operators could have an adverse effect on our business, prospects, operations, results of operations and financial condition.

We and certain of our competitors have established, or have attempted to establish, cooperative or strategic relationships with third-party aircraft operators.
During times of high demand and limited aircraft supply, there is significant competition for the services of third-party aircraft operators. In the past, we have
provided minimum flight guarantees, prepayments and deposits to third-party aircraft operators to secure their services. If we are unable to add new or replacement
operators over time, or otherwise source the requisite number of aircraft to service our flight demand on terms favorable to us, our business, prospects, results of
operations and financial condition could be adversely affected by significant capital or operating expenditures as we seek alternatives. In addition, if a third-party
aircraft operator fails to perform or wrongfully terminates its relationship with us under any contractual arrangement, we may take legal action to recover any
prepayments or deposits, or the benefit of our bargain under such arrangements, which may not be successful, require significant financial resources and result in
losses.

Insurance costs have risen in recent years and our insurance may become too difficult or expensive to obtain. Any inability to maintain sufficient
insurance coverage may materially and adversely impact our business, prospects, financial position and results of operations.

Hazards are inherent in the aviation industry and may result in personal injury, loss of life and property damage, potentially exposing us to substantial liability
claims arising from the operation of aircraft. We carry insurance for aviation hull, aviation liability, premises, hangarkeepers, product, war risk, general liability,
workers compensation, directors and officers liability, certain cyber risks and other insurance customary in the industry in which we operate. The number of
incidents producing insurance claims, as well as the number of insured losses within the aviation and aerospace industries, and the impact of general economic
conditions on underwriters may result in increases in premiums above the rate of inflation. To the extent that our existing insurance carriers are unable or unwilling
to provide us with sufficient insurance coverage, and if insurance coverage is not available from another source, our insurance costs may increase and may result in
our being in breach of regulatory requirements or contractual arrangements requiring that specific insurance be maintained, which may have a material adverse
effect on our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition. There can be no assurance that underwriters of our
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insurance have established adequate reserves to fund existing and future claims, which may also adversely impact us.

In addition, incidents related to aircraft operation with respect to the portion of our business where we use third-party operators are generally covered by our
third-party operators’ insurance. If our third-party aircraft operators’ insurance costs increase, such operators are likely to pass the increased costs to us, which could
in turn cause us to increase the prices paid by our customers, adversely affect demand for our offerings and services, and harm our business or prospects.

If we are unable to adequately protect our intellectual property interests or are found to be infringing on intellectual property interests of others, we may
incur significant expense and our business may be adversely affected.

Our intellectual property includes our trademarks, domain names, websites, mobile and web applications, software (including our proprietary algorithms and
data analytics engines), copyrights, trade secrets and inventions (whether or not patentable). We believe that our intellectual property plays an important role in
protecting our brand and the competitiveness of our business. If we do not adequately protect our intellectual property, our brand and reputation may be adversely
affected and our ability to compete effectively may be impaired. Our efforts to protect our intellectual property through a combination of trademark, copyright, and
trade secret laws, contracts and policies may not be sufficient or effective. Further, we may be unable to prevent competitors from acquiring trademarks or domain
names that are similar to or diminish the value of our intellectual property.

In addition, it may be possible for other parties to copy or reverse engineer our applications or other technology offerings. Moreover, our proprietary
algorithms, data analytics engines, or other software or trade secrets, including UP FMS, may be compromised by third-parties or our employees, which could cause
us to lose any competitive advantage we may have from them. Our business is subject to the risk of third parties infringing our intellectual property. We may not
always be successful in securing protection for, or identifying or stopping infringements of, our intellectual property and we may need to resort to litigation in the
future to enforce our rights in this regard. Any such litigation could result in significant costs and a diversion of resources. Further, such enforcement efforts may
result in a ruling that our intellectual property rights are unenforceable.

We may acquire or introduce new technology into our operations, which may increase our exposure to patent and other intellectual property claims. Any
intellectual property claims asserted against us, whether or not having any merit, could be time-consuming and expensive to settle or litigate. If we are unsuccessful
in defending such a claim, we may be required to pay substantial damages or could be subject to an injunction or agree to a settlement that may prevent us from
using our intellectual property or making our offerings available to customers. In addition, if an intellectual property claim requires us to seek a license to continue
our operations, we may be unable to procure a license on terms we deem attractive, or at all, and we may be required to develop non-infringing technological
alternatives, which could require significant time and expense. Any of these events could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Risks Relating to Technology, Cybersecurity and Data Privacy

A delay or failure to identify and devise, invest in and implement certain important technology, business and other initiatives could have a material adverse
impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In order to operate our business, achieve our goals and remain competitive, we continuously seek to identify and devise, invest in, implement and pursue
technology, business and other important initiatives, such as those relating to aircraft fleet structuring, UP FMS, the Wheels Up mobile app, business processes,
information technology and other initiatives seeking to ensure high quality service experience. Our business and the aircraft we operate are characterized by
changing technology, introductions and enhancements of models of aircraft and services and shifting customer demands, including due to changes in technology
preferences. Our future growth and financial performance will depend in part upon our ability to develop, market and integrate new services and to accommodate
the latest technological advances and customer preferences, including flight bookings through the Wheels Up mobile app. In addition, the introduction of new
technologies or services that compete with our offerings and services could
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result in our revenues decreasing over time. If we are unable to upgrade our operations or aircraft fleet with the latest technological advances in a timely manner, or
at all, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely impacted.

A failure in our technology or breaches of the security of our information technology infrastructure may harm our reputation and adversely affect our
business and financial condition.

The performance and reliability of the technology that we and our third-party operators use is critical to our ability to compete effectively. A significant internal
technological error or failure or large-scale external interruption in the technological infrastructures on which we and our third-party operators depend, such as
power, telecommunications or the Internet, may disrupt our internal network. Any substantial, sustained or repeated failure of the technology that we or our third-
party operators use could impact our ability to conduct our business, lower the utilization of our aircraft and result in increased costs. Our technological systems and
related data, as well as the systems and data used or managed by third parties on which we rely, may be vulnerable to a variety of sources of interruption due to
events beyond our control, including natural disasters, terrorist attacks, telecommunications failures, computer viruses, system hacks and other security issues.

In addition, as a part of our ordinary business operations, we process personal data, including sensitive personal data of our members, customers and
employees. Our information systems are subject to an increasing threat of continually evolving cybersecurity risks, including from ransomware or malware attacks,
through vulnerabilities in licensed software or hardware or the use of third-party networks that we do not control or have the ability to monitor, or as a result of
other attacks or misappropriation. In addition, a significant portion of our workforce works remotely from time-to-time and/or travels frequently, which enhances
the risk that third party actors may improperly access our data, information or systems. Methods used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service or
sabotage systems are constantly evolving and may be difficult to anticipate or to detect for extended periods of time. We may not be able to prevent future data
security breaches or unauthorized uses of data. Any breach or circumvention of our systems or the systems of third parties on which we rely may lead to disruptions
in our business operations, unauthorized access to or the loss of our ability to access competitively sensitive, confidential or other critical data or systems, a loss of
members and customers, regulatory inquiries, disputes and litigation, and material damages, including reputational damage and fines. Additionally, we rely on third
parties to help us to implement and manage our cybersecurity risks. Any measures that we take and such third parties take to avoid, detect, mitigate or recover from
material cybersecurity threats or incidents can be expensive and may be insufficient or ineffective depending on the circumstances.

Due to the nature of our operations, we rely on substantial safety and security procedures designed to ensure the safe operation of our aircraft and safety of our
members and customers. A compromise of the technology systems we use resulting in the loss, disclosure, misappropriation of, misuse, or access to, members’,
customers’, employees’, third-party operators’ or other business partners’ information, or any inability to operate our information systems, could result in legal
claims or proceedings, liability or regulatory penalties under FAA regulations and laws protecting the privacy of personally identifiable information, disruption to
our operations, heightened safety concerns given the nature of our flight operations and damage to our reputation, any, or all of which could adversely affect our,
results of operations and financial condition. In addition, as an SEC registrant, we are required to publicly report certain material cybersecurity incidents without
unreasonable delay after discovery. Any material cybersecurity incident for which public disclosure is required may result in actual or reputational damages to the
Company or result in a loss in confidence in the Company by our current and prospective members and customers, each of which could adversely impact our
business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

We rely on third-party Internet, mobile and other offerings and services to deliver our mobile and web applications and facilitate our flight management
systems, and any disruption of, or interference with, our use of those services could adversely affect our customers, business, results of operations and financial
condition.

The continuing and uninterrupted performance of our mobile and web-based applications, UP FMS and cloud infrastructure services provided by a third party
is critical to our success. While we have engaged reputable vendors to provide certain of these products or services, we do not have control over the operations of
the facilities or
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systems used by our third-party providers. These facilities and systems may be vulnerable to damage or interruption from natural disasters, cybersecurity attacks,
human error, terrorist attacks, power outages, pandemics and similar events or acts of misconduct. In addition, any changes in one of our third-party service
provider’s service levels may adversely affect our ability to meet the requirements of our customers or needs of our employees. We have experienced, and expect
that in the future we will continue to experience, interruptions, delays and outages in service and availability from time to time due to a variety of factors, including
infrastructure changes, human or software errors, website hosting disruptions, capacity constraints or external factors beyond our control. Sustained or repeated
system failures would reduce the attractiveness of our offerings and could disrupt our customers’, suppliers’, third-party vendors’ and aircraft providers’ businesses.
It may become increasingly difficult to maintain and improve our performance, especially during peak usage times, as we expand our service offerings.

We rely on third parties maintaining open marketplaces to distribute our mobile and web applications and to provide the software we use in certain of our
offerings and services, including the provision of the flight management system we utilize. If such third parties interfere with the distribution of our service
offerings, with our use of such software, or with the interoperability of our platform with such software, our business would be adversely affected.

We rely on third parties maintaining open marketplaces for downloads of our mobile application. There can be no assurance that the marketplaces through
which we distribute our applications will maintain their current structures or that such marketplaces will not charge us fees to list our applications for download.

We rely upon certain third-party software and integrations with certain third-party applications to provide our mobile and web-based applications and our
service offerings. As our offerings expand and evolve, we may use additional third-party software or have an increasing number of integrations with other third-
party applications, software, products and services. Third-party applications, software, products and services are constantly evolving, and we may not be able to
maintain or modify our platform, including our mobile and web-based applications and UP FMS, to ensure its compatibility with third-party offerings following
development changes. Moreover, some of our competitors or technology partners may take actions which disrupt the interoperability of our offerings with their own
products or services, or exert strong business influence on our ability to, and the terms on which we, operate our platform and provide our service offerings to
members and customers.

In addition, if any of our third-party providers cease to provide access to the third-party software we use, do not provide access to such software on terms that
we believe to be attractive or reasonable, do not provide us with the most current version of such software, modify their products, standards or terms of use in a
manner that degrades the functionality or performance of our platform or is otherwise unsatisfactory to us or gives preferential treatment to competitive products or
services, we may be required to seek comparable software from other sources, which may be more expensive or inferior, or may not be available at all. In addition,
faulty updates provided by certain third-party software providers may interrupt other software applications or lead to system outages, which could result in
significant operational delays or stoppages, or require significant expenditures and time to remediate. Any of these events, and downstream harm or damage to our
operations, could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Because we use software to process personal information, privacy concerns in the territories in which we operate could result in additional costs and
liabilities to us.

The regulatory framework for privacy issues worldwide is rapidly evolving and is likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future. Many government
bodies and agencies have adopted or are considering adopting laws and regulations regarding the processing and protection of personal information and breach
notification procedures. We are also required to comply with laws, rules and regulations relating to data security. Interpretation of these laws, rules and regulations
and their application to our software, offerings and services in applicable jurisdictions is ongoing and cannot be fully determined at this time.

The following restrictions and future laws and regulations could increase our exposure to regulatory enforcement action, increase our compliance costs and
adversely affect our business:
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* Inthe U.S., these include rules and regulations promulgated under the authority of the Federal Trade Commission, the Electronic Communications Privacy
Act, the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act and other state and federal laws relating to privacy and data security. Certain of the laws require disclosures about
the use of personal data, require users to be able to opt out of information sharing, create causes of actions for data breaches and/or include significant
enforcement and penalty regimes. There is some uncertainty as to how emerging federal and state privacy laws could impact our business as it depends on
how such laws will be interpreted.

*  Outside the U.S., an increasing number of laws, regulations and industry standards apply to data privacy and security. For example, the GDPR, took effect
in the European Union (“EU”) in 2018. Following the withdrawal of the U.K. from the EU, the U.K. continues to generally apply GDPR in a substantially
equivalent form. The GDPR increased covered businesses’ data privacy and security obligations and imposed stringent data privacy and security
requirements, including, for example, detailed notices about how such businesses process personal data, the implementation of security measures,
mandatory security breach notification requirements, contractual data protection requirements on data processors and limitations on the retention of
records of personal data processing activities.

We expect to continue to devote increasing time and resources to complying with emerging data privacy and information security laws, rules and regulations.
Any failure to comply with applicable laws, rules and regulations related to data security to which we are subject or may in the future be subject to could result in,
among other things, regulatory proceedings or disputes or litigation against us, losses, damages and fines, or may adversely affect our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

Risks Relating to Our Indebtedness and Contractual Obligations

Our obligations in connection with our contractual agreements, including operating leases and debt financing obligations, could impair our liquidity and
thereby harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We have significant contractual obligations, including operating leases and debt financing obligations. We expect to incur additional obligations as we continue
to develop and enhance our business and operations. We lease aircraft under long-term operating leases that include either fixed or variable rate lease payments and
certain return and end-of-lease conditions that we are obligated to satisfy upon expiration or termination of an aircraft lease, which may result in substantial
payments by the Company for the benefit of the aircraft owner in the event of expiration or termination of a lease. We also have contractual obligations to provide
future services for which we have already received deferred revenue from our members and customers, which require that we have sufficient levels of working
capital and liquidity on-hand in the future to perform such services.

Our ability to timely pay our contractual obligations as they come due, including under our operating leases, the Revolving Equipment Notes, the Term Loan
and the Revolving Credit Facility (as each term is defined in Note 8, Long-Term Debt in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report), or to perform our obligation to provide future services for which we have already received
deferred revenue from our members and customers, will depend on, among other things, our run-rate results of operations, cash flow, liquidity and ability to obtain
additional financing in the future. We can provide no assurance that our operations will generate sufficient cash flow to make any required cash payments as they
come due, including payments under any existing or future debt obligations or to fund our working capital needs, or that we will be able to obtain additional
financing in the future to fund our operations and pursuit of our strategic business initiatives. Any inability to satisfy our contractual obligations as they come due,
including any refinancing of our debt obligations on terms we deem attractive, or at all, and maintain sufficient levels of working capital could have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition, or require the Company to seek strategic alternatives that may not be
favorable to stockholders, including under bankruptcy or insolvency laws.

35



Our ability to obtain additional financing or refinance our existing debt obligations in the future on terms we deem attractive or access the capital markets
may be limited.

Our operations are capital intensive, and we require sufficient liquidity levels for our operations and strategic growth plans, including our fleet modernization
strategy. We have significant debt obligations and may seek to incur additional indebtedness in the future to fund working capital requirements, debt service
obligations, acquisitions of assets or businesses, capital expenditures and other strategic initiatives. Numerous factors may affect our ability to obtain additional
financing, refinance existing debt obligations or access the capital markets in the future on terms attractive to us, including our financial performance, operating
cash flows, asset base, liquidity, the timing of capital requirements or strategic initiatives, limited public float and market for our equity securities, credit status and
any credit ratings then assigned to us, market conditions in the private aviation industry, general economic conditions and conditions in the capital markets
generally, and the availability of our assets as collateral for future financings. Our ability to incur additional indebtedness and issue any equity or equity-linked
securities without obtaining the consent of third parties is limited under the documents governing the Revolving Equipment Notes, Credit Agreement and Investor
Rights Agreement. We can provide no assurance that external financing will be available to us in the future on terms that we deem attractive, or at all, to fund the
capital needs of our business. If we are unable to source additional financing on terms we deem attractive, or at all, our business, results of operations and financial
condition could be materially adversely affected, and we may be unable to execute our strategic goals.

Agreements governing our debt obligations include financial and other covenants that provide limitations on our business and operations under certain
circumstances. Any failure to comply with any of the covenants in such agreements could adversely impact us.

Our financing agreements, including those in connection with the Revolving Equipment Notes, the Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility, and related
guarantees, and other financing agreements that we may enter into from time to time, contain certain affirmative, negative and financial covenants, and other
customary events of default. For example, the governing documents for the Revolving Equipment Notes contain certain covenants and events of default, such as a
covenant that limits the maximum loan to value ratio of all aircraft financed under the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility, a covenant that limits the maximum
concentration of the outstanding aggregate principal amount for Revolving Equipment Notes for specified models of aircraft relative to the outstanding aggregate
principal amount of all aircraft financed under the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility, and a requirement to maintain a liquidity reserve in the form of a cash
amount or a letter of credit equal to six months of interest charges based on the aggregate principal amount of Revolving Equipment Notes outstanding on any
regularly scheduled principal and interest payment date, in each case subject to certain cure rights of the Company. Each of these covenants may require us to make
cash prepayments on the Revolving Equipment Notes or deposit additional sums for the benefit of the Revolving Equipment Note lenders in the event of non-
compliance. In addition, the Credit Agreement contains separate events of default and covenants, such as limitations on: prepaying, redeeming, repurchasing, or
issuing and selling new equity interests of the Company and its subsidiaries; paying dividends and making certain distributions; making certain investments and
consummating certain acquisitions, mergers or disposals of assets; and replacing existing indebtedness and incurring new indebtedness and encumbrances. In
addition, under the Investor Rights Agreement, we must obtain the approval of certain Lenders to, among other things, incur capital expenditures, consummate
certain acquisitions of equity interests or assets in excess of certain amounts, issue equity interests, make material changes to the scope of our business, or enter into
certain commercial arrangements with a Lender.

Certain of the covenants in our financing agreements are subject to important exceptions, qualifications and cure rights, including, under limited circumstances,
the requirement to provide additional collateral or prepay or redeem certain obligations and the ability to delay payments of interest and principal for limited
periods of time. In addition, certain of our debt obligations are cross-collateralized, such that an event of default or acceleration of indebtedness under one
agreement could result in an event of default under other financing agreements. If we fail to comply with such covenants, if any other events of default occur for
which no amendment, consent or waiver is timely obtained, or if we are unable to timely refinance the debt obligations subject to such covenants or take other
mitigating actions, the holders of our indebtedness could, among other things, declare all outstanding amounts and any premiums or penalties immediately due and
payable and, subject to the terms of relevant financing agreements, repossess or foreclose on collateral, including our aircraft and other assets that are pledged as
collateral under the
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Revolving Equipment Notes Facility and Credit Agreement, as applicable, the equity interests of the Company’s subsidiaries or other assets used in our business.
The acceleration of significant indebtedness or actions to repossess or foreclose on collateral may cause us to renegotiate, repay or refinance the affected
obligations, and there is no assurance that such efforts would be on terms we deem attractive, available in amounts sufficient to satisfy such affected obligations, or
at all, or that certain holders of our indebtedness may withhold their consent to such refinancing. We may also experience a downgrade in any credit ratings then
assigned to us in such circumstances. Any default, event of default, acceleration of significant indebtedness, actions to repossess or foreclose on collateral, credit
downgrade or failure to obtain additional financing on terms we deem attractive, or at all, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations
and financial condition. See also Part II, Item 7A “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk” in this Annual Report for information about interest
rate risk associated with our Revolving Equipment Notes, which accrue interest at a variable rate.

Legal and Regulatory Risks Relating to Our Business

We are subject to significant governmental regulation and changes in government regulations imposing additional requirements and restrictions on our
operations could increase our operating costs and result in service delays and disruptions.

All interstate air carriers, including us, are subject to regulation by the DOT, the FAA and other governmental agencies, including Department of Homeland
Security, Transportation Safety Administration, U.S Customs and Border Protection and others. The laws enforced by these and other agencies impose substantial
costs on us, may reduce air travel demand, and may also restrict the manner in which we conduct our business now or in the future, resulting in a material adverse
effect on our operations. We also incur substantial costs in maintaining our current certifications and otherwise complying with the laws to which we are subject. An
adverse decision by a federal agency may have a material adverse effect on our operations, such as an FAA decision to ground, or require time consuming
inspections of or maintenance on, all or any of our aircraft. In addition, any adverse decision that results in the temporary suspension or revocation of our FAA
operating certificates or an inability to obtain other licenses, clearances or bonds from governmental agencies would have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition. Our business may also be affected if government agencies shut down for any reason or if there is significant
automation or another operational disruption, such as those attributed to air traffic control or weather conditions.

In addition, as described under the caption “— Delaware law and our Organizational Documents contain certain provisions, including anti-takeover provisions
that limit the ability of stockholders to take certain actions and could delay or discourage takeover attempts that stockholders may consider favorable,” we are also
subject to restrictions imposed by federal law on foreign ownership of U.S. airlines and oversight by the DOT in maintaining our status as a U.S. Citizen (as such
term is defined in Title 49, U.S. Code, Section 40102 and administrative interpretations thereof issued by the DOT). A failure to comply with or changes to these
restrictions may materially adversely affect our business.

We are subject to various environmental and noise laws and regulations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

We are subject to increasingly stringent federal, state, local and foreign laws, regulations and ordinances relating to, among other things, the protection of the
environment and noise, including those relating to emissions to the air and the use, management, disposal and release of, and exposure to, hazardous substances,
oils and waste materials. We are or may be subject to new or proposed laws and regulations that may have a direct effect, or indirect effect through our third-party
specialists or airport facilities at which we operate, on our operations, including related to the environment, climate change and related reporting. Any such existing,
new or potential laws and regulations could have an adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Environmental regulation and liabilities, including new or developing laws and regulations, or our initiatives in response to pressure from our
stakeholders may increase our costs of operations and adversely affect us.

In recent years, governments, investors, members, customers, suppliers, employees and other of our stakeholders have increasingly focused on climate change,
carbon emissions, waste generation and energy use and
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the public disclosure of such items. Laws and regulations that curb the use of conventional energy or require the use of renewable fuels or renewable sources of
energy, such as sustainable aviation fuel or wind or solar power, could result in a decrease in the availability of hydrocarbon-based fuels for our aircraft or result in
higher costs for such fuels. In addition, governments could pass laws, regulations or taxes that increase the cost of such fuels, thereby decreasing demand for our
services and also increasing the costs of our operations and the operations of third-party aircraft operators. Other laws or pressure from our stakeholders may
adversely affect our business and financial results by requiring, or otherwise causing, us to reduce our emissions, make capital investments to modernize certain
aspects of our operations, purchase carbon offsets or otherwise pay for our emissions, purchase quantities of sustainable aviation fuels that are costly or not readily
available, or make disclosures about our energy usage or emissions. Such activity may also impact us indirectly by increasing our operating costs. More stringent
environmental laws, regulations or enforcement policies, as well as motivation to adopt environmental initiatives to maintain our reputation with our key
stakeholders, could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Securities and Being a Public Company
Certain stockholders, which are also lenders to the Company, have significant influence over the Company.

Certain of the Company’s stockholders, including Delta, CK Wheels and CIH, collectively own a substantial majority of the outstanding shares of our Common
Stock as of the date of this Annual Report. As a result of their beneficial ownership of our Common Stock, they have sufficient voting power to significantly
influence all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors, approval of strategic corporate transactions, such as changes in control, or
changes in our Board or management. Under our Certificate of Incorporation, our stockholders may act by written consent without a meeting or soliciting the vote
of stockholders if such consent is received by the holders of outstanding shares of the relevant class or series having not less than the minimum number of votes that
would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting of the stockholders. In addition, such stockholders have the contractual right to designate a total of
nine of the twelve directors on our Board as of the date of this Annual Report.

Additionally, such stockholders are also lenders under our Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility. In their capacity as lenders, such stockholders must
consent to certain transactions and have the ability to waive defaults or direct the agent under the Credit Agreement to exercise remedies in the event of a default.
As a result, such stockholders in their capacity as beneficial owners and lenders, may exhibit significant influence over the Company, and the interests or objectives
of these stockholders may differ from the interests or objectives of other stockholders.

Finally, if these stockholders were to sell a substantial number of shares of our Common Stock in the public market, the market price of our Common Stock
could be adversely impacted and volatility could increase. The perception or expectation among the public regarding any such sales or the ability of such
stockholders to maintain certain rights tied to the level of ownership of Common Stock could also contribute to a decline in the market price of our Common Stock.
Similarly, if these stockholders were to assign or transfer their rights and obligations under the Term Loan or Revolving Credit Facility to third parties, the third
parties could exercise, among other things, certain consent and voting rights pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

We identified a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting and determined that it resulted in our internal control over financial
reporting and disclosure controls and procedures not being effective, as of December 31, 2024. If we are not able to remediate any material weakness, or we
identify additional deficiencies in the future or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, including disclosure controls and procedures,
this could result in material misstatements of our financial statements or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations.

SEC rules define a material weakness as a deficiency, or a combination of control deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a registrant’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Wheels Up is required to
annually provide management’s attestation on internal controls pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
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of 2002 (“Sarbanes-Oxley”). We are also required to disclose significant changes made to our internal controls procedures on a quarterly basis and any material
weaknesses identified by our management in our internal controls over financial reporting during related assessments. In addition, our independent registered public
accounting firm must attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting under Sarbanes-Oxley.

In connection with the audit of Wheels Up’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024, management assessed the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024. We identified a material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting with
respect to certain deficiencies in controls over information technology (“IT”) for IT systems and applications that are relevant to the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, including (i) access management controls to ensure appropriate segregation of duties and restrict user access to financial applications,
programs and data affecting underlying accounting records, and (ii) program change management controls affecting IT applications, key information and underlying
accounting records, that ensure IT program and data changes are identified, tested, authorized and implemented properly. These deficiencies impact the
effectiveness of application controls and manual IT-dependent controls, as well as the effectiveness of our controls around the periodic closing and preparation
processes for our financial statements, which could result in future misstatement(s) of one or more account balances or disclosures, which in turn could result in a
material misstatement to our annual or interim consolidated financial statements that could not be prevented or detected. As a result of the material weakness
identified during the year ended December 31, 2024, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and
procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2024. See Part II,_Item 9A “Controls and Procedures” in this Annual Report for more information about
management’s assessment of our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2024.

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial statements and prevent or detect fraud. The material weaknesses in internal control
over financial reporting described above, any new deficiencies identified in our internal control over financial reporting or any deficiencies in our disclosure
controls and procedures, if not timely remediated, could limit our ability to prevent or detect a misstatement of our accounts or disclosures that could result in a
material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements, or the failure to timely file required reports under the Exchange Act. We are in the process of
implementing certain measures as part of a remediation plan to address the deficiencies underlying the material weakness identified during the year ended
December 31, 2024. We can provide no assurance that the measures we have taken to-date and any actions that we may take in the future will be sufficient to
remediate these control deficiencies, or that such remediation measures will be effective at preventing or avoiding any potential future significant deficiency or
material weakness in our internal controls. If we identify any new deficiencies in the future or are not able to successfully remediate any material weaknesses,
including any deficiencies in our disclosure controls and procedures, the accuracy and timing of our financial reporting may be adversely affected, stockholders,
investors, members and customers may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, the trading prices for our Common Stock and the
Warrants could decline, we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC, NYSE or other regulatory authorities, and we may not be able to source
external financing for our capital needs on acceptable terms or at all. Each of the foregoing items could adversely affect our business, prospects, results of
operations, financial condition and the market price and volatility of our Common Stock. In addition, we have expended, and expect to continue to expend,
significant resources, including accounting-related costs and significant management oversight, in order to assess, implement, maintain, remediate and improve the
effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting and our general control environment.

In addition, as a result of reported material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting described above, a past restatement of our financial
statements and other matters raised or that may in the future be raised by the SEC, we are currently subject to, and face the potential for additional, litigation or
other disputes which may include, among others, claims invoking the federal and state securities laws, contractual claims or other claims arising from the
deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting described above, the preparation of our financial statements and the restatement described above. Any
such litigation or dispute, whether successful or not, could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.
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We have consummated dilutive issuances of Common Stock in the past and we may undertake additional dilutive issuances of equity securities in the
future.

We have consummated dilutive issuances of Common Stock in the past and may undertake additional dilutive issuances of equity securities or securities
convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for equity securities in the future. The number of outstanding shares of Common Stock reported in our periodic
reports generally exclude the possible future issuance of any Common Stock pursuant to the following, which were not included in the computation of diluted
shares outstanding as of December 31, 2024 or 2023, because the effect would be anti-dilutive or the issuance of such shares is contingent upon the satisfaction of
certain conditions which were not satisfied as of such dates: outstanding equity awards under our equity incentive plans; upon any cash exercise of WUP and
Wheels Up stock options; upon any exchange of WUP profits interests; due to the vesting and issuance of Earnout Shares; and in connection with the exercise of
Warrants. Any of the foregoing that increase the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock will result in a change in the percentage ownership held by
existing stockholders in Wheels Up, which may cause relative voting power related to such shares of Common Stock to decrease.

In addition, our past dilutive issuances, including the Common Stock issuances to the Lenders during the year ended December 31, 2023, which were entered
into and consummated without the approval of the Company’s stockholders based on the Financial Distress Exception provided for in the Shareholder Approval
Policy of the NYSE, and any future dilutive issuances, could be the subject of stockholder litigation or disputes, which could adversely impact our business, results
of operations and financial condition. In addition, our employees, certain directors and consultants hold, and are expected to be granted, equity awards under current
and future equity incentive plans. Certain of these equity incentive plans may be approved by the Lenders due to their ability to collectively cast votes for at least a
majority of the outstanding shares of Common Stock at a meeting or act by written consent. Existing stockholders will experience additional dilution when those
equity awards and purchase rights become vested and settled or exercisable, as applicable, for shares of our Common Stock or other voting securities.

The issuance of additional Common Stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for Common Stock, whether pursuant to public
offerings, at-the-market equity distribution programs or private placements of equity securities, equity incentive plans, existing instruments or otherwise, may result
in additional dilution to existing holders of Common Stock and adversely affect volatility in and prevailing market prices for our shares of Common Stock and
Warrants.

The price of our Common Stock and Warrants may be volatile.

The price per share of our Common Stock, as well as for the Warrants, may fluctuate due to a variety of factors within and outside of our control, including: (i)
changes in the private aviation industry and general demand for travel services; (ii) changes in general market conditions and macro-economic conditions, including
the price of aircraft fuel; (iii) developments involving our competitors, such as material announcements or new offerings and services; (iv) changes in applicable
laws and regulations affecting our business and operations; (v) variations in our operating performance and the performance of our competitors in general; (vi)
changes in our level of indebtedness, other contractual obligations or credit ratings and the terms or covenants associated with our indebtedness or contractual
obligations; (vii) actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results and the public’s reaction to our press releases, our other public
announcements and our filings with the SEC; (viii) publication of research reports by securities analysts about us or our competitors or our industry or the cessation
of such coverage; (ix) actions by stockholders, including sales by stockholders of any of their shares of our Common Stock; (x) increases or decreases in reported
holdings by insiders or significant stockholders, including shares of Common Stock held by our Lenders; (xi) fluctuations in trading volume and the volume of
shares of our Common Stock available for public sale, including upon expiration of lock-ups or other restrictions on trading shares of Common Stock applicable to
certain stockholders; (xii) additions and departures of key personnel; (xiii) commencement of, or involvement in, litigation involving us; (xiv) changes in our
capital structure, such as future issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of debt and grants of equity awards under our equity incentive plans; and (xv)
general economic and political conditions, such as the effects of recessions, changes in inflation and
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interest rates, the results of local and national elections, fluctuations in fuel prices and international currency rates, and the impact of corruption, political instability
and acts of war or terrorism.

We do not currently pay cash dividends and may not pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future.

We historically have not, and as of the date of this Annual Report do not anticipate in the foreseeable future to, pay cash dividends. In addition, the Credit
Agreement limits our ability to pay dividends to holders of our Common Stock, except under certain circumstances, and the Investor Rights Agreement requires the
written consent of certain parties thereto for any change in our dividend policy. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our Board,
subject to the aforementioned limitations, and will depend on our results of operations and financial condition, capital requirements, contractual limitations,
including in our financing instruments, business prospects and such other factors as our Board then deems relevant.

We are subject to securities litigation and may in the future be subject to additional actions, which could cause us to incur substantial costs and divert
management’s attention and resources.

The market price of our Common Stock may be volatile and, in the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been
subject to securities class action litigation. Securities-related claims and litigation may also arise in connection with past transactions or actions taken by the Board
or management, as well as related to past reports filed with the SEC. We have been a target of this type of litigation in the past and are currently defending certain
securities claims.

In addition, we may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert management’s
attention from other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business. We dispute the claims that have been asserted against us and intend to vigorously
defend against them. Litigation, however, is inherently uncertain, and we are unable to predict the outcome or to estimate the range of loss, if any, that could result
from an unfavorable outcome. Any adverse judgment against the Company, the Board or management, whether or not covered by applicable insurance policies may
have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and financial condition, or could harm our reputation in a manner that adversely impacts our business and results of
operations for an indefinite period.

Future resales of our Common Stock may cause the market price of our securities to drop significantly.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Common Stock in the public market or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares
intend to sell shares, including with respect to our largest stockholders, could reduce the market price of our Common Stock notwithstanding our financial and
operating performance. Our Lenders and certain of our former directors, officers and employees own a substantial number of shares of Common Stock relative to
recent historical daily trading volumes. The sale or possibility of sale of these shares could have the effect of increasing the volatility in our Common Stock price or
could cause the market price of our Common Stock to increase or decrease rapidly if the holders of such shares sell them or are perceived by the market as
intending to sell them.

The NYSE may delist our Common Stock from trading on its exchange, which could limit investors’ ability to transact in our securities and subject us to
additional trading restrictions.

The NYSE has established certain standards for the continued listing of a security on the NYSE. There can be no assurance that we will meet these standards in
the future to maintain the listing of our Common Stock on the NYSE, which could be impacted by, among others, the trading price of our Common Stock, our
reported results of operations in future periods and general economic, market and industry conditions. We may take action to avoid such delisting, which may not be
successful and could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition. If our Common Stock is delisted from
the NYSE, we may seek to list on another stock exchange or quotation service, which may result in, among other things, an increase in the volatility of, and a
limited ability to transact in, our Common Stock, as well as an overall decrease in the trading prices of our Common Stock. If we are not able to obtain a substitute
listing for our Common Stock, stockholders may encounter difficulty or be unable to sell their Common Stock. A delisting of our Common Stock from the NYSE
could also
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adversely affect our ability to obtain new or replacement financing and/or result in a loss of confidence by our members, customers, business partners, stockholders,
the holders of Warrants (as defined below) or employees.

Our Warrants are accounted for as liabilities and the changes in value of our Warrants could have a material effect on our financial results.

As of December 31, 2024, there were 7,991,544 public warrants (“Public Warrants”) and 4,529,950 private warrants (“Private Warrants” and, together with the
Public Warrants, the “Warrants”) outstanding, which are classified as derivative liabilities measured at fair value on our balance sheet, with changes in fair value
each period reported in earnings. Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 815, Derivatives and Hedging provides for the
remeasurement of the fair value of such derivatives at each balance sheet date, with a resulting non-cash gain or loss related to the change in the fair value being
recognized in earnings in the statement of operations. As a result of the recurring fair value measurement, our financial statements and results of operations may
fluctuate quarterly, based on certain factors, some which are outside of our control. Due to the recurring fair value measurement, we expect that we will recognize
non-cash gains or losses on the Warrants each reporting period and that the amount of such gains or losses could be material. The Public Warrants ceased to be
publicly traded on the NYSE on July 17, 2023.

Risks Relating to Our Organizational Documents

Delaware law and our Organizational Documents contain certain provisions, including anti-takeover provisions that limit the ability of stockholders to take
certain actions and could delay or discourage takeover attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.

Our Organizational Documents and the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”) contain provisions that could have the effect of
rendering more difficult, delaying or preventing an acquisition that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders might
otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay for shares of our Common Stock, and
therefore reduce the trading price of our Common Stock. These provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to take certain actions, including electing
directors who are not nominated by the current members of our Board or taking other corporate actions, including effecting changes in our management. Among
other things, our Organizational Documents include provisions:

» providing for a classified board of directors with staggered, three-year terms;

» regarding the ability of our Board to issue shares of preferred stock, including “blank check” preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of
those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile
acquirer;

» regarding the ability of stockholders to act by written consent without a meeting of our stockholders if consent is received by the holders of outstanding
shares of the relevant class or series having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a
meeting;

»  prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;
» regarding the limitation of the liability of, and the indemnification of, our directors and officers;

» regarding the ability of our Board to amend our Bylaws, which may allow our Board to take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and
inhibit the ability of an acquirer to amend our Bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and

» that set forth advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our Board or to propose matters to be acted upon
at a stockholders’ meeting, which could preclude stockholders from bringing matters before annual or special meetings of stockholders and delay changes
in
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our Board and also may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or
otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our Board or management. In addition, the
terms of the Investor Rights Agreement may have the effect of delaying or preventing hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our Board or
management to the extent that the stockholders party thereto still own a significant amount of Common Stock and do not participate or consent to the applicable
transaction.

The provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation requiring exclusive forum for certain types of lawsuits may have the effect of discouraging certain
lawsuits, including derivative lawsuits and lawsuits against our directors and officers, by limiting plaintiffs’ ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that they
find favorable.

Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, and unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum,
the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if that such court does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware or other state
courts of the State of Delaware) will be the sole and exclusive forum for any claims made by any stockholder (including a beneficial owner) for (i) any derivative
action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee to us or
our stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim against us, our directors, officers or employees arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or Organizational
Documents, (iv) any action asserting a claim against us, our directors, officers or employees governed by the internal affairs doctrine or (v) any action asserting an
“internal corporate claim” as that term is defined in Section 115 of the DGCL. Notwithstanding the foregoing, our Certificate of Incorporation provides that federal
district courts will be the sole and exclusive forum for claims under the Securities Act and Exchange Act. These provisions may have the effect of discouraging
certain lawsuits, including derivative lawsuits and lawsuits against our directors and officers, by limiting plaintiffs’ ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that
they find favorable. The enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ certificates of incorporation has been challenged in legal
proceedings, and as a result, a court could find the choice of forum provisions contained in our Certificate of Incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in
such action.

Our Organizational Documents and the Investor Rights Agreement include provisions limiting voting and control by non-U.S. Citizens.

To comply with restrictions imposed by federal law on foreign ownership of U.S. air carriers, our Organizational Documents restrict voting of shares of our
capital stock by non-U.S. Citizens. The restrictions imposed by federal law currently require that no more than 25% of our stock be voted, directly or indirectly, by
persons who are not U.S. Citizens, and that our president/chief executive officer, at least two-thirds of our officers and at least two-thirds of the members of our
Board be U.S. Citizens. Our By-Laws provide that if the number of shares of our capital stock owned or controlled by non-U.S. Citizens exceed 25% of the voting
power of our capital stock, the voting rights of the capital stock owned or controlled by non-U.S. Citizens and not registered on a separate stock record (the
“Foreign Stock Record”) at the time of any vote or action will be suspended. The suspension of voting power will be terminated upon the earlier of (i) the transfer
of the shares to a U.S. Citizen and (ii) the registration of the shares on the Foreign Stock Record. The Investor Rights Agreement also limits the number of shares of
Common Stock held by certain Lenders that may be voted at a meeting of the Company’s stockholders or in connection with any consent solicitation in a manner
intended to comply with the foregoing requirements. This limitation is also referred to herein as the “Citizenship Limitation.”

The Foreign Stock Record is maintained by our transfer agent. It is the duty of each stockholder that is not a U.S. Citizen to register their shares of capital stock
as a non-U.S. Citizen. We and our transfer agent will not permit the number of shares entered on the Foreign Stock Exchange to exceed the Citizenship Limitation.
If the number of shares on the Foreign Stock Record exceeds the Citizenship Limitation, each stockholder with capital stock registered on the Foreign Stock Record
will have their voting rights suspended on a pro rata basis such that the voting rights afforded to the stock registered on the Foreign Stock Record is equal to the
Citizenship Limitation. The voting rights will be reinstated once the voting rights of the capital stock registered on the Foreign Stock Record does not exceed the
Citizenship Limitation, not taking into consideration the pro rata reduction.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Risk Management and Strategy

The Company’s cybersecurity risk management practices are intended to assess, identify and manage risks from threats to the security of our information,
systems, products and network. We have developed and implemented cybersecurity and data privacy processes and procedures that are informed by recognized
cybersecurity frameworks and standards, including the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Cybersecurity Framework and International
Organization for Standardization 27001 (ISO 27001) Framework. We use these frameworks, together with information collected from assessments, to tailor aspects
of our cybersecurity and data privacy practices given the nature of our assets, operations and business. Key features of our cybersecurity and data privacy processes
and procedures include the following:

Risk-based controls for information systems and information on our networks: We seek to maintain an information technology infrastructure that
implements controls that are tailored based on risk and designed to protect the confidentiality, integrity and access to our information systems and
information stored on our networks, including member, customer and employee information, intellectual property and proprietary information. We employ
in-depth defense mechanisms throughout our enterprise, including, but not limited to, employee training, vulnerability management, multi-factor
authentication, cybersecurity insurance and managed security services to monitor, mitigate and/or prevent cybersecurity incidents.

Cybersecurity incident management and response: We have a cybersecurity incident response plan and specified teams to respond to cybersecurity
incidents. If a cybersecurity incident occurs or we identify a vulnerability, our cross-functional teams lead the initial assessment of priority and severity,
and external experts may also be engaged as appropriate. Our cybersecurity teams assist in responding to incidents depending on severity levels and seek
to improve our cybersecurity incident management plan through periodic simulations of common incidents. Further, we work closely with our external
managed security services experts to provide ongoing monitoring and to augment our internal cybersecurity team with incident management and response
specialists.

Cybersecurity awareness and training: Our employees are required to complete security awareness training and a compliance course annually, which we
believe helps our employees understand their information protection and cybersecurity responsibilities. We also provide additional training to certain
employees in accordance with member or customer requirements and regulatory obligations. Further, we regularly communicate with employees about
evolving cybersecurity trends through company-wide cybersecurity alerts, which heightens awareness of cybersecurity events that may be impacting our
business, peers and industry.

Our assessments of third parties: We have implemented a third-party risk management process that includes, among other things, periodic cybersecurity
assessments on certain third parties on which we rely based on an assessment of their risk profile. We also seek contractual commitments from third parties
to satisfy our cybersecurity and data privacy requirements, and require third parties to maintain their information technology systems and protect Wheels
Up information that is processed on their systems.

Third-party assessments of Wheels Up: We have engaged third-party cybersecurity companies to periodically assess our cybersecurity and data privacy
processes and procedures, and to assist in identifying and remediating risks from cybersecurity threats. Our third-party assessors regularly conduct
penetration testing and measure our processes, procedures and responses against industry standard frameworks. We use
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the results of these periodic assessments to implement programmatic changes and continuous improvements in alignment with business requirements,
industry standards and regulatory requirements.

We believe our cybersecurity risk management practices are an important part of our enterprise risk management processes, which must be continuously
updated and improved. As of the date of this Annual Report, we have not identified risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any past cybersecurity
incidents, since the beginning of the last full fiscal year that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company, including our
business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. See the caption titled “Risks Relating to Technology, Cybersecurity and Data Privacy” in Part I, Item
1A “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report for more information about cybersecurity and data privacy risks.

Governance

The Board, the Audit Committee and management each actively assess the Company’s cybersecurity and data privacy risk management practices with the goal
of being proactive rather than reactive. The Board and the Audit Committee regularly review the Company’s cybersecurity and data privacy risks, including our
policies, controls and procedures for identifying, managing and mitigating such risks. The Audit Committee receives periodic reports from our Chief Information
Security Officer (“CISO”) and other members of management, to the extent their relevant areas are impacted, regarding cybersecurity and data privacy measures
and procedures, the identification of security gaps and compliance with applicable cybersecurity and data privacy regulations. The Audit Committee then briefs the
Board at scheduled meetings about cybersecurity and data privacy developments.

Management is responsible for day-to-day monitoring of the prevention, detection, mitigation and remediation of cybersecurity incidents. Our CISO, who
reports to our Chief Digital Officer, has primary oversight of material risks from cybersecurity threats. Our CISO has more than 25 years of experience across
various information technology, information security and management roles, including leading the development and implementation of cybersecurity and data
privacy strategies for the member and customer-facing aspects of our business. In addition, our CISO holds degrees in Engineering Technology and Information
Systems and Technology, and industry certifications awarded by the International Information System Security Certification Consortium (ISC2); Certified
Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP), and Information Systems Security Engineering Professional (ISSEP). We also have a U.S. Data Privacy
Officer, who reports to our Chief Legal Officer, and a European Data Privacy Officer, who reports to our CISO, each of whom have primary oversight of material
risks related to data privacy in their respective territories. Our U.S. Data Privacy Officer, who is a licensed attorney, holds industry certifications awarded by the
International Association of Privacy Professionals (IAPP). Our European Data Privacy Officer has a master’s degree in public international law and over 10 years of
experience working in cybersecurity, data protection and governance.

Our CISO supervises a team of cyber risk architects, engineers and managers who actively work to prevent, detect, mitigate and remediate cybersecurity risks
and incidents through various means. Our cyber risk team collaborates with internal stakeholders to identify and analyze cybersecurity risks to the Company,
implement appropriate controls and enable leaders to make risk-based business decisions that implicate cybersecurity considerations. Our CISO also reports on our
cybersecurity and data privacy processes, procedures and risks to our executive management team when changes or risks are expected to impact other portions of
the business, including with respect to the Wheels Up mobile app, website and proprietary pricing algorithms.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Aircraft Assets

As of December 31, 2024, we owned and leased certain aircraft utilized in our fleet. We use a “floating fleet” model, which means that our aircraft are
geographically dispersed and do not return to a home base. We believe this model allows us to most efficiently address the flight needs of our members and
customers, limit costly repositioning flights and provide a meaningful cost advantage on one-way and multi-city itineraries. Our aircraft are
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subject to regular maintenance, inspection, certification and safety check schedules that may result in aircraft being located at one of our controlled or third-party
maintenance facilities from time-to-time.

Fleet Modernization Strategy

In October 2024, we announced our current fleet modernization strategy, which we expect will result in the transition from the operation of four current private
jet models — Cessna Citation CJ3, X, and Excel/XLS and Hawker 400XP aircraft — to two different private jet models — Embraer Phenom 300 series and
Bombardier Challenger 300 series aircraft, while continuing to operate our King Air 350i turboprop aircraft. We intend to achieve this fleet transition through a mix
of opportunistic aircraft acquisitions and strategic leasing activity. In November 2024, we introduced our Embraer Phenom 300 series fleet into our programmatic
membership offerings and made it available to our charter customers. Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2024, we purchased one and began leasing two
Bombardier Challenger 300 aircraft, which we expect to introduce into our operations starting in April 2025. We anticipate that the Revolving Equipment Notes
Facility (as defined in Note 8, Long-Term Debt in the Notes to Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this
Annual Report) will provide us with the flexibility to opportunistically add additional Embraer Phenom 300 series and Bombardier Challenger 300 series aircraft to
our fleet over the next three years.

Our current fleet modernization strategy is the result of our continuous review of our aircraft fleet in relation to our anticipated future needs, taking into account
the age and composition of our fleet, maintenance costs and availability, anticipated aircraft utilization and the efficiency of and demand for new aircraft types. To
achieve our fleet transition, we expect to engage in strategic acquisitions and dispositions of aircraft, as well as enter into leasing arrangements in order to replenish
our fleet while maintaining high levels of member and customer service. We believe that our current fleet modernization strategy, latest member program changes
and the growth of our charter offerings position us well to strategically utilize our controlled aircraft fleet alongside an “asset-light” charter model to deliver a
greater range of global travel alternatives.

Wheels Up Controlled Aircraft

As of December 31, 2024, our owned and leased aircraft fleet was as follows:

Category Owned Leased Total

Premium Jets() 17 1 18
Large Jets® — 2 2
Super-Midsize Jets® 13 19 32
Midsize Jets® 12 5 17
Light Jets® 26 15 41
Total Jets 68 42 110
Turboprops(© 44 — 44
Total Aircraft 112 42 154

(1) Consists of Embraer Phenom 300 series premium midsize jet aircraft.

(2) Consists of Gulfstream G-IVSP aircraft.

(3) Primarily consists of Cessna Citation X aircraft.

(4) Primarily consists of Cessna Citation Excel/XLS aircraft.

(5) Primarily consists of Cessna CJ3 and Hawker 400XP aircraft.

(6) Primarily consists of Textron and Beechcraft King Air 350i turboprop aircraft.

As part of our fleet modernization strategy, we are introducing a new standardized brand livery and interior design across new aircraft types entering the
Wheels Up fleet, including Embraer Phenom 300 series and Bombardier Challenger 300 series aircraft. The updated exterior livery reflects a modern and
sophisticated aesthetic, with the iconic UP logo prominently displayed on the tail, winglets and belly. Inside, redesigned cabin interiors will feature premium
materials and finishes intended to enhance comfort and style and provide a refined in-flight
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experience. Additionally, we anticipate that both aircraft types will be equipped with Gogo Business Aviation Galileo HDX satellite-based Wi-Fi, providing high-
speed connectivity for an improved passenger experience. We believe that these enhancements align with our commitment to delivering a best-in-class private
aviation experience, strengthening brand recognition and enhancing member and customer satisfaction.

Third-Party Network Aircraft

We utilize our global network of third-party operators to fulfill flight demand for both Wheels Up Membership and Wheels Up Charter to provide an enhanced
customer experience at an attractive price point. We have access to thousands of aircraft in all private aircraft cabin classes through our global network of third-
party operators, which allows us to source a range of aircraft and provide our members and customers with the right aircraft for their specific mission. We believe
that our ability to source third-party aircraft globally will continue to be an important part of our business strategy and allow us to fulfill the various needs of our
members and customers with a seamless global solution.

At Wheels Up, safety is our first priority. Our third-party aircraft operators must satisfy our rigorous and stringent safety standards for aircraft, crew and
operations. To become approved for use, the operator must complete an assessment process to verify compliance with our standards. Additionally, we verify
compliance with our crew and aircraft standards using a safety database system for every flight. Under the terms of our agreements with approved third-party
operators, they provide service to members and non-member flyers subject to continued compliance with our flight standards. Approved operators are subject to
recurring assessments. We contract with operators to participate in our network for periods ranging from a single flight up to three years with compensation to the
operator based on the cabin class or other unique characteristics of the aircraft.

Ground Facilities

Wheels Up does not currently own any real property. We lease the land and buildings that we occupy, which primarily consist of FBOs, storage hangars,
maintenance facilities and office space. We undertook a review of our leased property portfolio in 2024, and have taken actions to strategically consolidate our
operations to improve our efficiency and eliminate spending on leased properties that we do not believe are necessary for our operations.

FBOs and Storage Hangars

We lease aircraft storage hangars utilized in our operations at airports across the U.S. Certain hangar leases are accompanied by ramp or ground leases. These
leases are generally shorter in duration and permit access from both the air and land sides. In addition, we lease and operate an FBO at Cincinnati/Northern
Kentucky International Airport.

Maintenance Facilities

We lease four primary maintenance facilities utilized in our operations across the U.S. Our maintenance facilities primarily consist of specialized hangars with
equipment and tools necessary to maintain and repair our aircraft. These leases are generally longer in duration and contain a mix of hangars and accompanying
office space. Our maintenance facilities also house certain mobile maintenance equipment that we use when responding to maintenance requests on aircraft located
away from such facilities.
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Offices

During the first quarter of 2024, we relocated our corporate headquarters to the Atlanta Member Operations Center in Chamblee, Georgia, which is situated
nearby DeKalb-Peachtree Airport. We have long-term leases for our corporate headquarters at the Atlanta Member Operations Center and our New York, New York
corporate offices. We use these facilities for executive management, finance and accounting, legal, human resource management, operations, technology, marketing,
sales and other administrative functions. We also have various leases for sales offices or operational functions, primarily located within the U.S., which generally
have shorter lease durations. Air Partner also leases certain office space outside of the U.S., including adjacent to London Gatwick Airport in the U.K. We believe
that our existing facilities are in good condition and suitable for the conduct of our business; however, we continue to rationalize our real estate portfolio as part of
our strategic cost reduction initiatives.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are subject to various legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, which arise in the ordinary course of business. The
outcome of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty. See Note 14, Commitments and Contingencies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report for a discussion of loss contingencies, if any. Below is a
discussion of our significant pending legal proceedings:

GRP Litigation

On July 5, 2023, we filed a lawsuit against Exclusive Jets, LLC d/b/a flyExclusive, a subsidiary of flyExclusive, Inc. (“FE”), in the United States District Court
for the Southern District of New York, which was re-filed against FE in the Supreme Court of the State of New York in New York County on August 23, 2023. We
instituted the action to enforce our rights and remedies for wrongful termination by FE of that certain Fleet Guaranteed Revenue Program Agreement, dated
November 1, 2021, between WUP and FE (the “GRP Agreement”). On June 30, 2023, FE notified us in writing of its immediate termination of the GRP Agreement.
We believe that FE wrongfully terminated such agreement in breach thereof. We are seeking compensatory damages, including the return of the material deposits
held by FE under the GRP Agreement (collectively, the “GRP Deposit”) that were recorded in Other non-current assets on our consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, as well as attorneys’ fees and costs. On October 31, 2024, FE filed its defenses to the Company’s claims and simultaneously
presented certain counterclaims for unpaid amounts it claims it is owed under the GRP Agreement. We filed our answer and defenses to such counterclaims on
November 20, 2024.

We intend to vigorously pursue the action to recover the outstanding deposits and other damages from FE and defend against any counterclaims, but there can
be no assurance as to the outcome of the dispute with FE. Our success in recovering the amounts from FE will depend upon several factors including the ability of
FE to satisfy recoverable amounts using available liquidity or other assets. In its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 filed with the
SEC on May 1, 2024, FE disclosed that upon termination of the GRP Agreement, it applied a portion of the GRP Deposit against certain receivable balances that FE
claims it was owed under the GRP Agreement and eliminated the GRP Deposit liability in its financial statements. In its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
three months ended September 30, 2024 filed with the SEC on November 14, 2024, FE disclosed that: (i) it “expects to incur operating losses in the near term as
[FE] advances its fleet modernization and associated cost savings initiatives”; (ii) as of September 30, 2024, FE had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
$18.7 million and available borrowing capacity of approximately $9.4 million under existing lines of credit, against a working capital deficit of approximately
$132.8 million; (iii) FE’s net cash flows used by operating activities was approximately $54.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2024; and (iv)
FE claims that its cash and cash equivalents on hand, operating cash flows, and proceeds from its fractional program will be sufficient to fund its operations,
including capital expenditure requirements, for at least 12 months after November 14, 2024, but it might need additional capital to fund growth plans or as
circumstances change, which it claims it could obtain through equity issuances, refinancing existing debt or new borrowings, and if it is not able to refinance
existing indebtedness, FE’s liquidity and business would be negatively impacted. We are in the process of evaluating the
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effects of the foregoing events and we cannot make a reasonable estimate of any outcome, recovery or loss at this time. See the caption titled “If third-party
operators that we rely on to provide certain flights to our members and charter customers do not perform adequately or terminate their relationships with us, our
costs may increase and our business, prospects, operations, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected” in Part I, Item 1A “Risk
Factors” in this Annual Report for further information.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

PART II.

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information
Our Common Stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol “UP”.
Holders

As of March 7, 2025, there were approximately 109 holders of record of our Common Stock, which does not include beneficial owners holding our securities
through nominee names.

Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our Common Stock and do not anticipate declaring or paying cash dividends on our Common Stock for the foreseeable
future.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
None.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following management's discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the related notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Part II,_Item 8 “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 (“Annual Report”). This discussion contains forward-looking
statements which involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements. See our
Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements, Part I,_Item 1A “Risk Factors” and the risks described elsewhere in this Annual Report for more
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information. Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this MD&A section to “Wheels Up,” “we,” “us,”
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“our,” and “the Company” are intended to mean the business and operations of Wheels Up Experience Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries for all periods
discussed.

This section generally discusses the results of our operations for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. For a
discussion of the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, see Part II, Item 7 “Managements Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, which was filed with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on March 7, 2024.

Overview of Our Business

Wheels Up is a leading provider of on-demand private aviation in the U.S. and one of the largest companies in the industry. Wheels Up offers a complete global
private aviation solution with a large and diverse aircraft fleet, backed by an uncompromising commitment to safety and service. Our offering is delivered through a
mix of programmatic and charter options that strategically utilize our controlled aircraft fleet and an “asset-light” charter model to deliver a greater range of global
travel alternatives. In addition, our first-of-its-kind partnership with Delta Air Lines, Inc. (“Delta”) provides our members and customers with a seamless offering
across both private and premium commercial travel.

We offer numerous services to our members, customers and industry partners, and generate the majority of our revenue from flights through our member
programs and charter solutions. Flight revenue includes revenue earned from member and customer flights, whether as part of Wheels Up Membership or Wheels
Up Charter, and from the use of pre-purchased dollar-denominated credits that can be applied to future costs, including flight services, annual membership fees and
other incidental costs such as catering and ground transportation (“Prepaid Blocks”). Membership revenue includes fees paid for Wheels Up’s annual membership,
which provides members with access to one of the world’s largest combined fleets of owned, leased and third-party aircraft. Due to the nature of the services that
we provide, we have determined that we operate as one reportable segment, which is private aviation services.

Wheels Up has one of the largest and most diverse mixes of available aircraft in the industry. As of December 31, 2024, we had 154 aircraft in our owned and
leased fleet that includes Light, Midsize, Super-Midsize, Large and Premium jets and Turboprops. We utilize our controlled aircraft fleet to support both Wheels Up
Membership and Wheels Up Charter flights depending on the member’s or customer’s specific mission. We also have access to a large and diverse fleet and a
global network of safety-vetted charter operators, which must continually satisfy our safety standards for aircraft, crew and operations. Together, our controlled
aircraft fleet and global network of third-party charter operators position us to provide our members and customers with the right aircraft for the right mission, and
create the opportunity for our members and customers to select a mode of travel that works for their specific needs. Our flight operations are typically favorably
affected by increased utilization of our aircraft and generally higher levels of charter activity in the summer months and close in time to major U.S. holidays.

Our Offerings and Services

Over time, our member programs and global charter offerings have evolved to meet the varying needs of private fliers across the markets we serve. In June
2024, we announced our newly aligned offerings — Wheels Up Membership and Wheels Up Charter — which we believe simplify the private aviation experience for
our members and customers, provide attractive benefits for the full spectrum of private fliers, and grant private fliers the freedom to tailor each trip to their specific
needs. We expect our service offerings will continue to evolve as we implement our fleet modernization strategy and fully integrate new aircraft types into our
operations.

Join Up: Wheels Up Membership

Private fliers with predictable annual spend can utilize Wheels Up Membership, where a small annual fee and purchase of Prepaid Blocks unlock increased
flexibility and expanded global access and for certain fliers, guaranteed availability and recovery within the continental U.S., U.K. and Europe, subject to certain
terms and conditions. Wheels Up Membership also provides access to an enhanced lifestyle program of events, experiences and member
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benefits. Our first-of-its-kind partnership with Delta allows Wheels Up members the opportunity to earn Delta Diamond Medallion® status based on their
qualifying Wheels Up spend and use Prepaid Blocks to purchase discounted Delta flights and receive other benefits with Delta, in each case subject to certain terms
and conditions. All membership options provide access through the Wheels Up mobile app and website to charter flights and dynamic pricing.

Wheels Up Membership provides varying benefits and services that we believe suit a range of existing and potential individual and business private fliers. We
believe Wheels Up Membership offers a simplified on-ramp to private flying with less complexity and lower up-front cost compared to traditional competitive
private aviation programs. Wheels Up Membership is comprised of two primary membership categories — Individual and UP for Business:

*  Our Individual membership, when paired with the purchase of a Prepaid Block, affords members with preferential benefits, such as capped hourly rate
pricing in high density travel regions in the U.S. along the east coast, west coast and travel in between (our “Primary Service Area”), greater aircraft
availability, including during peak demand days, access across cabin classes and, depending on the size of the Prepaid Block, guaranteed availability and
recovery within the continental U.S., U.K. and Europe, subject to certain terms and conditions. The flexibility of our Individual membership is designed
for individual fliers, as well as business fliers that opt to purchase Prepaid Blocks at more modest levels.

*  Our UP for Business membership consists of small and medium enterprise, and custom enterprise solutions for business fliers that tend to spend at higher
levels than individual members. Whether Wheels Up is the primary provider of the member’s private flights or a supplementary solution to the member’s
own aircraft operations, our UP for Business membership provides business fliers with tailored options to fit their needs. The flexibility of our offering also
provides our UP for Business members with the ability to book, purchase and manage their private travel needs and book commercial travel through Delta,
all from a single source. UP for Business members that purchase Prepaid Blocks receive enhanced benefits, including, among others, guaranteed aircraft
availability and capped or fixed hourly rate pricing, subject to certain terms and conditions.

Our member programs are designed to enhance travel benefits for our members in our Primary Service Area and utilize our charter solutions to service demand
in all regions in North America and globally. The breadth of our complementary charter solutions enables us to offer flexible global solutions to our members. In
June 2024, we enhanced our Wheels Up Membership offering by providing expanded global aircraft access and guaranteed availability and recovery outside of our
Primary Service Area in the continental U.S., U.K. and Europe, subject to certain terms and conditions, for members that purchase higher levels of Prepaid Blocks.
While capped hourly rate pricing continues to apply only in our Primary Service Area, we believe that the expansion of guaranteed availability and recovery, as well
as generally shorter aircraft call out times, position us well to deliver enhanced value, flexibility and accessibility to members with an array of flight missions. We
anticipate that these additional member benefits will be an important driver of future revenue growth.

Fly Up: Wheels Up Charter

For travelers who are looking to pay as they go, Wheels Up Charter allows members and non-member customers to book charter trips with no upfront costs for
everything from a family vacation to a multi-stop, international business itinerary. Wheels Up Charter is a global solution that leverages the capabilities of our
domestic charter teams and the global capabilities of Air Partner Limited, our subsidiary (“Air Partner”), which allows us to offer options to suit virtually every
charter need through our international network of trusted partners. Our charter offerings customize the member and customer experience for short- or long-haul
flights with bespoke private jet arrangements or group charters, including for commercial-size charters with large passenger groups of 15 or more, sports teams,
global corporate events and tour operations. Wheels Up Charter complements Wheels Up Membership and provides a leading solution for members and non-
member customers wishing to fly globally through attractive market-based pricing and personalized alternatives.
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In June 2024, we announced enhancements to Wheels Up Charter intended to incentivize and reward frequent charter bookings. Wheels Up Charter customers
earn rewards for each flight equal to a 2% flight credit for every $50,000 spent on charter flights, and Delta Diamond Medallion® status after achieving qualifying
flight spend, subject to certain terms and conditions. In addition, we have transitioned our Connect and Core “pay-as-you-fly” memberships to our charter business.
We expect that this transition will result in cost savings to these customers that did not previously enjoy the capped or fixed hourly rate pricing. We believe that
Wheels Up Charter provides users of our platforms with a greater range of flight alternatives, and is an important part of our value proposition and position in the
private aviation industry.

Other Activities & Services

In addition to our Wheels Up Membership and Wheels Up Charter offerings, we provide wholesale charter services to customers such as charter flight brokers
and third-party operators. Our wholesale customers typically pay us an agreed fixed rate for a flight that we operate on their behalf, which varies based on factors
such as the aircraft type and date of the flight, and in turn sell the flight to their own retail customers. Revenue from wholesale flights is categorized as Flight
revenue.

We also generate Other revenue from group charter flights, cargo flights, maintenance, repair and operations (“MRO”) services, fixed-base operator (“FBO”)
services, safety and security services, and special missions, including government, defense, emergency and medical transport.

We believe that these primarily non-member facing activities and services complement our core private aviation business and provide additional sources of
revenue. Revenue from the foregoing activities and services is generally categorized as Other revenue.

Review of 2024 Achievements

As described under the captions below, we made significant progress during the year ended December 31, 2024 to evolve our commercial strategy and enhance
our partnership with Delta, launch our latest fleet modernization strategy, implement cost reduction and operational efficiency initiatives, and progress toward our
previously announced profitability goals.

Evolving Our Commercial Strategy
Streamlining Our Product Portfolio

In June 2024, we announced our newly aligned offerings — Wheels Up Membership and Wheels Up Charter — which we believe simplify the private aviation
experience for our members and customers. We anticipate that the streamlining of Wheels Up Membership and Wheels Up Charter will be beneficial to members
and customers, and will allow the Company to benefit from its scale and operational network worldwide. We also introduced booking experience upgrades for our
website and mobile app, which make it easier for private fliers to explore our dynamic rates across dates, departure and arrival destinations.

Enhanced Delta Benefits

In June 2024, we expanded our first-of-its-kind partnership with Delta when Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLC (“WUP”) and Wheels Up Partners LLC
(“WUP LLC”), each a subsidiary of Wheels Up, entered into the Amended and Restated Commercial Cooperation Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2024 (the
“Amended CCA”), with Delta, which replaced the original January 2020 agreement entered into at the time Wheels Up acquired Wheels Up Private Jets LLC
(“WUPJ”) from Delta. The Amended CCA marks a continued commitment by Wheels Up and Delta to further their long-term commercial endeavors and provides
for, among other things, the terms on which certain of Wheels Up’s members can continue to purchase discounted premium commercial air travel with Delta,
including by the use of eligible Prepaid Blocks, an amendment to a related agreement that governs the terms on which certain of Wheels Up’s members and
customers may receive enhanced benefits under the Delta SkyMiles® and Delta Medallion® programs, certain other in-kind benefits among the parties in
furtherance of their joint sales efforts and
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related to the facilitation of their respective businesses. The Delta-related benefits for Wheels Up Membership and Wheels Up Charter described above are pursuant
to the Amended CCA and related agreements.

Our Fleet Modernization Strategy

In October 2024, we announced our current fleet modernization strategy, which we expect will result in the transition from the operation of four current private
jet models — Cessna Citation CJ3, X, and Excel/XLS and Hawker 400XP aircraft — to two different private jet models — Embraer Phenom 300 series and
Bombardier Challenger 300 series aircraft, while continuing to operate our King Air 3501 aircraft. We immediately introduced the Embraer Phenom 300 series fleet
that we acquired in the Phenom Asset Acquisition (as defined below) into our operations upon closing. Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2024, we
purchased one and began leasing two Bombardier Challenger 300 aircraft, which we expect to introduce into our operations starting in April 2025.

We believe that our recently announced fleet modernization strategy will enhance the experience that we deliver to our members and customers, alongside an
expected decrease in the average age of our controlled aircraft fleet, increase in maintenance availability and reliability, and improvements in fuel efficiency. We
also expect to utilize a portion of our existing pilot base and seamlessly adapt our maintenance processes to operate the additional Embraer Phenom 300 series and
Bombardier Challenger 300 series aircraft that we expect to acquire by re-training certain of our pilots in the applicable fleet types and scaling our maintenance
operations throughout the fleet transition.

To achieve our fleet transition, we expect to engage in strategic acquisitions and dispositions of aircraft, as well as enter into leasing arrangements in order to
replenish our fleet while maintaining high levels of member and customer service. For example, in the first quarter of 2025, we sold our fleet of owned Cessna
Citation X aircraft to an unrelated third-party buyer, entered into leases for a portion of the sold aircraft and amended existing Cessna Citation X leases with the
same buyer. This transaction and similar transactions that we may undertake in the future, as well as expected available borrowings under the Revolving Equipment
Notes Facility (as defined below), are expected to provide us with the flexibility to opportunistically transform our controlled aircraft fleet. We believe that our
current fleet modernization strategy, latest member program changes and the growth of our charter offerings position us well to strategically utilize our controlled
aircraft fleet alongside an “asset-light” charter model to deliver a greater range of global travel alternatives.

Acquisition of 17 Embraer Phenom 300 Series Aircraft and Related Assets

In November 2024, WUP LLC completed the acquisition of 17 Embraer Phenom 300 and Phenom 300E aircraft, certain related maintenance assets to support
the fleet, and an existing customer program (collectively, the “Acquired Phenom Assets”) from Grandview Aviation LLC (“GVA” and such acquisition, the
“Phenom Asset Acquisition”). The closing date cash purchase price for the Acquired Phenom Assets was approximately $95.0 million, reflective of the $105.0
million base purchase price less certain closing date adjustments, which was subject to a customary post-closing true-up related to estimated assumed liabilities at
closing. Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2024, we received an insignificant amount from GVA upon finalization of the post-closing true-up adjustment
under the APA. Concurrently with the closing of the Phenom Asset Acquisition, WUP LLC and GVA entered into several operations-focused agreements to
facilitate on-demand flight operations using the Acquired Phenom Assets while such aircraft are transitioned from a U.S. Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”)
operating certificate held by GVA to the FAA operating certificate held by WUPJ, which will terminate upon conclusion of the transition. See Note 5, Acquisitions
and Divestitures in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual
Report for more information about the Phenom Asset Acquisition.

2024 Revolving Equipment Notes Facility

Concurrently with the closing of the Phenom Asset Acquisition in November 2024, WUP LLC closed a financing transaction that provides for the issuance
from time to time by WUP LLC of Series A-1 equipment notes (the “Revolving Equipment Notes”) in the aggregate principal amount up to $332.0 million (the
“Revolving Equipment Notes Facility”), of which approximately $331.3 million aggregate principal amount was initially funded by Bank of America, N.A. and
issued on November 13, 2024. WUP LLC used a portion of the net proceeds from the initial closing of the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility to fund the
purchase price for the Phenom Asset

53



Acquisition and to redeem in-full all amounts due and owing under the Company’s former 12% fixed rate equipment notes originally issued on October 14, 2022
(collectively, the “2022 Term Equipment Notes”). The remaining cash net proceeds, before certain transaction-related expenses, were funded to the Company’s
balance sheet and are expected to be used for general corporate purposes, including the execution of the Company’s fleet modernization strategy.

Delta provided credit support for the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility, which effectively guarantees WUP LLC’s payment obligations thereunder upon the
occurrence and continuation of specified events of default, in exchange for an annual fee as a percentage of the aggregate principal amounts drawn under the
Revolving Equipment Notes Facility that is payable-in-kind by the Company as if it was an amount borrowed under the Revolving Credit Facility (as defined
below). The Revolving Equipment Notes Facility utilizes an enhanced equipment trust certificate (“EETC”) loan structure that allows WUP LLC to reborrow any
amounts of principal repaid under the facility on and after November 13, 2024 and prior to November 13, 2027 (the “Availability Period”) for the purchase of
additional aircraft to be secured by such facility during the Availability Period, subject to certain conditions. As of December 31, 2024, the Revolving Equipment
Notes were secured by first-priority liens on 96 of the Company’s owned aircraft and in the future will be secured by first-priority liens on any additional aircraft for
which a Revolving Equipment Note is issued from time to time (collectively, the “Revolving Equipment Notes Collateral”’). The maturity date for the five-year
Revolving Equipment Notes Facility is November 13, 2029 (the “Revolving Equipment Notes Maturity Date”). See Note 8, Long-Term Debt in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report for more information about the
Revolving Equipment Notes Facility and related credit support arrangement, redemption in-full of the 2022 Term Equipment Notes and the Second Credit
Agreement Amendment (as defined in Note 8) entered into in connection therewith.

Network Optimization and Cost Reduction Initiatives
Capitalizing on Our Primary Service Area

We continue to take steps to consolidate our operations more fully within our Primary Service Area, which is a crucial step in our efforts to transition our
business to areas where we expect to generate sustainable profits. By concentrating our controlled aircraft fleet in our Primary Service Area, where our members
enjoy fixed or capped rate pricing, we expect to benefit from improved network density with significant cost and operating advantages for us, as well as attractive
pricing and leading service levels for our members and customers. We also expect that our streamlined Wheels Up Membership and Wheels Up Charter offerings
will drive additional sales and flight activity for our controlled aircraft fleet in our Primary Service Area, while demonstrating the prevalence of our global charter
solutions.

Driving Efficiencies in Our Maintenance Activities

We continue to implement changes to our aircraft fleet management and maintenance operations that are intended to improve the efficiency of our operations
and the availability of our aircraft, as well as reduce our operating costs. In 2024, we reallocated certain maintenance resources from underutilized facilities, which
included, among other actions, closing our maintenance operations in Broomfield, Colorado, Cincinnati, Ohio and Westchester County, New York, and relocating
our mobile service units in Sacramento, California, Las Vegas, Nevada, and Salt Lake City, Utah, and certain service units in Burbank, California, to the Eastern
U.S. We also announced the possible consolidation of certain maintenance resources at Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International Airport and Palm Beach
International Airport (“PBI”) into a new facility at PBI. However, as part of a strategic review in connection with our fleet modernization strategy first announced in
October 2024, we subsequently determined to consolidate our Florida maintenance operations at our existing facility at PBI in the first quarter of 2025. We believe
these actions to shift maintenance resources to our other geographically diverse facilities will better align with our operational footprint.

Progressing Certificate Consolidation
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In 2024, we made substantial progress to consolidate our FAA operating certificates, which is intended to simplify our flight operations by harmonizing our
procedures across the entire company. Steps we took in 2024 to execute our FAA operating certificate consolidation plan included:

+ In March 2024, we completed the fleet transition of our Cessna Citation Excel/XLS fleet to WUPJ following approval of the transition by the FAA in
November 2023;

+  In March 2024, the FAA issued operational authority that allowed us to begin transitioning our Beechcraft King Air 3501, Cessna Citation CJ3 and Cessna
Citation X aircraft fleets to a single FAA operating certificate held by WUPJ;

* InJune 2024, we completed the transition of our Beechcraft King Air 3501 fleet to WUPJ;

e In July 2024, we satisfied FAA gatekeeping milestones allowing for the transition of our owned and leased Cessna Citation X fleet to WUPJ and
transitioned all of our Cessna Citation X aircraft to WUPJ,

* In October 2024, the FAA approved our revised certificate consolidation plans addressing the streamlined addition of the Embraer Phenom 300 and
Phenom 300E, and Bombardier Challenger 300 and Challenger 350 aircraft types to the WUPJ FAA operating certificate;

* In December 2024, we consolidated the FAA operating certificate held by our former subsidiary, Mountain Aviation, LLC (“Mountain Aviation”), with that
of WUP LLC through the merger of Mountain Aviation and WUP LLC; and

*  InJanuary 2025, the FAA approved the addition of the Embraer Phenom 300 and Phenom 300E aircraft types to the WUPJ FAA operating certificate, and
we immediately began transferring our controlled aircraft to WUPJ.

We expect our FAA operating certificate consolidation and related operational efficiency efforts, including the anticipated addition of the Bombardier
Challenger 300 and Challenger 350 aircraft types to the WUPJ FAA operating certificate in March 2025, will continue to contribute meaningfully to our service
delivery, fleet modernization plan and financial results in future periods.

Additional Operational Efficiency Initiatives

We have taken numerous discrete actions intended to improve our operating efficiency and reduce our fixed costs, including the opening of our Member
Operations Center located in the Atlanta, Georgia area (the “Atlanta Member Operations Center”’) in May 2023 and strategically reducing the number of controlled
aircraft in our fleet. We expect to continue to take actions to simplify our business, drive our asset utilization and focus on our core private aviation services. We
also expect to strategically adjust our controlled aircraft fleet to match demand as we focus on improved asset utilization and implement discrete cost reduction
initiatives that do not adversely impact the customer experience or our service offerings. We believe these actions are important to achieving operational excellence
and supporting future profitable flying.

Key Factors Affecting Financial Condition and Results of Operations
We believe that the following factors have affected our financial condition and results of operations and are expected to continue to have a significant effect:
Market Competition

The private aviation industry is highly competitive and fragmented, with operators providing an array of service options primarily in the forms of whole aircraft
ownership, fractional aircraft ownership, aircraft management, lease-based models, jet cards, membership programs, charter solutions and wholesale operations.
Many private jet operators only provide one service option; however, larger operators are increasingly adding service options to serve the diverse needs of their
customers and better utilize their aircraft assets. These different service models result in drastically different business and operating models, as well as significantly
different levels of up-front and ongoing
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financial commitment required by the customer. We compete with providers across all of the incumbent categories and experience similar cycles in the industry as
our competitors, which are generally marked by periods of rapid expansion that result in short-term supply constraints, followed by periods of more moderate
growth that provide opportunities for consolidation. We expect that competition in the private aviation industry will remain strong and that increased consolidation
over the past several years as participants aim to leverage the scale of their operations will continue. Our ability to retain members and customers is a key factor in
our ability to generate revenue. While we believe that our latest member programs and charter offerings appeal to a broad base of private aviation users, we must
continue to adapt our service offerings and customer outreach efforts to meet the needs of a variety of private flyers. We believe that our diversified offering of both
membership-based programs and complementary global charter solutions produce significant advantages over our competitors and can be scaled to meet the
varying needs of a wider array of private fliers across our global platform.

Transition and Restructuring Initiatives

In recent years, we have rapidly advanced our member programs and charter offerings, implemented discrete and structural cost reduction and operational
efficiency initiatives, and experienced changes in our aircraft fleet, including as a result of the fleet modernization strategy first announced in October 2024. As we
strive to achieve our financial goals, we expect to take additional actions to improve our service offerings, control costs, optimize our service delivery and transform
our asset base to support long-term growth. While we are actively working on these initiatives and expect to continue to further refine our practices in the future, the
timing of these actions and their resulting impacts cannot be predicted with certainty. We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience in the near-to-
medium term, additional variability in our business, results of operations and financial condition during the period of transition. As a result, our sequential and year-
over-year financial and operating results may not be immediately reflective of the benefits we expect to realize from such ongoing actions, if at all. During the
period of continued transition, we may experience volatility and adverse or unintended impacts on our business, prospects, results of operations and financial
condition that may not be reflective of future results or trends.

Costs and Expense Management

Our operating results are impacted by our ability to manage costs and expenses, as well as realize cost savings from improving our operations, leverage our
scale and optimize previously acquired assets and businesses. Our success depends, in part, on achieving a balance between revenue growth initiatives and
investments, and maintaining cost discipline through our cost reduction measures in order to decrease losses and drive eventual profitability. As described above,
during 2024 we made improvements to our cost structure by implementing discrete cost reduction initiatives, changes to our workforce and other operational
efficiency measures. We are working to find additional opportunities to enhance margins and operate more efficiently, while elevating the member experience and
delivering operational excellence. In addition, we are investing significant time and resources into advancing our sophisticated pricing and scheduling algorithms
and data optimization engines to help optimize the utility and efficiency of our operations.

Economic Conditions & Inflation

The private aviation industry is volatile and affected by economic cycles and trends. On-demand flying is typically discretionary for members and customers,
and may be affected by negative trends in the economy. Consumer confidence, changes in fuel prices, inflation, interest rates, geopolitical instability, governmental
regulations or actions, taxes, tariffs and trade policies, safety concerns and other factors all could negatively impact our business, prospects, results of operations
and financial condition. In addition, our members and customers may resort to other options for travel more or less frequently depending on the economic cycle.
While we believe our current member programs and charter offerings, as well as our aircraft fleet, are well positioned to best serve our total addressable market, the
foregoing factors, many of which are outside of our control, may adversely impact our ability to retain members and customers, grow or sustain previous levels of
flight activity, efficiently utilize our
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assets, manage our costs and expenses, or provide service offerings on terms attractive to our members and customers.

In addition, we are directly and indirectly impacted by inflation. Since 2020, the U.S. has experienced inflation rates that are higher than historical average.
Although inflation rates continued to normalize to historical trends throughout 2024, we have experienced price relocation for certain products and services we used
in our operations, as well as wages for qualified personnel, that may be prolonged or permanent. It is also difficult to predict future levels of inflation or the impacts
of taxes, tariffs and trade policies in the broader economy and in the aviation industry. We have taken action to more effectively manage the direct impacts of
inflation on our business by being more deliberate about our procurement practices, entering into agreements with third party service providers to reduce the
variability of our expenses and attempting to capitalize on current asset values as we optimize our aircraft fleet. We have also taken action to more effectively
manage the indirect impacts of inflation through adjustments to our member programs, the implementation of enhanced dynamic pricing models for certain service
offerings, and increasing the resources devoted to delivering charter solutions, which generally utilize dynamic market rates. We expect to continue to review and
adjust our practices as necessary to manage adverse impacts from inflation and other economic conditions.

Changes in Our Workforce

In recent years, we have experienced increased competition for qualified personnel, including pilots, maintenance and operations personnel, that are eligible for
hire due to our stringent qualification and training standards. In the past we have sought to attract and retain qualified, experienced and skilled personnel through
various compensation initiatives, including equity compensation awards to pilots that were the first of their kind in the private aviation industry. To achieve our
financial goals, it is important that we tailor our hiring practices and accurately forecast attrition to balance the number of qualified personnel that we need with the
size of aircraft fleet and market demand for our services. If our forecasts are inaccurate, we do not effectively balance the number of personnel we employ with the
size of our aircraft fleet and market demand, or the supply of qualified, experienced and skilled personnel, including pilots, becomes constricted, our results of
operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our results of operations below, we report certain key financial measures that are not required by, or presented in accordance with, generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”). These non-GAAP financial measures are an addition, and not a substitute for or superior to,
measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to any performance measures derived in
accordance with GAAP. We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures of financial results provide useful supplemental information to investors about Wheels
Up. However, there are certain limitations related to the use of these non-GAAP financial measures and their nearest GAAP equivalents, including that they exclude
significant expenses that are required to be recorded in Wheels Up’s financial measures under GAAP. Other companies may calculate non-GAAP financial
measures differently or may use other measures to calculate their financial performance, and therefore, our non-GAAP financial measures may not be directly
comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies.

Adjusted EBITDA

We calculate Adjusted EBITDA as Net income (loss) adjusted for (i) Interest income (expense), (ii) Income tax expense, (iii) Depreciation and amortization,
(iv) Equity-based compensation expense, (v) Acquisition and integration related expenses and (vi) other items not indicative of our ongoing operating performance,
including but not limited to, restructuring charges. We include Adjusted EBITDA as a supplemental measure for assessing operating performance and for the
following:

»  To be used in conjunction with bonus program target achievement determinations, strategic internal planning, annual budgeting, allocating resources and
making operating decisions; and
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»  To provide useful information for historical period-to-period comparisons of our business, as it removes the effect of certain non-cash expenses and other
items not indicative of our ongoing operating performance.

The following table reconciles Adjusted EBITDA to Net loss, which is the most directly comparable GAAP measure (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Net loss $ (339,635) $ (487,387)
Add back (deduct):

Interest expense 65,352 41,255
Interest income (2,170) (6,121)
Income tax expense 1,226 1,383
Other expense, net 717 660
Depreciation and amortization 56,546 58,533
Change in fair value of warrant liability 8 (739)
(Gain) loss on divestiture (2,003) 2,991
Loss on disposal of assets, net 3,295 —
Equity-based compensation expense 45,977 25,633
Impairment of goodwill — 126,200
Acquisition and integration expense(! — 2,108
Restructuring charges® 7,850 43,655
Fleet modernization expense® 28,135 —
Atlanta Member Operations Center set-up expense® 3,481 30,568
Certificate consolidation expense® 6,749 11,375
Other® 6,599 4,018
Adjusted EBITDA $ (117,873) $ (145,868)
(1) Consists of expenses incurred associated with acquisitions, as well as integration-related charges incurred within one year of the applicable acquisition date, which are primarily related to system

2

(3)

“)

(%)
(6)

conversions, re-branding costs and fees paid to external advisors.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily consists of charges for contract termination fees and employee separation programs as part of our ongoing cost reduction and strategic business
initiatives. For the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily consists of restructuring charges related to the restructuring plan that we announced on March 1, 2023 (the “Restructuring Plan”) and
related strategic business expenses incurred to support significant changes to our member programs and certain aspects of our operations, which primarily include consultancy fees associated with
designing and implementing changes to our member programs and obtaining financing, and severance and recruiting expenses associated with executive transitions and other employee separation
programs as part of our cost reduction initiatives.

Consists of expenses incurred in connection with the execution of our fleet modernization strategy first announced in October 2024, which primarily includes expenses associated with transitioning
Embraer Phenom 300 series aircraft to our operations, pilot training programs aligned to our fleet modernization strategy, amounts reserved during the fourth quarter of 2024 related to existing Parts
and supplies inventory deemed in excess of future business needs after considering our fleet modernization strategy and loss on debt extinguishment of $14.4 million associated with the redemption
in-full of the 2022 Term Equipment Notes on November 13, 2024.

Consists of expenses associated with establishing the Atlanta Member Operations Center and its operations, which primarily includes redundant operating expenses during the transition period,
relocation expenses for employees and costs associated with onboarding new employees. The Atlanta Member Operations Center began operating on May 15, 2023, and related expenses concluded
during the second quarter of 2024, approximately one year after operations began.

Consists of expenses incurred to execute consolidation of our FAA operating certificates, which primarily includes pilot training and retention programs and consultancy fees associated with planning
and implementing the consolidation process.

Includes: (i) for both periods presented above, (a) collections of certain aged receivables which were added back to Net loss in the reconciliation presented for the year ended December 31, 2022,
which for the periods presented above increase the Adjusted EBITDA loss, and (b) amounts reserved related to existing Parts and supplies inventory deemed in excess of future business needs after
considering certain strategic business initiatives; (ii) for the year ended December 31, 2024, (a) reserves and/or write-offs of certain aged receivables associated with our former aircraft management
business divested on September 30, 2023, and (b) expenses incurred in connection with ongoing litigation matters; and (iii) for the year ended December 31, 2023, charges related to an individually
immaterial litigation settlement during the third quarter of 2023.
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Adjusted Contribution and Adjusted Contribution Margin

We calculate Adjusted Contribution as Gross profit (loss) excluding Depreciation and amortization and adjusted further for equity-based compensation
included in cost of revenue and other items included in cost of revenue that are not indicative of our ongoing operating performance. Adjusted Contribution Margin
is calculated by dividing Adjusted Contribution by total revenue. We include Adjusted Contribution and Adjusted Contribution Margin as supplemental measures
for assessing operating performance and for the following:

»  To be used to understand our ability to achieve profitability over time through scale and leveraging costs; and
»  To provide useful information for historical period-to-period comparisons of our business and to identify trends.

The following table reconciles Adjusted Contribution to Gross profit (loss), which is the most directly comparable GAAP measure (in thousands, except
percentages):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Revenue $ 792,104 $ 1,253,317
Less: Cost of revenue 733,075 1,232,506
Less: Depreciation and amortization 56,546 58,533
Gross profit (loss) $ 2,483 § (37,722)
Gross margin 0.3 % (3.0) %
Add back:

Depreciation and amortization $ 56,546 $ 58,533
Equity-based compensation expense in cost of revenue 2,228 3,927
Restructuring expense in cost of revenue” 3,984 1,075
Fleet modernization expense in cost of revenue® 10,033 —
Atlanta Member Operations Center set-up expense in cost of revenue® 1,860 24,704
Certificate consolidation expense in cost of revenue® 5,297 8,044
Other® 3,256 3,975
Adjusted Contribution $ 85,687 $ 62,536
Adjusted Contribution Margin 10.8 % 50 %

(1) For the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily consists of charges for employee separation programs as part of our ongoing cost reduction and strategic business initiatives. For the year ended
December 31, 2023, primarily consists of restructuring charges related to the Restructuring Plan and other employee separation programs as part of our cost reduction initiatives.

(2) Consists of expenses incurred in connection with the execution of our fleet modernization strategy first announced in October 2024, which primarily includes expenses associated with transitioning
Embraer Phenom 300 series aircraft to our operations, pilot training programs aligned to our fleet modernization strategy and amounts reserved during the fourth quarter of 2024 related to existing
Parts and supplies inventory deemed in excess of future business needs after considering our fleet modernization strategy.

(3) Consists of expenses associated with establishing the Atlanta Member Operations Center and its operations, which primarily includes redundant operating expenses during the transition period,
relocation expenses for employees and costs associated with onboarding new employees. The Atlanta Member Operations Center began operating on May 15, 2023, and related expenses concluded
during the second quarter of 2024, approximately one year after operations began.

(4) Consists of expenses incurred to execute consolidation of our FAA operating certificates, which primarily includes pilot training and retention programs and consultancy fees associated with planning
and implementing the consolidation process.

(5) Includes amounts reserved related to existing Parts and supplies inventory deemed in excess of future business needs after considering certain strategic business initiatives.
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Key Operating Metrics

In addition to financial measures, we regularly review certain key operating metrics to evaluate our business, determine the allocation of resources and make
decisions regarding business strategies. We believe that these metrics can be useful for understanding the underlying trends in our business.

The following table summarizes our key operating metrics:

Active Members

Active Users

On-Time Performance (D-60)
Completion Rate

Utility

Live Flight Legs

Private Jet Gross Bookings)
Total Gross Bookings("

Private Jet Gross Bookings per Live Flight Leg

Live Flight Legs
Private Jet Gross Bookings("
Total Gross Bookings("

Private Jet Gross Bookings per Live Flight Leg

(1) Amount shown in thousands.

60

As of December 31,
2024 2023 % Change
5,369 9,947 (46)%
Three Months Ended December 31,
2024 2023 % Change
7,286 10,744 (32)%
80 % 87 % n/m
98 % 98 % n/m
41.1 31.0 33%
12,731 14,374 11)%
$ 212,395 243,278 (13)%
$ 313,861 286,646 9%
$ 16,683 16,925 ()%
Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 % Change
50,116 64,481 22)%
$ 810,133 1,023,516 2%
$ 1,043,826 1,201,163 (13)%
$ 16,165 15,873 2%



Active Members

We define Active Members as the number of membership accounts that generated membership revenue in the applicable period and are active as of the end of
the reporting period. We use Active Members to assess the adoption of our premium offerings which is a key factor in our penetration of the market in which we
operate and a key driver of Membership revenue and Flight revenue.

Active Users

We define Active Users as Active Members as of the reporting date plus unique non-member customers who completed a revenue generating flight at least
once in the applicable period and excluding wholesale flight activity. While a unique customer can complete multiple revenue generating flights on our platform in
a given period, that unique customer is counted as only one Active User. We use Active Users to assess the adoption of our platform and frequency of transactions,
which are key factors in our penetration of the market in which we operate and our ability to generate revenue.

On-Time Performance (D-60)

We define On-Time Performance (D-60) as the percentage of total flights flown that departed within 60 minutes of the scheduled time, inclusive of air traffic
control, weather, maintenance and customer delays. On-Time Performance (D-60) excludes all cancelled flights and wholesale flight activity.

Completion Rate

We define Completion Rate as the percentage of total scheduled flights operated and completed. Completion Rate excludes customer-initiated flight
cancellations and wholesale flight activity.

Utility

We define Utility for the applicable period as the total revenue generating flight hours flown on our controlled fleet, excluding empty repositioning legs,
divided by the monthly average number of available aircraft in our controlled fleet. Utility is expressed as a monthly average. We measure the revenue generating
flight hours for a given flight on our controlled aircraft as the actual flight time from takeoff to landing. We determine the number of aircraft in our controlled fleet
available for revenue generating flights at the end of the applicable month and exclude aircraft then classified as held for sale. We believe Utility is a useful metric
to measure the efficiency of our operations, our ability to generate a return on our assets and the impact of our fleet modernization strategy.

Live Flight Legs

We define Live Flight Legs as the number of completed one-way revenue generating private jet flight legs in the applicable period, excluding empty
repositioning legs and owner legs related to aircraft under management. We believe Live Flight Legs is a useful metric to measure the scale and usage of our
platform and our ability to generate Flight revenue.

Private Jet Gross Bookings & Total Gross Bookings

We define Private Jet Gross Bookings as the total gross spend by our members and customers on all private jet flight services under our member programs and
charter offerings (excluding all group charter flights, which are charter flights with 15 or more passengers (“Group Charter Flights”), and cargo flight services
(“Cargo Services”)). We believe Private Jet Gross Bookings provides useful information about the aggregate amount our members and customers spend with
Wheels Up versus our competitors.

We define Total Gross Bookings as the total gross spend by our members and customers on all private jet flight services under our member programs and
charter offerings, Group Charter Flights and Cargo Services. We believe Total Gross Bookings provides useful information about the scale of the overall global
aviation solutions that we provide our members and customers.
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For each of Private Jet Gross Bookings and Total Gross Bookings, the total gross spend by our members and customers is the amount invoiced to the member
or customer and includes the cost of the flight and related services, such as catering, ground transportation, certain taxes, fees and surcharges. We use Private Jet
Gross Bookings and Total Gross Bookings to provide useful information for historical period-to-period comparisons of our business and to identify trends,
including relative to our competitors. Our calculation of Private Jet Gross Bookings and Total Gross Bookings may not be comparable to similarly titled measures
reported by other companies.

In the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for each of the three months
ended March 31, 2024 and June 30, 2024, as well as certain other earnings materials furnished in connection therewith, “Total Private Jet Flight Transaction Value”
and “Total Flight Transaction Value” were presented as non-GAAP financial measures, and “Total Private Jet Flight Transaction Value per Live Flight Leg” was
presented as a key operating metric. To improve the clarity of our reports filed with the SEC and to use comparable terminology to other registrants, beginning with
our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended September 30, 2024, we relabeled “Total Private Jet Flight Transaction Value,” “Total Flight
Transaction Value” and “Total Private Jet Flight Transaction Value per Live Flight Leg” as Private Jet Gross Bookings, Total Gross Bookings and Private Jet Gross
Bookings per Live Flight Leg, respectively. In addition, we began presenting Private Jet Gross Bookings and Total Gross Bookings as key operating metrics given
their usage. We will no longer present Private Jet Charter FTV or Other Charter FTV, which were included in such past filings.

Private Jet Gross Bookings per Live Flight Leg

We use Private Jet Gross Bookings per Live Flight Leg to measure the average gross spend by our members and customers on all private jet flight services
under our member programs and charter offerings (excluding Group Charter Flights and Cargo Services) for each Live Flight Leg.

Components of Results of Our Operations
The key components of our results of operations include:
Revenue
Revenue is derived from flight, membership and other services.

Flight revenue consists of retail and wholesale flights and certain related fees and surcharges. Members can either pay as they fly or prepay for flights,
including through the use of Prepaid Blocks.

Membership revenue is comprised of a one-time initiation fee paid at the commencement of a membership and recurring annual fees. Historically, a portion of
the initiation fee was applied to annual dues; however, we discontinued initiation fees starting in July 2024. The remainder of the initiation fee, less any flight
credits, is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated duration of the member relationship period, which is estimated to be three years.
Members are charged recurring annual fees to maintain their membership. Revenue related to the annual fees is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over
the related contractual period. If a member qualifies to earn Delta miles in the Delta SkyMiles® program as part of their membership, then a portion of the
membership fee is allocated at contract inception.

Aircraft management revenue consists of contractual monthly management fees charged to aircraft owners, recovery of owner incurred expenses including
maintenance coordination, cabin crew and pilots, and recharging of certain incurred aircraft operating costs such as maintenance, fuel, landing fees and parking. We
pass recovery and recharge amounts back to owners at either cost or at a predetermined margin. We sold our aircraft management business to an unrelated third-
party effective September 30, 2023. We do not expect to realize any significant revenue or expenses associated with aircraft management activities in future
periods.

Other revenue includes sales of whole aircraft, group charter revenue, cargo revenue, revenue sponsorships and partnership fees, safety and security revenue
and special missions including government, defense, emergency and medical transport. In addition, Other revenue includes flight management fees, software
subscription fees from
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third-party operators for access to UP FMS, fees from third-party sponsorships and partnership fees and special missions revenue, including government, defense,
emergency and medical transport.

Costs and Expenses
Costs and expenses consist of the following components:
Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of direct expenses incurred to provide flight services and facilitate operations, including aircraft lease costs, fuel, crew
travel, maintenance and third-party flight costs. Cost of revenue also consists of compensation expenses, including equity-based compensation and related benefits,
for employees that directly facilitate flight operations. In addition, Cost of revenue includes aircraft management expenses incurred such as maintenance
coordination, cabin crew and pilots, and certain aircraft operating costs such as maintenance, fuel, landing fees and parking.

Technology and Development

Technology and development expense primarily consists of compensation expenses for engineering, product development and design employees, including
equity-based compensation and related benefits, expenses associated with ongoing improvements to, and maintenance of, our platform offerings and other
technology. Technology and development expense also includes software expenses and technology consulting fees.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expense primarily consists of compensation expenses in support of sales and marketing such as commissions, salaries, equity-based
compensation and related benefits. Sales and marketing expense also includes expenses associated with advertising, promotions of our services, member
experience, account management and marketing.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expense primarily consists of compensation expenses, including allocable portions of equity-based compensation and related
benefits, for our executive, finance, human resources and legal teams and other personnel performing administrative functions. General and administrative expense
also includes any other cost or expense incurred not deemed to be related to Cost of revenue, Sales and marketing expense or Technology and development
expense.

We allocate overhead such as facility costs and telecommunications charges, based on department headcount, as we believe this to be the most accurate
measure. As a result, a portion of general overhead expenses are reflected in each operating expense category.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense primarily consists of depreciation of capitalized aircraft, as well as amortization of capitalized software development
costs and acquired finite-lived intangible assets.

Gain on Sale of Aircraft Held for Sale

Gain on sale of aircraft held for sale consists of the gain on aircraft previously held as property and equipment and subsequently elected to actively market for
sale or aircraft purchased with the intent to sell.

Impairment of goodwill

Impairment of goodwill consists of any write-off of goodwill during the period. An impairment charge is recorded when the carrying value of a reporting unit
exceeds its fair value as of the impairment assessment date.
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Gain (loss) on divestiture

Gain (loss) on divestiture primarily consists of the net working capital adjustment received in the first quarter of 2024 associated with the divestiture of our
aircraft management business on September 30, 2023.

Gain (loss) on disposal of assets, net

Gain (loss) on disposal of assets, net, consists of any gains or losses on disposal of other assets during the period.

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Loss on extinguishment of debt consists of fees incurred during the period to extinguish debt instruments in advance of the maturity date.
Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability

Change in fair value of Warrant liability consists of unrealized gain (loss) on the Warrants (as defined below) assumed as part of the business combination
consummated on July 13, 2021 between WUP and Aspirational Consumer Lifestyle Corp. (“Aspirational”), a blank check company (the “Business Combination”),
including 7,991,544 redeemable public warrants (“Public Warrants”) and 4,529,950 redeemable private warrants (the “Private Warrants” and, together with the
Public Warrants, the “Warrants”), in each case exercisable for 1/10th of one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of $115.00 per whole share of Common
Stock.

Interest Income
Interest income primarily consists of interest earned on cash equivalents in money market funds.
Interest Expense

Interest expense primarily consists of the interest paid or payable and the amortization of debt discounts and deferred financing costs on our credit facilities,
promissory notes and other debt obligations.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense consists of income taxes recorded using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded
based on the estimated future tax effects of differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of existing assets and liabilities. These differences are
measured using the enacted tax rates that are expected to be in effect when these differences are anticipated to reverse. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a
valuation allowance to the extent management believes it is not more likely than not to be realized.
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Results of Our Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2024 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2023

The following table sets forth our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands, except percentages):

Revenue

Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of items shown separately below)
Technology and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
(Gain) loss on sale of aircraft held for sale
Loss on disposal of assets, net
Impairment of goodwill
Total costs and expenses

Loss from operations

Other income (expense):
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Gain (loss) on divestiture
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Interest income
Interest expense
Other expense, net
Total other income (expense)

Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss
Less: net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests

Net loss attributable to Wheels Up Experience Inc.

n/m - not meaningful

Year Ended December 31, Change in

2024 2023 Y%
792,104 $ 1,253,317 (461,213) (36.8) %
733,075 1,232,506 (499,431) (40.5) %
40,690 61,873 (21,183) (34.2) %
84,317 88,828 (4,511) (5.1) %
137,594 145,873 (8,279) (5.7) %
56,546 58,533 (1,987) 3.4) %
(4,622) (16,939) 12,317 72.7 %
3,295 — 3,295 n/m
— 126,200 (126,200) (100.0) %
1,050,895 1,696,874 (645,979) (38.1) %
(258,791) (443,557) 184,766 41.7 %
®) 739 (747) (101.1) %
2,003 (2,991) 4,994 n/m
(17,714) (4,401) (13,313) n/m
2,170 6,121 (3,951) (64.5) %
(65,352) (41,255) (24,097) (58.4) %
(717) (660) (57) (8.6) %
(79,618) (42,447) (37,171) (87.6) %
(338,409) (486,004) 147,595 (30.4) %
(1,226) (1,383) 157 11.4 %
(339,635) (487,387) 147,752 303 %
— — — — %
(339,635) $ (487,387) 147,752 303 %
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Revenue

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, was as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Change in
2024 2023 } %
Membership $ 57,614 $ 82,857 $ (25,243) (30.5) %
Flight 633,865 884,065 (250,200) (28.3) %
Aircraft management 9,707 175,829 (166,122) (94.5) %
Other 90,918 110,566 (19,648) (17.8) %
Total $ 792,104 § 1,253,317 $ (461,213) (36.8) %

The decrease in Membership revenue was driven by a 46% decrease in Active Members year-over-year. The decrease in Active Members was primarily as a
result of the regionalization of our member programs and focus on profitable flying, as well as streamlining our membership offering.

The decrease in Flight revenue was primarily driven by a 22% decrease in Live Flight Legs year-over-year, which resulted in a $197.0 million reduction to
Flight revenue, and an 8% decrease in Flight Revenue per Live Flight Leg, which resulted in a $53.2 million reduction to Flight revenue primarily as a result of our
focus on more profitable flying.

The decrease in Aircraft management revenue is attributable to the divestiture of our aircraft management business on September 30, 2023. We do not expect to
realize any significant revenue associated with aircraft management activities in future periods.

The decrease in Other revenue was primarily attributable to a $17.0 million decrease in sales of aircraft inventory, as the Company has reduced its focus on
whole aircraft sales, and the absence of $7.0 million of software licensing revenue recognized during fiscal year 2023. The decrease was partially offset by a $4.7
million increase in group charter revenue.

Costs and Expenses
Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue decreased $499.4 million, or 41%, for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease in
Cost of revenue was primarily driven by the decreases in revenue noted above, a $22.8 million decrease in expenses associated with setting up our Atlanta Member
Operations Center and a $2.7 million decrease in expenses associated with our FAA certificate consolidation. The decreases were partially offset by $12.4 million of
one-time charges associated with increasing our reserve for excess and obsolete inventory for certain parts inventory deemed in excess of forecasted demand for
aircraft maintenance as a result of our fleet modernization strategy, as well as a $2.0 million associated with certain employee restructuring actions implemented in
the second quarter of 2024 as we exited underutilized maintenance facilities during the year.

Adjusted Contribution Margin increased 580 basis points for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily
attributable to the operational efficiency initiatives discussed above. See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” above for a definition of Adjusted Contribution Margin,
information regarding our use of Adjusted Contribution Margin and a reconciliation of Gross margin to Adjusted Contribution Margin.

Technology and Development

Technology and development expenses decreased $21.2 million, or 34%, for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31,
2023, primarily driven by an $11.8 million reduction in employee
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compensation, bonus and allocable costs due to headcount reduction actions taken in fiscal year 2023, including the absence of a $2.3 million one-time charge
associated with the Restructuring Plan recognized during the first quarter of 2023. The decrease was also attributable to a $4.0 million reduction in enterprise
software costs, including the absence of a $2.7 million charge in the third quarter of fiscal year 2023 associated with a software implementation project that was
abandoned during the period, a $2.5 million reduction in development and hosting costs, and a $1.6 million reduction in spend for IT equipment and
telecommunication services.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses decreased $4.5 million, or 5%, for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily
driven by a $4.2 million reduction in employee compensation, bonus and allocable costs driven by headcount reduction actions taken in fiscal year 2023, including
the absence of a $2.1 million one-time charge associated with the Restructuring Plan recognized during the first quarter of 2023. The decrease was also attributable
to a $2.0 million decrease in sales commissions, primarily driven by the decrease in year-over-year Membership revenue and revenues from whole aircraft sales,
and a $1.1 million decrease in equity-based compensation expense associated with historical awards which vested prior to or within the current period. The
decreases were partially offset by a $1.9 million increase in advertising spend and a $0.7 million increase in sales consulting spend.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses decreased $8.3 million, or 6%, for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023,
primarily driven by a $21.7 million reduction in consulting and legal expenses associated with strategic planning and integration activities, a $17.5 million
reduction in employee compensation, bonus and allocable costs due to headcount reduction actions taken in fiscal year 2023, including the absence of a $5.4 million
one-time charge associated with the Restructuring Plan recognized during the first quarter of 2023. The decreases were partially offset by a $24.4 million increase
in equity-based compensation expense primarily attributable to the Executive Performance Awards (as defined in Note 11) and $3.7 million in charges associated
with implementing our fleet modernization strategy.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expenses decreased $2.0 million, or 3%, for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023,
primarily as a result of the reduction in aircraft in our controlled fleet as we execute our fleet modernization strategy.

Interest Income

Interest income decreased $4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease was attributable to
holding lower levels of cash equivalents in money market funds during the period.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $24.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase was primarily
attributable to paid-in-kind interest expense associated with the Term Loan (as defined below) entered into during the second half of 2023.

Income Tax Expense
Income tax expense decreased $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023.
Net Loss

As a result of the factors described above, Net loss improved by $147.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2023.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

Our principal sources of liquidity have historically consisted of financing activities, including proceeds from debt financing transactions, and operating
activities, primarily from deferred revenue associated with the sale of Prepaid Blocks. As of December 31, 2024, we had $216.4 million of Cash and cash
equivalents and $30.0 million of Restricted cash, and our long-term debt obligations consisted primarily of approximately $317.5 million aggregate principal
amount outstanding of Revolving Equipment Notes, the Term Loan (as defined below) in the aggregate principal amount of approximately $443.9 million
(including capitalized paid-in-kind interest) and the Credit Support Premium (as defined below) portion of the Revolving Credit Facility (as defined below) in the
aggregate principal amount of $1.1 million. In addition, we had a working capital deficit of $583.7 million as of December 31, 2024 and Net cash used in operating
activities was $77.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. See the caption titled “Our obligations in connection with our contractual agreements,
including operating leases and debt financing obligations, could impair our liquidity and thereby harm our business, results of operations and financial condition”
in Part [, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report for more information about our contractual obligations.

Pursuant to the Credit Agreement (as defined below), Delta has provided a commitment for the Revolving Credit Facility in the aggregate original principal
amount of $100.0 million, which may be drawn under certain circumstances and is subject to liquidity-driven repayment conditions. As of each of December 31,
2024 and the date of this Annual Report, no amounts were outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility with respect to Delta’s $100.0 million commitment,
which remains available to be drawn until September 20, 2025. See “Sources and Uses of Liquidity—Long-Term Debt—Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility”
below for more information about the Revolving Credit Facility.

We expect to meet our liquidity needs for the next 12 months with a combination of cash and cash equivalents, cash flows from operations, strategic
dispositions of non-core or underutilized assets, proceeds from borrowings under the Revolving Equipment Notes and, if needed, borrowings under the Revolving
Credit Facility with respect to Delta’s $100.0 million commitment. Our ability to satisfy our long-term liquidity needs will depend on, among others, our ability to
generate cash flows from operations and enter into additional or alternate financing arrangements.

Sources and Uses of Liquidity
Long-Term Debt

2024 Revolving Equipment Notes

In November 2024, WUP LLC entered into a Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2024 (the “Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing
Date” and such agreement, the “2024 Note Purchase Agreement”), with Wilmington Trust, National Association (“Wilmington Trust”), as subordination agent and
trustee, and Wheels Up Class A-1 Loan Trust 2024-1, a Delaware statutory trust (the “2024-1 Trust”), which provides for a Revolving Equipment Notes Facility in
an aggregate principal amount up to $332.0 million, of which approximately $331.3 million aggregate principal amount was funded and issued on the Initial
Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date. Pursuant to the 2024 Note Purchase Agreement, any amounts of principal repaid by WUP LLC during the Availability
Period, either through regular principal amortization payments or from the early redemption of principal amounts related to any aircraft secured by the Revolving
Equipment Notes Facility, will become available to be reborrowed by WUP LLC for the purchase of additional aircraft to be secured by such facility during the
Availability Period, subject to certain conditions. WUP LLC may redeem any Revolving Equipment Note in connection with the sale of an aircraft that constitutes
Revolving Equipment Notes Collateral or otherwise, at any time, and is not required to pay any prepayment premiums in connection with such early redemptions.

The Revolving Equipment Notes mature on November 13, 2029. The Revolving Equipment Notes bear interest at the variable rate of the then applicable three-
month secured overnight funds rate (“SOFR”) plus 1.75% per annum from the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date to the end of the Availability
Period, SOFR plus 2.25%
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immediately after the end of the Availability Period to November 13, 2028, and SOFR plus 2.75% from November 13, 2028 to the Revolving Equipment Notes
Maturity Date, with annual amortization of principal amount equal to 10% per annum from the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date through the end of
the Availability Period and 12% per annum thereafter. Interest on the Equipment Notes is payable quarterly on each February 15, May 15, August 15 and November
15 of each year, beginning on February 15, 2025, and on the Revolving Equipment Notes Maturity Date. Principal payments on the Revolving Equipment Notes are
scheduled for payment on the same dates as interest payments. WUP LLC must also pay a customary commitment fee on unused amounts available to be borrowed
under the Revolving Equipment Note Facility.

The Revolving Equipment Notes are secured by the Revolving Equipment Notes Collateral. WUP LLC’s obligations under the Revolving Equipment Notes are
guaranteed by the Company, WUP and WUPJ, which has a FAA Part 135 operating certificate. In the future, WUP LLC must cause certain additional subsidiaries
and affiliates of WUP LLC that hold a FAA Part 135 operating certificate to become a guarantor under the Revolving Equipment Note Facility under certain
circumstances. The 2024 Note Purchase Agreement, Trust Indenture and Mortgage entered into by WUP LLC and Wilmington Trust, as the mortgagee thereunder,
on the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date, pursuant to which the Revolving Equipment Notes were issued, and related guarantees contain certain
covenants and events of default that are customary for transactions of this type. The maturity of the Revolving Equipment Notes may be accelerated upon the
occurrence of certain events of default, including the failure by WUP LLC (in some cases after notice or the expiration of a grace period, or both) to make payments
thereunder when due, a failure to comply with certain covenants and certain bankruptcy events involving the Company, its guarantors or Delta. See Note 8, Long-
Term Debt in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report for
more information about the Revolving Equipment Notes.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company redeemed in-full the Revolving Equipment Notes for five aircraft, which reduced the aggregate
principal amount outstanding under the Revolving Equipment Notes by $13.9 million. As of December 31, 2024, approximately $317.5 million aggregate principal
amount of Revolving Equipment Notes were outstanding, approximately $14.5 million was available to be borrowed under the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility
to fund future aircraft acquisitions and the carrying value of the 96 aircraft that were subject to first-priority liens under the Revolving Equipment Notes was $297.2
million.

Credit Support

Delta agreed to provide credit support for the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility, which effectively guarantees WUP LLC’s payment obligations thereunder
upon the occurrence and continuation of specified events of default, in exchange for an annual fee as a percentage of the aggregate principal amounts drawn under
the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility that is payable-in-kind by the Company and accrues interest over the life of the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility (the
“Credit Support Premium”). The Credit Support Premium constitutes a revolving loan payable to Delta under the Revolving Credit Facility. Amounts in respect of
the Credit Support Premium accrue while the Revolving Equipment Notes are outstanding and include interest that is compounded and capitalized on the last day of
each calendar quarter; however, any such accrued amounts do not reduce Delta’s $100.0 million commitment that is available to be borrowed by the Company from
time to time under the Revolving Credit Facility. The Credit Support Premium will become due and payable in-full upon the earlier of repayment and
extinguishment of the Revolving Equipment Note Facility and the termination of Delta’s obligation to provide credit support for the Revolving Equipment Notes
Facility. See Note 8, Long-Term Debt in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”
in this Annual Report for more information about the Credit Support Premium.

Term Loan & Revolving Credit Facility

On September 20, 2023 (the “Credit Agreement Closing Date”), the Company entered into a Credit Agreement (the “Original Credit Agreement”), by and
among the Company, as borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Company, as guarantors (collectively with the Company, the “Loan Parties”), Delta, CK Wheels LLC
(“CK Wheels”), and Cox Investment Holdings LLC (“CIH” and, collectively with Delta and CK Wheels, the “Initial Lenders”), and U.S. Bank Trust Company,
N.A., as administrative agent for the Lenders (as defined below) and as collateral agent for
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the secured parties (the “Agent”), pursuant to which (i) the Initial Lenders provided a term loan facility (the “Initial Term Loan”) in the aggregate original principal
amount of $350.0 million and (ii) Delta provided a commitment for a revolving loan facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) in the aggregate original principal
amount of $100.0 million.

On November 15, 2023 (the “Final Credit Agreement Closing Date”), the Company entered into Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement (the “First Credit
Agreement Amendment” and, collectively with the Original Credit Agreement and Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement, dated November 13, 2024, the “Credit
Agreement”), by and among the Company, as borrower, the other Loan Parties party thereto, as guarantors, the Initial Lenders, and certain other lenders named
therein (collectively, the “Incremental Term Lenders” and, collectively with the Initial Lenders, the “Lenders”), and the Agent, pursuant to which, among other
things, the Incremental Term Lenders joined the Credit Agreement and provided an additional term loan facility (the “Incremental Term Loan” and, together with
the Initial Term Loan, the “Term Loan” and, together with the Revolving Credit Facility, the “Credit Facility”) in the aggregate original principal amount of $40.0
million. Upon the closing of the Incremental Term Loan, the Credit Facility consisted of (i) the Term Loan in the aggregate principal amount of $390.0 million and
(ii) the Revolving Credit Facility in the aggregate original principal amount of $100.0 million.

The scheduled maturity date for the Term Loan is September 20, 2028, and for the Revolving Credit Facility, is the earlier of September 20, 2028 and the first
date after September 20, 2025 on which all borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility have been repaid, subject in each case to earlier termination upon the
occurrence and continuation of an event of default. Interest on the Term Loan and any borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility (each, a “Loan” and,
collectively, the “Loans”) accrues at a rate of 10% per annum on the unpaid principal balance of the Loans then outstanding. Accrued interest on each loan is
payable-in-kind as compounded interest and capitalized to the principal amount of the applicable Loan on the last day of each of March, June, September and
December and the applicable maturity date.

The Credit Agreement also contains certain covenants and events of default, in each case customary for transactions of this type. The obligations under the
Credit Agreement are secured by a first-priority lien on unencumbered assets of the Loan Parties (excluding any segregated account exclusively holding customer
deposits and certain other assets, in each case as specified in the Credit Agreement) and a junior lien on the Revolving Equipment Note Collateral. The Credit
Agreement is guaranteed by all U.S. and certain non-U.S. direct and indirect subsidiaries of the Company and the equity interests of such subsidiaries have been
pledged as collateral. In the future, the Company may be required to add any new or after-acquired subsidiaries of the Company that meet certain criteria as
guarantors.

As part of the Credit Facility, Delta has provided a commitment for the Revolving Credit Facility in the aggregate original principal amount of $100.0 million
under the Credit Agreement. The $100.0 million commitment from Delta is separate and apart from the portion with respect to the Credit Support Premium. The
Company may request to make borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility at any time until September 20, 2025 in an amount and to the extent that after giving
pro forma effect to any borrowing thereunder, the Company’s Unrestricted Cash Amount (as defined in the Credit Agreement) will not exceed $100.0 million. The
Company generally must promptly repay any borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility prior to maturity as follows: (i) at any time prior to September 20,
2025, to the extent the Unrestricted Cash Amount (as defined in the Credit Agreement) is greater than $100.0 million and (ii) on or after September 20, 2025 but
prior to maturity, to the extent that the Unrestricted Cash Amount (as defined in the Credit Agreement) is greater than $125.0 million and if Consolidated Cash Flow
(as defined in the Credit Agreement) has been positive for any fiscal quarter since September 20, 2023. As of each of December 31, 2024 and the date of this
Annual Report, no amounts were outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility with respect to Delta’s $100.0 million commitment.
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Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Net cash used in operating activities $ (77,888) $ (665,285)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities $ (46,681) $ 40,870
Net cash provided by financing activities $ 78,662 § 300,954
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ (46,357) $ (327,328)

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

The cash outflow from operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2024 primarily consisted of our Net loss, net of non-cash charges, of $161.9
million, and the balance was primarily attributable to a decrease in net operating assets and liabilities. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we sold $595.4
million of Prepaid Blocks compared to $482.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The 23% year-over-year increase in Prepaid Block sales was
attributable to a higher volume of purchases in the first three quarters of 2024 as compared to the prior year. We have historically experienced greater purchases of
Prepaid Blocks from our members during the third and fourth quarters of the calendar year.

Cash Flow from Investing Activities

The cash outflow from investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2024 was primarily attributable to $137.8 million of capital expenditures,
including $15.0 million of capitalized software development costs. The outflow was partially offset by $85.6 million in proceeds from sale of aircraft held for sale,
net of selling costs and $7.9 million of post-closing cash proceeds associated with divestiture of the non-core aircraft management business.

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

The cash inflow from financing activities was primarily attributable to the net proceeds from the initial issuance of the 2024 Revolving Equipment Notes of
$327.2 million, partially offset by the repayments of long-term debt of $246.5 million, which included redemptions of 2022 Term Equipment Notes due to aircraft
sales, the redemption in-full of the 2022 Term Equipment Notes in November 2024 and subsequent redemptions of Revolving Equipment Notes due to aircraft
sales. We also incurred debt issuance costs of $1.6 million associated with the initial issuance of the Revolving Equipment Notes in November 2024.

Future Obligations and Commitments

As of December 31, 2024, our principal ongoing commitments consisted of contractual cash obligations to pay principal and interest payments under the
Revolving Equipment Notes, principal and accrued interest under the Credit Agreement when due at maturity, operating leases for certain controlled aircraft, leased
facilities, including our corporate headquarters at the Atlanta Member Operations Center, our corporate office in New York, New York, and other operational
facilities, such as hangars and maintenance facilities, trade payables and ordinary course arrangements involving our obligation to provide services for which we
have already received deferred revenue. For further information about the foregoing obligations and commitments, see the following disclosures in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in_Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report: Note 3, Revenue; Note &,
Long-Term Debt; and Note 10, Leases.

In October 2024, we announced our current fleet modernization strategy, as described above. To execute this strategy, we will need to, among other things,
strategically acquire aircraft, whether by purchasing aircraft, entering into aircraft leases with third parties or acquiring the businesses of other private aviation
operators, sell current owned aircraft and return certain current leased aircraft. This strategy is expected to be capital intensive and will require significant internal
and external resources to achieve. As of the date of this Annual Report, we expect that
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we will fund any obligations or commitments in connection with our fleet modernization strategy using cash and cash equivalents on hand, including cash received
in connection with any sales of our owned aircraft, operating cash flows and amounts available to be borrowed under the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility. In
the future, we may also seek to fund our fleet modernization strategy with proceeds from additional financing or refinancing transactions, such as new debt or
equity financings, asset sales or other strategic transactions. See “Review of 2024 Achievements—Qur Fleet Modernization Strategy” above and the caption titled
“We may be unable to execute our fleet modernization strategy on the timeline that we currently anticipate or may fail to realize the expected benefits from such
strategy, which may adversely impact our business, prospects, operations, results of operations and financial condition” in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in this
Annual Report for more information about our fleet modernization strategy.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2024, we were not a party to any off-balance sheet arrangements (as defined in Regulation S-K) that have or are reasonably likely to have
a current or future material effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of our operations is based on our consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. Certain amounts included in or affecting the consolidated financial statements presented
in this Annual Report and related disclosure must be estimated, requiring management to make assumptions with respect to values or conditions which cannot be
known with certainty at the time the consolidated financial statements are prepared. Management believes that the accounting policies set forth below comprise the
most important “critical accounting policies” for Wheels Up. A “critical accounting policy” is one which is both important to the portrayal of our financial condition
and results of operations and that involves management’s judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently
uncertain. Management evaluates such policies on an ongoing basis, based upon historical results and experience, consultation with experts and other methods that
management considers reasonable in the particular circumstances under which the judgments and estimates are made, as well as management’s forecasts as to the
manner in which such circumstances may change in the future.

Revenue Recognition

We determine revenue recognition through the following steps in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers:

e Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer;

» Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

*  Determination of the transaction price;

*  Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
*  Recognition of revenue when, or as, a performance obligation is satisfied.

A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct service to the customer and is the basis of revenue recognition. There are contracts
which could have more than one performance obligation. For contracts that include additional performance obligations, we account for individual performance
obligations if they are distinct. If there is a group of performance obligations bundled in a contract, the transaction price is required to be allocated based upon the
relative standalone selling prices of the promised services underlying each performance obligation. We generally determine the standalone selling price based on the
prices charged to customers. If there are services included in the transaction price for which the standalone selling price is not directly observable, then we would
first apply the standalone selling price for those services that are known, such as the flight hourly rate, and then allocate the total consideration proportionately to
the other performance obligations in the contract.
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Revenue is recognized when control of the promised service is transferred to our member or the customer, in an amount that reflects the consideration we
expect to be entitled to in exchange for those services. Our revenue is reported net of discounts and incentives. We generally do not issue refunds for flights unless
there is a failure to meet our service obligations. Refunded amounts for annual membership and initiation fees are granted to some customers that no longer wish to
remain members following their first flight. We generally do not have contracts that include variable terms.

We utilize registered independent third-party air carriers in the performance of a portion of our flights. We evaluate whether there is a promise to transfer
services to the customer, as the principal, or to arrange for services to be provided by another party, as the agent, using a control model. The nature of the flight
services we provide to members is similar regardless of which third-party air carrier is involved. If Wheels Up has primary responsibility to fulfill the obligation,
then the revenue and the associated costs are reported on a gross basis in the consolidated statements of operations. If Wheels Up arranges for services to be
provided by another party, as the agent, then the revenue and the associated costs are reported on a net basis in the statement of operations.

Business Combinations and Asset Acquisitions

We account for business combinations and asset acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires allocation of the purchase price to the
tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. For acquisitions meeting the definition
of a business combination in ASC 805, Business Combinations, the excess of the purchase price over the amounts recognized for assets acquired and liabilities
assumed is recorded as goodwill. During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, we may record adjustments to the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period or final
determination of the values of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded in the consolidated statements
of operations. For acquisitions meeting the definition of an asset acquisition, the fair value of the consideration transferred, including transaction costs, is allocated
to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their relative fair values. No goodwill is recognized in an asset acquisition.

The acquisition method of accounting requires us to exercise judgment and make estimates and assumptions regarding fair values using the information
available as of the date of acquisition. We may also refine these estimates over a one-year measurement period, to reflect any new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts recognized as of that date. If we are
required to retroactively adjust provisional amounts that we have recorded for the fair value of assets and liabilities in connection with an acquisition, these
adjustments could materially impact our financial position and results of operations. Assumptions that we make in estimating the fair value of acquired developed
technology, trade names, customer relationships and other identifiable intangible assets include future cash flows that we expect to generate from the acquired
assets. If the subsequent actual results and updated projections of the underlying business activity change compared with the assumptions and projections used to
develop these values, we could record impairment charges.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business
combinations. The carrying value of goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis or on an interim basis if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
an impairment loss may have occurred (i.e., a triggering event). Our annual goodwill impairment testing date is September 1st. The test for impairment is performed
at the reporting unit level. On April 1, 2022, we acquired Air Partner and determined that Air Partner represents a new reporting unit for the purposes of assessing
potential impairment of goodwill, and therefore the private aviation services operating segment was divided into two reporting units - Air Partner and the legacy
Wheels Up reporting unit (“WUP Legacy”).

Goodwill impairment is the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying value of goodwill. We use both
qualitative and quantitative approaches when testing goodwill for impairment. Our qualitative approach evaluates various events including, but not limited to,
macroeconomic
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conditions, changes in the business environment in which we operate, a sustained decrease in our share price and other specific facts and circumstances. If, after
assessing qualitative factors, we determine that it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of our reporting unit is greater than the carrying value, then performing
a quantitative impairment assessment is unnecessary and our goodwill is not considered to be impaired. If, based on the qualitative assessment, we conclude that it
is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying value, or if we elect to bypass the qualitative assessment, we proceed with
performing the quantitative impairment assessment.

When a quantitative impairment assessment is performed, we primarily determine the fair value of our reporting units using a discounted cash flow model, or
income approach, and supplement this with observable valuation multiples for comparable companies, as appropriate. The completion of the discounted cash flow
model requires that we make a number of significant estimates and assumptions, which include projections of future revenue, costs and expenses, capital
expenditures and working capital changes, as well as assumptions about the estimated weighted average cost of capital and other relevant variables. We base our
estimates and assumptions on our recent performance, our expectations of future performance, economic or market conditions and other assumptions we believe to
be reasonable. Actual future results may differ from those estimates.

Intangible assets, other than goodwill, acquired in a business combination are recognized at their fair value as of the date of acquisition. We periodically
reassess the useful lives of our definite-lived intangible assets when events or circumstances indicate that useful lives have significantly changed from the previous
estimate.

See Note 6, Goodwill and Intangible Assets in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report for additional information about impairment testing for goodwill and intangible assets, including the goodwill
impairment charges that we recognized during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, and 2023.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets include aircraft, property and equipment, finite-lived intangible assets and operating lease right-of-use assets. We review the carrying value
of long-lived assets for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable based on the estimated undiscounted
future cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. The circumstances that would indicate potential impairment may include, but
are not limited to, a significant change in the manner in which an asset is being used or losses associated with the use of an asset. We review long-lived assets for
impairment at the individual asset or the asset group level for which the lowest level of independent cash flows can be identified and measured. If the carrying
amount of a long-lived asset or asset group is determined not to be recoverable, an impairment loss is recognized and a write-down to fair value is recorded.

Equity-Based Compensation

Equity-based compensation awards are measured on the date of grant based on the estimated fair value of the respective award and the resulting compensation
expense is recognized over the requisite service period of the respective award. We account for forfeitures of awards as they occur.

Restricted stock units (“RSUs”) granted under the Wheels Up Experience Inc. 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective April 1, 2023
(as amended by the LTIP Amendment (as defined in Note 11), the “Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP”), typically vest upon a service-based requirement, and we
recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. Certain of our RSUs granted under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP
vest upon achievement of pre-determined performance objectives (“PSUs”). The vesting of RSUs and PSUs are generally subject to a participant’s continued
service to the Company through the vesting date. Compensation expense associated with PSUs is recognized based on the quantity of awards we have determined
are probable of vesting and is recognized over the longer of the estimated performance goal attainment period or time vesting period. The grant date fair value of
RSUs with market-based vesting conditions is recognized over the derived service period for the award unless the market condition is satisfied in advance of the
derived service period, in which case a cumulative catch-up is recognized as of the date of achievement.
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The Executive Performance Awards (as defined in Note 11) are subject to the satisfaction of the applicable performance- and service-based vesting conditions
under such award, if at all. Compensation expense associated with the Executive Performance Awards is recognized over the derived service period. For the CCO
Performance Award, which as of the date of this Annual Report has not been approved by the Company’s stockholders, the amortized expense, or carrying value, is
classified as mezzanine equity in the consolidated balance sheets.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For further information on recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Part 11, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

In the ordinary course of operating our business, we are exposed to market risks. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position
or results of operations due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our principal market risks have related to interest rates, aircraft fuel and foreign
currency exchange.

Interest Rates

Interest rate risk is the risk that the Company will incur economic losses due to adverse changes in interest rates. We are subject to market risk associated with
changes in interest rates, which could lead to significant fluctuations in the required cash payments of interest or related accruals with respect to variable-rate debt,
and the fair value of our indebtedness, including the Revolving Equipment Notes and Credit Facility, or our cash equivalents, which are primarily in the form of
money market funds or U.S. treasury bills. Changes in interest rates may also impact payments under any additional variable-rate debt arrangements or leases that
we may enter into from time to time, as well as our ability to refinance the Revolving Equipment Notes or Credit Facility or to obtain additional financing on
attractive terms or at all.

As of December 31, 2024, approximately $443.9 million of the Company’s long-term debt was at fixed interest rates, including, among others, the Term Loan,
and none of the Company’s variable lease obligations utilized market interest rates as the basis for determining payments. In addition, any future borrowings under
the Revolving Credit Facility accrue interest at a fixed interest rate. The remaining $317.5 million of the Company’s long-term debt was at variable interest rates
based on SOFR that are adjusted at scheduled principal and interest payment dates, subject to a floor. An increase of 1% in average annual interest rates would have
decreased the estimated fair value of our fixed rate debt by approximately $10.0 million as of December 31, 2024 and would have increased the interest expense on
our variable rate debt by approximately $0.5 million. Conversely, a decrease of 1% in average annual interest rates would have increased the estimated fair value of
our fixed rate debt by approximately $10.4 million as of December 31, 2024 and would have decreased the interest expense on our variable rate debt by
approximately $0.5 million.

From time to time, we may enter into interest rate swaps or other derivative instruments that are not for speculative purposes in order to manage our exposure
to changes in interest rates, subject to certain limitations under our debt agreements. As of December 31, 2024, there were no such contracts outstanding.

Aircraft Fuel

We are subject to market risk associated with changes in the price and availability of aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel expense for the year ended December 31, 2024
represented 15% of our total cost of revenue. Based on our 2024 fuel consumption, a hypothetical 10% increase in the average price per gallon of aircraft fuel
would have increased fuel expense by approximately $11.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. We do not purchase or hold any derivative instruments to
protect against the effects of changes in fuel. Under our agreements with our members, we bill members a fuel price surcharge based on the cost of Jet A fuel for
flights under our member programs, which limits our direct exposure to volatility in Jet A fuel prices to the extent the fuel surcharge applies. See the caption
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“Fuel” set forth in Part I, Item 1 “Business” in this Annual Report for more information regarding the details of the fuel surcharge. Fuel costs for charter flights on
third-party operated aircraft are generally paid by the charter customer as part of the total cost of the flight. Our direct exposure to fluctuations in aircraft fuel prices
for such arrangements is limited.

Foreign Currency Exchange

We are subject to foreign currency exchange risk primarily through our international operations, which involve revenue and expenses denominated in foreign
currencies. To manage foreign currency exchange risk, we execute international revenue and expense transactions in the same foreign currency to the extent
practicable. From time to time, we may also enter into option or forward contracts to hedge foreign currency exchange risk that are not for speculative purposes. As
of December 31, 2024, we did not hold any such option or forward contracts.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Wheels Up Experience Inc.

Opinion on internal control over financial reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Wheels Up Experience Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO”). In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness described in the following paragraphs on the achievement of the
objectives of the control criteria, the Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria
established in the 2013 Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following
material weakness has been identified and included in management’s assessment.

The Company identified certain deficiencies in information technology (“IT”) general controls for IT systems and applications that are relevant to the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements, including appropriate segregation of duties, appropriate restriction of user access, and program change
management controls. These IT deficiencies also resulted in related manual IT-dependent and automated application controls being ineffective. These deficiencies,
in the aggregate, constitute a material weakness.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the consolidated
financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024. The material weakness identified above was considered in determining the
nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2024 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 11,
2025 which expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
(“Management’s Report”). Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and
the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and limitations of internal control over financial reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
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accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Other information

We do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on the remediation plans or related actions described in Management’s Report.

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2014.

New York, New York
March 11, 2025
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Wheels Up Experience Inc.

Opinion on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Wheels Up Experience Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as
of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”), and our report dated March 11, 2025 expressed an adverse opinion.

Basis for opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect
to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to
assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical audit matter

Critical audit matters are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to
the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. We determined that there are no critical audit matters.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2014.

New York, New York
March 11, 2025
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WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)
December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 216,426 $ 263,909
Accounts receivable, net 32,316 38,237
Other receivables 1,182 11,528
Parts and supplies inventories, net 12,177 20,400
Aircraft inventory — 1,862
Aircraft held for sale 35,663 30,496
Prepaid expenses 23,546 55,715
Other current assets 10,759 11,887
Total current assets 332,069 434,034
Property and equipment, net 348,339 337,714
Operating lease right-of-use assets 56,911 68,910
Goodwill 217,045 218,208
Intangible assets, net 96,904 117,766
Restricted cash 30,042 28,916
Other non-current assets 76,701 110,512
Total assets $ 1,158,011 $ 1,316,060
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term debt $ 31,748  $ 23,998
Accounts payable 29,977 32,973
Accrued expenses 89,484 102,475
Deferred revenue, current 749,432 723,246
Operating lease liabilities, current 13,953 22,869
Intangible liabilities, current 1,525 1,525
Other current liabilities 1,165 416
Total current liabilities 917,284 907,502
Long-term debt, net 376,308 235,074
Deferred revenue, non-current 180 983
Operating lease liabilities, non-current 50,810 54,956
Warrant liability 20 12
Intangible liabilities, non-current 9,152 10,677
Other non-current liabilities 485 6,983
Total liabilities 1,354,239 1,216,187

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Mezzanine equity:
Executive performance award 5,881 2,476

Total mezzanine equity 5,881 2,476
Stockholders’ equity:
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Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 1,500,000,000 authorized; 698,342,097 and 697,131,838 shares issued and

697,902,646 and 696,856,131 common shares outstanding as of as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Treasury stock, at cost, 439,451 and 275,707 shares, respectively

Total Wheels Up Experience Inc. stockholders’ equity
Non-controlling interests

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and equity $

70 70
1,921,581 1,879,009
(2,102,895) (1,763,260)
(12,662) (10,704)
(8,203) (7,718)
(202,109) 97,397
(202,109) 97,397
1,158,011 $ 1,316,060

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Revenue

Costs and expenses:

Cost of revenue (exclusive of items shown separately below)

Technology and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Gain on sale of aircraft held for sale
Loss on disposal of assets, net
Impairment of goodwill

Total costs and expenses

Loss from operations

Other income (expense):

Change in fair value of warrant liability

Gain (loss) on divestiture
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Interest income
Interest expense
Other expense, net
Total other income (expense)

Loss before income taxes

Income tax expense

Net loss

Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests

Net loss attributable to Wheels Up Experience Inc.

Net loss per share of Common Stock:
Basic and Diluted

‘Weighted-average shares of Common Stock outstanding:

Basic and Diluted

WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

$ 792,104 $ 1,253,317  $ 1,579,760
733,075 1,232,506 1,540,325

40,690 61,873 57,240

84,317 88,828 117,110

137,594 145,873 183,531

56,546 58,533 65,936
(4,622) (16,939) (4,375)

3,295 — —

— 126,200 180,000

1,050,895 1,696,874 2,139,767
(258,791) (443,557) (560,007)

®) 739 9,516

2,003 (2,991) _

(17,714) (4,401) _

2,170 6,121 3,670
(65,352) (41,255) (7,515)
(717) (660) (1,041)

(79,618) (42,447) 4,630

(338,409) (486,004) (555,377)

(1,226) (1,383) (170)

(339,635) (487,387) (555,547)

— — (387)

$ (339,635) $ (487,387) $ (555,160)
$ (049) § (3.69) § (22.60)

697,713,626 132,194,747 24,567,164
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WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Net loss $ (339,635) $ (487,387) (555,547)
Other comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,958) (651) (10,053)
Comprehensive loss (341,593) (488,038) (565,600)
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interests = — (387)
Comprehensive loss attributable to Wheels Up Experience Inc. $ (341,593) §$ (488,038) (565,213)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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(in thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2021

Equity-based compensation

Change in non-controlling interests allocation

Shares withheld for employee taxes on vested equity awards

Issuance of Common Stock upon settlement of restricted stock
units

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss

Balance at December 31, 2022

Equity-based compensation

Change in non-controlling interests allocation

Issuance of Common Stock in connection with debt issuance
Reverse stock split fractional shares

Shares withheld for employee taxes on vested awards

Issuance of Common Stock upon settlement of restricted stock
units

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss

Balance at December 31, 2023

Equity-based compensation

Reclassification of equity awards

Shares withheld for employee taxes on vested awards

Issuance of Common Stock upon settlement of restricted stock
units

Net loss
Other comprehensive loss

Balance at December 31, 2024

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
(In thousands, except share data)

Common Stock

Treasury Stock

Accumulated
Additional other Non-
paid-in Accumulated  comprehensive controlling

Shares Amount capital deficit loss Shares Amount interests Total
24,583,457 § 2§ 1450861 $  (720,713) $ = — 3 — 6,077 $ 736,227
— — 54,549 — — — — 34,430 88,979
- — 40,120 — — — — (40,120) —
— — — — — 264,441 (7,687) — (7,687)
614,841 1 — — — — — — 1
— — — (555,160) — — — (387) (555,547)
— — — — (10,053) — — — (10,053)
25,198,298 $ 3 8 1,545530 $ (1,275,873) $ (10,053) 264.441 $ (7,687) $ — § 251,920
— — 21,881 — — — — 1,276 23,157
— — 1,276 — — — — (1,276) —
671,239,941 67 310,322 — — — — — 310,389
— — — — — 859 3) — 3)
— — — — — 10,407 (28) — (28)
693,599 — — — — — — — —
— — — (487,387) — — — — (487,387)
— — — — (651) — — — (651)
697,131,838  § 70 $ 1,879,009 § (1,763,260) $ (10,704) 275,707 $ (7,718) $ — $ 97397
— — 23,854 — — — — — 23,854
— — 18,718 — — — — — 18,718
— — — — — 163,744 (485) — (485)
1,210,259 — — — — — — — —
— — — (339,635) — — — — (339,635)
— — — — (1,958) — — — (1,958)
698,342,097 § 70 $ 1,921,581 § (2,102,895) $ (12,662) 439,451 $ (8,203) $ — $ (202,109)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (339,635) § (487,387) $ (555,547)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 56,546 58,533 65,936
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt discount 8,711 329 766
Payment in kind interest 43,412 10,453 —
Equity-based compensation 45,977 25,633 88,979
Change in fair value of warrant liability 8 (739) (9,516)
Provision for expected credit losses 2,728 1,705 8,129
Reserve for excess and obsolete inventory 12,063 3,923 —
Loss on extinguishment of debt 17,714 4,401 —
Gain on sale of aircraft held for sale (4,622) (16,939) (4,375)
Impairment of goodwill — 126,200 180,000
Other (4,796) 4,893 1,575
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 2,794 30,062 (23,946)
Other receivables 4,349 (3,164) 2,537
Parts and supplies inventories 2,861 4,686 (21,693)
Aircraft inventory 1,673 11,010 (29,470)
Prepaid expenses 30,117 (17,315) (3,058)
Other non-current assets 33,803 (32,289) (41,555)
Operating lease liabilities, net (1,322) (552) (490)
Accounts payable (2,882) (8,089) (9,702)
Accrued expenses (11,233) (35,110) 19,143
Deferred revenue 25,383 (348,419) 103,313
Other assets and liabilities (1,537) 2,890 (1,715)
Net cash used in operating activities (77,888) (665,285) (230,689)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (122,811) (20,168) (83,559)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired — — (75,093)
Proceeds from sale of divested business 7,894 13,200 —
Purchases of aircraft held for sale (2,408) (4,240) (40,105)
Proceeds from sale of aircraft held for sale, net 85,560 68,308 51,208
Other 105 267 —
Capitalized software development costs (15,021) (16,497) (27,693)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (46,681) 40,870 (175,242)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Purchase of shares for treasury (485) (28) (7,687)
Purchase of fractional shares — 3) —
Proceeds from notes payable — 70,000 —
Repayment of notes payable — (70,000) —
Proceeds from long-term debt 327,201 382,200 259,200
Payment of debt issuance costs (1,594) (21,692) (6,727)
Repayments of long-term debt (246,460) (59,523) —
Net cash provided by financing activities 78,662 300,954 244,786
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (450) (3,867) (5,424)
NET DECREASE IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH (46,357) (327,328) (166,569)
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH BEGINNING OF PERIOD 292,825 620,153 786,722
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH END OF PERIOD $ 246,468 $ 292,825 § 620,153
CASH PAID DURING THE PERIOD FOR:
Interest $ 23,562 § 31,397 $ —
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Non-cash issuance of Common Stock in connection with debt issuance $ — 3 310,322 § —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS

LEINTS CLIN

Wheels Up Experience Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “Wheels Up”, the “Company”, “our”,
demand private aviation in the U.S. and one of the largest companies in the industry.

we”, and “us”) is a leading provider of on-

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Wheels Up Experience Inc. and its subsidiaries, after elimination
of intercompany transactions and accounts. We consolidate Wheels Up MIP LLC (“MIP LLC”) and record the profits interests held in MIP LLC that Wheels Up
does not own as non-controlling interests (see Note 13).

Use of Estimates

Preparing the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates due to risks and uncertainties. The most significant estimates
include, but are not limited to, the useful lives and residual values of purchased aircraft, the fair value of financial assets and liabilities, acquired intangible assets,
goodwill, contingent consideration and other assets and liabilities, sales and use tax, the estimated life of member relationships, the determination of the allowance
for credit losses, reserve for excess and obsolete inventory, impairment assessments, the determination of the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets and the
incremental borrowing rate for leases.

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into cash. We consider securities with initial maturities of three months or
less, when purchased, to be cash equivalents (see Note 7).

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash is pledged as security for letters of credit and also includes cash and cash equivalents that are unavailable for immediate use due to contractual
restrictions. We classify Restricted cash as current or non-current based on the remaining term of the restriction (see Note 7).

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses

Accounts receivable, net, primarily consists of contractual amounts we expect to collect from customers related to flight-related charges, including amounts
currently due from credit card companies. We record Accounts receivable at the original invoiced amount.

We monitor exposure for losses and maintain an allowance for credit losses for any receivables that may be uncollectible. We estimate uncollectible receivables
based on the receivable’s age, customer credit-worthiness, past transaction history with the customer, changes in payment terms and the condition of the general
economy and the industry as a whole. When it is determined that the amounts are not recoverable, the receivable is written off against
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the allowance. Changes in allowance for credit losses from December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2024 were as follows (in thousands):

Amount
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 9,982
Current period provision 1,705
Write-offs, net and other (3,823)
Balance as of December 31, 2023 7,864
Current period provision 2,728
Write-offs, net and other (2,931)
Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 7,661

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that may potentially expose us to concentrations of credit risk primarily consist of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and receivables.
We place ash and cash equivalents with financial institutions that we believe have high credit quality. To the extent that our international cash holdings increase or
decrease in the future, our exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may correspondingly increase or decrease and could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Certain of the Company’s U.S. bank accounts are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation up to certain limits. Although our cash deposits are held with multiple financial institutions, such deposits at times may exceed the federally insured
limits. We have not experienced any losses in such accounts.

Revenue and Accounts receivable are spread over many members and customers. There were no customers that accounted for 10% or more of revenue for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. We monitor credit quality on an ongoing basis and maintain reserves for estimated credit losses. There were no
customers that accounted for 10% or more of accounts receivable as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Parts and Supplies Inventories

Inventories are used in operations and are generally not for sale. Inventories are comprised of spare aircraft parts, materials and supplies, which are valued at
the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost of inventories are determined using the specific identification method. Storage costs and indirect administrative
overhead costs related to inventories are expensed as incurred.

We determine, based on the evidence that exists, whether or not it is appropriate to maintain a reserve for excess and obsolete inventory. The reserve is based
on historical experience related to the disposal of inventory due to damage, physical deterioration, obsolescence or other causes, as well as our projected usage of
inventory on-hand as of each balance sheet date. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the reserve for excess and obsolete inventory was $16.4 million and $4.4
million, respectively.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets include contractual prepayments to third-parties for future services, security deposits, the current portion of
capitalized costs related to sales commissions and referral fees and insurance claims receivable.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization for all property and equipment are
calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Residual values estimated for aircraft are approximately 50% of the
original purchase price. Expenditures that increase the value or productive capacity of assets are capitalized, and repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.
The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are principally as
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follows: aircraft— seven years, furniture and fixtures — three years, vehicles — five years, building and improvements — 27 years, computer equipment — three
years and tooling — ten years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of either the estimated useful life of the asset or the remaining term of the
lease (see Note 4).

Software Development Costs

We incur costs related to developing the Wheels Up website, mobile application and other internal use software. The amounts capitalized include employees’
payroll and payroll-related costs, directly associated with the development activities, as well as external direct costs of services used in developing the software. We
amortize capitalized costs using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life, which is currently three years, beginning when the software is ready for its
intended use. Costs incurred during the preliminary project and post-implementation stages are expensed as incurred (see Note 4).

Leases

We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception on an individual contract basis. Operating leases are included in Operating lease right-of-use assets,
Operating lease liabilities, current, and Operating lease liabilities, non-current, on the consolidated balance sheets. Operating lease right-of-use assets represent the
right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and operating lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating
lease right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized at lease commencement date based on the present value of the future minimum lease payments
over the lease term. The interest rate implicit in our leases is not readily determinable to discount lease payments. As a result, for all leases, we use an incremental
borrowing rate that is based on the estimated rate of interest for a collateralized borrowing of a similar asset, using a similar term as the lease payments at the
commencement date.

The operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities include any lease payments made, including any variable amounts that are based on an
index or rate, and exclude lease incentives. Variability that is not due to an index or rate, such as payments made based on hourly rates, are excluded from the lease
liability. Lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease. Renewal option periods are included within the lease term and the associated payments
are recognized in the measurement of the operating right-of-use asset and operating lease liability when they are at our discretion and considered reasonably certain
of being exercised. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

We have elected the practical expedient not to recognize leases with an initial term of 12 months or less on our consolidated balance sheets and associated lease
expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. For real estate leases, we have elected the practical expedient to account for both the lease
and non-lease components as a single lease component and not allocate the consideration in the contract. Certain real estate leases contain fixed lease payments that
include real estate taxes, common area maintenance and insurance. These fixed payments are considered part of the lease payment and are included in the operating
lease right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities. For non-real estate leases, including aircraft, we have separated the lease and non-lease components. The
non-lease components of aircraft leases are typically for maintenance services and insurance that are expensed as incurred (see Note 10).

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets consist of aircraft, including aircraft held for sale, property and equipment, finite-lived intangible assets and operating lease right-of-use
assets. We review the carrying value of long-lived assets for impairment when events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable
based on the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from its use and eventual disposition. In cases where undiscounted expected future cash
flows are less than the carrying value of the asset or asset group, an impairment loss is recognized equal to an amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair
value of the asset or asset group.

89



Acquisitions

We account for business combinations and asset acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires allocation of the purchase price to the
tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values on the acquisition date. For acquisitions meeting the definition of
a business combination, the excess of the purchase price over the amounts recognized for assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. During the
measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, we may record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business
combination with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period or final determination of the values of assets acquired or
liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded in the consolidated statements of operations. Acquisition costs, such as legal
and consulting fees, are expensed as incurred for business combinations.

For acquisitions meeting the definition of an asset acquisition, the fair value of the consideration transferred, including transaction costs, is allocated to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their relative fair values. No goodwill is recognized in an asset acquisition (see Note 5).

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business
combinations. The carrying value of goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis or on an interim basis if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
an impairment loss may have occurred (i.e., a triggering event).

During the third quarter of 2024, the Company elected to voluntarily change the timing of its annual goodwill impairment test from October 1st to September
Ist. The selection of September 1st as the annual testing date for the impairment of goodwill is intended to move the testing to a period outside of the Company’s
interim financial reporting process to allow sufficient time to complete the analysis prior to releasing its third quarter financial results. The Company believes this
change is preferable under the circumstances and does not accelerate, delay or avoid an impairment charge. The change did not result in more than 12 months
between annual testing dates. The Company will apply this change prospectively as management determined that retrospective application would be impracticable,
and the change does not have an impact on the financial statements as the Company currently evaluates for triggering events in interim periods.

The test for goodwill is performed at the reporting unit level. Subsequent to acquisition, we determined that Air Partner Limited (“Air Partner”) represents a
new reporting unit for the purposes of assessing potential impairment of goodwill, and therefore the private aviation services operating segment, our only reportable
segment, was divided into two reporting units, the Air Partner reporting unit and the legacy Wheels Up reporting unit (“WUP Legacy”).

Goodwill impairment is the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying value of goodwill. We use both
qualitative and quantitative approaches when testing goodwill for impairment. Our qualitative approach evaluates various events including, but not limited to,
macroeconomic conditions, changes in the business environment in which we operate and other specific facts and circumstances. If, after assessing qualitative
factors, we determine that it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is greater than its carrying value, then performing a quantitative
impairment assessment is unnecessary and the reporting unit is not considered to be impaired. However, if based on the qualitative assessment we cannot conclude
that it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, or if we elect to bypass the optional qualitative assessment
approach, we proceed with performing the quantitative impairment assessment using a discounted cash flow model, or income approach, and relevant data from
guideline public companies, or market approach, to quantify the amount of impairment, if any (see Note 6).

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets other than goodwill primarily consist of acquired finite-lived trade names, customer relationships and developed technology. At initial
recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognized at their fair value as of the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are
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carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any, and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset,
which was determined based on management’s estimate of the period over which the asset will contribute to our future cash flows (see Note 6).

Warrant Liability

We determine if warrants are equity-classified or liability-classified instruments based on an assessment of the warrant’s specific terms and applicable
authoritative guidance in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity
(“ASC 480”) and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”). The assessment considers whether warrants are freestanding financial instruments pursuant to
ASC 480, meet the definition of a liability pursuant to ASC 480, and whether warrants meet all of the requirements for equity classification under ASC 815,
including whether warrants are indexed to our Common Stock, among other conditions for equity classification. This assessment, which requires the use of
professional judgment, is conducted at the time of warrant issuance and as of each subsequent quarterly period end date while warrants are outstanding.

For issued or modified warrants that meet all of the criteria for equity classification, warrants are required to be recorded as a component of additional paid-in
capital at the time of issuance. For issued or modified warrants that do not meet all of the criteria for equity classification, warrants are required to be recorded as a
liability at their fair value on the date of issuance and each balance sheet date thereafter. Changes in the estimated fair value of warrants are recognized as an
unrealized gain or loss.

We recorded the Private Warrants and Public Warrants (as each term is defined below) assumed in connection with the closing of the business combination
consummated on July 13, 2021 (the “Business Combination Closing Date”) between Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLC (“WUP”) and Aspirational Consumer
Lifestyle Corp. (“Aspirational”), a blank check company (the “Business Combination’) (see Note 9 and Note 12) as liabilities .

Revenue

We determine revenue recognition through the following steps:

¢ identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer;

» identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

*  determination of the transaction price;

» allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
* recognition of revenue when, or as, a performance obligation is satisfied.

For the periods presented in the consolidated statements of operations contained herein, Revenue is derived from a variety of sources, including (i)
memberships, (ii) flights, (iii) aircraft management and (iv) other.

Revenue is recorded net of discounts on standard pricing and incentive offerings, including special pricing agreements and certain promotions.

Deferred revenue is an obligation to transfer services to a customer for which we have already received consideration. Upon receipt of a prepayment from a
customer for all or a portion of the transaction price, we initially recognize a contract liability. The contract liability is settled, and revenue is recognized, when we
satisfy our performance obligation to the customer at a future date.

(i) Memberships

Wheels Up membership agreements are signed by each member and, together with the terms and conditions in the flight services agreement, govern the use of
the Wheels Up membership. We account for a contract when both parties have approved and are committed to perform their obligations, the rights of the parties are
identified, payment terms are identified, the contract has commercial substance and collectability of consideration is probable.
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We charge members annual fees to maintain their memberships, which are generally non-refundable under the terms of our membership agreements. Revenue
related to annual membership fees is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the related contractual period, which is generally but not always 12
months. If a customer qualifies to earn SkyMiles (as defined below) as part of their membership, then a portion of the transaction price is allocated to this
performance obligation at contract inception. The amount allocated to each performance obligation is based on standalone selling price. If at any time the
membership is terminated, any previously unrecognized amounts are recognized in the period of termination.

Until July 2024, we charged members a one-time initiation fee at the commencement of their membership, which was generally nonrefundable under the terms
of our prior membership agreements. Any initiation fee, less any flight credits awarded, was deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated
duration of the customer relationship period, which was estimated to be approximately three years.

(ii) Flights

Flights and flight-related services, along with the related costs of the flights, are earned and recognized as revenue at the point in time in which the service is
provided. For round trip flights, revenue is recognized upon arrival at the destination for each flight segment. In addition to retail flights, we also have flight service
agreements to sell wholesale flights to customers that are non-members and do not pay annual membership or initiation fees.

Members pay a fixed quoted amount for flights. The amount per flight leg can be based on a contractual capped or fixed rate or dynamically priced based on
market demand at time of booking. Wholesale customers primarily pay a fixed rate for flights. In addition, flight costs can be paid by members through the
purchase of dollar-denominated credits that can be applied to future costs incurred by members, including flight services, annual membership fees, and other
incidental costs such as catering and ground transportation (“Prepaid Blocks”). Prepaid Blocks are deferred and recognized as revenue when the member completes
a flight segment. Prepaid Blocks also can generally be used to purchase commercial flights on Delta. Wheels Up, acting in the capacity of an agent, charges the
member a ticketing fee to use their commingled funds on a flight provided by Delta, which is recorded on a net basis at the time of booking.

In addition, Wheels Up provides Medallion® status (“Status”) in Delta’s SkyMiles® Program (“SkyMiles”) for purchases of Prepaid Blocks. A member is
granted Status free of charge for use during the term of the contract and may assign the Status to any designated individual. Any members that meet the designated
spend thresholds for Prepaid Blocks or the designated dollar-denominated flight spend thresholds during the year receive the same Status. We do not owe Delta any
consideration for the grant of each Status provided. Status is not a material right at contract inception and does not give rise to a separate performance obligation.
The provided Status is not recognized as revenue, but instead is considered a marketing incentive related to future purchases on Delta.

We utilize registered independent third-party air carriers in the performance of a portion of our flights. We evaluate whether there is a promise to transfer
services to the customer, as the principal, or to arrange for services to be provided by another party, as the agent, using a control model. If Wheels Up has primary
responsibility to fulfill the obligation, then the revenue and the associated costs are reported on a gross basis in the consolidated statements of operations.

Revenue and the associated costs are recognized on a net basis when acting as an agent to arrange for services to be provided by another party, including acting
as an intermediary ticketing agent for travel as part of the Amended and Restated Commercial Cooperation Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2024 (the “Amended
CCA”), by and among WUP, Wheels Up Partners LLC (“WUP LLC”) and Delta, and when managed aircraft owners charter their own aircraft. Members can use
Prepaid Blocks (defined below) to purchase commercial flights on Delta. Wheels Up charges the member a ticketing fee to use their funds with Delta, which is
recorded on a net basis in Revenue at the time of booking. Wheels Up passes along the fulfillment of the performance obligation to Delta who actually provides the
flight to the member. Owner charter revenue is recognized for flights where the owner of a managed aircraft sets the price for the trip. Wheels Up records owner
charter revenue at the time of flight on a net basis for the margin we receive to operate the aircraft.
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(iii) Aircraft Management

We generate fee revenue under management agreements with third-party aircraft owners, which includes the recovery of owner incurred expenses including
maintenance coordination, cabin crew and pilots, as well as recharging of certain incurred aircraft operating costs and expenses such as maintenance, fuel, landing
fees, parking and other related operating costs. We pass the recovery and recharge costs back to owners at either cost or a predetermined margin. Aircraft
management related revenue contains two types of performance obligations. One performance obligation is to provide management services over the contract
period. Revenue earned from management services is recognized over the contractual term, on a monthly basis. The second performance obligation is the cost to
operate and maintain the aircraft, which is recognized as revenue at the point in time such services were completed.

On September 30, 2023, we completed the sale of our non-core aircraft management business to an unrelated third party. We do not expect to recognize any
significant revenue or expenses associated with aircraft management activities in future periods.

(iv) Other
Ground Services

Fixed-base operator (“FBO”) ground services are provided for aircraft customers that use our facility at Cincinnati/Northern Kentucky International Airport.
FBO ground services are comprised of a single performance obligation for aircraft facility services such as fueling, parking, ground power and cleaning. FBO
related revenue is recognized at the point in time each service is provided.

We also separately provide maintenance, repair and operations (“MRO”) ground services for aircraft owners and operators at certain of our facilitiecs. MRO
ground services are comprised of a single performance obligation for aircraft maintenance services such as modifications, repairs and inspections. MRO related
revenue is recognized over time based on the cost of inventory consumed and labor hours worked for each service provided.

Flight-Related Services

As part of each flight, there is the option to request flight-related services such as catering or ground transportation for an additional charge. Flight-related
services, which are passed through at either cost or a predetermined margin, were $2.3 million, $2.8 million and $4.6 million for the years ended December 31,
2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Software Subscription

We discontinued our software subscription services in the third quarter of 2023. Subscription revenue consisted of fees earned, typically monthly, from third-
party operators and other businesses in the private aviation industry for web-based access to Avianis, which is a collaborative suite of flight software tools that we
offered through our subsidiary, Avianis Systems LLC. Our subscription services provided users software licenses and related support and updates during the term of
the arrangement to enable management of flight operations.

Revenue was generally recognized from such subscription contracts on a straight-line basis over the contract period. Contracts for related professional services,
such as customized training or implementation programs, were either on a time and materials or fixed fee basis. Professional services revenue was generally
recognized at the point in time the services were performed.

Other

Other revenue includes sales of whole aircraft (as described below), group charter revenue, cargo revenue, revenue sponsorships and partnership fees, safety
and security revenue and special missions including government, defense, emergency and medical transport.
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Aircraft Sales

We acquire aircraft from vendors and various other third-party sellers in the private aviation industry. On the acquisition date, we determine whether our intent
is to sell the aircraft. Additionally, we may identify certain aircraft within our property and equipment which we intend to sell. If an aircraft is available to be used
to service member or customer flights and all of the six specified accounting criteria in ASC 360-10-45-9 are met, we classify the aircraft as an asset held for sale
on the consolidated balance sheets. Assets held for sale are reported at the lower of cost or fair value less costs to sell. The gain or loss upon sale of such aircraft is
recorded on a net basis as part of Income (loss) from operations in the consolidated statements of operations.

If we do not intend to use the aircraft to service member or customer flights prior to the sale, we classify the purchase as aircraft inventory on the consolidated
balance sheets. Aircraft inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Sales are recorded on a gross basis within Other revenue and Cost of revenue
in the consolidated statements of operations. We recorded $1.2 million, $18.2 million and $86.8 million of Other revenue for aircraft sales during the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Aircraft Maintenance and Repair

Regular maintenance for owned and leased aircraft is expensed as incurred unless covered by a third-party, long-term flight hour service agreement. We have
separate service agreements in place covering scheduled and unscheduled repairs of certain aircraft components, as well as the engines for certain owned and leased
aircraft in our fleet. Certain of these agreements, whose original terms generally range from 10 to 15 years, require monthly payments at rates based either on the
number of cycles each aircraft was operated during each month or the number of flight hours each engine was operated during each month, subject to annual
escalations. These power-by-the-hour agreements transfer certain risks, including cost risks, to the third-party service providers. The agreements generally fix the
amount we pay per flight hour or number of cycles in exchange for maintenance and repairs under a predefined maintenance program, which are representative of
the time and materials that would be consumed. These costs are expensed as the related flight hours or cycles are incurred.

Advertising Costs

We expense the cost of advertising and promoting our services as incurred. Such amounts are included in sales and marketing expense in the consolidated
statements of operations and totaled $10.6 million, $8.0 million and $10.5 million, for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Equity-Based Compensation

Equity-based compensation awards are measured on the date of grant based on the estimated fair value of the respective award and the resulting compensation
expense is recognized over the requisite service period of the respective award. We account for forfeitures of awards as they occur. Expense associated with awards
granted but not yet approved by the Company’s stockholders is classified as mezzanine equity in the consolidated balance sheet. Upon subsequent approval of
awards by the Company’s stockholders, the carrying value of the award is reclassified to permanent equity on the consolidated balance sheet.

RSUs (as defined in Note 11) typically vest upon a service-based requirement, and we recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service period. Certain of our RSUs granted under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP (as defined in Note 11) vest upon achievement of pre-determined
performance objectives (“PSUs”), or certain market-based vesting conditions, and may be subject to a participant’s continued service. Compensation expense
associated with PSUs is recognized based on the quantity of awards we have determined are probable of vesting and is recognized over the longer of the estimated
performance goal attainment period or time vesting period. The grant date fair value of RSUs with market-based vesting conditions is recognized over the derived
service period for the award unless the market condition is satisfied in advance of the derived service period, in which case a cumulative catch-up is recognized as
of the date of achievement
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The Executive Performance Awards (as defined in Note 11) are subject to the satisfaction of the applicable performance- and service-based vesting conditions
under such award, if at all. Compensation expense associated with the Executive Performance Awards is recognized over the derived service period. For the CCO
Performance Award, which as of the date of this Annual Report has not been approved by the Company’s stockholders, the amortized expense, or carrying value, is
classified as mezzanine equity in the consolidated balance sheets.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the expected future consequences of temporary
differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities as well as operating losses, capital losses and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates that are expected to be in effect when these differences are anticipated to reverse. Management makes
estimates, assumptions and judgments to determine our provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and any valuation allowance recorded against
deferred tax assets. We assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent we believe, based upon the
weight of available evidence, that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized, we establish a valuation allowance.

We recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not the tax position will be sustained upon examination by the taxing
authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized from such positions are then measured based on the largest benefit that has a
greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon settlement. Interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits are recognized within income tax expense.

Net Income (Loss) per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing Net income (loss) attributable to Wheels Up by the weighted average number of shares of Common
Stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock
outstanding plus the effect of dilutive potential shares of Common Stock outstanding during the period. During the periods when there is a net loss, potentially
dilutive shares of Common Stock are excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share as their effect is anti-dilutive.

Segment Reporting

We identify operating segments as components of Wheels Up for which discrete financial information is available and is regularly reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM?”), or decision-making group, in making decisions regarding resource allocation and performance assessment.

The Company’s CODM is our Chief Executive Officer, who reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis. We determined that Wheels Up
operates in a single operating and reportable segment, private aviation services, as the CODM reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis,
accompanied by disaggregated information about revenue, for purposes of making operating decisions, allocating resources and assessing performance (see Note
19).

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries, where the functional currency is not the U.S. dollar, have been translated at period-end exchange rates and profit
and loss accounts have been translated using weighted-average exchange rates. Adjustments resulting from currency translation have been recorded in the equity
section of the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of other comprehensive loss as a cumulative translation adjustment.

Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Effective

In December 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2023-09 “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax
Disclosures” (“ASU 2023-09”). The amendments in ASU 2023-09 aim
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to enhance the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures. ASU 2023-09 will be effective for the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ending December 31, 2025, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this update on its consolidated financial
statements.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024-03 “Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses (“ASU 2024-03”). The amendments in ASU 2024-03
aim to improve the decision usefulness of expense information on public business entities’ income statements through the disaggregation of relevant expense
captions in the notes to the financial statements. ASU 2024-03 will be effective for the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ending December 31,
2027, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this update on its consolidated financial statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07 “Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures” (“ASU 2023-
07”). The amendments in ASU 2023-07 aim to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant
segment expenses. Public entities with a single reportable segment are required to apply the disclosure requirements in ASU 2023-07, as well as all existing
segment disclosures and reconciliation requirements in ASC 280, on an interim and annual basis. The Company adopted ASU 2023-07 during the year ended
December 31, 2024.

3. REVENUE
Disaggregation of Revenue

The following table disaggregates Revenue by service type and the timing of when these services are provided to the member or customer (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Services transferred at a point in time:

Flights, net of discounts and incentives $ 633,865 $ 884,065 $ 1,073,094

Aircraft management 9,537 159,150 232,248

Other 89,867 102,352 166,732
Services transferred over time:

Memberships 57,614 82,857 90,132

Aircraft management 170 16,679 9,784

Other 1,051 8,214 7,770
Total $ 792,104 $ 1,253,317 $ 1,579,760

Performance Obligations

A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct service to the customer and is the basis of revenue recognition. To determine the
proper revenue recognition method for contracts, we used judgment to evaluate whether two or more contracts should be combined and accounted for as a portfolio
and whether the combined or single contract should be accounted for as more than one performance obligation.

Transaction Price

The transaction prices for each of our primary revenue streams are as follows:
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»  Flights — The fixed quoted amount including any flight credits.

*  Memberships — The one-time initiation fee, which was discontinued starting in July 2024, less any flight credits, when signing up (if applicable) and
annual membership fees for all years thereafter.

* Aircraft management — The fixed monthly fee to manage the aircraft over the contractual term plus the recovery of owner-incurred expenses and recharge
costs that are based on the expenses we incur to operate and maintain the aircraft.

*  Other — Generally based on contractual amounts or time and materials incurred for the work performed or services rendered.

If there is a group of performance obligations bundled in a contract, the transaction price is allocated based upon the relative standalone selling prices of the
promised services underlying each performance obligation.

Payment Terms

Under standard payment terms, the member or customer agrees to pay the full stated price in the contract, in advance of the service, and financing of the
transaction is not provided. Revenue in the consolidated statements of operations is presented net of discounts and incentives of $10.6 million, $9.6 million and
$12.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We generally do not issue refunds for flights unless there is a failure to meet a
service obligation with respect to such flight. Refunded amounts for annual membership and initiation fees are granted to some customers that no longer wish to
remain members following their first flight and were $2.1 million, $3.5 million and $3.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

Contract Balances

Receivables from members and customer contracts represent amounts owed by a member or customer for services we have performed and are included within
accounts receivable, net, on the consolidated balance sheets. Accounts receivable, net consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Gross receivables from members and customers $ 39,187 $ 43,970
Undeposited funds 790 2,131
Less: Allowance for credit losses (7,661) (7,864)
Accounts receivable, net $ 32316 $ 38,237

The opening balance of Accounts receivable, net as of December 31, 2022 was $112.4 million.

Contract liabilities represent obligations to transfer services to a member or customer for which we have already received consideration. Purchases of flights,
Prepaid Blocks, initiation fees, including flight credits, and annual membership fee payments are received up front in advance of performance under the contract
and initially deferred as a liability.

The balance classified as Deferred revenue, current includes prepaid flights and flight credits, and annual membership and initiation fees. Prepaid flights and
flight credits are redeemable for flights at any time. The balance classified as Deferred revenue, non-current includes amounts to be recognized beyond 12 months
following the balance sheet date.
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Deferred revenue consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Flights - prepaid $ 729,581 $ 686,413
Memberships - annual dues 17,638 33,890
Memberships - initiation fees 494 2,377
Flights - credits 673 1,366
Other 1,226 183
Deferred revenue - total $ 749,612 8§ 724,229

The opening balance for Deferred revenue as of December 31, 2022 was $1.1 billion. Changes in deferred revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024 were
as follows (in thousands):

Deferred revenue as of December 31, 2023 $ 724,229
Amounts deferred during the period 804,749
Revenue recognized from amounts included in the deferred revenue beginning balance (422,676)
Revenue from current period sales (356,690)

Deferred revenue as of December 31, 2024 $ 749,612

Revenue expected to be recognized in future periods for performance obligations that are unsatisfied, or partially unsatisfied, as of December 31, 2024 was as
follows (in thousands):

2025 $ 494,552
2026 127,512
2027 127,548
Total $ 749,612

Costs to Obtain Contract

Commissions are granted to certain employees and consultants separately for the initial sales of memberships, additional subsequent contract renewals, when
members purchase Prepaid Blocks on their accounts or for charter flights. In addition, members are eligible to receive a credit if they refer a new customer who
signs up for a membership in the Wheels Up program. Commissions were also granted for the execution of aircraft management agreements, additional subsequent
contract renewals and performance over the contractual term. The cost of commissions and referral fees are capitalized as an asset on the consolidated balance
sheets as these are incremental amounts directly related to attaining a contract with a member. Capitalized costs related to sales commissions and referral fees were
$8.8 million, $8.1 million and $16.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, capitalized sales commissions and referral fees of $4.6 million and $4.8 million, respectively, were included in Other
current assets, and $0.3 million and $0.4 million, respectively, were included in Other non-current assets on the consolidated balance sheets.

Amounts capitalized for certain costs incurred to obtain a contract are periodically reviewed for impairment and amortized on a straight-line basis concurrently
over the same period of benefit in which the associated contract revenue is recognized. Amortization expense related to capitalized sales commissions and referral
fees included in Sales and marketing expense in the consolidated statements of operations was $8.8 million, $9.5 million and $16.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

Aircraft
Software development costs
Leasehold improvements
Computer equipment
Building and improvements
Furniture and fixtures
Tooling
Vehicles

Total Property and equipment
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total Property and equipment, net

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
443,193 $ 475,058
85,112 81,075
22,882 22,899
3,042 3,515
1,424 1,424
3,322 4,618
3,246 3,898
2,166 2,166
564,387 594,653
(216,048) (256,939)
348,339 $ 337,714

Depreciation and amortization expense, excluding amortization expense related to software development costs, was $18.8 million, $22.0 million and $28.9

million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Amortization expense related to software development costs, included as part of Depreciation and amortization expense of property and equipment, was $18.5
million, $15.1 million and $14.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 respectively.

5. ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES

Air Partner plc Acquisition

On April 1, 2022, we acquired all of the outstanding equity of Air Partner plc (n/k/a Air Partner Limited) for a total purchase price of $108.2 million in cash.
Air Partner is a United Kingdom-based international aviation services group that upon acquisition provided us with operations in 18 locations across four
continents. Acquisition-related costs for Air Partner of $2.9 million were included in General and administrative expense in the consolidated
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statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022. The acquisition of Air Partner was determined to be a business combination.

As of the date of acquisition, the total purchase price allocated to the Air Partner assets acquired and liabilities assumed according to their estimated fair values
were as follows (in thousands):

Current assets $ 49,617
Property and equipment, net 2,012
Operating lease right-of-use assets 2,780
Goodwill 83,910
Intangible assets 20,921

Restricted cash 27,507

Other assets 1,686
Total assets acquired 188,433

Total liabilities assumed (80,239)
Net assets acquired $ 108,194

Current assets of Air Partner included $18.0 million of cash and $16.6 million of accounts receivable.

The allocated value of goodwill primarily relates to anticipated synergies and economies of scale by combining the use of Air Partner’s existing business
processes with our platform to expand on an international basis. The acquired goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

The amounts allocated to acquired intangible assets and their associated weighted-average amortization periods, which were determined based on the period
the assets are expected to contribute directly or indirectly to our cash flows, consist of the following:

Weighted-Average

Amount Amortization Period
(In thousands) (Years)
Customer relationships $ 16,521 5.7
Backlog 1,458 1.5
Trade name 1,931 1.9
Developed technology 1,011 5.8
Total acquired intangible assets $ 20,921 5.1

The intangible asset fair value measurements are primarily based on significant inputs that are not observable in the market which represent a Level 3
measurement. The valuation method used for the Air Partner intangible assets was the income approach.

The results of Air Partner were included in the consolidated statement of operations from the date of acquisition. Revenue for Air Partner was $87.6 million, net
of intercompany eliminations, and income from operations was $8.3 million from the date of acquisition through December 31, 2022.

Alante Air Charter, LLC Acquisition

On February 3, 2022, we acquired all of the outstanding equity of Alante Air Charter, LLC (“Alante Air”) for a total purchase price of $15.5 million in cash.
Alante Air added 12 Light jets to our controlled fleet and expanded our presence in the Western U.S. Acquisition-related costs for Alante Air of $0.5 million were
included in General and
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administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022. The acquisition of Alante Air was determined to be a
business combination.

We have allocated the purchase price for Alante Air to its individual assets and liabilities assumed. As of the date of acquisition, the total purchase price
allocated to the Alante Air assets acquired and liabilities assumed according to their estimated fair values were as follows (in thousands):

Current assets $ 4,452
Goodwill 13,069
Other assets 22,048
Total assets acquired 39,569
Total liabilities assumed (24,101)
Net assets acquired $ 15,468

Current assets of Alante Air included $3.0 million of cash and $1.4 million of accounts receivable, including $15.0 thousand owed from Wheels Up that was
eliminated in consolidation upon acquisition.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair values of the acquired net tangible assets. The allocated value of goodwill primarily relates to
anticipated synergies and economies of scale by combining the use of Alante Air’s aircraft and existing business processes with our other acquisitions. The acquired
goodwill is deductible for tax purposes.

The results of Alante Air were included in the consolidated statement of operations from the date of acquisition. Revenue for Alante Air was $2.8 million, net
of intercompany eliminations, and loss from operations was $3.1 million from the date of acquisition through December 31, 2022.

Unaudited Pro Forma Summary of Operations

The accompanying unaudited pro forma summary represents the consolidated results of operations as if the 2022 acquisitions of Alante Air and Air Partner had
been completed as of January 1, 2022. The unaudited pro forma financial results for 2022 reflect the results for the year ended December 31, 2022. The unaudited
pro forma financial information includes the accounting effects of the acquisitions, including adjustments to the amortization of intangible assets and professional
fees associated with the transactions. The pro forma results were based on estimates and assumptions, which we believe are reasonable but remain subject to
adjustment. The unaudited pro forma summary does not necessarily reflect the actual results that would have been achieved had the companies been combined
during the periods presented, nor is it necessarily indicative of future consolidated results (in thousands, except per share data).

Year Ended December 31,
2022
Net revenue $ 1,617,578
Net loss $ (505,538)
Net loss attributable to Wheels Up Experience Inc. $ (505,151)
Net loss per share $ (20.56)

Divestiture of Aircraft Management Business

On September 30, 2023, (the “Divestiture Closing Date”), WUP, pursuant to an equity purchase agreement (the “Equity Purchase Agreement”) with Executive
AirShare LLC, completed the sale of 100% of the issued and outstanding equity interests of Circadian Aviation LLC, our indirect subsidiary (“Circadian™). The
Divestiture Closing Date fair value of the aggregate consideration transferred was $19.1 million and the Company recognized a loss on the sale of $3.0 million. The
$19.1 million was comprised of $13.2 million of cash received on the Divestiture Closing Date, contingent consideration with a fair value of $4.8 million, an
escrow receivable of
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$0.6 million and a non-contingent consideration receivable of $0.5 million. The fair value of the contingent consideration was deemed to be the approximate
contract value as of the Divestiture Closing Date. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we received $3.4 million upon finalization of the working capital
adjustment under the Equity Purchase Agreement, recognized within Gain (loss) on divestiture in the consolidated statement of operations.

Circadian was released from all guarantor obligations with respect to the 2022 Term Equipment Notes and Credit Facility (as each term is defined in Note 8) on
the Divestiture Closing Date pursuant to certain debt release letters entered into concurrently with the Equity Purchase Agreement.

Concurrently with entering into the Purchase Agreement: (i) WUP entered into a transition services agreement with Circadian, pursuant to which WUP
provided Circadian certain specified services on a temporary basis; (i) WUP LLC entered into a master operating agreement with Circadian, pursuant to which
Circadian, pursuant to which Circadian conducted certain on-demand charter operations for certain of WUP LLC’s owned aircraft after the Divestiture Closing Date
while such aircraft were transitioned from the U.S. Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”) operating certificate held by Circadian to the Company’s subsidiaries,
and WUP LLC provided certain maintenance, pilots services, management and other related services for WUP LLC’s owned aircraft during the transition period;
and (iii) certain of the Company’s subsidiaries entered into fleet management agreements with Circadian, pursuant to which Circadian provided certain
maintenance, pilots services, management and other related services for managed aircraft after the Divestiture Closing Date while they were transitioned from a
FAA operating certificate held by the applicable Company subsidiary to Circadian. The parties obligations under the foregoing post-closing services agreements
substantially concluded during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Acquisition of 17 Phenom 300 Series Aircraft and Related Assets

On November 14, 2024 (the “Phenom Acquisition Closing Date””), WUP LLC acquired 17 Embraer Phenom 300 and Phenom 300E aircraft, certain related
maintenance assets to support the fleet, and the existing customer program (collectively, the “Acquired Phenom Assets”) from Grandview Aviation LLC (“GVA”
and such acquisition, the “Phenom Asset Acquisition”), pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement, dated October 22, 2024 (the “APA”), among WUP LLC, GVA
and Global Medical Response, Inc., the ultimate parent entity of GVA. The closing date cash payment made by WUP LLC in respect of the purchase price for the
Acquired Phenom Assets under the APA was approximately $95.0 million, reflective of the $105.0 million base purchase price less certain closing date adjustments,
which was subject to a customary post-closing true-up related to estimated assumed liabilities at closing. Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2024, we
received an insignificant amount from GVA upon finalization of the post-closing true-up adjustment under the APA.

Concurrently with the closing under the APA, WUP LLC and GVA entered into: (i) a transition services agreement (the “Phenom TSA”), pursuant to which
GVA will provide WUP LLC certain specified services on a temporary basis; and (ii) a master aircraft operating agreement (the “Phenom Operating Agreement”
and together with the Phenom TSA, the “Phenom Post-Closing Agreements”), pursuant to which GVA conducted certain on-demand flight operations using the
Acquired Phenom Assets while such aircraft were transitioned from the FAA operating certificate held by GVA to the FAA operating certificate held by Wheels Up
Private Jets LLC, our indirect subsidiary (“WUPJ” and such transition, the “Phenom Fleet Transition”). The Phenom Post-Closing Agreements will terminate upon
completion of the Phenom Fleet Transition and the final payment of any sums owed by WUP LLC thereunder. Also on the Phenom Acquisition Closing Date, the
Company and GVA terminated an agreement pursuant to which GVA had provided the Company’s members and customers with certain dedicated Embraer Phenom
300 and Phenom 300E aircraft since November 2021.
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6. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill

The following table presents goodwill carrying value and the movements, by reporting unit, during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in
thousands):

WUP Legacy Air Partner Total
Balance as of December 31, 2022 ¥ $ 270,467 $ 77,651 $ 348,118
Acquisitions @ — 350 350
Impairment of goodwill (126,200) — (126,200)
Divestitures ¥ (8,169) — (8,169)
Foreign currency translation adjustment — 4,109 4,109
Balance as of December 31, 2023 ¢ 136,098 82,110 218,208
Foreign currency translation adjustment = (1,163) (1,163)
Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 136,098 $ 80,947 $ 217,045

(1) Net of accumulated impairment losses of $180 million, all of which was recognized during the year ended December 31, 2022.
(2) Reflects the current period impact of measurement period adjustments (see Note 5).

(3) Reflects the amount of goodwill allocated to the divestiture of the aircraft management business (see Note 5).

(4) Net of accumulated impairment losses of $306.2 million.

Goodwill Impairment

During the third quarter of 2022, we determined that because of continued deterioration in our stock price, resulting in a market capitalization that was below
the carrying value of our equity, there was an indication that a triggering event occurred and the carrying value of WUP Legacy may not be recoverable. As a result,
we performed a quantitative impairment test using the income approach. The fair value using the income approach was based on the present value of estimated
future cash flows. The significant underlying unobservable inputs used to measure the fair value included forecasted revenue growth rates and margins, weighted
average cost of capital, normalized working capital level and projected long-term growth rates. As a result of this assessment, a goodwill impairment charge of
$62.0 million was recorded to WUP Legacy as of September 30, 2022. The decline in the fair value of the reporting unit, as compared to the quantitative analysis
performed as of June 1, 2022, was primarily due to an increase in the discount rate.

During December 2022, we saw sustained decreases in the quoted price of our Common Stock and revised our forecast for the WUP Legacy reporting unit. As
a result of these factors, we concluded a triggering event had occurred for WUP Legacy and, accordingly, performed an interim quantitative impairment test over
the reporting unit as of December 31, 2022. Using the income approach, we calculated the fair value of WUP Legacy as of December 31, 2022, based on the present
value of estimated future cash flows. The significant underlying unobservable inputs used to measure the fair value included forecasted revenue growth rates and
margins, weighted average cost of capital, normalized working capital level and projected long-term growth rates. As a result of this assessment, a goodwill
impairment charge of $118.0 million was recorded to WUP Legacy. The decline in the fair value of the reporting unit, as compared to the quantitative impairment
test performed as of October 1, 2022, was primarily due to the revised forecast for the reporting unit.

During the second quarter of 2023, we determined that, because of continued negative cash flows and changes in our management and business strategy, we
determined that there was an indication that it was more likely than not that the fair value of our WUP Legacy reporting unit was less than its carrying amount. We
performed an interim quantitative impairment assessment of goodwill as of June 1, 2023. Using a discounted cash flow approach, we calculated the fair value of
WUP Legacy based on the present value of estimated future cash flows. The significant underlying inputs used to measure the fair value included forecasted
revenue growth rates and margins, weighted average cost of capital, normalized working capital level and projected long-term growth rates. As a result of this
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assessment, we recognized a goodwill impairment charge of $70.0 million relating to the WUP Legacy reporting unit during the three months ended June 30, 2023.
The decline in the fair value of the reporting unit was primarily due to a more material reduction in working capital than expected during the three months ended
June 30, 2023, as well as an increase in the discount rate.

To facilitate reconciliation of the fair value of our reporting units to our market capitalization as of June 1, 2023, we elected to perform a quantitative
impairment assessment of the Air Partner reporting unit as of June 1, 2023, using a combination of the discounted cash flow and guideline public company
methods, which did not result in impairment to goodwill. Based on the valuation, the fair value of the Air Partner reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by more
than 10%.

During the third quarter of 2023, we determined that upon entering into the Credit Agreement (as defined in Note 8) on September 20, 2023 (see Note 8), and
due to associated changes to our ownership and governance structure on that same date (see Note 11), there was an indication that the fair value of the WUP Legacy
reporting unit was less than its carrying amount. We performed an interim quantitative impairment assessment of goodwill as of September 20, 2023. Using a
discounted cash flow approach, we calculated the fair value of WUP Legacy, based on the present value of estimated future cash flows. The significant underlying
inputs used to measure the fair value included forecasted revenue growth rates and margins, weighted average cost of capital, normalized working capital level and
projected long-term growth rates. As a result of this assessment, we recognized a goodwill impairment charge of $56.2 million relating to the WUP Legacy
reporting unit during the three months ended September 30, 2023. The impairment charge represented the amount by which the carrying value of the reporting unit
as of the assessment date exceeded the estimated fair value of the reporting unit as of the assessment date. Since the previous analysis on June 1, 2023, the fair
value of the reporting unit increased as a result of the run-off of unprofitable periods in our estimated future cash flows; however, the carrying value of the reporting
unit increased in a substantially equivalent amount due to the issuance of the Term Loan (see Note 8) and Initial Shares (as defined in Note 11).

To facilitate reconciliation of the fair value of our reporting units to our market capitalization as of September 20, 2023, we elected to perform a quantitative
impairment assessment of the Air Partner reporting unit as of September 20, 2023, using a combination of the discounted cash flow and guideline public company
methods, which did not result in impairment to goodwill. Based on the valuation, the fair value of the Air Partner reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by more
than 20%.

We completed our annual goodwill impairment tests over our reporting units as of September 1, 2024, and determined that there was no impairment as of that
date.

Intangible Assets
The gross carrying value, accumulated amortization and net carrying value of intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2024

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Value Amortization Value
Status $ 80,000 $ 37,410 $ 42,590
Customer relationships 89,121 45,700 43,421
Trade name 10,709 5,196 5,513
Developed technology 20,056 14,767 5,289
Leasehold interest — favorable 600 124 476
Foreign currency translation adjustment (808) (423) (385)
Total $ 199,678 $ 102,774  $ 96,904
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December 31, 2023

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Value Amortization Value
Status $ 80,000 $ 31,325 § 48,675
Customer relationships 89,121 34,920 54,201
Trade name 11,939 5,402 6,537
Developed technology 20,556 12,329 8,227
Leasehold interest — favorable 600 102 498
Foreign currency translation adjustment (589) 217) (372)
Total $ 201,627 $ 83,861 $ 117,766

Amortization expense of intangible assets was $20.8 million, $23.3 million and $24.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

Intangible Liabilities
Associated with our acquisition of Delta Private Jets on January 17, 2020, we recognized intangible liabilities for the fair value of complimentary Connect
Memberships provided to existing Delta SkyMiles® 360 customers as of the acquisition date. The gross carrying value, accumulated amortization and net carrying

value of intangible liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2024

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Value Amortization Value
Intangible liabilities $ 20,000 $ 9,323 §$ 10,677

December 31, 2023

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Value Amortization Value
Intangible liabilities $ 20,000 $ 7,798 $ 12,202

Amortization of intangible liabilities, which reduces amortization expense was $1.5 million, $1.9 million and $2.0 million for the years ended December 31,
2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Future amortization expense of intangible assets and intangible liabilities held as of December 31, 2024 are as follows (in thousands):

Intangible Intangible
Year ending December 31, Assets Liabilities
2025 $ 20,282 $ 1,525
2026 19,418 1,525
2027 14,880 1,525
2028 14,232 1,525
2029 13,488 1,525
Thereafter 14,604 3,052
Total $ 96,904 $ 10,677

105



7. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH

A reconciliation of Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash from the consolidated balance sheets to the consolidated statements of cash flows is shown
below (in thousands):

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Cash and cash equivalents $ 216,426 $ 263,909
Restricted cash 30,042 28,916
Total $ 246,468 $ 292,825
Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Cash $ 135,614 § 263,815
Money market funds 80,812 94
Total $ 216,426 $ 263,909

Interest income from cash equivalents of $2.2 million, $6.1 million and $3.7 million was recorded in Interest income in the consolidated statements of
operations for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Restricted Cash

As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, Restricted cash primarily consisted of $18.8 million and $17.9 million, respectively, related to funds held
but unavailable for immediate use due to contractual restrictions, and $6.2 million and $6.2 million, respectively, held by financial institutions to establish standby
letters of credit required by the lessors of certain corporate office space that we leased as of such dates, and $5.0 million and $3.4 million, respectively, held by
financial institutions to collateralize against our credit card programs. The standby letters of credit required by lessors expire on December 31, 2033 and June 30,
2034.
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8. LONG-TERM DEBT

The following table presents the components of Long-term debt, net on our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2024 (in thousands, except interest
rates):

Interest Rate per
Annum as of

Maturity Date December 31, 2024 December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
2022 Term Equipment Notes 2025 to 2029 12.0% $ — 3 214,878
2024 Revolving Equipment Notes 2029 SOFR + 1.75% 317,484 —
Term Loan"
2028 10.0% 443,864 400,453
Total debt 761,348 615,331
Less: Total unamortized debt discount and debt issuance
costs 353,292 356,259
Less: Current maturities of long-term debt 31,748 23,998
Long-term debt, net $ 376,308 $ 235,074

(1)  As of December 31, 2024, includes $1.1 million outstanding in connection with the Credit Support Premium (as defined below), which will become due and payable in-full upon the earlier of
repayment and extinguishment of the Revolving Equipment Note Facility (as defined below) and the termination of Delta’s obligation to provide credit support for the Revolving Equipment Notes
Facility. The Credit Support Premium is deemed a Revolving Loan (as defined in the Credit Agreement) under the Credit Agreement; however, any such accrued amounts do not reduce Delta’s
$100.0 million commitment available to be borrowed by the Company from time to time under the Revolving Credit Facility (as defined below).

Maturities of our debt for the next five years are as follows (in thousands):

Maturities
2025 $ 31,748
2026 31,748
2027 33,336
2028 480,842
2029 183,674
Total $ 761,348

Long-Term Debt Arrangements as of December 31, 2024
2024 Revolving Equipment Notes

On November 13, 2024 (the “Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date””), WUP LLC entered into a Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of the Initial
Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date (the “2024 Note Purchase Agreement”), with Wilmington Trust, National Association (“Wilmington Trust”), as
subordination agent and trustee, and Wheels Up Class A-1 Loan Trust 2024-1, a Delaware statutory trust (the “2024-1 Trust”), which provides for the revolving
issuance from time to time by WUP LLC of Series A-1 equipment notes (the “Revolving Equipment Notes™) in an aggregate principal amount up to $332.0 million
(the “Revolving Equipment Notes Facility”), of which approximately $331.3 million aggregate principal amount was initially funded by Bank of America, N.A., the
sole lead arranger, and issued on the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date. The initial Revolving Equipment Notes were issued by WUP LLC, and loans
were made to the 2024-1 Trust, for gross proceeds equal to approximately 98.75% of the principal amount of the initial Revolving Equipment Notes. The
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maturity date for the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility is five years after the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date, or November 13, 2029 (the
“Revolving Equipment Notes Maturity Date”).

Pursuant to the 2024 Note Purchase Agreement, any amounts of principal repaid by WUP LLC on and after the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing
Date and prior to November 13, 2027 (the “Availability Period”), either through regular principal amortization payments or from the early redemption of principal
amounts related to any aircraft secured by the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility, will become available to be re-borrowed by WUP LLC for the purchase of
additional aircraft to be secured by such facility during the Availability Period, subject to certain conditions. WUP LLC must also pay a customary commitment fee
on unused amounts available to be borrowed under the Revolving Equipment Note Facility. As of December 31, 2024, the Revolving Equipment Notes were
secured by first-priority liens on 96 of the Company’s owned aircraft and in the future will be secured by first-priority liens on any additional aircraft for which a
Revolving Equipment Note is issued from time to time (collectively, the “Revolving Equipment Notes Collateral”).

The Revolving Equipment Notes Facility utilizes an enhanced equipment trust certificate (“EETC”) loan structure. Pursuant to the 2024 Note Purchase
Agreement, Revolving Equipment Notes are issued pursuant to a Trust Indenture and Mortgage (together with any supplements thereto, the “2024 Trust Indenture”)
entered into by WUP LLC and Wilmington Trust, as the mortgagee thereunder, on the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date. The Revolving Equipment
Notes bear interest at the variable rate of the then applicable three-month secured overnight funds rate (“SOFR”) plus 1.75% per annum from the Initial Revolving
Equipment Notes Closing Date to the end of the Availability Period, SOFR plus 2.25% immediately after the end of the Availability Period to November 13, 2028,
and SOFR plus 2.75% from November 13, 2028 to the Revolving Equipment Notes Maturity Date, with annual amortization of principal amount equal to 10% per
annum from the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date through the end of the Availability Period and 12% per annum thereafter. Interest on the
Revolving Equipment Notes is payable quarterly on each February 15, May 15, August 15 and November 15 of each year, beginning on February 15, 2025, and on
the Revolving Equipment Notes Maturity Date. Principal payments on the Revolving Equipment Notes are scheduled for payment on the same dates as interest
payments.

WUP LLC may redeem any Revolving Equipment Note in connection with the sale of an aircraft that constitutes Revolving Equipment Notes Collateral or
otherwise, at any time, and is not required to pay any prepayment premiums in connection with such early redemptions. The maturity of the Revolving Equipment
Notes may be accelerated upon the occurrence of certain events of default, including the failure by WUP LLC (in some cases after notice or the expiration of a
grace period, or both) to make payments thereunder when due, a failure to comply with certain covenants and certain bankruptcy events involving the Company, its
guarantors or Delta. WUP LLC’s obligations under the Revolving Equipment Notes are guaranteed by the Company, WUP and WUPJ, which has a FAA Part 135
operating certificate. In the future, WUP LLC must cause certain additional subsidiaries and affiliates of WUP LLC that hold a FAA Part 135 operating certificate to
become a guarantor under the Revolving Equipment Note Facility under certain circumstances.

The 2024 Note Purchase Agreement, 2024 Trust Indenture and related guarantees contain certain covenants, including a covenant that limits the maximum loan
to value ratio of all aircraft financed under the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility, a covenant that limits the maximum concentration of the outstanding aggregate
principal amount for Revolving Equipment Notes for specified models of aircraft relative to the outstanding aggregate principal amount of all aircraft financed
under the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility, and a requirement to maintain a liquidity reserve in the form of a cash amount or a letter of credit equal to six
months of interest charges based on the aggregate principal amount of Revolving Equipment Notes outstanding on any regularly scheduled principal and interest
payment date, in each case subject to certain cure rights of the Company. The 2024 Trust Indenture contains customary events of default for transactions of this
type, as well as an event of default that is triggered upon the occurrence and continuation of an event of default by Delta under its current revolving credit
agreement or any replacements thereof.

Issuance costs of $1.5 million were incurred in connection with the initial issuance of the Revolving Equipment Notes during the three months ended
December 31, 2024. The initial carrying value of the Revolving Equipment Notes was $331.8 million, which reflected the $1.5 million of issuance costs and
$4.2 million of debt discount recognized. Amortization of debt discounts and deferred issuance costs associated with the Revolving Equipment
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Notes of $0.2 million were recognized in Interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024.
Credit Support

In connection with the initial closing of the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility, Delta agreed to provide credit support for the Revolving Equipment Notes
Facility, which effectively guarantees WUP LLC’s payment obligations thereunder upon the occurrence and continuation of specified events of default, in exchange
for an annual fee as a percentage of the aggregate principal amounts drawn under the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility that is payable-in-kind by the Company
and accrues interest over the life of the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility (the “Credit Support Premium”). The Credit Support Premium constitutes a revolving
loan payable to Delta under the Revolving Credit Facility. Amounts in respect of the Credit Support Premium accrue while the Revolving Equipment Notes are
outstanding and include interest that is compounded and capitalized on the last day of each calendar quarter; however, any such accrued amounts do not reduce
Delta’s $100.0 million commitment available to be borrowed by the Company from time to time under the Revolving Credit Facility. The Credit Support Premium
will become due and payable in-full upon the earlier of repayment and extinguishment of the Revolving Equipment Note Facility and the termination of Delta’s
obligation to provide credit support for the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility.

On the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date, the Company entered into Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement (the “Second Credit Agreement
Amendment”), by and among the Company, as borrower, the other Loan Parties (as defined below) party thereto, as guarantors, Delta and CK Wheels LLC (“CK
Wheels”), together constituting the Required Lenders and Lead Lenders (as each term is defined in the Credit Agreement (as defined below)) thereunder, and the
Agent (as defined below), to make certain technical amendments to the Credit Agreement to permit the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility and provide for the
Credit Support Premium. The Second Credit Agreement Amendment did not materially amend any of the events of default or covenants, collateral provisions, terms
related to existing borrowings and repayments, the maturity date or otherwise alter Delta’s existing $100.0 million commitment under the Revolving Credit Facility.

Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility

On September 20, 2023 (the “Credit Agreement Closing Date”), the Company entered into a Credit Agreement (the “Original Credit Agreement”), by and
among the Company, as borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Company, as guarantors (collectively with the Company, the “Loan Parties”), Delta, CK Wheels, and
Cox Investment Holdings LLC (“CIH” and, collectively with Delta and CK Wheels, the “Initial Lenders”), and U.S. Bank Trust Company, N.A., as administrative
agent for the Lenders (as defined below) and as collateral agent for the secured parties (the “Agent”), pursuant to which (i) the Initial Lenders provided a term loan
facility (the “Initial Term Loan™) in the aggregate original principal amount of $350.0 million and (ii) Delta provided a commitment for a revolving loan facility
(the “Revolving Credit Facility”) in the aggregate original principal amount of $100.0 million. On September 20, 2023, the Company issued the Initial Term Loan
of $350.0 million to the Initial Lenders for net proceeds before transaction-related expenses of $343.0 million.

On November 15, 2023 (the “Final Credit Agreement Closing Date”), the Company entered into Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement (the “First Credit
Agreement Amendment” and, collectively with the Original Credit Agreement and Second Credit Agreement Amendment, the “Credit Agreement”), by and among
the Company, as borrower, the other Loan Parties party thereto, as guarantors, the Initial Lenders, and certain other lenders named therein (collectively, the
“Incremental Term Lenders” and, collectively with the Initial Lenders, the “Lenders”), and the Agent, pursuant to which, among other things, the Incremental Term
Lenders joined the Credit Agreement and provided an additional term loan facility (the “Incremental Term Loan” and, together with the Initial Term Loan, the
“Term Loan” and, together with the Revolving Credit Facility, the “Credit Facility”) in the aggregate original principal amount of $40.0 million. On the Final Credit
Agreement Closing Date, the Company issued the Incremental Term Loan of $40.0 million to the Incremental Term Lenders for net proceeds before transaction-
related expenses of $39.2 million. Upon the closing of the Incremental Term Loan, the loans under the Credit Facility consisted of (i) the Term Loan in the
aggregate principal amount of $390.0 million and (ii) the Revolving Credit Facility with a commitment from Delta in the aggregate original principal amount of
$100.0 million.
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The scheduled maturity date for the Term Loan is September 20, 2028, and the scheduled maturity date for the Revolving Credit Facility is the earlier of
September 20, 2028 and the first date after September 20, 2025 on which all amounts owed with respect to borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility have
been repaid, subject in each case to earlier termination upon acceleration or termination of any obligations upon the occurrence and continuation of an event of
default. Interest on the Term Loan and any borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility (each, a “Loan” and collectively, the “Loans”) accrues at a rate of 10%
per annum on the unpaid principal balance of the Loans then outstanding. Accrued interest on each Loan is payable-in-kind as compounded interest and capitalized
to the principal amount of the applicable Loan on the last day of each of March, June, September and December, and the applicable maturity date. If in the future
the Company or its subsidiaries either redeem in-full the outstanding Revolving Equipment Notes or commence payoff at maturity thereof, the Company may elect
to make interest payments or some portion thereof on any Loans then outstanding in cash. Also, upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an event of
default under the Credit Agreement, interest will accrue on (i) the unpaid principal balance of the Loans at the rate then applicable to such Loans plus 2% per
annum and (ii) all other outstanding liabilities, interest, expenses, fees and other sums under the Credit Agreement, at a rate equal to the Alternate Base Rate (as
defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 2% per annum.

The Credit Agreement also contains certain covenants and events of default, in each case customary for transactions of this type. The obligations under the
Credit Agreement are secured by a first-priority lien on unencumbered assets of the Loan Parties (excluding any segregated account exclusively holding customer
deposits and certain other assets, in each case as specified in the Credit Agreement) and a junior lien on the Revolving Equipment Note Collateral. The Credit
Agreement is guaranteed by all U.S. and certain non-U.S. direct and indirect subsidiaries of the Company and the equity interests of such subsidiaries have been
pledged as collateral. In the future, the Company may be required to add any new or after-acquired subsidiaries of the Company that meet certain criteria as
guarantors. As of December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with the covenants under the Credit Agreement and related credit documents.

In connection with the funding of the Initial Term Loan, the Company entered into the Investment and Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of the Credit
Agreement Closing Date (the “Original Investor Rights Agreement”), by and among the Company and the Initial Lenders, pursuant to which the Company issued to
the Initial Lenders 141,313,671 shares of Common Stock in the aggregate (the “Initial Shares”) in a private placement (the “Initial Issuance”) on the Credit
Agreement Closing Date. In addition, the Company agreed to issue an additional 529,926,270 shares of Common Stock in the aggregate (the “Deferred Shares”
and, together with the Initial Shares, the “Investor Shares”) in a subsequent private placement (the “Deferred Issuance” and, together with the Initial Issuance, the
“Investor Issuances”).

On November 9, 2023, the Company’s stockholders approved, at a special meeting of the Company’s stockholders, the Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of Wheels Up, filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on November 15, 2023 (the “Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation”), which, among other things, increased the number of shares of Common Stock available for issuance thereunder. In connection with the transactions
contemplated by the First Credit Agreement Amendment, the Company entered into Amendment No. 1 to Investment and Investor Rights Agreement Amendment,
dated as of the Final Credit Agreement Closing Date (the “First Investor Rights Agreement Amendment” and, collectively with the Original Investor Rights
Agreement, Amendment No. 2 to Investment and Investor Rights Agreement, dated September 22, 2024, and the Investor Rights Agreements Joinders (as defined
below), the “Investor Rights Agreement”), with each Initial Lender, which contained, among others, certain revisions to reflect the issuance of the Deferred Shares.
Substantially concurrently with entering into the First Investor Rights Agreement Amendment, on the Final Closing Date, the Company and Initial Lenders entered
into joinders to the Investor Rights Agreement (collectively, the “investor Rights Agreement Joinders”) with each Incremental Term Lender (or its applicable
affiliate), pursuant to which each Incremental Term Lender (or its applicable affiliate) joined the Investor Rights Agreement and assumed the rights and obligations
of an Additional Investor (as defined in the Investor Rights Agreement) thereunder, including the right to receive a pro rata portion of the Investor Shares. The
Company issued the Deferred Shares to the Lenders on the Final Credit Agreement Closing Date in a private placement. Following the Deferred Issuance, each
Lender had been issued a number of shares equal to its pro rata portion of the Investor Shares based on its participation in the Term Loan.
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In accordance with ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, the Company determined that the Term Loan,
Initial Issuance and Deferred Issuance did not contain any features that would qualify as a derivative or embedded derivative and require bifurcation. In addition,
the Company determined the Initial Issuance and Deferred Issuance should be classified as equity. In accordance with ASC 470, Debt, the allocation on a relative
fair value basis resulted in gross amounts recorded of $44.9 million for the Initial Term Loan, $64.2 million for the Initial Issuance and $240.9 million for the
Deferred Issuance, in each case during the year ended December 31, 2023.

In accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, the Company determined the reallocation of the Deferred Issuance between the Lenders in connection
with the First Credit Agreement Amendment and Investor Rights Agreement Joinders that resulted in a pro rata portion of the Investor Shares being issued to the
Incremental Term Lenders on the Final Credit Agreement Closing Date represented a modification of a freestanding equity-classified written call option and the
modification was to be recognized as if cash had been paid as consideration for the shares of Common Stock issued to the Incremental Term Lenders (collectively,
the “Reallocated Shares”). Accordingly, the Reallocated Shares were treated as a debt discount in accordance with the guidance in ASC 835, Interest, and the value
of the Incremental Term Loan and the Reallocated Shares was apportioned using a relative fair value allocation that resulted in gross amounts recorded during the
three months ended December 31, 2023 of $9.4 million for the Incremental Term Loan and $30.6 million for the Reallocated Shares.

Aggregate issuance costs of $29.5 million were incurred in connection with the Original Credit Agreement, First Credit Agreement Amendment, Original
Investor Rights Agreement and First Investor Rights Agreement Amendment. The deferred issuance costs were allocated on a relative fair value basis, resulting in
an allocation of $4.1 million in the aggregate for the Term Loan and $25.4 million in the aggregate for the Investor Issuances. The initial carrying value of the Term
Loan was $41.1 million as of September 20, 2023, which reflected $3.4 million of unamortized debt issuance costs and $305.2 million of unamortized debt
discount. The initial carrying value of the Incremental Term Loan was $8.7 million as of November 15, 2023, which reflected $0.7 million of unamortized debt
issuance costs and $30.6 million of unamortized debt discount.

Accretion of debt discounts and deferred issuance costs associated with the Term Loan of $4.4 million and $3.4 million were recorded in Interest expense in the
consolidated statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.

Long-Term Debt Extinguished as of or Prior to December 31, 2024

Amortization expense for debt discounts and deferred financing costs, which were associated with debt extinguished as of or prior to December 31, 2024, of
$4.4 million, $0.6 million and $0.8 million were recorded in interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024,
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

2022 Term Equipment Notes

On October 14, 2022, WUP LLC issued $270.0 million aggregate principal of 12% fixed rate equipment notes (collectively, the “2022 Term Equipment
Notes”) using an EETC loan structure. The 2022 Term Equipment Notes were issued for net proceeds before transaction-related expenses of $259.2 million. The
2022 Term Equipment Notes were initially secured by first-priority liens on 134 of the Company’s owned aircraft fleet and by liens on certain intellectual property
assets of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries (the “2022 Term Equipment Notes Collateral”). On the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date, the
Company used a portion of the net proceeds from the initial closing of the Revolving Equipment Notes and $20.0 million held as a deposit for the benefit of the
lenders under the 2022 Term Equipment Notes to redeem in-full all amounts due and owing under the 2022 Term Equipment Notes, including accrued interest and
any premiums thereon (the “2022 Term Equipment Notes Redemption”).

Prior to the 2022 Term Equipment Notes Redemption, the unpaid balance of the 2022 Term Equipment Notes accrued interest at the rate of 12% per annum
with annual amortization of principal amount equal to 10% per annum and balloon payments due at each maturity date. Interest and principal payments on the 2022
Term Equipment Notes were payable quarterly on each January 15, April 15, July 15 and October 15, beginning on January 15, 2023.
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WUP LLC’s obligations under the 2022 Term Equipment Notes were guaranteed by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries. In connection with the 2022 Term
Equipment Notes Redemption, WUP LLC and each of the guarantors under the 2022 Term Equipment Notes entered into, among other customary documents, a
Release Agreement, dated as of the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date (the “2022 Term Equipment Notes Release Agreement”), with Wheels Up
Class A-1 Loan Trust 2022-1 and Wilmington Trust, not in its individual capacity but as mortgagee, facility agent, security trustee, subordination agent and trustee,
which terminated the operative documents to which the Company and its subsidiaries were parties in relation to 2022 Term Equipment Notes, fully released 2022
Term Equipment Notes Collateral from the liens under such documents, and fully released the related guarantees by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries
thereunder. As a result, effective as of the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date, all of the Company’s obligations under the 2022 Term Equipment Notes
were satisfied.

Amortization expense for debt discounts and deferred financing costs attributable to the 2022 Term Equipment Notes of $13.0 million and $3.7 million were
recorded in Interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Delta Promissory Note

On August 8, 2023, the Company entered into a Secured Promissory Note (the “Promissory Note”) with Delta, as payee, which was subsequently amended
pursuant to the First Amendment thereto, dated August 15, 2023, the Second Amendment thereto, dated August 21, 2023, the Third Amendment thereto, dated
September 6, 2023, and the Fourth Amendment thereto, dated September 14, 2023 (collectively with the Promissory Note, the “Amended Promissory Note”),
pursuant to which Delta provided $70.0 million aggregate principal amount of short-term funding to the Company at an interest rate of 10% per annum, which was
payable-in-kind and capitalized to the outstanding principal amount of the Amended Promissory Note on a quarterly basis. The Amended Promissory Note was
secured by a first-priority lien on unencumbered assets of the Company and its direct and indirect U.S. subsidiaries, including unencumbered aircraft of WUP LLC.
The Amended Promissory Note was guaranteed by the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries. On September 20, 2023, the Company repaid all amounts due and owed under
the Amended Promissory Note using a portion of the proceeds from the Term Loan and entered into a Letter Agreement, dated as of September 20, 2023 with Delta,
which terminated the Amended Promissory Note and released all liens and guarantees thereunder. The repayment of all amounts due and owed under the Amended
Promissory Note was accounted for as a debt extinguishment and no gain or loss was recognized.
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9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis and their corresponding placement in the fair value hierarchy consist of the following
as of the dates indicated in the tables below (in thousands):

December 31, 2024
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

Assets:

Money market funds 80,812 — — 80,812
Total assets 80,812 — — 80,812
Liabilities:

Warrant liability - Public Warrants — 13§ — 13
Warrant liability - Private Warrants — 7 — 7
Revolving Equipment Notes — — 317,484 317,484
Term Loan — — 284,845 284,845
Total liabilities — 20 $ 602,329 602,349

December 31, 2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

Assets:

Money market funds 94 — — 94
Total assets 94 — — 94
Liabilities:

Warrant liability - Public Warrants 7 — 3 — 7
Warrant liability - Private Warrants — 5 — 5
2022 Term Equipment Notes — — 256,256 256,256
Term Loan — — 297,800 297,800
Total liabilities 7 5 8 554,056 554,068

The carrying amount of money market funds approximates fair value and is classified within Level 1, because we determined the fair value through quoted
market prices.

The Warrants were accounted for as a liability in accordance with ASC 815-40 (see Note 12). The Warrant liability was measured at fair value upon assumption
and on a recurring basis, with changes in fair value presented in the consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we used Level 2
inputs for the Warrants. See Note 12 for additional information about the Warrants.

The estimated fair values of the Revolving Equipment Notes and 2022 Term Equipment Notes are categorized as Level 3 valuations. We considered the
appraised value of aircraft subject to first-priority liens under the Revolving Equipment Notes, as sourced during the fourth quarter of 2024 and as required under
the Revolving Equipment Notes, to determine the fair value of the Revolving Equipment Notes as of December 31, 2024. We considered the appraised value of
aircraft subject to first-priority liens under the Equipment Notes, as sourced during the third quarter of 2023 and as required under the Equipment Notes, to
determine the fair value of the Equipment Notes as of December 31, 2023.
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The estimated fair value of the Term Loan, which includes amounts outstanding in connection with the Credit Support Premium, is categorized as a Level 3
valuation. The estimated fair value as of December 31, 2024 was estimated using a discounted cash flows analysis, based on our current estimated incremental
borrowing rate for a similar type of borrowing arrangement.

The following table presents the changes in the fair value of the Warrant liability (in thousands):

Total
Public Warrants Private Warrants Warrant Liability
Fair value as of December 31, 2022 $ 479 $ 272§ 751
Change in fair value of warrant liability (472) (267) (739)
Fair value as of December 31, 2023 7 5 12
Change in fair value of warrant liability 6 2 8
Fair value as of December 31, 2024 $ 13 § 7 $ 20

10. LEASES

Leases primarily pertain to certain controlled aircraft, office spaces and operational facilities, which are all accounted for as operating leases. Certain of these
operating leases have renewal options to further extend for additional time periods at our discretion.

We have certain variable lease agreements with aircraft owners that contain payment terms based on an hourly lease rate multiplied by the number of flight
hours during a month. Variable lease payments are not included in the right-of-use asset and lease liability balances, but rather are expensed as incurred.

The components of total lease costs are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Operating lease costs $ 28,630 $ 38,442 § 38,818
Short-term lease costs 668 7,215 10,725
Variable lease payments 20,542 30,854 17,997
Total lease costs $ 49840 $ 76,511  $ 67,540

Lease costs related to leased aircraft and operational facilities are included in Cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of operations. Lease costs related
to our leased corporate headquarters and other office space, including expenses for non-lease components, are allocated to Technology and development, Sales and
marketing and General and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Sublease income is presented in General and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Sublease income was not material for any of
the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.
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Supplemental cash flow information related to leases are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease
liabilities:

Operating cash flows paid for operating leases $ 29,594 $ 35914 § 38,934

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease obligations $ 16,885 § 7989 § 50,385

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases are as follows:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years):

Operating leases 6.6 6.7
Weighted-average discount rate:

Operating leases 10.1% 9.2%

Future maturities of lease liabilities, as of December 31, 2024, were as follows (in thousands):
Year ending December 31, Operating Leases
2025 $ 19,559
2026 13,331
2027 11,230
2028 10,002
2029 9,645
Thereafter 25,944
Total lease payments 89,711

Less: Imputed interest (24,948)

Total lease obligations $ 64,763

11. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION
Stockholders’ Equity
Authorized Shares

Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, we are authorized to issue up to 1,525,000,000 shares, consisting of up to 1,500,000,000
shares of Common Stock and 25,000,000 shares of preferred stock. Holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share; provided, that by agreement:
(i) certain parties to the Investor Rights Agreement that are not a “citizen of the United States” (as defined in 49 USC § 40102(a)(15)(C)) (collectively, the “Non-
Citizen Investors”) may be afforded collective voting rights equal to 1% of all shares of Common Stock entitled to vote at a meeting of the Company’s
stockholders; (ii) for so long as such Non-Citizen Investors collectively hold such shares of Common Stock, the shares of Common Stock held by CK Wheels in
excess of 23.9% of all shares of Common stock entitled to vote at a meeting of the Company’s stockholders will not have voting rights (subject to ratable
adjustment if the Non-Citizen Investors cease to own (beneficially or of record) a certain number of shares of Common Stock); and (iii) any shares of Common
Stock
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CLNTS

owned by Delta above 29.9% will be neutral shares with respect to voting rights and will be voted in proportion to all other votes cast (“for”,
at a meeting of the Company’s stockholders by stockholders other than by Delta.

against” or “abstain”)

2023 Common Stock Issuances

Pursuant to the Original Investor Rights Agreement, the Company issued the Initial Lenders 141,313,671 Initial Shares in a private placement on the Credit
Agreement Closing Date. The Initial Shares were issued such that each Initial Lender received a pro rata portion of the Initial Shares equal to the proportion of its
participation in the Term Loan as of the Credit Agreement Closing Date. The amount recorded for the Initial Issuance was determined using the relative fair value
basis, which resulted in allocated gross proceeds of $64.2 million for the Initial Issuance. Issuance costs of $4.9 million were recorded as a reduction to Additional
paid-in capital.

In connection with entering into the First Investor Rights Agreement Amendment, and substantially concurrently therewith on the Final Credit Agreement
Closing Date, the Company entered into the Investor Rights Agreement Joinders with each Incremental Term Lender (or its applicable affiliate). Thereafter, the
Company issued 529,926,270 Deferred Shares to the Lenders in a private placement on the Final Credit Agreement Closing Date. The Investor Shares were issued
such that after the Investor Issuances, each Lender was issued a number of shares equal to its pro rata portion of the Investor Shares based on its participation in the
Term Loan.

The Company recorded the Deferred Issuance as a forward contract for Common Stock within Additional paid-in capital on the consolidated balance sheet
during the three months ended September 30, 2023. The amount recorded for the Deferred Issuance was determined using the relative fair value basis, which
resulted in allocated gross proceeds of $240.9 million for the Deferred Issuance. Issuance costs of $18.3 million were recorded as a reduction to Additional paid-in
capital during the year ended December 31, 2023.

In connection with entering into the First Investor Rights Agreement Amendment and the Investor Rights Agreement Joinders, on the Final Credit Agreement
Closing Date, the Reallocated Shares were issued to the Incremental Term Lenders. The Company recorded the Reallocated Shares within Additional paid-in capital
on the consolidated balance sheet during the three months ended December 31, 2023. The amount recorded for the Reallocated Shares was determined using the
relative fair value basis, which resulted in allocated gross proceeds of $30.6 million. Issuance costs of $2.2 million were recorded as a reduction to Additional paid-
in capital during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Equity-Based Compensation

The Company’s outstanding equity-based compensation awards to its directors, executive officers, employees and other eligible personnel have been made
pursuant to the Wheels Up Experience Inc. 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective April 1, 2023 (as amended by the LTIP Amendment
(as defined below), the “Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP”), the Wheels Up Experience Inc. 2022 Inducement Grant Plan, dated June 30, 2022 (the “2022
Inducement Grant Plan”), the Wheels Up Experience Inc. Performance Award Agreement, dated as of November 30, 2023, granted to George Mattson (the “CEO
Performance Award”), the Wheels Up Experience Inc. Performance Award Agreement, dated as of March 3, 2024, granted to our former Chief Financial Officer
(the “Forfeited CFO Performance Award”), the Wheels Up Experience Inc. Performance Award Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2024, granted to David Harvey (the
“CCO Performance Award” and, collectively with the CEO Performance Award and Forfeited CFO Performance Award, the “Executive Performance Awards”), and
nine equity-based compensation plans (collectively, the “WUP Management Incentive Plan”) and the Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLC Option Plan (the “WUP
Option Plan”), each of which were approved by the board of directors of WUP prior to the Business Combination. Additional details about these equity-based
compensation arrangements are below.

WUP Management Incentive Plan

In March 2014, the WUP Management Incentive Plan was established, which provided for the issuance of WUP profits interests, restricted or unrestricted, to
employees, consultants and other qualified persons. Following the consummation of the Business Combination, no new grants can be made under the WUP
Management Incentive
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Plan. As of December 31, 2024, an aggregate of 3.1 million profits interests had been authorized and issued under the WUP Management Incentive Plan. Vested
WUP profits interests are eligible to be exchanged into shares of Common Stock before July 13, 2031. Amounts of WUP profits interests reported in the tables
below represent the maximum number of WUP profits interests outstanding or that could be realized upon vesting and immediately exchanged for the maximum
number of shares of Common Stock. The actual number of shares of Common Stock received upon exchange of such WUP profits interests will depend on the
trading price per share of Common Stock at the time of such exchange.

The following table summarizes the WUP profits interests activity under the WUP Management Incentive Plan as of December 31, 2024:

Number of WUP Weighted-Average Grant
Profits Interests Date Fair Value

(in thousands)

Outstanding WUP profits interests as of January 1, 2024 2,881 $ 4.16
Granted — —
Exchanged — _
Expired/forfeited — —
Outstanding WUP profits interests as of December 31, 2024 2,881 4.16

The weighted-average remaining contractual term as of December 31, 2024 for WUP profits interests outstanding was approximately 6.5 years. All WUP
profits interests were vested as of December 31, 2023.

WUP Restricted Interests

WUP restricted interests were time- and performance-based awards that vested when both of the following conditions were met: (i) ratably over a four-year
service period; and (ii) upon the first to occur of (A) a change of control of WUP and (B) the later to occur of (1) six months after an initial public offering of WUP
and (2) 30 days after the expiration of any applicable lock-up period in connection with an initial public offering of WUP. As a result, we started recording
compensation cost for WUP restricted interests on the Business Combination Closing Date. The WUP restricted interests lock-up period expired on February 8,
2022 and all remaining WUP restricted interests vested during the year ended December 31, 2022.

WUP Option Plan

In December 2016, the WUP Option Plan was established, which provided for the issuance of stock options to purchase WUP common interests at an exercise
price based on the fair market value of the interests on the date of grant. Generally, WUP stock options granted vested over a four-year service period and expire on
the tenth anniversary of the grant date. As of December 31, 2024, the number of WUP stock options authorized and issued in aggregate under the WUP stock option
plan was 1.8 million. Each outstanding WUP stock option is exercisable for one share of Common Stock.
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The following table summarizes the activity under the WUP Option Plan as of December 31, 2024:

Weighted-
Number of WUP Average Exercise Weighted-Average Grant
Stock Options Price Date Fair Value
(in thousands)
Outstanding WUP stock options as of January 1,2024 1,129 § 7545 § 12.64
Granted _ _ .
Exercised — — —
Forfeited (303) 78.83 15.55
Expired — — —
Outstanding WUP stock options as of December 31, 2024 826 74.21 11.57
Exercisable WUP stock options as of December 31, 2024 826 § 74.21 11.57

The aggregate intrinsic value as of December 31, 2024 for WUP stock options that were outstanding and exercisable was nil. The weighted-average remaining
contractual term as of December 31, 2024 for WUP stock options that were outstanding and exercisable was approximately 4.2 years, respectively. All WUP stock
options were vested as of December 31, 2023.

Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP & 2022 Inducement Grant Plan

In connection with the Business Combination, the Wheels Up Board of Directors (the “Board”) and stockholders of Wheels Up adopted the Wheels Up
Experience Inc. 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Original 2021 LTIP”), for employees, consultants and other qualified persons. Following approval by the
Board, (i) at the 2023 annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders, the Company’s stockholders approved the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP to increase the
aggregate number of shares of Common Stock available for awards made thereunder by 2,415,000 shares and amend certain other plan provisions, and (ii) at the
2024 annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders (the “2024 Annual Meeting”), the Company’s stockholders approved Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and
Restated 2021 LTIP (the “LTIP Amendment”), to increase the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock available for awards made under the Amended and
Restated 2021 LTIP by 25,000,000 shares and extend the termination date of such plan to April 15, 2034. The Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP provides for the
grant of incentive options, nonstatutory options, restricted stock, RSUs, PSUs, rights, dividend equivalents, other stock-based awards, performance awards, cash
awards or any combination of the foregoing. As of December 31, 2024, an aggregate of 30.1 million shares were authorized for issuance under the Amended and
Restated 2021 LTIP.

On June 30, 2022, the Board adopted the 2022 Inducement Grant Plan to be used for a one-time employment inducement grant, pursuant to New York Stock
Exchange (“NYSE”) Rule 303A.08, to our former Chief Financial Officer, in connection with his appointment as Chief Financial Officer. The maximum number of
awards that could be granted under the 2022 Inducement Grant Plan were 205,128 shares of Common Stock, which were all granted in the form of RSUs to our
former Chief Financial Officer on July 1, 2022. RSU awards granted under the 2022 Inducement Grant Plan contained generally the same terms as other awards
granted under the Original 2021 LTIP during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022. Due to such similarities, the RSUs granted under the 2022 Inducement
Grant Plan are consolidated with those issued under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP in the discussion of RSUs below. Upon the departure of our former Chief
Financial Officer from the Company in September 2024, the 2022 Inducement Grant Plan terminated and all unvested RSUs thereunder were forfeited.
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RSUs

RSUs granted under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP generally vest at intervals up to a four-year service period, subject to the grantee’s continued service
to the Company through the applicable vesting date. The following table summarizes the activity under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP and 2022 Inducement
Grant Plan related to RSUs as of December 31, 2024:

Weighted-Average Grant

Number of RSUs® Date Fair Value
(in thousands)
Non-vested RSUs as of January 1, 2024 1,848 §$ 9.35
Granted 10,606 2.54
Vested (1,178) 8.29
Forfeited (1,142) 561
Non-vested RSUs as of December 31, 2024 10,134 2.76

(1) The number of non-vested RSUs as of January 1, 2024, the number of forfeited RSUs and the related weighted-average grant date fair values include 68,376 RSUs granted under the 2022 Inducement
Grant Plan, which were forfeited in September 2024.

The total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested RSUs was $22.3 million as of December 31, 2024 and is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 2.7 years.

PSUs

Under the terms of the PSUs granted to certain employees, upon the achievement of certain pre-determined performance objectives, each PSU may settle into
shares of our Common Stock. The PSUs will vest, if at all, upon the actual achievement of the related performance objectives, subject to specified change of control
exceptions and the grantee’s continued service to the Company through the applicable vesting date.

The following table summarizes the activity under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP related to PSUs as of December 31, 2024:

Weighted-Average Grant

Number of PSUs Date Fair Value
(in thousands)
Non-vested PSUs as of January 1, 2024 18 $ 2.89
Granted 482 3.07
Vested — —
Forfeited (113) 3.03
Non-vested PSUs as of December 31, 2024 387 3.05

Compensation expense associated with PSUs is recognized over the vesting period of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest when the achievement of
the related performance objectives becomes probable. As of December 31, 2024, the achievement of the performance objectives associated with certain non-vested
PSUs was deemed not probable of being achieved and no expense has been recognized associated with those awards. The total unrecognized compensation cost
related to non-vested PSUs deemed probable of being achieved was $0.4 million as of December 31, 2024, and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-
average period of 1.9 years.

Market-Based RSUs

The Company previously granted RSUs subject to market-based vesting conditions (“Market-Based RSUs”) to certain employees, which were settleable into
shares of Common Stock. Market-Based RSUs were subject to
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vesting, if at all, based on the closing trading price per share of our Common Stock over any 30 consecutive trading day-period that occurred prior to the end date
specified in the underlying award agreement, subject to continued service through each such vesting date. Based on the Common Stock trading price, the market
conditions for the outstanding Market-Based RSUs were not met, and no shares had vested as of June 30, 2023. All outstanding unvested Market-Based RSUs were
forfeited and cancelled during the three months ended June 30, 2023.

Wheels Up Stock Options

Wheels Up stock options granted under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP vest quarterly over a three-year service period and expire on the tenth
anniversary of the grant date. The following table summarizes the activity under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP related to Wheels Up stock options as of
December 31, 2024:

Weighted-
Number of Wheels Up Average Exercise Weighted-Average Grant
Stock Options Price Date Fair Value
(in thousands)
Outstanding Wheels Up stock options as of January 1, 2024 77 S 100.00 $ 47.52
Granted — — —
Exercised — — —
Forfeited — — —
Expired — — —
Outstanding Wheels Up stock options as of December 31, 2024 77 100.00 47.52
Exercisable Wheels Up stock options as of December 31, 2024 77 100.00 47.52

The aggregate intrinsic value as of December 31, 2024 for Wheels Up stock options that were outstanding and exercisable was nil. The weighted-average
remaining contractual term as of December 31, 2024 for Wheels Up stock options that were outstanding and exercisable was approximately 2.9 years.

Executive Performance Awards

The Compensation Committee of the Board approved the CEO Performance Award granted to George Mattson, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer,
Forfeited CFO Performance Award granted to our former Chief Financial Officer, and CCO Performance Award granted to David Harvey, the Company’s Chief
Commercial Officer, on November 30, 2023, March 3, 2024 and May 20, 2024, respectively. Except as set forth in Section III.A of the Amended and Restated 2021
LTIP, the Executive Performance Awards incorporate the terms of the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP, as it may be amended from time-to-time. Each Executive
Performance Award is intended to constitute a standalone equity incentive plan and any shares of Common Stock issued under such awards will not be issued under,
or count against the number of shares of Common Stock reserved pursuant to, any of the Company’s other equity-based compensation plans or awards. Upon the
departure of our former Chief Financial Officer from the Company in September 2024, the Forfeited CFO Performance Award was terminated and any right to
receive shares of Common Stock or cash payments thereunder in the future was forfeited. No shares of Common Stock had been issued or cash payments made to
our former Chief Financial Officer under the Forfeited CFO Performance Award prior to forfeiture. In addition, all compensation expense associated with the
Forfeited CFO Performance Award was reversed during the year December 31, 2024.

The issuance of any shares under the Executive Performance Awards upon vesting is contingent upon receipt of the approval of each standalone plan by the
Company’s stockholders. At the 2024 Annual Meeting, the Company’s stockholders approved the CEO Performance Award and the potential issuance of up to
73.0 million shares of Common Stock thereunder, subject to the satisfaction of the applicable performance- and service-based vesting conditions under such award,
if at all. The Company currently intends to obtain approval of the CCO Performance Award as a standalone plan by the Company’s stockholders at a future meeting
of the Company’s stockholders or by written consent of the Company’s stockholders. If on any Determination Date (as defined below) there is not a sufficient
amount of shares authorized by the Company’ stockholders to deliver the number of shares due under the
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Executive Performance Awards or any such Executive Performance Award has not been approved by the Company’s stockholders, then upon vesting, if at all, any
amounts payable under any such Executive Performance Award will not be paid in the form of the issuance of new shares of Common Stock and instead will be
payable in cash.

The Executive Performance Awards are one-time performance awards granted to our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Commercial Officer in lieu of future
annual equity compensation grants and are intended to provide each of them with the opportunity to share in the long-term growth of the value of the Company. The
Executive Performance Awards consist of a contingent right to receive a number of newly issued shares of Common Stock upon: (i) repayment of $390.0 million of
the Company’s borrowings under the Term Loan, plus any additional amounts drawn on the Term Loan, if at all; and (ii) satisfaction of service-based vesting
conditions, which provide that 25% of each Executive Performance Award will be eligible to vest on each of September 20, 2024, 2025, 2026 and 2027, so long as
such officer remains employed with the Company as of such dates. A “Repayment Event” includes certain refinancings of the Term Loan on or before September
20, 2028, the scheduled maturity date of the Term Loan. Subject to the satisfaction of the applicable performance- and service-based vesting conditions described
above, the number of shares of Common Stock that may vest and be issued under any Executive Performance Award will first be determined on December 31st of
the year in which a Repayment Event occurs, and then on December 31st of each subsequent year (each such date, a “Determination Date”) until December 31,
2028 (the “Final Determination Date”). At any Determination Date following a Repayment Event, the number of shares of Common Stock issuable under any
Executive Performance Award in connection with such Determination Date, if any, will be determined using the then applicable percentage associated with the
service-based vesting condition (the “Service Vested Percentage”).

The number of shares of Common Stock subject to vesting and issuance, if any, under any Executive Performance Award on each Determination Date
following a Repayment Event is based on a formula that aligns the number of shares of Common Stock issuable under such Executive Performance Award with the
repayment or refinancing of the Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility, the then applicable dollar value of the shares of Common Stock issued to the Lenders
under the Investor Rights Agreement and the volume weighted average price per share of Common Stock during the 60 trading day period prior to the applicable
Determination Date. The number of shares of Common Stock, if any, issuable under the Executive Performance Awards will vary depending on, among other
things: (i) the occurrence and timing of a Repayment Event; (ii) the Total Investor Return (as defined in the Executive Performance Awards) as a multiple of the
aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan and any borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility as of the applicable Determination Date, if any; and (iii) the
Service Vested Percentage as of the applicable Determination Date. There can be no assurance that the performance- and service-based vesting conditions under the
Executive Performance Awards will be satisfied or that the foregoing variables will result in the vesting and issuance of any shares of Common Stock or cash
payments pursuant to the Executive Performance Awards.

As of December 31, 2024, the performance-based vesting conditions for the outstanding and unvested Executive Performance Awards were not met and no
shares had vested under the plans. As of December 31, 2024, the achievement of the related performance objective was deemed probable of being achieved on
September 20, 2028, the scheduled maturity date of the Term Loan. The grant-date fair value of the CCO Performance Award as of May 20, 2024, using a Monte
Carlo simulation model, was $43.9 million.

The total unrecognized compensation cost related to the outstanding and unvested Executive Performance Awards was $154.6 million as of December 31, 2024
and is expected to be recognized over 4.0 years. As of December 31, 2024, the carrying amount of the CEO Performance Award was classified as equity in the
consolidated balance sheet under Additional paid-in capital; however, since we have not obtained approval from the Company’s stockholders of the CCO
Performance Award as a standalone plan and for the issuance of any shares of Common Stock to satisfy settlement of shares of Common Stock issuable thereunder,
the carrying amount associated with the plan has been classified as mezzanine equity in the consolidated balance sheet under Contingent performance awards.
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Fair Value Estimates

We estimated fair value to measure compensation cost of the Executive Performance Awards on the date of grant using techniques that are considered to be
consistent with the objective of measuring fair value. In selecting the appropriate technique, management considered, among other factors, the nature of the
instrument, the market risks that it embodies, and the expected means of settlement.

Estimating fair values of the Executive Performance Awards requires the development of significant and subjective estimates that may, and are likely to, change
over the duration of the instrument with related changes in internal and external factors. In addition, option-pricing models are highly volatile and sensitive to
changes.

The following table summarizes the significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value on the date of grant for the outstanding and unvested Executive
Performance Awards:

2024 2023 @
Expected term (in years) 4.7 52
Volatility 70% 60%
Risk-free rate 4.4% 4.3%
Expected dividend rate —% —%

(1) Assumptions used in the Monte Carlo simulation related to the CCO Performance Award, which was granted on May 20, 2024.
(2) Assumptions used in the Monte Carlo simulation related to the CEO Performance Award, which was granted on November 30, 2023.

Equity-Based Compensation Expense

Compensation expense for WUP profits interests recognized in the consolidated statements of operations was nil, $0.1 million and $1.3 million for the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Compensation expense for WUP restricted interests recognized in the consolidated statements of operations was nil, nil and $4.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Compensation expense for WUP stock options under the WUP Option Plan and Wheels Up stock options under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations was nil, $1.1 million and $7.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Compensation expense for RSUs and PSUs under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP recognized in the consolidated statements of operations was $10.9
million, $16.7 million and $41.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Compensation expense for the Executive Performance Awards recognized in the consolidated statements of operations was $35.1 million, $2.5 million and nil
for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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The following table summarizes equity-based compensation expense recognized by consolidated statement of operations line item (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Cost of revenue $ 2,228 $ 3927 $ 14,456
Technology and development 1,302 2,096 3,180
Sales and marketing 661 1,764 11,009
General and administrative 41,786 17,846 60,334
Total equity-based compensation expense $ 45977 $ 25,633 § 88,979

Earnout Shares

As part of the Business Combination, existing holders of WUP equity, including certain holders of WUP profits interests and restricted interests under the WUP
Management Incentive Plan, but excluding holders of WUP stock options, have the right to receive up to 0.9 million additional shares of Common Stock (the
“Earnout Shares”) that will vest, if at all, upon the achievement of separate market conditions. One-third of the Earnout Shares will meet the market conditions
when the closing Common Stock price is greater than or equal to $125.00 for any 20 trading days within a period of 30 consecutive trading days on or before July
13, 2026. An additional one-third will vest when the Common Stock is greater than or equal to $150.00 over the same measurement period. The final one-third will
vest when the Common Stock is greater than or equal to $175.00 over the same measurement period.

Earnout Shares are attributable to vested WUP profits interests and restricted interests as of the date each of the Earnout Share market conditions are met. No
Earnout Shares had been issued as of December 31, 2024.

The grant-date fair value of the Earnout Shares attributable to the holders of WUP profits interests and restricted interests, using a Monte Carlo simulation
model, was $57.9 million. The derived service period began on the Business Combination Closing Date and had a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.

Based on the Common Stock trading price, the market conditions were not met and no Earnout Shares vested as of December 31, 2024. Compensation expense
for Earnout Shares recognized in the consolidated statements of operations was nil, $1.4 million and $38.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023
and 2022, respectively.

Treasury Stock

As of December 31, 2024, we had 439,451 shares of treasury stock. The increase in treasury stock during the year ended December 31, 2024 reflects shares of
Common Stock withheld to settle employee taxes due upon the vesting of RSUs. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we did not cancel or reissue any shares
of Common Stock held as treasury stock.

12.  WARRANTS

Prior to the Business Combination, Aspirational issued 7,991,544 redeemable public warrants as part of its initial public offering (“Public Warrants”) and
4,529,950 redeemable private warrants (“Private Warrants” and together with the Public Warrants, the “Warrants”). On the Business Combination Closing Date,
Wheels Up assumed the Warrants. Each whole Warrant entitles the holder to purchase 1/10th of one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of $115.00 per
whole share of Common Stock. The Warrants expire on July 13, 2026 or earlier
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upon redemption or liquidation. As of December 31, 2024, no Warrants had been exercised and 12,521,494 remain outstanding.
The Warrants are redeemable if certain conditions are met, as described below:

Redemption of Warrants when the price of Common Stock equals or exceeds $180.00: Once the Warrants become exercisable, Wheels Up may redeem the
outstanding Warrants (except as described below with respect to the Private Warrants):

* in whole and not in part;
+ ataprice of $0.01 per Warrant;
* upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption to each Warrant holder;

» if, and only if] the last reported Common Stock sales price for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading day period ending on the third trading day prior to
the date on which Wheels Up sends the notice of redemption to the Warrant holders (the “Reference Value”) equals or exceeds $180.00 per share (as
adjusted); and

» if there is an effective registration statement covering the issuance of the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrants available during
the 30-day redemption period.

Redemption of Warrants when the price of Common Stock equals or exceeds $100.00: Once the Warrants become exercisable, Wheels Up may redeem the
outstanding Warrants:

* in whole and not in part;

* at a price of $0.10 per Warrant upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption; provided, that holders will be able to exercise their
Warrants on a cashless basis prior to redemption and receive that number of shares determined based on the redemption date and the then applicable fair
market value per whole share of Common Stock;

» if, and only if, the Reference Value equals or exceeds $100.00 per share (as adjusted); and

» if the Reference Value is less than $180.00 per share (as adjusted), the Private Warrants must also be concurrently called for redemption on the same terms
as the outstanding Public Warrants.

The exercise price and number of shares issuable upon exercise of the Public Warrants may be adjusted in certain circumstances including in the event of a
share dividend or subdivision of shares, extraordinary dividend, share consolidation or combination, or recapitalization, reorganization, merger or consolidation.
However, except as described below, the Public Warrants will not be adjusted for issuances of shares at a price below its exercise price. Additionally, in no event
will Wheels Up be required to net cash settle the Public Warrants.

The Private Warrants are identical to the Public Warrants underlying the units sold in the Aspirational initial public offering, except that the Private Warrants
and the Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the Private Warrants were not transferable, assignable or salable until 30 days after the Business Combination
Closing Date, subject to certain limited exceptions. Additionally, the Private Warrants will be exercisable on a cashless basis and be non-redeemable, except as
described above, so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees. If the Private Warrants are held by someone other than the initial
purchasers or their permitted transferees, the Private Warrants will be redeemable by Wheels Up and exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the Public
Warrants.

The warrant agreement governing the Warrants includes a provision that provides for potential changes to the settlement amounts dependent upon the
characteristics of the holder of the Warrants. In addition, the warrant agreement includes a provision that in the event of a tender or exchange offer made to and
accepted by holders of
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more than 50% of the outstanding shares of a single class of ordinary shares, all holders of the Warrants would be entitled to receive cash for their Warrants (the
“Tender Offer Provision”).

We evaluated the Warrants under ASC 815-40-15, which addresses equity versus liability treatment and classification of equity-linked financial instruments,
including warrants, and states that a warrant may be classified as a component of equity only if, among other things, the warrant is indexed to the issuer’s common
stock. Under ASC 815-40-15, a warrant is not indexed to the issuer’s common stock if the terms of the warrant require an adjustment to the exercise price upon a
specified event and that event is not an input to the fair value of the warrant. We determined that the Private Warrants are not indexed to Common Stock in the
manner contemplated by ASC 815-40-15 because the holder of the instrument is not an input into the pricing of a fixed-for-fixed option on equity shares. In
addition, we concluded the Tender Offer Provision included in the warrant agreement fails the classified as equity criteria as contemplated by ASC 815-40-25. As a
result of the above, the Warrants are classified as derivative liabilities.

13. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

MIP LLC is a single purpose entity formed for the purpose of administering and effectuating the award of WUP profits interests to employees, consultants and
other qualified persons. Wheels Up is the sole managing member of MIP LLC and, as a result, consolidates the financial results of MIP LLC. We record non-
controlling interests representing the ownership interest in MIP LLC held by other members of MIP LLC. In connection with the Business Combination, the
Seventh Amended and Restated LLC Agreement of WUP was adopted, which granted MIP LLC limited liability company interests corresponding to outstanding
vested WUP profits interests that enable members of MIP LLC, subject to certain restrictions, to exchange their vested WUP profits interests for cash or a
corresponding number of shares of Common Stock, at the option of Wheels Up, based on the value of such WUP profits interests relative to their applicable
participation threshold.

The decision of whether to exchange WUP profits interests for cash or Common Stock is made solely at the discretion of Wheels Up. Accordingly, the WUP
profits interests held by MIP LLC are treated as permanent equity and changes in the ownership interest of MIP LLC are accounted for as equity transactions. Any
future exchanges of WUP profits interests, which would also reduce the WUP limited liability company interests corresponding to MIP LLC and result in the
issuance of a number of shares of Common Stock depending on the applicable participation threshold and the applicable price per share of Common Stock, will
reduce the amount recorded as non-controlling interests and increase additional paid-in-capital on the consolidated balance sheets.

The calculation of non-controlling interests is as follows:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
i (O]
Number of WUP common units held by Wheels Up 697,902,646 100.0 % 696,856,131 100.0 %
Number of vested WUP profits interests attributable to non-controlling interests® _ _o, o o
Total WUP common units and vested WUP profits interests outstanding 697,902,646 100.0 % 696,856,131 100.0 %

(1) WUP common units represent an equivalent ownership of Common Stock outstanding.
(2) Based on the closing price per share of Common Stock on the last trading day of the period covered by this Annual Report, there would be no WUP common units, and in turn, shares of Common Stock,
issuable upon conversion of WUP profits interests outstanding as of December 31, 2024.

Weighted average ownership percentages are used to allocate Net loss to Wheels Up and the non-controlling interest holders. The non-controlling interests
weighted average ownership percentage was 0.0%, 0.0% and 0.1% for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company has contractual obligations and commitments, primarily in the form of obligations to provide services for which we have already received
deferred revenue (see Note 3), lease arrangements (see Note 10), repayment of long-term debt (see Note 8), legal proceedings and sales and use tax liability.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are subject to various legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, which arise in the ordinary course of business. While
the outcome of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, as of the date of this Annual Report we do not believe that the outcome of any of these matters,
individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

GRP Litigation

On July 5, 2023, we filed a lawsuit against Exclusive Jets, LLC d/b/a flyExclusive, a subsidiary of flyExclusive, Inc. (“FE”), in the United States District Court
for the Southern District of New York, which was re-filed against FE in the Supreme Court of the State of New York in New York County on August 23, 2023. We
instituted the action to enforce our rights and remedies for wrongful termination by FE of that certain Fleet Guaranteed Revenue Program Agreement, dated
November 1, 2021, between WUP and FE (the “GRP Agreement”). On June 30, 2023, FE notified us in writing of its immediate termination of the GRP Agreement.
We believe that FE wrongfully terminated such agreement in breach thereof. We are seeking compensatory damages, including the return of material deposits held
by FE under the GRP Agreement that were recorded in Other non-current assets on our consolidated balance sheets for each of the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023, as well as attorneys’ fees and costs. On October 31, 2024, FE filed its defenses to the Company’s claims and simultaneously presented certain
counterclaims for unpaid amounts it claims it is owed under the GRP Agreement. We filed our answer and defenses to such counterclaims on November 20, 2024.
We intend to vigorously pursue the action to recover the outstanding deposits and other damages from FE and defend against any related counterclaims, but there
can be no assurance as to the outcome of the dispute with FE. Our success in recovering the amounts from FE will depend upon several factors including the ability
of FE to satisfy recoverable amounts using available liquidity or other assets. We are in the process of evaluating the effects of the foregoing events and we cannot
make a reasonable estimate of any outcome, recovery or loss at this time.

Sales and Use Tax Liability

We regularly provide services to members in various states within the U.S., which may create sales and use tax nexus via temporary presence, potentially
requiring the payment of these taxes. We determined that there is uncertainty as to what constitutes nexus in respective states for a state to levy taxes, fees, and
surcharges relating to our activity. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 we estimate the potential exposure to such tax liability to be $5.5 million and $10.5 million,
respectively, the expense for which is included in Accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheets and cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of
operations.

15. RELATED PARTIES

We engage in transactions with certain stockholders who are also members, ambassadors or customers. Such transactions primarily relate to their membership
in the Wheels Up program, flights and flight-related services.

We incurred expenses of $1.2 million, $1.9 million and nil for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, from transactions related to
the Amended CCA with Delta. As of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, $2.4 million and $0.4 million, respectively, were included in Accrued expenses
on the consolidated balance sheets, and nil and $3.6 million, respectively, were included in Other non-current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets related to
transactions associated with the Amended CCA with Delta.

The Company completed certain financing transactions with Delta, CK Wheels and CIH during the year ended December 31, 2023, including the Amended
Promissory Note, the Term Loan and the issuance of a portion of the
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Investor Shares to each such party, as applicable, in each case in pro rata amounts equal to the amount of the Term Loan funded by each such party in relation to the
total Term Loan. See Note 8 and Note 11 for additional information about the Term Loan, Revolving Credit Facility and issuance of pro rata portions of the Investor
Shares to Delta, CK Wheels and CIH during the year ended December 31, 2024.

The remaining transactions with related parties during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were immaterial individually and in the aggregate
for financial reporting purposes.

16. RESTRUCTURING AND RELATED CHARGES

On March 1, 2023, we announced a restructuring plan (the “Restructuring Plan”) as part of our previously announced focus on implementing cost reductions
and improving the efficiency of our operations, which consisted of a reduction in headcount (excluding pilots, maintenance and operations-support personnel).

We incurred $17.7 million of charges associated with the Restructuring Plan during the fourth quarter of 2022 and first quarter of 2023, which primarily
consisted of cash and non-cash expenses related to severance payments, employee benefits and equity-based compensation. During the year ended December 31,
2023, we recognized approximately $10.5 million of expenses related to the Restructuring Plan, which were incurred and recorded on the consolidated statement of
operations, as follows (in thousands):

Cost of revenue $ 755
Technology and development 2,299
Sales and marketing 2,058
General and administrative 5,408
Total restructuring expenses $ 10,520

All charges associated with the Restructuring Plan were paid as of December 31, 2023.

17. INCOME TAXES

We are subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes with respect to our allocable share of any taxable income or loss of WUP, as well as any standalone
income or loss Wheels Up generates. WUP is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal and most applicable state and local income tax purposes and generally does
not pay income taxes in most jurisdictions. Instead, any taxable income or loss generated by WUP is passed through to and included in the taxable income or loss of
its members, including Wheels Up. We are also subject to income taxes in the various foreign jurisdictions in which we operate.

Income Tax Expense

The components of income (loss) before income taxes are follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Domestic $ (342,405) $ (493,787) $ (555,889)
Foreign 3,996 7,783 512
Loss before income taxes $ (338,409) $ (486,004) $ (555,377)

The components of income tax expense are as follows (in thousands):
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Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Current income taxes
Federal $ — 8 —
State and local 150 139 101
Foreign 2,574 1,999 202
Total current income taxes 2,724 2,138 303
Deferred income taxes
Federal — —
State and local ) (13)
Foreign (1,498) (753) (120)
Total deferred income taxes (1,498) (755) (133)
Income tax expense $ 1,226 § 1,383 $ 170

A reconciliation from the statutory federal income tax rate to the effective income tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Expected federal income taxes at statutory rate 21.0% 21.0% 21.0 %
State and local income taxes — —
Permanent differences (1.1) 0.4) (0.5)
Partnership earnings not subject to tax — —
Foreign tax rate differential (0.3) (0.3) —
Change in valuation allowance (20.1) (20.6) (20.5)
Effective income tax rate (0.5)% 0.3)% —%

Our effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 differs from the federal statutory rate of 21% primarily due to a full valuation
allowance against our net deferred tax assets where it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
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Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are presented within other assets in the consolidated balance sheets, are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Deferred tax assets

Investment in partnership $ 160,644 $ 98,322

Net operating loss carryforwards 197,493 145,683

Transaction costs 1,103 1,267

Tax credits 5,454 6,377

Deferred revenue 1,363 1,121

Equity-based compensation 2,242 1,851

Interest expense carryforwards 40,003 14,210

Other 1,772 566
Total deferred tax assets 410,074 269,397
Valuation allowance (343,252) (268,045)
Deferred tax assets, net $ 66,822 § 1,352
Deferred tax liabilities

Intangibles $ (1,680) $ 2,177)

OID/DFC interest (64,150) —

Other (1,224) (864)
Total deferred tax liabilities $ (67,054) $ (3,041)
Net deferred tax liabilities

$ (232) $ (1,689)

As of December 31, 2024, our U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards for income tax purposes were $741.1 million and $878.1 million,
respectively. Of our total federal net operating losses, $613.9 million can be carried forward indefinitely, and the remainder will begin to expire in 2032 and fully
expire in 2037 if not utilized. Our state net operating losses begin to expire in 2027.

During the fourth quarter of 2024, the Company performed a Section 382 analysis and a debt-equity analysis related to transactions that occurred in 2023. As a
result of the analysis, the Company adjusted its deferred tax assets for net operating losses to reflect Section 382 Recognized Built-In Loss (RBIL), as well as its
deferred tax liability related to Original Issue Discount (OID) and Deferred Financing Costs (DFC). However, due to our overall valuation allowance position in the
U.S., we do not believe these adjustments will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

We evaluate the realizability of our deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis and establish valuation allowances when it is more likely than not that all or a
portion of our deferred tax assets may not be realized. In making such a determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including future
reversals of existing taxable temporary and tax-planning strategies. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we concluded, based on the weight of all available positive
and negative evidence, that it is more likely than not that the majority of deferred tax assets will not be realized. Accordingly, a valuation allowance of $343.3
million has been established as of December 31, 2024. The $75.2 million increase in valuation allowance was the result of a charge to deferred tax benefit of $144.8
million from operations and a $69.6 million expense to additional paid in capital.

We currently expect the undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries to be indefinitely reinvested. Accordingly, the Company has not provided the tax
effect, if any, of limited outside basis differences of its foreign
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subsidiaries. If these foreign earnings are repatriated to the U.S., or if the Company determines that such earnings are repatriated to the U.S. or if the Company
determines that such earnings will be remitted in a future period, additional tax provisions may be required.

Additionally, the Company is subject to the income tax effects associated with the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (GILTI) provisions. We have elected
to recognize GILTI income in the period it arises and do not recognize deferred taxes for basis difference that may reverse in future years.

Section 382 Transaction

In general, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (as amended, the “Code”), a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject
to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change net operating losses or tax credits to offset future taxable income or taxes. As a result of the Initial Issuance, the
Company experienced an ownership change for the purpose of Section 382 of the Code during the third quarter of 2023, that will limit the availability of our tax
attributes to offset future income. Our net operating losses and tax attributes are currently subject to a full valuation allowance. Accordingly, we do not believe it
will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Uncertain Tax Positions

The Company is subject to tax in the U.S. and various foreign jurisdictions in which we operate. There were no reserves for uncertain tax positions as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023. Additionally, although WUP is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal and state income taxes purposes, it is still required to file
annual federal, state and local income tax returns, which are subject to examination by the taxing authorities. The statute of limitations is generally open for years
beginning after 2020 for U.S. federal and state jurisdictions for WUP.

OECD Pillar Two

The organization for Economic Co-operation and Development has issued Pillar Two model rules introducing a new global minimum tax of 15% intended to be
effective on January 1, 2024. While the US has not yet adopted the Pillar Two rules, various other governments around the world have implemented the legislation,
including jurisdictions in which Wheels Up’s companies operate, and many other jurisdictions are in the process of implementing it. The Company continues to
monitor the pending implementation of Pillar Two by individual countries and the potential effects of Pillar Two on our business. The provisions effective in 2024
did not have a materially adverse impact on our results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

Additionally, the Company is subject to the income tax effects associated with the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”) provisions and treats the tax
effects of GILTI as a current period expense in the period incurred. The Company estimated $2.3 million of GILTI inclusion for 2024, which was fully offset by the
loss generated in the same period.
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18. NET LOSS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Numerator:
Net loss attributable to Wheels Up Experience Inc. - basic and diluted $ (339,635) $ (487,387) $ (555,160)
Denominator:
Weighted-average shares of Common Stock outstanding - basic and diluted 697,713,626 132,194,747 24,567,164
Basic and diluted net loss per share of Common Stock $ 0.49) $ 3.69) $ (22.60)

There were no dividends declared or paid during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 or 2022.

Basic and diluted net loss per share were computed using the two-class method. The two-class method is an allocation formula that determines earnings or loss
per share for common stock and any participating securities according to dividends declared (whether paid or unpaid) and participation rights in undistributed
earnings or losses. Shares of unvested restricted stock are considered participating securities, because these awards contain a non-forfeitable right to participate
equally in any dividends prior to forfeiture of the restricted stock, if any, irrespective of whether the awards ultimately vest. WUP restricted interests were converted
into shares of restricted stock as of the Business Combination Closing Date. All issued and outstanding shares of restricted stock, whether vested or unvested, were
included in the weighted-average shares of Common Stock outstanding beginning on the Business Combination Closing Date.

WUP profits interests held by other members of MIP LLC, which comprise the non-controlling interests (see Note 13), are not subject to the net loss per share
calculation until such time the vested WUP profits interests are actually exchanged for shares of Common Stock.

The following securities were not included in the computation of diluted shares outstanding for periods during which we incurred a net loss, because the effect
would be anti-dilutive, or issuance of such shares is contingent upon the satisfaction of certain conditions which were not satisfied by the end of the period:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Warrants("
1,252,149 1,252,149 1,252,149

Earnout Shares 900,000 900,000 900,000
RSUs and PSUs®?

10,520,766 2,115,286 1,877,105
Stock options 902,459 1,205,754 1,359,295
Total anti-dilutive securities®

13,575,374 5,473,189 5,388,549

(1) Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase 1/10th of one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of $115.00 per whole share of Common Stock.

(2) Amount outstanding as of December 31, 2022 includes total RSUs, PSUs and Market-Based RSUs.

(3) Excludes shares issuable under the CEO Performance Award and CCO Performance Award, as the number of shares issuable under the CEO Performance Award and CCO Performance Award are not
readily determinable until the first Determination Date after vesting and each successive Determination Date thereafter, if applicable.
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19. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The Company operates as one operating segment. The Company’s CODM evaluates the Company’s financial information and resources and assesses the
performance of these resources on a consolidated basis. The measure of segment profit or loss for the Company's single segment is Net income (loss), which can be
found in the consolidated statement of operations. There is no expense or asset information that are supplemental to those disclosed in these consolidated financial
statements that are regularly provided to the CODM.

The Company attributes revenue among geographic areas based upon the location of the flight or service. The following table summarizes the geographic
allocation of total revenues for the years indicated (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
United States $ 700,289 $ 1,157,113  § 1,499,453
Other" 91,815 96,204 80,307
Total $ 792,104 $ 1,253,317  $ 1,579,760

(1) Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 includes revenue from Air Partner from the date of acquisition, April 1, 2022.

Long-lived assets consist of property, equipment and leasehold improvements, internally developed capitalized software, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization, and operating lease right-of-use assets. The following table presents long-lived assets by geographic area on the dates indicated (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2024 2023
United States $ 404,094 $ 401,965
Other 1,156 4,659
Total $ 405,250 $ 406,624

20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

As part of the Company’s continuing cost reduction initiatives, in the first quarter of 2025, the Company leased alternative corporate office space in New York,
New York and vacated a larger leased corporate office space in New York, New York, for which the Company is actively seeking a sublease tenant. Due to a general
reduction in demand for corporate office space in the locale, the Company anticipates reduced sublease rent rate for the vacated space and that the terms of any
sublease may differ from the underlying lease to which the Company is a party. As a result, the Company concluded on March 9, 2025 that it expects to record a
non-cash, pre-tax impairment charge related to a right of use asset associated with the vacated corporate office space ranging from approximately $20.0 million to
$24.0 million in the first quarter of 2025, virtually all of which will result in future cash expenditures. Following these actions, the Company expects a significant
decrease in future operating expenses related to leased corporate office space.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act, that are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified
in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Interim
Chief Financial Officer, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. It should be noted that, because of inherent limitations, our disclosure controls
and procedures, however well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and
procedures are met.

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act, our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial
Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the period covered by this Annual Report. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2024 due to a
material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting described below. In light of this fact, our management has performed additional analyses,
reconciliations and other post-closing procedures, and has concluded that, notwithstanding the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, the
consolidated financial statements for the periods covered by and included in this Annual Report fairly present, in all material respects, our financial position, results
of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”). In
addition, Grant Thornton LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, has audited and issued an opinion on the financial statements as of December 31,
2024, which is included in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange
Act. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP and includes those policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect transactions and the dispositions of assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance
with appropriate authorizations of management and directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of assets that could have a material effect on its financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 based on the criteria described in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment,
management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer, concluded that our internal control over
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financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2024 due to control deficiencies that, when aggregated, resulted in the material weakness described below.
A material weakness is defined as a deficiency, or a combination of control deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Management concluded that we did not maintain effective controls over information technology (“IT”) for IT systems and applications that are relevant to the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Specifically, we identified deficiencies in (i) access management controls to ensure appropriate segregation of
duties and restrict user access to financial applications, programs and data affecting underlying accounting records, and (ii) program change management controls
affecting IT applications, key information and underlying accounting records, that ensure IT program and data changes are identified, tested, authorized and
implemented properly. These IT deficiencies also resulted in related application controls and manual IT-dependent controls being ineffective. None of the IT
deficiencies resulted in a material misstatement to our annual or interim consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024.

If not remediated timely, the deficiencies described above could result in a misstatement of one or more account balances or disclosures, which in turn could
result in a material misstatement to the future annual or interim consolidated financial statements that could not be prevented or detected.

Grant Thornton LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, has audited and issued a report on the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, which is included in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

Remediation Plans

To date, we have implemented certain measures to address the above described deficiencies.

As of the date of this Annual Report, we have executed on the following remediation actions:

» redesigned access administration procedures to include steps to ensure retention of documentation supporting requests and approvals;

» enhanced user access review procedures to ensure timely reviews of elevated access, removal of terminated users and appropriateness of user roles;

» reviewed elevated access entitlements in the systems supporting our financial processes and have further restricted access or developed compensating
controls;

* redesigned change management procedures to ensure effective monitoring controls and retention of documentation supporting requests and approvals; and,
+ developed and implemented change management monitoring controls for key information used in the preparation of our financial statements.

Our remediation plan currently includes additional actions that management intends to undertake during the year ending December 31, 2025:

* engaging external advisors to assist with evaluating and documenting the design and operating effectiveness of our IT general controls;

* enhancing training programs addressing IT general controls and policies, including educating control owners concerning the principles and requirements of
each control;

+  increasing the frequency of testing to monitor IT general controls with a specific focus on systems supporting our financial reporting processes; and
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*  hiring additional personnel with relevant compliance expertise to support the ongoing design and maintenance of effective IT general controls.

We are working aggressively and prioritizing the above actions to complete our remediation plan before December 31, 2025. We believe that these actions,
when fully implemented, will remediate the deficiencies described above. The deficiencies will not be considered remediated until the applicable controls operate
for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are designed and operating effectively. As we continue to
evaluate and improve the applicable controls, management may take additional remedial measures or modify the remediation plan described above.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Except for the items noted above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by
Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely
to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitation on the Effectiveness of Internal Control over Financial Reporting and Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our
internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are
resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation
of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities
that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by
the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is also
based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals
under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or
procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected
or preventable.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

(a) As part of the Company’s continuing cost reduction initiatives, in the first quarter of 2025, the Company leased alternative corporate office space in New
York, New York and vacated a larger leased corporate office space in New York, New York, for which the Company is actively seeking a sublease tenant. Due to a
general reduction in demand for corporate office space in the locale, the Company anticipates reduced sublease rent rate for the vacated space and that the terms of
any sublease may differ from the underlying lease to which the Company is a party. As a result, the Company concluded on March 9, 2025 that it expects to record
a non-cash, pre-tax impairment charge related to a right of use asset associated with the vacated corporate office space ranging from approximately $20.0 million to
$24.0 million in the first quarter of 2025, virtually all of which will result in future cash expenditures. Following these actions, the Company expects a significant
decrease in future operating expenses related to leased corporate office space. Following these actions, the Company expects a significant decrease in future
operating expenses related to leased corporate office space. This non-cash, pre-tax impairment charge will be recorded in Net income (loss), but is not expected to
adversely impact Adjusted Contribution, Adjusted Contribution Margin or Adjusted EBITDA for the first quarter and fiscal year 2025. “Adjusted Contribution,”
“Adjusted Contribution Margin” and “Adjusted EBITDA” are defined under the caption “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” in Part I, Item 7 “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition” in this Annual Report.
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In addition, on March 10, 2025, the Company, in its capacity as the managing member of WUP, entered into Amendment No. 3 to Seventh Amended and
Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of WUP, dated as of March 10, 2025 (the “WUP Agreement Amendment”), to clarify an ambiguity in a tax-related
provision to reflect the original intention of the parties to such agreement, as described more fully in the WUP Agreement Amendment.

(b)  During the three months ended December 31, 2024, no director or officer of the Company adopted, modified or terminated a ‘Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement’ or ‘non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,’ as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.
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ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.
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PART IIIL.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information required by this Item 10 “Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance,” is set forth under the headings “Proposal No. 1 — Election of
Directors,” “Corporate Governance,” and “Information Regarding Executive Officers” in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC related to our 2025
Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”), and is incorporated by reference.

Code of Ethics

Wheels Up has adopted a code of ethics entitled “Wheels Up Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” that applies to directors, officers, employees and
contractors, including the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer. Wheels Up also elects to disclose the information required by Item
5.05 of Form 8-K, “Amendments to the Registrant's Code of Ethics, or Waiver of a Provision of the Code of Ethics,” through the Company’s investor relations
website, and such information will remain available on such website for at least a 12-month period. A copy of the “Wheels Up Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics” will be available in print to any stockholder upon request and may be accessed through the “Governance” section of the Company’s investor relations
website at www.wheelsup.com/investors. The information on, or that can be accessed through, such website is not deemed incorporated in, and does not form a part
of, this Annual Report. The website address is included as an inactive textual reference only.

Insider Trading Policy

Wheels Up maintains an insider trading policy governing the purchase, sale and other dispositions of its securities by directors, officers and employees. Our
insider trading policy also includes guidelines applicable to such persons for the adoption, modification or termination of a ‘Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement’ or
‘non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K. We believe that our insider trading policy is reasonably designed
to promote compliance with insider trading laws, rules and regulations, and any listing standards applicable to us. A copy of Wheels Up’s Amended and Restated
Insider Trading Policy is filed as Exhibit 19.1 to this Annual Report.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this Item 11 “Executive Compensation,” is set forth under the headings “Executive Compensation” and “Director Compensation” in
our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated by reference.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNER AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

(&)
(2

3)
“)

()
(6)

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information on our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2024:

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under

Number of securities to Weighted-average equity compensation
be issued upon exercise of exercise price of plans (excluding
outstanding options, outstanding options, securities reflected in
warrants and rights warrants and rights column (a))
Plan Category (a) (b) (¢)
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders" 84,313,292  § 100.00 & 16,455,190
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders® 825,727 ) 7421 © —
Total 85,139,019 $ 76.40 16,455,190

Consists of the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP and CEO Performance Award.

Consists of (i) 11,236,560 RSUs and PSUs that may be settled into a maximum of 11,236,560 shares of Common Stock under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP, (ii) 76,732 stock options to
purchase up to 76,732 shares of Common Stock under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP, and (iii) up to 73,000,000 shares of Common Stock under the CEO Performance Award that have been
authorized by the Company’s stockholders for issuance thereunder, subject to the satisfaction of both the performance- and service-based vesting conditions under the CEO Performance Award, if at
all.

Reflects the weighted-average exercise price of outstanding stock options under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP as of December 31, 2024. The calculation of the weighted-average exercise price
does not include outstanding equity awards that are received or exercised for no consideration.

Consists of the Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLC Option Plan (“WUP option plan”). All awards made under the WUP option plan were made prior to the Business Combination Closing Date and
were assumed by the Company in connection with the Business Combination. No further awards may be made under the WUP option plan.

Consists of (i) 825,727 stock options to purchase up to 825,727 shares of Common Stock under the WUP option plan.

Reflects the weighted-average exercise price of outstanding stock options under the WUP option plan as of December 31, 2024. The calculation of the weighted-average exercise price does not include
outstanding equity awards that are received or exercised for no consideration.

The above table excludes shares issuable under the CCO Performance Award, as no shares of Common Stock were authorized for issuance under the award as

of December 31, 2024. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Item 12 have the meanings assigned to them in the Notes to Financial Statements included in
Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report.

Other information required by this Item 12 “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters,” is set forth

under the heading “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated by reference.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this Item 13 “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence,” is set forth under the headings “Corporate
Governance” and “Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions” in our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this Item 14 “Principal Accountant Fees and Services,” is set forth under the heading “Proposal No. 3 — Ratification of Appointment of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — Principal Accountant Fees and Services,” in our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated by reference.

PART IV.

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)(1) Financial Statements
The financial statements are provided under Part I, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report.
(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules

No financial statement schedules are provided because the information called for is not applicable or not required or is included in the consolidated financial
statements or the notes thereto provided under Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report.

(a)(3) Exhibits
The information required by this Item 15 is set forth below.

The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report:

No. Description of Exhibit

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 1, 2021 by and among_the Registrant, Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLC, KittyHawk
Merger Sub LLC, Wheels Up Blocker Sub LLC, the Blocker Merger Subs (as defined in therein) and the Blockers (as defined therein)

2.2 Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 6, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Aspirational

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Wheels Up Experience Inc., filed on November 15, 2023 (incorporated by reference to

32 Amended and Restated By-Laws of Wheels Up Experience Inc., effective as of November 15, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
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4.1

4.2

4.3+

4.4

4.5+

4.6+"

4.7

4.8

4.9+

4.10

Specimen Class A Common Stock Certificate of Wheels Up Experience Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to Aspirational Consumer

Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 14, 2024)

Trust Indenture and Mortgage, dated as of November 13, 2024, by_and between Wheels Up Partners LLC and Wilmington Trust, National

SEC on November 14, 2024),

Form of Equipment Notes (2024-1 Revolving Equipment Notes)_(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 14, 2024)

Guarantee,_dated as of November 13, 2024, from each person listed in Schedule I thereto and each other person that becomes an additional

Exhibit 4.6 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 14, 2024)

Class A Revolving Loan Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2024, by and among Wheels Up Class A-1 Loan Trust 2024-1, each lender from
time to time party thereto, and their permitted successors and assigns, and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as facility agent for the

Revolving Equipment Notes) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on
November 14, 2024),

Security Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2024, among_Wheels Up Class A-1 Loan Trust 2024-1 and Wilmington Trust, National
Association,_not in its individual capacity but solely as security trustee and the facility agent (2024-1 Revolving_Equipment Notes)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 14, 2024)
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4.127
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4.14
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4.18

4.19

4.20n

4210

4.22%*

guarantors,_listed on the signature pages thereto, Wheels Up Class A-1 Loan Trust 2022-1 and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as
subordination agent and trustee, as facility agent, as security trustee, and as mortgagee (2022 Term Equipment Notes) (incorporated by reference

4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on October 17, 2022)

Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of October 14, 2022, among_Wheels Up Class A-1 Loan Trust 2022-1 and Wilmington Trust, National

Form of Equipment Notes (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on
October 17, 2022),

Guarantee,_dated as of October 14, 2022 from each person listed in Schedule I thereto and each other person that becomes an additional

Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on October 17, 2022)

Security Agreement (Intellectual Property),_dated as of October 14, 2022, among Wheels Up Partners LLC, certain affiliates of Wheels Up
Partners LLC listed on the signature pages thereto, and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as loan trustee (incorporated by reference to

10.12 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2023)

Description of Our Securities
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Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 13, 2021, by and among Wheels Up Experience Inc., Aspirational

Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on July 19, 2021)

Amendment No. 1 to the Seventh Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLC, dated

2022)

Amendment No. 2 to Seventh Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLC, dated as of

Amendment No. 3 to Seventh Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLC, dated as of
March 10, 2025

collateral agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 21,
2023),

conformed version of the Credit Agreement through and including Amendment No. 2 thereto provided in Exhibit A thereto)_(incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 14, 2024)

Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2023)

Aircraft Mortgage and Security Agreement (Junior Lien), dated as of September 20, 2023, by Wheels Up Partners LLC, as owner in favor of
U.S. Bank Trust Company, N.A., in its capacity as Collateral Agent as mortgagee for the Secured Parties (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2023),

Up Partners LLC, as owner in favor of U.S. Bank Trust Company, N.A., in its capacity as Collateral Agent as mortgagee for the Secured Parties
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Investment and Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of September 20, 2023, by and among Wheels Up Experience Inc. and the entities listed on

and the entities listed on the signature pages thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form §-K,
filed with the SEC on November 16, 2023),

on November 16, 2023)

Amendment No. 2 to Investment and Investor Rights Agreement, dated September 22, 2024, by and among Wheels Up Experience Inc. and the
Investors listed on the signature pages thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
with the SEC on September 23, 2024),

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 20, 2023, by and among Wheels Up Experience Inc. and the equity holders set forth on
Schedule 1 thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on
September 21, 2023)

filed with the SEC on November 16, 2023),

Wheels Up Partners Holdings LI.C Option Plan, and the form of Option Agreement thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to

2021).

Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLLC Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Aspirational Consumer Lifestyle

Corp.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-254304), filed with the SEC on March 15, 2021)

Wheels Up Partners Holdings LL.C Equity Incentive Plan VI (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Aspirational Consumer Lifestyle
Corp.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-254304), filed with the SEC on March 15, 2021)
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agreements thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 7,
2024),

George Mattson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on December 1,
2023)

Partners LLC and George Mattson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on December 1, 2023),

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 7, 2024)

Charter Sales Adjusted EBITDA Incentive Plan Award, dated June 6, 2024, by and between Mark Briffa and Wheels Up Partners LLC

Offer Letter, dated April 28, 2023, by and between David Godsman and Wheels Up Partners LLC (and attachments) (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q), filed with the SEC on August 14, 2023)

Offer Letter, dated May 5, 2024, by and between David Harvey and Wheels Up Partners LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the

Offer Letter, dated February 1, 2024, by and between David Holtz and Wheels Up Partners LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on February 5, 2024)
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Offer Letter, dated March 18, 2024, by and between Brian Kedzior and Wheels Up Partners LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to

Amendment No.1 to Employment Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2021, by and between Laura Heltebran and Wheels Up Partners LLC
originally dated December 28, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Registrant’s Annual report on Form 10-K, filed with the
SEC on March 10, 2022),

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 21, 2024)

Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on July 19, 2021)

Partners LLC and Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-
K, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2023)

Amended and Restated Commercial Cooperation Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2024, by and among Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLC,

Medical Response,_Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on
October 22, 2024),

Plan Guidelines)

List of Subsidiaries
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23.1%* Consent of Grant Thornton LLP

24.1* Power of Attorney (included on signature pages)

31.1% Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2% Certification of the Interim Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1%* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

RPN Certification of the Interim Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

97.1 Wheels Up Experience Inc. Executive Compensation Recoupment Policy,_adopted December 12, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit

101.INS XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the
Inline XBRL document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File - The cover page interactive data file does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are

embedded within the Inline XBRL document

* Filed herewith.

** Furnished herewith.

+ Identifies each management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

+ Certain portions of this Exhibit (indicated by “[***]”) have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K. The Registrant agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted
information to the SEC or its staff upon request..

~ Certain schedules, exhibits, annexes and/or appendices have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) and/or Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Registrant agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of
any omitted schedule or Exhibit to the SEC upon request.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.

March 11, 2025 /s/ George Mattson
Name: George Mattson
Title: Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
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SIGNATURES (continued)

Each person whose individual signature appears below hereby authorizes and appoints George Mattson, Matthew Knopf and Alexander Chatkewitz, and each
of them, with full power of substitution and resubstitution and full power to act without the other, as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent to act in
his or her name, place and stead and to execute in the name and on behalf of each person, individually and in each capacity stated below, and to file any and all
amendments to this annual report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing,
ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them or their or his or her substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done
by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/ George Mattson Chief Executive Officer and Director March 11, 2025
George Mattson (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Eric Cabezas Interim Chief Financial Officer March 11, 2025
Eric Cabezas (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Alexander Chatkewitz Chief Accounting Officer March 11, 2025
Alexander Chatkewitz (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Adam Zirkin Chairperson of the Board of Directors March 11, 2025
Adam Zirkin

/s/ Timothy Armstrong Director March 11, 2025
Timothy Armstrong

/s/ Alain Bellemare Director March 11, 2025

Alain Bellemare

/s/ Adam Cantor Director March 11, 2025
Adam Cantor

/s/ Andrew Davis Director March 11, 2025

Andrew Davis

/s/ Dwight James Director March 11, 2025
Dwight James

/s/ Daniel Janki Director March 11, 2025
Daniel Janki

/s/ Thomas Klein Director March 11, 2025
Thomas Klein

/s/ Zachary Lazar Director March 11, 2025
Zachary Lazar

/s/ Lee Moak Director March 11, 2025
Lee Moak

/s/ Gregory Summe Director March 11, 2025

Gregory Summe
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Exhibit 4.22

WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.
DESCRIPTION OF OUR SECURITIES
As of March 11, 2025

The following summary of the material terms of certain provisions of the securities of Wheels Up Experience Inc. (“Wheels Up,” “WUP,” “we,” “our” or the
“Company”) is not intended to be a complete summary of the rights and preferences of such securities, and is qualified by reference to our Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation, dated as of November 15, 2023 (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), our Amended and Restated By-Laws, effective as of
November 15, 2023 (the “By-Laws” and together with the Certificate of Incorporation, the “Organizational Documents”), the Subscription Agreements (as defined
herein), the Warrant Agreement (as defined herein), the Investor Rights Agreement (as defined herein), the 2023 Registration Rights Agreement (as defined herein)
and the 2021 Registration Rights Agreement (as defined herein), which are exhibits to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2024 (the “Annual Report”), which is incorporated herein by reference. Stockholders are urged to read the Organizational Documents and each of
the other documents summarized in this Description of our Securities, each as in effect as of the date the Annual Report is filed with the U.S. Securities & Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) in their entirety for a complete description of the rights and preferences of our securities.

Capital Stock

We urge you to read the: (i) Organizational Documents; (ii) Investment and Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of September 20, 2023, by and among Wheels
Up and the entities listed on Schedule A thereto from time to time (collectively, the “Investors”) (as amended by Amendment No. 1 thereto, dated as of
November 15, 2023, and Amendment No. 2 thereto, dated as of September 22, 2024, and as supplemented by the several Joinders thereto, the “Investor Rights
Agreement”); (iii) Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 20, 2023, by and among Wheels Up Experience Inc. and the equity holders set forth on
Schedule 1 thereto from time to time (as supplemented by the several Joinders thereto, the “2023 Registration Rights Agreement”); (iv) Amended and Restated
Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 13, 2021, by and among Wheels Up, Aspirational Consumer Lifestyle Sponsor LLC, a Cayman Islands limited
liability company (the “Sponsor”), certain former equityholders of Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLC (“WUP Holdings”) and the other parties thereto (the “2021
Registration Rights Agreement”); (v) Seventh Amended and Restated Liability Company Agreement of WUP Holdings, dated July 13, 2021 (as amended ny
Amendment No.1 thereto, dated as of April 1, 2022 and Amendment No. 2 thereto, dated as of June 7, 2023, the “WUP Holdings Company Agreement”) ;(vi)
Warrant Agreement, dated as of September 25, 2020 (the “Warrant Agreement”), between Aspirational Consumer Lifestyle Corp., the Company’s predecessor
(“Aspirational”) and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent (in such capacity, the “Warrant Agent”); and (vii) the warrant-related
documents described herein.

Authorized Capital Stock

The total amount of our authorized capital stock consists of 1,500,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value per share (“Common Stock™),
and 25,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share. The following summary describes the material provisions of our capital stock.

Generally, holders of Common Stock are not entitled to preemptive or other similar subscription rights to purchase any of our securities under the
Organizational Documents. Shares of Common Stock are neither convertible nor redeemable. In addition, there are no redemption rights with respect to shares of
Common Stock. The Organizational Documents generally do not impose any restrictions on alienability of shares of Common Stock. All shares of our capital stock
have been issued in uncertificated form.

Pursuant to the WUP Holdings Company Agreement, if we issue shares of Common Stock or other equity securities, generally, WUP Holdings is required to
issue to us an equal number of common units of WUP Holdings (if we issue shares of Common Stock) or an equal number of equity securities of WUP Holdings
corresponding to the equity securities we issued (if we issue securities other than Common Stock), and we are required to



concurrently contribute to WUP Holdings the net proceeds or other property received by us, if any, for such shares of Common Stock or other equity securities.
Stockholder Voting Rights and Quorum

Except as described below with respect to the Investor Rights Agreement, each holder of shares of Common Stock is entitled to one vote per share on each
matter submitted to a vote of stockholders, as provided in the Certificate of Incorporation. The By-Laws provide that the holders of a majority of the capital stock
issued and outstanding and entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy (which, for the avoidance of doubt and to the fullest extent permitted
by law, excludes any Excess Shares (as defined herein) or shares which the Company and any stockholder have agreed in writing are not be entitled to vote or
considered outstanding for the purposes of any vote of the Company’s stockholders at a meeting), will constitute a quorum at all meetings of the stockholders for
the transaction of business. However, when specified business is to be voted on by a class or series of stock voting as a class, the holders of shares representing a
majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares of such class or series shall constitute a quorum of such class or series for the transaction of such business.
When a quorum is present, the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast will be required to take action, unless otherwise specified by law, the By-Laws, the
Certificate of Incorporation or applicable stock exchange rules, and except for the election of directors, which is determined by a plurality vote of the votes cast.

Stockholder Consent Rights

Pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement, the Company may not issue, redeem or repurchase any equity securities of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
(other than, in each case, issuances, awards, redemptions or repurchases of equity securities approved by the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) under
any management incentive plan) without the prior written consent of each of Delta, so long as Delta is entitled to designate at least one director pursuant to Section
6.01 of the Investor Rights Agreement, and CK Wheels LLC (“CK Wheels”), so long as CK Wheels is entitled to designate at least one director pursuant to Section
6.01 of the Investor Rights Agreement.

Contractual Right of First Offer

Under the Investor Rights Agreement, for as long as certain term loan commitments of the Company remain outstanding, the Investors are entitled to notice of
any proposed offering by the Company of any equity securities in a private placement in connection with equity financing for cash proposed by Delta or CK Wheels
and may purchase the equity securities proposed to be issued at the price and terms specified in the notice.

Dividend Rights

Each holder of our capital stock is entitled to the payment of dividends and other distributions as may be declared by the Board from time to time out of our
assets or funds legally available for dividends or other distributions. These rights will be subject to the preferential rights of the holders of our preferred stock, if
any, and any contractual limitations on our ability to declare and pay dividends, including pursuant to the WUP Holdings Company Agreement.

Pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement, the Company may not change, modify or alter the dividend policy of the Company and its subsidiaries without the
prior written consent of each of Delta, so long as Delta is entitled to designate at least one director pursuant to Section 6.01 of the Investor Rights Agreement, and
of CK Wheels, so long as CK Wheels is entitled to designate at least one director pursuant to Section 6.01 of the Investor Rights Agreement.



Liquidation Rights

If we are involved in a voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs, or a similar event, each holder of shares of Common Stock
will participate pro rata in all assets remaining after payment of liabilities, subject to prior distribution rights of our preferred stock, if any, then outstanding.

Anti-Takeover Effects of the Certificate of Incorporation, the By-Laws and Certain Provisions of Delaware Law

The Organizational Documents and the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”) contain, provisions, as summarized in the following paragraphs, which
are intended to enhance the likelihood of continuity and stability in the composition of the Board and to discourage certain types of transactions that may involve an
actual or threatened acquisition of the Company. In addition, under the Investor Rights Agreement, each of Delta and CK Wheels, so long as each has the right to
designate at least one director to the Board, must consent to: (i) the acquisition, by merger, consolidation, acquisition of stock or assets or otherwise, directly or
indirectly, of any assets, securities, properties or businesses, in each case, with a value in excess of $10.0 million per occurrence or in the aggregate, other than to
the extent permitted under the Credit Facility (as defined in the Investor Rights Agreement); or (ii) the sale, assignment, lease, sublease, license, sublicense or
otherwise transfer or disposal of, any assets of the Company or its subsidiaries with a value in excess of $10.0 million per occurrence or in the aggregate, other than
to the extent permitted under the Credit Facility (as defined in the Investor Rights Agreement). These provisions are intended to avoid costly takeover battles,
reduce the Company’s vulnerability to a hostile change of control or other unsolicited acquisition proposal, and enhance the ability of the Board to maximize
stockholder value in connection with any unsolicited offer to acquire the Company. However, these provisions may have the effect of delaying, deterring or
preventing a merger or acquisition of the Company by means of a tender offer, a proxy contest or other takeover attempt that a stockholder might consider in its best
interest, including attempts that might result in a premium over the prevailing market price for the shares of Common Stock.

Special Meetings of Stockholders

The Certificate of Incorporation provides that a special meeting of stockholders may be called by the (i) Chairperson of the Board, (ii) the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer or (iii) the Board pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the Board, provided that such special meeting may be postponed or cancelled
by the Board.

Requirements for Advance Notification of Stockholder Meetings, Nominations and Proposals

The By-Laws establish advance notice procedures with respect to stockholder proposals and the nomination of candidates for election as directors, other than
nominations made by or at the direction of the Board or a committee of the Board. For any matter to be “properly brought” before a meeting, a stockholder has to
comply with advance notice requirements and provide Wheels Up with certain information. Generally, to be timely, a stockholder’s notice must be received at our
principal executive offices not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary date of the immediately preceding annual meeting of
stockholders. The By-Laws also specify requirements as to the form and content of a stockholder’s notice. Except as otherwise set forth in the Investor Rights
Agreement with respect to certain stockholders and subject to the applicable terms and conditions described therein, any nomination of candidates for election as a
director by a stockholder must comply with the requirements of Rule 14a-19 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”). The By-
Laws allow the presiding officer at a meeting of the stockholders to adopt rules and regulations for the conduct of meetings which may have the effect of precluding
the conduct of certain business at a meeting if the rules and regulations are not followed. These provisions may also defer, delay or discourage a potential acquirer
from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to influence or obtain control of Wheels Up.



Stockholder Action by Written Consent

The Certificate of Incorporation provides that any action required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders may be taken by written consent in lieu of a
meeting if such action permitted to be taken by such holders and the written consent is signed by the holders of outstanding shares of the relevant class or series
having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting.

Authorized but Unissued Capital Stock

Delaware law does not require stockholder approval for any issuance of authorized shares. However, the listing requirements of the New York Stock Exchange
(the “NYSE”), which would apply if and so long as the Common Stock remains listed on the NYSE, require, subject to limited exceptions, that Wheels Up’s
stockholders approve (i) certain issuances equal to or exceeding 20% of the then outstanding voting power or number of outstanding shares of Common Stock,
(i1) the issuance of Common Stock in any transaction or series of related transactions, to a director, officer or substantial security holder of the company (each a
“Related Party”) if the number of shares of Common Stock to be issued, or if the number of shares of Common Stock into which the securities may be convertible
or exercisable, exceeds either 1% of the then outstanding voting power or number of outstanding shares of Common Stock, (iii) the issuance of Common Stock in
any transaction or series of related transaction in which a Related Party has a 5% or greater interest, directly or indirectly, in the Company or assets to be acquired
or in the consideration to be paid and the issuance of Common Stock, or securities convertible into Common Stock, could result in an issuance that exceeds either
five percent of the number of shares of Common Stock or 5% of the voting power outstanding before the issuance, or (iv) any issuance that will result in a change
of control of Wheels Up. Additional shares that may be issued in the future may be used for a variety of corporate purposes, including to raise additional capital or
to facilitate acquisitions.

One of the effects of the existence of unissued and unreserved Common Stock may be to enable the Board to issue shares to persons friendly to current
management, which issuance could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of Wheels Up by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest
or otherwise and thereby protect the continuity of management and possibly deprive stockholders of opportunities to sell their shares of Common Stock at prices
higher than prevailing market prices.

No Cumulative Voting

Under Delaware law, the right to vote cumulatively does not exist unless the certificate of incorporation expressly authorizes cumulative voting. The Certificate
of Incorporation does not authorize cumulative voting.

Limited Voting by Foreign and Certain Other Stockholders

To comply with restrictions imposed by federal law on ownership of United States (“U.S.”) airlines by persons who may be deemed not to be a “citizen of the
United States” pursuant to 49 USC § 40102(a)(15)(C) (such persons, “Non-U.S. Citizens” and such limitation, the “Citizenship Limitation”), the Certificate of
Incorporation and By-Laws restrict voting of shares of our capital stock by Non-U.S. Citizens. The restrictions imposed by federal law currently require that no
more than 25% or our voting stock be voted, directly or indirectly, by persons who are Non-U.S. Citizens, and that our chief executive officer, president, at least
two-thirds of our officers and at least two-thirds of the Board be a “citizen of the United States” pursuant to 49 USC § 40102(a)(15)(C). The Certificate of
Incorporation provides that no shares of our capital stock may be voted by or at the direction of Non-U.S. Citizens unless such shares are registered on the Foreign
Stock Record (as defined in the By-Laws). If the number of shares on the Foreign Stock Record exceeds 25% (such shares in excess of 25%, the “Excess Shares”),
each stockholder with capital stock registered on the Foreign Stock Record will have their voting rights suspended on a pro rata basis such that the voting rights
afforded to the capital stock registered on the Foreign Stock Record is equal to 25% of the total voting power of our capital stock. The voting rights will be
reinstated once the voting rights of the capital stock registered on the Foreign Stock Record does not exceed 25% of the total voting power of our capital stock, not
taking into consideration the pro rata reduction.



Pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement, certain of our stockholders have agreed to limit the number of shares of Common Stock they are entitled to vote at
any meeting of the Company’s stockholders or for the purpose of consummating any consent solicitation (collectively, the “Voting Limitations”), as follows:

CK Wheels cannot vote more than 24.9%, less the Whitebox Non-U.S. Voting Percentage (as defined below) (if any), of the Company’s issued and
outstanding shares as a result of the Citizenship Limitation, and pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation and Investor Rights Agreement;

each of Pandora Select Partners, L.P., Whitebox Multi-Strategy Partners, L.P. and Whitebox Relative Value Partners, L.P. cannot vote more than
0.043%, 0.595% and 0.362% (collectively, the “Whitebox Non-U.S. Voting Percentage”), respectively, of the Company’s issued and outstanding
shares as a result of the Citizenship Limitation, and pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation and Investor Rights Agreement (together with the
voting limitation in the immediately preceding bullet, the “Non-U.S. Investor Voting Limitations™); and

any shares in excess of 29.9% of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares owned by Delta will be neutral shares with respect to voting rights,

voted in proportion to all other votes cast (“for”, “against” or “abstain”) at any meeting of the Company’s stockholders other than by Delta.

The Excess Shares owned: (i) in excess of 24.9%, less the Whitebox Non-U.S. Voting Percentage (if any), by CK Wheels; and (ii) in excess of the applicable
Whitebox Non-U.S. Voting Percentage by the applicable Whitebox Non-U.S. Entity, in each case will not be counted as issued and outstanding for purposes of
counting votes at any meeting of the Company’s stockholders or with respect to any consent solicitation.

Election of Directors and Appointment of Directors to Fill Vacancies

The Certificate of Incorporation provides that the Board will determine the number of directors who will serve on the Board. Under the Certificate of
Incorporation, the Board will be divided into three classes designated as Class I, Class II and Class III. Class I, Class II and Class III directors initially served for
terms that expired at the first, second and third annual meeting of stockholders, respectively, following July 13, 2021. At each succeeding annual meeting of
stockholders, directors will be elected for a full term of three years to succeed the directors of the class whose terms expire at such annual meeting of the
stockholders. There is no limit on the number of terms a director may serve on the Board.

In addition, the Certificate of Incorporation provides that any vacancy on the Board, including a vacancy that results from an increase in the number of
directors or a vacancy that results from the removal of a director with cause, may be filled only by a majority of the directors then in office. Each director will serve
until his or her successor is duly elected and qualified or until his or her earlier death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal. No decrease in the
number of directors constituting the Board will shorten the term of any incumbent director.

Pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement, each of the Company and the Investors are required to use its best efforts to cause the Board to be comprised of 12
directors as follows immediately following the Closing (as defined in the Investor Rights Agreement):

four (4) designees of Delta, with two (2) of such directors designated to serve as Class III directors and the others designated to serve as Class |
directors;

four (4) designees of CK Wheels, with two (2) of such directors designated to serve as Class III directors and the others designated to serve as Class [
directors;

one (1) designee of Cox Investment Holdings LLC (“CIH”), designated to serve as a Class 11 director;



the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, designated to serve as a Class Il director;

Tim Armstrong, designated to serve as a Class 11 director; and

David Adelman, designated to serve as a Class II director.

Upon Mr. Adelman’s resignation from the Board in August 2024, Gregory Summe was appointed to the Board to fill the vacancy created upon Mr. Adelman’s
resignation.

The rights of Delta, CK Wheels and CIH to designate directors may diminish or be forfeited in the event such entity or its affiliates or permitted transferees
ceases to hold a given percentage (i.e., 30%, 50% or 75%) of the number of shares issued to such Investor pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement.

Removal of Directors

Subject to the issuance of any of Wheels Up preferred stock, the Board or any individual director may be removed from office at any time, but only for cause
and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of Wheels Up’s voting stock entitled to
vote at an election of directors, voting together as a single class.

Pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement and subject to the Organizational Documents, each of Delta, CK Wheels and CIH have the exclusive right to remove
its nominees from the Board and designate directors for election or appointment, as applicable, to the Board in accordance with such Investor’s rights to fill
vacancies created by reason of death, removal or resignation of its nominees to the Board.

Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute

Section 203 of the DGCL provides that if a person acquires 15% or more of the voting stock of a Delaware corporation, such person becomes an “interested
stockholder” and may not engage in certain “business combinations” with such corporation for a period of three years from the time such person acquired 15% or
more of such corporation’s voting stock, unless: (i) the board of directors of such corporation approves the acquisition of stock or the merger transaction before the
time that the person becomes an interested stockholder, (ii) the interested stockholder owns at least 85% of the outstanding voting stock of such corporation at the
time the merger transaction commences (excluding voting stock owned by directors who are also officers and certain employee stock plans), or (iii) the business
combination is approved by the board of directors and at a meeting of stockholders, not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the outstanding
voting stock which is not owned by the interested stockholder.

While Section 203 is the default provision under the DGCL, the DGCL allows companies to opt out of Section 203 of the DGCL by including a provision in
their certificate of incorporation expressly electing not to be governed by Section 203 of the DGCL. Wheels Up has not opted out of Section 203. Under certain
circumstances, this provision will make it more difficult for a person who would be an “interested stockholder” to effect various business combinations with us for a
three-year period. This provision may encourage companies interested in acquiring Wheels Up to negotiate in advance with the Board because the stockholder
approval requirement would be avoided if the Board approves either the business combination or the transaction which results in the stockholder becoming an
interested stockholder. These provisions also may have the effect of preventing changes in the Board and may make it more difficult to accomplish transactions
which stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests.



Quorum for Meetings of the Board of Directors
The By-Laws provide that at any meeting of the Board, a majority of the total number of directors then in office constitutes a quorum for all purposes.
Limitations on Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors

The DGCL authorizes corporations to limit or eliminate the personal liability of directors to corporations and their stockholders for monetary damages for
breaches of directors’ and officers’ fiduciary duties, subject to certain exceptions. The Certificate of Incorporation includes a provision that eliminates the personal
liability of directors for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except to the extent such exemption from liability or limitation thereof is
not permitted under the DGCL. The effect of these provisions is to eliminate the rights of Wheels Up and its stockholders, through stockholders’ derivative suits on
our behalf] to recover monetary damages from a director for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, including (under current law) breaches resulting from grossly
negligent behavior. Under current law, exculpation would not apply to any director or officer if the director or officer has acted in bad faith, knowingly or
intentionally violated the law or derived an improper benefit from his or her actions as a director or officer, or to any director who authorized illegal dividends or
redemptions. The Certificate of Incorporation does not currently eliminate such personal liability for officers.

The By-Laws provide that Wheels Up must indemnify and advance expenses to its directors and officers to the fullest extent authorized by the DGCL. Wheels
Up is also expressly authorized to carry directors’ and officers’ liability insurance providing indemnification for its directors, officers and certain employees for
some liabilities. Wheels Up believes that these indemnification and advancement provisions and insurance are useful to attract and retain qualified directors and
executive officers.

The limitation of liability, advancement and indemnification provisions in the Organizational Documents may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit
against directors for breach of their fiduciary duty.

These provisions also may have the effect of reducing the likelihood of derivative litigation against directors and officers, even though such an action, if
successful, might otherwise benefit Wheels Up and its stockholders. In addition, your investment may be adversely affected to the extent Wheels Up pays the costs
of settlement and damage awards against directors and officers pursuant to these indemnification provisions.

There is currently no pending material litigation or proceeding involving Wheels Up’s directors, officers or employees for which indemnification is sought.
Exclusive Jurisdiction of Certain Actions

The Certificate of Incorporation requires, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that derivative actions brought in Wheels Up’s name, actions against directors,
officers and employees for breach of fiduciary duty or any provision of the DGCL, the Certificate of Incorporation, the By-Laws and other similar actions may be
brought only in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware and, if brought outside of the State of Delaware, the stockholder bringing the suit will be deemed to
have consented to (i) the personal jurisdiction of the state and federal courts in the State of Delaware in connection with any action brought in any such court to
enforce the exclusive jurisdiction provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation and (ii) the service of process on such stockholder’s counsel. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Certificate of Incorporation provides that the exclusive forum provision will not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) or the Exchange Act. Instead, the Certificate of Incorporation provides that federal district courts will be
the sole and exclusive forum for claims under the Securities Act. In addition, Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits
brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. Although Wheels Up believes this provision benefits
Wheels Up by providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law in the types of lawsuits to which it applies, the provision may have the effect of
discouraging lawsuits against Wheels Up’s directors and officers.



Registration Rights

The 2023 Registration Rights Agreement, 2021 Registration Rights Agreement, each of the subscription agreements to which certain investments were made in
a private placement prior to or on July 13, 2021 (collectively, the “Subscription Agreements”), and Warrant Agreement, provide that Wheels Up is required to
register for resale, pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act, certain shares of Common Stock and, in the case of the 2021 Registration Rights Agreement,
certain other equity securities, of Wheels Up that are held by the parties thereto from time to time, subject to the restrictions on transfer therein.

The Investor Rights Agreement provides that the Investors will have registration rights pursuant to the 2023 Registration Rights Agreement. Pursuant to the
2023 Registration Rights Agreement, Wheels Up is required to file with the SEC a shelf registration statement covering the resale of the shares of Common Stock
issued pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement and to use its commercially reasonable efforts to have such registration statement on Form S-1 or Form S-3 (if
eligible) declared effective as soon as practicable after the filing thereof. On September 22, 2024, the date by which Wheels Up is required to file such shelf
registration statement was extended by the requisite holders of Registrable Securities (as defined in the 2023 Registration Rights Agreement) to
September 20, 2025. From and after the initial effectiveness of a shelf registration statement filed in accordance with the terms of the 2023 Registration Rights
Agreement, Wheels Up must maintain a shelf registration statement and take such actions as are necessary to keep such shelf registration statement covering the
shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement continuously effective and available for use to permit the holders named therein to sell
such securities until such time as there are no longer any Registrable Securities (as defined in the 2023 Registration Rights Agreement). The 2023 Registration
Rights Agreement also contains certain customary demand and piggyback registration rights in favor of the parties thereto, including the right to include all or a
portion of the Investor Shares (as defined in the 2023 Registration Rights Agreement) in any subsequent underwritten offering pursued by Wheels Up.

The subscription agreements to which certain investments were made in a private placement prior to or on July 13, 2021 provide that, solely with respect to
subscriptions by third-party investors whom are not party to the 2021 Registration Rights Agreement, Wheels Up is required to file with the SEC, a shelf
registration statement covering the resale of the shares of Common Stock issued to any such third-party investor and to use its commercially reasonable efforts to
have such registration statement on Form S-1 or Form S-3 (if eligible) declared effective as soon as practicable after the filing thereof.

We also agreed pursuant to the Warrant Agreement to file and maintain the effectiveness of a registration statement covering the shares of Common Stock
issuable upon exercise of the warrants described therein.

Transfer Agent

The transfer agent for shares of Common Stock is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, whose address is One State Street, 30th Floor, New York, NY
10004.

Redeemable Warrants

Public Warrants

Each whole warrant entitles the registered holder to purchase one-tenth of one share of Common Stock at a price of $115.00 per whole share, subject to
adjustment as discussed below, at any time commencing August 12, 2021, except as described below. Pursuant to the Warrant Agreement, a warrant holder may
exercise its warrants only for a whole number of shares of our Common Stock. The warrants will expire on July 13, 2026, at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, or
earlier upon redemption or liquidation. You should review a copy of the Warrant Agreement, which is filed as an exhibit to the Annual Report, for a complete
description of the terms and conditions applicable to the warrants.



We will not be obligated to deliver any shares of our Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of a warrant and have no obligation to settle such warrant exercise

unless a registration statement under the Securities Act, covering the issuance of the our Common Stock shares issuable upon exercise of the warrants is then
effective and a current prospectus relating thereto is available, subject to us satisfying our obligations described below with respect to registration, or a valid
exemption from registration is available, including in connection with a cashless exercise permitted as a result of a notice of redemption described below under “-
Redemption of warrants when the price per whole share of our Common Stock equals or exceeds $100.00”. No warrant will be exercisable for cash or on a cashless
basis, and we will not be obligated to issue any shares to holders seeking to exercise their warrants, unless the issuance of the shares upon exercise is registered or
qualified under the securities laws of the state of the exercising holder, or an exemption is available. In the event that the conditions in the two immediately
preceding sentences are not satisfied with respect to a warrant, the holder of such warrant will not be entitled to exercise such warrant and such warrant may have
no value and expire worthless. In the event that a registration statement is not effective for the exercised warrants, the purchaser of a unit (prior to the separation of
the warrants from such units) containing such warrant will have paid the full purchase price for the unit solely for the share of our Common Stock underlying such
unit.

We agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to file with the SEC a registration statement covering the issuance, under the Securities Act, of the shares of
Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants. Under the Warrant Agreement, we are required to use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain the
effectiveness of such registration statement, and a current prospectus relating thereto, until the expiration of the warrants in accordance with the provisions of the
Warrant Agreement. Notwithstanding the above, if the shares of Common Stock are, at the time of any exercise of a warrant, not listed on a national securities
exchange such that they satisfy the definition of a “covered security” under Section 18(b)(1) of the Securities Act, we may, at our option, require holders of public
warrants who exercise their warrants to do so on a “cashless basis” in accordance with Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act and, in the event we so elect, we will not
be required to file or maintain in effect a registration statement, but will use commercially reasonable efforts to register or qualify the shares under applicable state
blue sky laws to the extent an exemption is not available. In such event, each holder would pay the exercise price by surrendering the warrants for that number of
shares of Common Stock equal to the lesser of (i) the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of the number of shares of Common Stock underlying the
warrants, multiplied by the excess of the “fair market value” (as defined below) less the exercise price of the warrants by (y) the fair market value and (ii) 0.0361
shares of Common Stock per warrant. The “fair market value” as used in the preceding sentence shall mean the volume weighted average price of the shares of
Common Stock for the 10 trading days ending on the trading day prior to the date on which the notice of exercise is received by the Warrant Agent. The date the
Warrant Agent receives notice of a “cashless exercise” will be determined by the Warrant Agent.

Redemption of warrants when the price per whole share of Common Stock equals or exceeds $180.00. Once the warrants become exercisable, Wheels Up may
redeem the outstanding warrants (except as described herein with respect to the private placement warrants):

in whole and not in part;

at a price of $0.01 per warrant;

upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption to each warrant holder; and

if, and only if, the last reported sale price of the shares of Common Stock for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending on the third
trading day prior to the date on which we send the notice of redemption to the warrant holders (which is referred to as the “Reference Value”) equals
or exceeds $180.00 per whole share (as adjusted for adjustments to the number of shares issuable upon exercise or the exercise price of a warrant
described under the heading “- Anti-dilution Adjustments”).



We will not redeem the warrants as described above unless a registration statement under the Securities Act covering the issuance of the shares of Common
Stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants is then effective and a current prospectus relating to those shares of Common Stock is available throughout the 30-day
redemption period.

If and when the warrants become redeemable by Wheels Up, Wheels Up may exercise its redemption right even if it is unable to register or qualify the
underlying securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws.

Wheels Up has established the last of the redemption criterion discussed above to prevent a redemption call unless there is at the time of the call a significant
premium to the warrant exercise price. If the foregoing conditions are satisfied and Wheels Up issues a notice of redemption of the warrants, each warrant holder
will be entitled to exercise his, her or its warrant prior to the scheduled redemption date. However, the price of the shares of Common Stock may fall below the
$180.00 redemption trigger price (as adjusted for adjustments to the number of shares issuable upon exercise or the exercise price of a warrant as described under
the heading “- Anti-dilution Adjustments”), as well as the $115.00 (for whole shares) warrant exercise price, after the redemption notice is issued.

Redemption of warrants when the price per whole share of Common Stock equals or exceeds $100.00. Once the warrants become exercisable, we may redeem
the outstanding warrants:

in whole and not in part;

at a price of $0.10 per warrant upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption provided that holders will be able to exercise their
warrants on a cashless basis prior to redemption and receive that number of shares determined by reference to the table below, based on the
redemption date and the “fair market value” of shares of Common Stock (as defined below) except as otherwise described below;

if, and only if, the Reference Value equals or exceeds $100.00 per whole share (as adjusted for adjustments to the number of shares issuable upon
exercise or the exercise price of a warrant as described under the heading “- Anti-dilution Adjustments”); and

if the Reference Value is less than $180.00 per whole share (as adjusted for adjustments to the number of shares issuable upon exercise or the exercise
price of a warrant as described under the heading “- Anti-dilution Adjustments”), the private placement warrants must also be concurrently called for
redemption on the same terms as the outstanding public warrants, as described above.

During the period beginning on the date the notice of redemption is given, holders may elect to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis. The numbers in the
table below represent the number of shares of Common Stock that a warrant holder will receive upon such cashless exercise in connection with a redemption by
Wheels Up pursuant to this redemption feature, based on the “fair market value” of the shares of Common Stock on the corresponding redemption date (assuming
holders elect to exercise their warrants and such warrants are not redeemed for a price of $0.10 per warrant), determined for these purposes based on volume
weighted average price of the shares of Common Stock during the 10 trading days immediately following the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the
holders of warrants, and the number of months that the corresponding redemption date precedes the expiration date of the warrants, each as set forth in the table
below. Wheels Up will provide warrant holders with the final fair market value no later than one business day after the 10-trading day period described above ends.

The share prices set forth in the column headings of the table below will be adjusted as of any date on which the number of shares issuable upon exercise of a
warrant or the exercise of a warrant or the exercise price of a warrant is adjusted as set forth under the heading ““- Anti-dilution Adjustments” below. If the number of
shares issuable upon exercise of a warrant is adjusted, the adjusted share prices in the column headings will equal the share prices immediately prior to such
adjustment, multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of shares deliverable upon exercise of a warrant immediately prior to such adjustment
and the denominator of which is the
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number of shares deliverable upon exercise of a warrant as so adjusted. The number of shares in the table below shall be adjusted in the same manner and at the
same time as the number of shares issuable upon exercise of a warrant. If the exercise price of a warrant is adjusted, (i) in the case of an adjustment pursuant to the
fifth paragraph under the heading “- Anti-dilution Adjustments” below, the adjusted share prices in the column headings will equal the unadjusted share price
multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the higher of the Market Value and the Newly Issued Price (each as defined in the Warrant Agreement) as set
forth under the heading “- Anti-dilution Adjustments” and the denominator of which is $100.00 and (ii) in the case of an adjustment pursuant to the second
paragraph under the heading “- Anti-dilution Adjustments” below, the adjusted share prices in the column headings will equal the unadjusted share price less the
decrease in the exercise price of a warrant pursuant to such exercise price adjustment.

Redemption Date Fair Market Value of Shares of Common Stock

(Period to expiration of warrants) <100.00 110.00 120.00 130.00 140.00 150.00 160.00 170.00 >180.00
60 months 0.0261 0.0281 0.0297 0.0311 0.0324 0.0337 0.0348 0.0358 0.0361
57 months 0.0257 0.0277 0.0294 0.0310 0.0324 0.0337 0.0348 0.0358 0.0361
54 months 0.0252 0.0272 0.0291 0.0307 0.0322 0.0335 0.0347 0.0357 0.0361
51 months 0.0246 0.0268 0.0287 0.0304 0.0320 0.0333 0.0346 0.0357 0.0361
48 months 0.0241 0.0263 0.0283 0.0301 0.0317 0.0332 0.0344 0.0356 0.0361
45 months 0.0235 0.0258 0.0279 0.0298 0.0315 0.0330 0.0343 0.0356 0.0361
42 months 0.0228 0.0252 0.0274 0.0294 0.0312 0.0328 0.0342 0.0355 0.0361
39 months 0.0221 0.0246 0.0269 0.0290 0.0309 0.0325 0.0340 0.0354 0.0361
36 months 0.0213 0.0239 0.0263 0.0285 0.0305 0.0323 0.0339 0.0353 0.0361
33 months 0.0205 0.0232 0.0257 0.0280 0.0301 0.0320 0.0337 0.0352 0.0361
30 months 0.0196 0.0224 0.0250 0.0274 0.0297 0.0316 0.0335 0.0351 0.0361
27 months 0.0185 0.0214 0.0242 0.0268 0.0291 0.0313 0.0332 0.0350 0.0361
24 months 0.0173 0.0204 0.0233 0.0260 0.0285 0.0308 0.0329 0.0348 0.0361
21 months 0.0161 0.0193 0.0223 0.0252 0.0279 0.0304 0.0326 0.0347 0.0361
18 months 0.0146 0.0179 0.0211 0.0242 0.0271 0.0298 0.0322 0.0345 0.0361
15 months 0.0130 0.0164 0.0197 0.0230 0.0262 0.0291 0.0317 0.0342 0.0361
12 months 0.0111 0.0146 0.0181 0.0216 0.0250 0.0282 0.0312 0.0339 0.0361
9 months 0.0090 0.0125 0.0162 0.0199 0.0237 0.0272 0.0305 0.0336 0.0361
6 months 0.0065 0.0099 0.0137 0.0178 0.0219 0.0259 0.0296 0.0331 0.0361
3 months 0.0034 0.0065 0.0104 0.0150 0.0197 0.0243 0.0286 0.0326 0.0361
0 months - - 0.0042 0.0115 0.0179 0.0233 0.0281 0.0323 0.0361

The exact fair market value and redemption date may not be set forth in the table above, in which case, if the fair market value is between two values in the
table or the redemption date is between two redemption dates in the table, the number of shares of Common Stock to be issued for each warrant exercised will be
determined by a straight-line interpolation between the number of shares set forth for the higher and lower fair market values and the earlier and later redemption
dates, as applicable, based on a 365- or 366-day year, as applicable. For example, if the volume weighted average price of the shares of Common Stock during the
10 trading days immediately following the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of the warrants is $110.00 per whole share, and at such time
there are 57 months until the expiration of the warrants, holders may choose to, in connection with this redemption feature, exercise their warrants for 0.0277 shares
of Common Stock for each whole warrant. For an example where the exact fair market value and redemption date are not as set forth in the table above, if the
volume weighted average price of the shares of Common Stock during the 10 trading days immediately following the date on which the notice of redemption is sent
to the holders of the warrants is $135.00 per whole share, and at such time there are 38 months until the expiration of the warrants, holders may choose to, in
connection with this redemption feature, exercise their warrants for 0.0298 shares of Common Stock for each whole warrant. In no event will the
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warrants be exercisable in connection with this redemption feature for more than 0.0361 shares of Common Stock for each whole warrant (subject to adjustment).
Finally, as reflected in the table above, if the warrants are out of the money and about to expire, they cannot be exercised on a cashless basis in connection with a
redemption by Wheels Up pursuant to this redemption feature, since they will not be exercisable for any shares of Common Stock.

This redemption feature differs from the typical warrant redemption features used in warrants initially issued in connection with many other blank check
offerings, which typically only provide for a redemption of warrants for cash (other than the private placement warrants) when the trading price for the shares of
Common Stock exceeds $180.00 per whole share for a specified period of time. This redemption feature is structured to allow for all of the outstanding warrants to
be redeemed when the shares of Common Stock are trading at or above $100.00 per whole share, which may be at a time when the trading price of the shares of
Common Stock is below the exercise price of the warrants. Wheels Up has established this redemption feature to provide it with the flexibility to redeem the
warrants without the warrants having to reach the $180.00 per whole share threshold set forth above under “- Redemption of warrants when the price per whole
share of Common Stock equals or exceeds 3180.00.” Holders choosing to exercise their warrants in connection with a redemption pursuant to this feature will, in
effect, receive a number of shares for their warrants based on an option pricing model with a fixed volatility input as of the date of the initial public offering (the
“IPO”) of the securities of Aspirational. This redemption right provides us with an additional mechanism by which to redeem all of the outstanding warrants, and
therefore have certainty as to our capital structure as the warrants would no longer be outstanding and would have been exercised or redeemed. Wheels Up will be
required to pay the applicable redemption price to warrant holders if it chooses to exercise this redemption right and it will allow Wheels Up to quickly proceed
with a redemption of the warrants if it determines it is in Wheels Up’s and its other stockholders’ best interest to do so. As such, Wheels Up would redeem the
warrants in this manner when it believes it is in Wheels Up’s and its other stockholders’ best interest to update its capital structure to remove the warrants and pay
the redemption price to the warrant holders.

As stated above, Wheels Up can redeem the warrants when the shares of Common Stock are trading at a price starting at $100.00 per whole share, which is
below the exercise price of $115.00 per whole share, because it will provide certainty with respect to Wheels Up’s capital structure and cash position while
providing warrant holders with the opportunity to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis for the applicable number of shares. If Wheels Up chooses to redeem
the warrants when the shares of Common Stock are trading at a price below the exercise price per whole share of the warrants, this could result in the warrant
holders receiving fewer shares of Common Stock than they would have received if they had chosen to wait to exercise their warrants for shares of Common Stock if
and when such shares of Common Stock were trading at a price higher than the exercise price of $115.00 per whole share.

No fractional shares of Common Stock will be issued upon exercise. If, upon exercise, a holder would be entitled to receive a fractional interest in a share,
Wheels Up will round down to the nearest whole number of the number of shares of Common Stock to be issued to the holder. If, at the time of redemption, the
warrants are exercisable for a security other than the shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Warrant Agreement, the warrants may be exercised for such security.
At such time as the warrants become exercisable for a security other than the shares of Common Stock, Wheels Up will use its commercially reasonable efforts to
register under the Securities Act the security issuable upon the exercise of the warrants.

Redemption procedures. A holder of a warrant may notify Wheels Up in writing in the event it elects to be subject to a requirement that such holder will not
have the right to exercise such warrant, to the extent that after giving effect to such exercise, such person (together with such person’s affiliates), to the Warrant
Agent’s actual knowledge, would beneficially own in excess of 9.8% (or such other amount as a holder may specify) of the shares of Common Stock issued and
outstanding immediately after giving effect to such exercise.

Anti-dilution Adjustments. If the number of issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock is increased by a capitalization or share dividend payable in shares
of Common Stock, or by a split-up of shares of Common Stock or other similar event, then, on the effective date of such capitalization or share dividend, split-up or
similar event, the number of shares of Common Stock issuable on exercise of each warrant will be increased in proportion to such increase in the issued and
outstanding shares of Common Stock. A rights offering made to all or substantially all of
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the holders of shares of Common Stock entitling holders to purchase shares of Common Stock at a price less than the “historical fair market value” (as defined
below) will be deemed a share dividend of a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the product of (i) the number of shares of Common Stock actually sold in
such rights offering (or issuable under any other equity securities sold in such rights offering that are convertible into or exercisable for shares of Common Stock)
and (ii) one minus the quotient of (x) the price per share of Common Stock paid in such rights offering and (y) the historical fair market value. For these purposes,
(1) if the rights offering is for securities convertible into or exercisable for shares of Common Stock, in determining the price payable for shares of Common Stock,
there will be taken into account any consideration received for such rights, as well as any additional amount payable upon exercise or conversion and (ii) “historical
fair market value” means the volume weighted average price of shares of Common Stock during the 10 trading day period ending on the trading day prior to the
first date on which the shares of Common Stock trade on the applicable exchange or in the applicable market, regular way, without the right to receive such rights.

In addition, if Wheels Up, at any time while the warrants are outstanding and unexpired, pays to all or substantially all of the holders of shares of Common
Stock a dividend or makes a distribution in cash, securities or other assets to the holders of shares of Common Stock on account of such shares of Common Stock
(or other securities into which the warrants are convertible), other than (i) as described above or (ii) any cash dividends or cash distributions which, when combined
on a per share basis with all other cash dividends and cash distributions paid on the shares of Common Stock during the 365-day period ending on the date of
declaration of such dividend or distribution does not exceed $5.00 (as adjusted for share sub-divisions, share dividends, rights issuances, consolidations,
reorganizations, recapitalizations and other similar transactions) but only with respect to the amount of the aggregate cash dividends or cash distributions equal to or
less than $5.00 per share, then the warrant exercise price will be decreased, effective immediately after the effective date of such event, by the amount of cash
and/or the fair market value of any securities or other assets paid on each share of Common Stock in respect of such event.

If the number of issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock is decreased by a consolidation, combination, reverse share sub-division or reclassification of
shares of Common Stock or other similar event, then, on the effective date of such consolidation, combination, reverse share sub-division, reclassification or similar
event, the number of shares of Common Stock issuable on exercise of each warrant will be decreased in proportion to such decrease in issued and outstanding
shares of Common Stock.

Whenever the number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon the exercise of the warrants is adjusted, as described above, the warrant exercise price will
be adjusted by multiplying the warrant exercise price immediately prior to such adjustment by a fraction (i) the numerator of which will be the number of shares of
Common Stock purchasable upon the exercise of the warrants immediately prior to such adjustment and (ii) the denominator of which will be the number of shares
of Common Stock so purchasable immediately thereafter.

In case of any reclassification or reorganization of the issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock (other than those described above or that solely affects
the par value of such shares of Common Stock), or in the case of any merger or consolidation of Wheels Up with or into another corporation (other than a merger or
consolidation in which Wheels Up is the continuing corporation and that does not result in any reclassification or reorganization of the issued and outstanding
shares of Common Stock), or in the case of any sale or conveyance to another corporation or entity of the assets or other property of Wheels Up as an entirety or
substantially as an entirety in connection with which Wheels Up is dissolved, the holders of the warrants will thereafter have the right to purchase and receive, upon
the basis and upon the terms and conditions specified in the warrants and in lieu of shares of Common Stock immediately theretofore purchasable and receivable
upon the exercise of the rights represented thereby, the kind and amount of shares, stock or other equity securities or property (including cash) receivable upon such
reclassification, reorganization, merger or consolidation, or upon a dissolution following any such sale or transfer, that the holder of the warrants would have
received if such holder had exercised their warrants immediately prior to such event. However, if such holders were entitled to exercise a right of election as to the
kind or amount of securities, cash or other assets receivable upon such merger or consolidation, then the kind and amount of securities, cash or other assets for
which each warrant will become exercisable will be deemed to be the weighted average of the kind and amount received per share by such holders in such merger
or consolidation that affirmatively make such election, and if a tender, exchange or redemption offer has been made to and accepted by such holders under
circumstances in
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which, upon completion of such tender or exchange offer, the maker thereof, together with members of any group (within the meaning of Rule 13d-5(b)(1) under
the Exchange Act of which such maker is a part, and together with any affiliate or associate of such maker (within the meaning of Rule 12b-2 under the
Exchange Act) and any members of any such group of which any such affiliate or associate is a part, own beneficially (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the
Exchange Act) more than 50% of the issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock, the holder of a warrant will be entitled to receive the highest amount of cash,
securities or other property to which such holder would actually have been entitled as a stockholder if such warrant holder had exercised the warrant prior to the
expiration of such tender or exchange offer, accepted such offer and all of the shares of Common Stock held by such holder had been purchased pursuant to such
tender or exchange offer, subject to adjustment (from and after the consummation of such tender or exchange offer) as nearly equivalent as possible to the
adjustments provided for in the Warrant Agreement. Additionally, if less than 70% of the consideration receivable by the holders of shares of Common Stock in
such a transaction is payable in the form of ordinary shares in the successor entity that is listed for trading on a national securities exchange or is quoted in an
established over-the-counter market, or is to be so listed for trading or quoted immediately following such event, and if the registered holder of the warrant properly
exercises the warrant within 30 days following public disclosure of such transaction, the warrant exercise price will be reduced as specified in the Warrant
Agreement based on the per share consideration minus the Black-Scholes Warrant Value (as defined in the Warrant Agreement) of the warrant.

The warrants have been issued in registered form under a Warrant Agreement between the Warrant Agent, and the Company. The Warrant Agreement provides
that (i) the terms of the warrants may be amended without the consent of any holder for the purpose of (A) curing any ambiguity or correct any mistake, including
to conform the provisions of the Warrant Agreement to the description of the terms of the warrants and the Warrant Agreement set forth in the prospectus delivered
to investors in connection with the IPO, or defective provision or (B) adding or changing any provisions with respect to matters or questions arising under the
Warrant Agreement as the parties to the Warrant Agreement may deem necessary or desirable and that the parties deem to not adversely affect the rights of the
registered holders of the warrants and (ii) all other modifications or amendments require the vote or written consent of at least 65% of the then outstanding public
warrants; provided, that any amendment that solely affects the terms of the private placement warrants or any provision of the Warrant Agreement solely with
respect to the private placement warrants will also require at least 65% of the then outstanding private placement warrants.

The warrant holders do not have the rights or privileges of holders of shares of Common Stock and any voting rights until they exercise their warrants and
receive shares of Common Stock. After the issuance of shares of Common Stock upon exercise of the warrants, each holder will be entitled to one vote for each
share held of record on all matters to be voted on by stockholders.

Subject to applicable law, any action, proceeding or claim against Wheels Up arising out of or relating in any way to the Warrant Agreement will be brought
and enforced in the courts of the State of New York or the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York, and Wheels Up has irrevocably submitted to
such jurisdiction, which jurisdiction will be the exclusive forum for any such action, proceeding or claim. This provision applies to claims under the Securities Act
but does not apply to claims under the Exchange Act or any claim for which the federal district courts of the United States are the sole and exclusive forum.

Private Placement Warrants

The private placement warrants (including the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the private placement warrants) will not be redeemable by
Wheels Up (except as described above under “- Public Warrants - Redemption of warrants when the price per whole share of Common Stock equals or exceeds
$100.00”) so long as they are held by the Sponsor or its permitted transferees. The Sponsor, or its permitted transferees, have the option to exercise the private
placement warrants on a cashless basis and have certain registration rights described herein. Otherwise, the private placement warrants have terms and provisions
that are identical to those of the public warrants. If the private placement warrants are held by holders other than the Sponsor or its permitted transferees, the private
placement warrants will be redeemable by Wheels Up in all redemption scenarios and exercisable by the holders on the same basis as the public warrants.
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Except as described above under “- Public Warrants - Redemption of warrants when the price per whole share of Common Stock equals or exceeds $100.00,” if
holders of the private placement warrants elect to exercise them on a cashless basis, they would pay the exercise price by surrendering his, her or its warrants for
that number of shares of Common Stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (i) the product of the number of shares of Common Stock underlying the
warrants, multiplied by the excess of the “sponsor fair market value” (as defined below) less the exercise price of the warrants by (ii) the sponsor fair market value.
For these purposes, the “sponsor fair market value” shall mean the average last reported sale price of the shares of Common Stock for the 10 trading days ending on
the third trading day prior to the date on which the notice of warrant exercise is sent to the Warrant Agent. The reason that Wheels Up has agreed that these warrants
will be exercisable on a cashless basis so long as they are held by the Sponsor and its permitted transferees is because it was not known at the time of the issuance
of the private placement warrants whether they will be affiliated with Wheels Up following the closing of the business combination between WUP Holdings and
Aspirational on July 13, 2021. If some or all of them remained affiliated with Wheels Up, the ability of such affiliates to sell Wheels Up’s securities in the open
market would be significantly limited. Wheels Up has a policy in place that restrict insiders from selling its securities except during specific periods of time. Even
during such periods of time when insiders will be permitted to sell Wheels Up securities, an insider cannot trade in Wheels Up’s securities if he or she is in
possession of material non-public information. Accordingly, unlike public stockholders who could exercise their warrants and sell the shares of Common Stock
received upon such exercise freely in the open market in order to recoup the cost of such exercise, the insiders could be significantly restricted from selling such
securities. As a result, Wheels Up believes that allowing the holders to exercise such warrants on a cashless basis is appropriate.

Warrant Agent

The Warrant Agent for the warrants is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, whose address is One State Street, 30th Floor, New York, NY 10004.
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Exhibit 10.5

Execution Version

AMENDMENT NO. 3
TO
SEVENTH AMENDED AND RESTATED
LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT

This AMENDMENT NO. 3 (this “Amendment”) to the Seventh Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement, dated as of
July 13,2021 (as amended by Amendment No. 1 thereto, dated as of April 1, 2022, and as further amended by Amendment No. 2 thereto, dated as of
June 7, 2023, collectively, the “LLC Agreement”), of Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Company”), is
entered into as of March 10, 2025, by and among the Company and Wheels Up Experience Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Managing Member”).
Except as otherwise provided herein, capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings set forth in the LLC Agreement.

WHEREAS, the Company has determined that a tax-related provision of the LLC Agreement should be clarified to reflect the original
intention of the parties to the LLC Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Company and Managing Member desire to enter into this Amendment to amend the LLC Agreement pursuant to
Section 12.1(a) thereof to reflect such intention.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto
agree as follows:

1. Amendment to LLC Agreement. The first sentence of Section 5.2(a) of the LLC Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced as
follows:

“Nonrecourse Deductions for any Taxable Year or other taxable period shall be specially allocated to the Members on a pro rata basis in
accordance with the number of Common Units owned by each Member.”

2. LLC Agreement. Except as provided herein, the LLC Agreement remains in full force and effect and is ratified in all respects. On and after
the effectiveness of this Amendment, each reference in the LLC Agreement to “this Agreement,” “hereunder,” “hereof,” “herein” or words of like
import, and each reference to the LLC Agreement in any other agreements, documents or instruments executed and delivered pursuant to the
LLC Agreement shall mean and be a reference to the LLC Agreement, as amended by this Amendment.

3. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which
together shall constitute one and the same instrument. No Party shall raise the use of email or other electronic transmission to deliver a signature or
the fact that any signature or agreement or instrument was transmitted or communicated through the use of email or other electronic transmission as
a defense to the formation or enforceability of a contract and each Party forever waives any such defense.

4. Governing Law. This Amendment and all claims or causes of action based upon, arising out of, or related to this Amendment or the matters
contemplated hereby, shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the Laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to principles

or rules of conflict of Laws to the extent such principles or rules would require or permit the application of Laws of another jurisdiction.

(Signature Page Follows; Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank)



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have entered into this Amendment No. 3 as of the date first above written.
COMPANY:

WHEELS UP PARTNERS HOLDINGS LLC
By: /s/ Matthew J. Knopf

Name: Matthew J. Knopf
Title: Chief Legal Officer

MANAGING MEMBER:
WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.

By: /s/ Matthew J. Knopf
Name: Matthew J. Knopf
Title: Chief Legal Officer and Secretary

Signature Page to
Amendment No. 3 to
Seventh Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of
Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLC



EXHIBIT 10.12

CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN REDACTED FROM THIS EXHIBIT, BECAUSE IT IS (1) NOT MATERIAL AND
(2) THE TYPE THAT THE REGISTRANT TREATS AS PRIVATE OR CONFIDENTIAL. “[***]” INDICATES THAT INFORMATION
HAS BEEN REDACTED.

AIRCRAFT MORTGAGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
SUPPLEMENT NO. 5§ AND AMENDMENT NO. 1

AIRCRAFT MORTGAGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT SUPPLEMENT NO. 5 AND AMENDMENT NO. 1
dated November 13, 2024 (this “Mortgage Supplement and Amendment”) made by WHEELS UP PARTNERS LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company (the “Owner”), in favor of U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, N.A., not in its individual capacity, but solely in
its capacity as Collateral Agent, as Mortgagee (in such capacity, the “Mortgagee”) for the Secured Parties.

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Aircraft Mortgage and Security Agreement, dated as of September 20, 2023 (as amended or
supplemented to date, herein called the “Mortgage”; capitalized terms used herein but not defined shall have the meaning ascribed to
them in the Mortgage or by reference in the Mortgage), which Mortgage was recorded by the FAA on October 18, 2023 and assigned
Conveyance No. DP032968, among the Owner and the Mortgagee, provides for the execution and delivery of supplements thereto
substantially in the form hereof, which shall particularly describe certain collateral, and shall specifically mortgage the same to the
Mortgagee; and

WHEREAS, parties wish to amend the definition of “EETC Intercreditor Agreement” in the Mortgage;

WHEREAS, the Mortgage was entered into between the Owner and the Mortgagee in order to secure the Obligations of
the Borrower and the other Loan Parties under, infer alia, (a) that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of September 20, 2023 (as such
agreement may be amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified, renewed or replaced from time to
time, including by that certain Amendment No. 1 thereto, dated as of November 15, 2023, and as further amended by Amendment No. 2
thereto, dated as of the date hereof, herein called the “Credit Agreement”), among Wheels Up Experience Inc., as Borrower, the Owner
and other subsidiaries of the Borrower party thereto, as Guarantors, the Lenders party thereto, and U.S. Bank Trust Company, N.A., not
in its individual capacity, but solely as Administrative Agent and as Collateral Agent, and (b) the other Loan Documents; and

WHEREAS, the Mortgage relates to the Airframes, Engines and propellers described in Exhibit A thereto, and a
counterpart of the Mortgage is attached hereto and made a part hereof and this Mortgage Supplement and Amendment, together with
such counterpart of the Mortgage and any previous Mortgage Supplements, is being filed for recordation on the date hereof with the
FAA, as one document.



NOW, THEREFORE, this Mortgage Supplement and Amendment witnesseth, that to secure the prompt and complete
payment and performance when due of the Obligations of the Borrower and each other Loan Party under the Credit Agreement and each
of the other Loan Documents, and without limitation, to secure the performance and observance by the Owner of all the agreements,
covenants and provisions contained in the Mortgage and in the Loan Documents to which it is a party, in each case for the benefit of the
Mortgagee on behalf of the Secured Parties and each of the other Indemnitees, and for the uses and purposes and subject to the terms
and provisions of the Mortgage, and in consideration of the premises and of the covenants contained in the Mortgage, and of other good
and valuable consideration the receipt and adequacy whereof are hereby acknowledged, the Owner has granted, bargained, sold,
assigned, transferred, conveyed, mortgaged, pledged and confirmed, and does hereby grant, bargain, sell, assign, transfer, convey,
mortgage, pledge and confirm, unto the Mortgagee, its successors and assigns, for the security and benefit of the Secured Parties and
such other Persons, an International Interest and a continuing security interest in and mortgage lien on all estate, right (including without
limitation any and all Associated Rights), title and interest of Owner in, to and under the following described property, rights, interests
and privileges whether now owned or hereafter acquired and subject to the Lien hereof:

(1) each Aircraft set forth on Exhibit A hereto (including, without limitation, each Airframe and its related Engines as
indicated in Exhibit A hereto) (each such Engine having 1750 or more pounds of thrust or the equivalent thereof), as the same is
now and will hereafter be constituted, whether now owned by the Owner or hereafter acquired, and in the case of such Engines,
whether or not any such Engine shall be installed in or attached to an Airframe or any other airframe, together with (a) all Parts
of whatever nature, which are from time to time included within the definitions of “Airframe” or “Engine”, whether now owned
or hereafter acquired, including all substitutions, renewals and replacements of and additions, improvements, accessions and
accumulations to such Airframe and Engines (other than additions, improvements, accessions and accumulations which
constitute appliances, parts, instruments, appurtenances, accessories, furnishings or other equipment excluded from the definition
of Parts) and (b) all Aircraft Documents;

(2) the Purchase Agreements and Bills of Sale with respect to such Aircraft indicated on Exhibit A hereto to the extent
the same relate to continuing rights of the Owner in respect of any warranty, indemnity or agreement, express or implied, as to
title, materials, workmanship, design or patent infringement or related matters with respect to such Airframes or Engines,
together with all rights, powers, privileges, options and other benefits of the Owner thereunder with respect to such Airframes or
Engines, including, without limitation, the right to make all waivers and agreements, to give and receive all notices and other
instruments or communications, to take such action upon the occurrence of a default thereunder, including the commencement,
conduct and consummation of legal, administrative or other proceedings, as shall be permitted thereby or by law, and to do any
and all other things which the Owner is or may be entitled to do thereunder, in each case to the extent such rights exist and may
be assigned without the consent of the applicable manufacturer;



(3) any lease with respect to such Engines indicated on Exhibit A hereto, including, but not limited to, (x) all rents or
other amounts or payments of any kind paid or payable by the Permitted Lessee under such lease and all maintenance reserves
and security deposits with respect to such lease, if any, whether cash, or in the nature of a guarantee, letter of credit, credit
insurance, lien on or security interest in property or otherwise for the obligations of the lessee thereunder as well as all rights of
the Owner to enforce payment of any such rents, amounts or payments, (y) all rights of the Owner to exercise any election or
option to make any decision or determination or to give or receive any notice, consent, waiver or approval or to take any other
action under or in respect of such lease, as well as the rights, powers and remedies on the part of the Owner, whether acting
under such lease or by statute or at law or in equity, or otherwise, arising out of any default under such lease, and (z) any right to
restitution from the lessee in respect of any determination of invalidity of such lease;

(4) any Engine Maintenance Agreement with respect to such Engines indicated on Exhibit A hereto, together with all
rights, powers, privileges, licenses, easements, options and other benefits of the Owner thereunder, including, without limitation,
the right to receive and collect all payments to the Owner thereunder now or hereafter payable to or receivable by the Owner
pursuant thereto and the right of the Owner to execute any election or option or to give any notice, consent, waiver or approval,
to receive notices and other instruments or communications, or to take any other action under or in respect of any thereof or to
take such action upon the occurrence of a default thereunder, including the commencement, conduct and consummation of legal,
administrative or other proceedings, in all cases as shall be permitted thereby or by law, and to do any and all other things which
the Owner is or may be entitled to do thereunder and any right to restitution from the relevant maintenance provider or any other
Person in respect of any determination of invalidity of any thereof;

(5) all proceeds with respect to the requisition of title to or use of any Aircraft indicated on Exhibit A hereto by any
Government Entity or from the sale or other disposition of any such Aircraft or Airframe, any such Engine or other property
described in any of these Granting Clauses by the Mortgagee pursuant to the terms of this Mortgage, and all insurance proceeds
with respect to each Engine or any part thereof, but excluding any insurance maintained by the Owner and not required under
Section 2.06 of the Mortgage;

(6) with respect to such Aircraft indicated on Exhibit A hereto, all rents, revenues and other proceeds collected by the
Mortgagee pursuant to Section 4.02(a) of the Mortgage, and all moneys and securities from time to time paid or deposited or
required to be paid or deposited to or with the Mortgagee by or for the account of Owner pursuant to any term of any Loan
Document and held or required to be held by the Mortgagee hereunder or thereunder; and

(7) all proceeds of the foregoing.



TO HAVE AND TO HOLD all and singular the aforesaid property unto the Mortgagee, its successors and assigns, for
the uses and purposes and subject to the terms and provisions set forth in the Mortgage.

The definition of “EETC Intercreditor Agreement” shall be amended by deleting such definition in its entirety and
replacing it as follows:

““EETC Intercreditor Agreement” shall mean the “EETC Intercreditor” as such term is defined under the Credit
Agreement.”

The undersigned Owner hereby makes all of the representations and warranties of the Owner in the Mortgage as of the
date hereof.

This Mortgage Supplement and Amendment shall be construed as a supplemental Mortgage and shall form a part thereof,
and the Mortgage is hereby incorporated by reference herein and is hereby ratified, approved and confirmed.

[remainder of page intentionally left blank]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Owner and the Mortgagee have caused this Mortgage Supplement and Amendment to be
duly executed by one of their officers, thereunto duly authorized, on the day and year first above written.

WHEELS UP PARTNERS LLC,
as Owner

By: /s/ Matthew J. Knopf
Name: Matthew J. Knopf
Title: Chief Legal Officer

U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, N.A., not in its individual capacity but solely as
Collateral Agent, as mortgagee

By: /s/James Hanley
Name: James Hanley
Title: Senior Vice President




EXHIBIT A
TO
AIRCRAFT MORTGAGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
SUPPLEMENT NO. 5 AND AMENDMENT NO. 1

DESCRIPTION OF AIRCRAFT, AIRFRAMES, ENGINES AND PROPELLERS

[***]



EXHIBIT 10.40

CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN REDACTED FROM THIS EXHIBIT, BECAUSE IT IS (1) NOT MATERIAL AND
(2) THE TYPE THAT THE REGISTRANT TREATS AS PRIVATE OR CONFIDENTIAL. “[**¥]” INDICATES THAT INFORMATION
HAS BEEN REDACTED.

WHEELS UP

March 7, 2024

Alex Chatkewitz

[***]

[***]

Via email: [**¥]

Dear Alex,

We are pleased to offer you a position at Wheels Up Partners LLC (the “Company’’). We are excited to have you join the Company and anticipate
that you will be a great addition to our team.

Your first day with the Company will be March 25, 2024, or on such other date that we mutually agree upon after your acceptance of this offer (your
“Start Date”).

The following will outline the general terms of our employment offer:

1.

Position and Duties. Your title will be Chief Accounting Officer and you will perform the duties and services assigned to you by the
Company. You will report to Todd Smith, Chief Financial Officer. Your employment will be subject to all Company policies, procedures and
practices as may currently exist or as may be modified or implemented in the future, including our Employee Handbook. This offer is made
contingent upon the successful completion of the pre-employment process, including, but not limited to, satisfactory completion of a
background check.

Place of Employment. The primary location for your employment will be the New York City, New York office. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the duties to be performed by you hereunder are such that you may need to travel as reasonably required in accordance with the
Company’s policy on travel and expenses.

Annual Salary. Your annual base salary will be $350,000 (the “Base Salary”), less payroll deductions and all required withholdings, payable
in accordance with the Company’s payroll policies, as may be amended from time to time. As an exempt employee, you are not eligible for
overtime under the provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act.

Discretionary Bonus. Beginning in 2024, you will be eligible to participate in the Company’s annual bonus plan. The target amount for your
position is equal to fifty percent (50%) of your salary. You will be subject to the terms of the Company’s annual bonus plan; however, your
2024 annual bonus target shall not be prorated for hire date. The final bonus payout is based on Company and individual performance targets
and can be increased or decreased based on the actual results, your individual performance toward key performance indicators, and any other
factors determined in the sole discretion of the Company.




10.

11.

WHEELS UP

Special Equity Award. The Company will recommend to the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (“Compensation
Committee”) that you be granted a one-time equity award of 150,000 restricted stock units (the “Special Equity Award”), which shall vest as
follows; 25% on the one-year anniversary of the grant date, thereafter, the remaining shares shall vest and become exercisable in twelve
equal quarterly installments of 6.25%. The Special Equity Award shall be subject to the terms of the Company’s long-term incentive plans,
and as may be amended from time to time at the discretion of the Company. The Special Equity Award grant is expected to be made at the
next regularly scheduled Compensation Committee meeting.

Annual Equity Award. Commencing 2025, you will be eligible for an Annual Equity Award. Equity awards targets are assigned by level,
currently the Senior Vice President equity award target percentage of salary is 100%. The equity award is subject to the application of a
management applied individual performance factor. All equity awards are subject to approval and discretion of the Compensation Committee
of the Board of Directors.

Paid Time Off. You will be eligible for paid time off, depending on years of service, during each calendar year of your employment with the
Company in accordance with the Company’s paid time off policy, as may be amended from time to time.

Benefits. You will be entitled to the benefits that the Company customarily makes available to employees in positions comparable to yours.
Please refer to the plan documents for more details, including eligibility. The Company reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to amend,
change or cancel the benefits at any time. Benefit plan eligibility begins on the first day of the month following the hire date.

Employment Relationship. In accepting this offer, you understand and agree that your employment with the Company will be “at-will.” This
means that your employment is not for any specific length of time and that either you or the Company may terminate the employment
relationship at any time, with or without cause and with or without notice. You further understand and acknowledge that there is no written
or oral contract providing you with any definite or specific term of employment. You further understand and agree that due to your at-will
status, the Company may, at any time, modify the terms of your employment, including, but not limited to, your job title, job responsibilities,
compensation and benefits.

Severance Plan. Although your employment is at-will, if the Company terminates your employment without cause (as such term is defined
herein) or you resign your employment for good reason (as such term is commonly understood), upon separation you will be entitled to
receive severance as set forth in the Company’s Executive Severance Plan.

Conditions of Employment. Simultaneous with the execution of this letter agreement, you shall sign the Employee Confidentiality
Agreement and Restrictive Covenants (“Restrictive Covenant Agreement”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix A. You
acknowledge that your employment with the Company is conditioned upon the execution and delivery of the Restrictive Covenant
Agreement and the terms thereof shall be fully incorporated herein.
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13.

14.

15.

16.

WHEELS UP

No Other Understandings. This letter agreement sets forth our entire agreement and understanding and supersedes any and all other
agreements, either oral or in writing, between you and the Company and/or its affiliates and any of their respective officers, directors,
managers and/or principals.

Other Conditions and Obligations. By signing this agreement, you represent that you are not subject to any currently effective employment
contract, or any other contractual or other binding obligation, including without limitation, any obligation relating to non-competition,
confidentiality, trade secrets, proprietary information or works for hire, that would restrict your employment or employment activities with
or on behalf of the Company. In your work for the Company, you will be expected not to use or disclose any confidential information,
including trade secrets, of any former employer or other person to whom you have an obligation of confidentiality. You agree that you will
not bring onto Company premises any unpublished documents or property belonging to any former employer or other person to whom you
have any obligation of confidentiality.

Board Positions. It is the Company’s policy that senior executives limit outside Board activity to one Board of Directors position. You may
not serve on the Board of Directors or Advisory Board of more than one for-profit company without the prior written consent of the
Company. You may serve as an officer, manager or director of or otherwise participate in charitable, educational, welfare, social, religious
and civic organizations so long as such activities do not interfere with your employment with the Company.

Business Time. The employee shall devote full working time, energy, attention, and talents to the performance of the duties and
responsibilities hereunder. You may not, without the prior written consent of the Chief Executive Officer directly or indirectly, operate,
participate in the management, operations or control of, or act as an employee, officer, consultant, partner, member agent or representative
of, any type of business or service other than as an employee of the Company.

Truthful Representations. You acknowledge and confirm that all of the representations you have made and all of the information that you
have provided to the Company on any employment application, resume or any other document, or orally during the interview process,
concerning, among other things, your prior employment history, education, experience and other qualifications, are true and correct. You
understand and agree that any falsifications, misrepresentations, or omissions with respect to any of the representations and information that
you have made or provided to the Company may be grounds for the withdrawal of this offer of employment or, if hired, the termination of
your employment.

You further understand and acknowledge that your employment with the Company is contingent upon your satisfactory completion of background
and drug checks, as applicable, that are conducted by the Company and your completion of Section 1 of the Form I-9 on or before the end of your
first (1*) day of employment and your presentation of your original documentation verifying your work eligibility and identification on or before the
end of your third (3'Y) day of employment.

[Signature Page Follows]
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Please indicate your acceptance of our offer on the terms set forth above by countersigning in the appropriate space below. The offer contained
herein shall automatically expire two business days from the date hereof.

We are excited at the prospect of you joining our team and look forward to having you on board.
Sincerely,
/s/ Ken Henion

Ken Henion
VP, Total Rewards & People Operations

Agreed and Accepted:

/s/ Alex Chatkewitz
Alex Chatkewitz

3/8/2024
Date



Exhibit 19.1

WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED INSIDER TRADING POLICY

This Amended and Restated Insider Trading Policy (this “Policy”) describes the standards of Wheels Up Experience Inc. and its subsidiaries
(the “Company”) on trading the Company’s securities or securities of certain other publicly traded companies while in possession of confidential
information. One of the principal purposes of the federal securities laws is to prohibit “insider trading” which occurs when a person uses material
nonpublic information (“MNPI”’) obtained through her or his involvement with the Company to make decisions to purchase, sell, give away or
otherwise trade the Company’s securities or to provide MNPI to others outside the Company. The prohibitions on insider trading apply to any
director, officer or employee who buys or sells Company stock on the basis of MNPI that she or he obtained about the Company, its customers,
suppliers or other companies with which the Company has contractual relationships or may be negotiating transactions.

This first part of the Policy prohibits all directors, officers, employees and contractors of the Company, as well as their immediate families
and members of their households, from trading in certain circumstances. The second part of the Policy imposes additional trading restrictions that
apply to all of the Company’s (i) directors, (ii) executive officers (together with the directors, “Company Insiders™),' (iii) employees listed on
Appendix B hereto (collectively with the Company Insiders, “Covered Persons”) and (iv) certain other employees that the Company may designate
from time to time as “Covered Persons” due to their title or position, responsibilities or their actual or potential access to material information.

All directors, officers and employees of the Company are required to sign the acknowledgment and certification to this Policy attached
hereto, which will also constitute acknowledgment of any Appendices attached hereto.

PART I: APPLICABLE TO ALL OFFICERS, DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES
1. Applicability

This Policy applies to all trading or other transactions in the Company’s securities, including common stock, options and any other securities
that the Company may issue, such as preferred stock, warrants, notes, bonds and convertible securities, as well as to derivative securities relating to
any of the Company’s securities, whether or not issued by the Company.

2. General Policy: No Trading or Causing Trading While in Possession of MNPI
(a) No director, officer or employee may purchase or sell, or offer to purchase or sell, any Company security, whether or not issued by
the Company, while in possession of MNPI about the Company. (The terms “material” and “nonpublic” are defined in Part I, Section 3 below.)

(b) No director, officer or employee who knows of any MNPI about the Company may communicate that information to (“tip”) any
other person, including family members and friends, or otherwise disclose such information without the Company’s authorization. The director,
officer or employee who communicates such information is referred to as the “tipper” and the other person, including family members and friends”
who receives such information is referred to as the “tippee.”

! Certain Company Insiders may also be required to make beneficial ownership filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) under Section 16 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).



(c) No director, officer or employee may purchase or sell any security of any other company, whether or not issued by the Company,
while in possession of MNPI about that other company that was obtained in the course of her or his involvement with the Company. No director,
officer or employee who knows of any such MNPI may communicate that information to, or tip, any other person, including family members and
friends, or otherwise disclose such information without the Company’s authorization.

(d) Covered Persons must “pre-clear” all trading in the Company’s securities in accordance with the procedures set forth in Part II,
Section 3 below.

3. Definitions

“Material”. Insider trading restrictions apply only if the information you possess is “material.” Materiality, however, involves a relatively
low threshold. Information is generally regarded as “material” if it has market significance, that is, if there is a substantial likelihood that a
reasonable investor would consider the information important in making a decision to buy, sell or hold a security or where the fact is likely to have a

significant effect on the market price of the security.

The following types of information are reasonably likely to be found “material” in particular situations:

Company Performance Extraordinary Events Legal / Regulatory Items

»  Earnings information and quarterly or annual .
results

+  Guidance/statements on earnings estimates
+  Significant changes in the Company’s prospects,

Developments regarding significant litigation
or government agency investigations

*  Regulatory approvals or changes in
regulations and any analysis of how they

M&A activity, including proposals or .
agreements, even if preliminary, involving
mergers, acquisitions, divestitures,
recapitalizations, strategic alliances, licensing

including member information, flight and other
operational information, and information related
to the Company’s demand or supply forecasts

Unusual gains or losses in major operations and | »

the announcement or cancellation of new
strategic initiatives

Liquidity problems and bankruptcies or
receiverships

Significant write-downs in assets or increases in
reserves

Changes in debt ratings

arrangements, purchases or sales of substantial
assets, tender offers, or JVs

New offerings, contracts with suppliers, or
developments regarding customers or suppliers
(such as the acquisition or loss of a significant
contract)

New investments or financings or developments
regarding investments or financings, including
larger than usual borrowings

Events regarding the Company's securities (such
as defaults, calls of securities for redemption,
repurchase plans, stock splits or changes in
dividends, changes in the rights of
securityholders, or information related to any
additional funding or securities sales)

affect the Company

Major changes in the Company’s management
or the board of directors

Changes in auditors or auditor notification
that the issuer may no longer rely on an audit
report

Major changes in accounting methods or
policies

Cybersecurity risks and incidents, including
vulnerabilities and breaches




Material information is not limited to historical facts but may also include projections and forecasts. When in doubt about whether particular
nonpublic information is material, you should presume it is material. If you are unsure if information is material, you should either consult the
Compliance Officer before making any decision to trade in or recommend securities to which that information relates or assume that the information
is material or to disclose such information. Please refer to the Company’s Regulation FD Disclosure Policy for additional requirements and best
practices for disclosure of Company information.

“Nonpublic.” Insider trading prohibitions apply only when you possess information that is material and “nonpublic.” The fact that
information is known within the Company or has been disclosed to a few members of the public does not make it public for insider trading purposes.
To be “public,” the information must have been disseminated in a manner designed to reach investors generally, and the investors must be given the
opportunity to absorb the information. Even after public disclosure of information about the Company, you must wait until the close of business on
the second trading day after the information was publicly disclosed before you can treat the information as public. If you are unsure if information is
considered public, you should either consult the Compliance Olfficer or assume the information is nonpublic and confidential.

“Compliance Officer.” The Company has appointed the Chief Legal Officer as the Compliance Officer for this Policy. The duties of the
Compliance Officer include, but are not limited to, the following:

i. assisting with implementation and enforcement of this Policy;

ii. circulating this Policy to all current and new directors, officers and employees and ensuring that this Policy is amended as necessary
to remain up to date with insider trading laws;

iii. pre-clearing all trading in the Company’s securities by Covered Persons and approving any prohibited transactions, in each case as
required under this Policy;

iv. pre-clearing any 10b5-1 Plans (as defined below) established by Covered Persons under the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan Guidelines in

Appendix A hereto;
V. maintaining the accuracy of and periodically updating the list of Covered Persons listed on Appendix B hereto;
Vi. providing a reporting system with an effective whistleblower protection mechanism; and
vii. assisting, as requested, in the preparation and filing of Section 16 reports for Section 16 reporting persons.

The duties may be delegated by the Compliance Officer to such other individuals as the Compliance Officer deems appropriate. If you have
any questions regarding any of the provisions of this Policy, please contact Laura Heltebran, the Compliance Officer, at
laura.heltebran@wheelsup.com or 646-476-0349.

“Non-Rule 10b5-1 Trading Arrangement” means a written arrangement effected by a Company Insider for purchasing or selling the
Company’s securities where:

i. the Company Insider asserts that at a time when they were not aware of MNPI about the security or the Company, they had adopted
a written arrangement for trading the securities; and



il. such trading arrangement:

a. specified the amount of securities to be purchased or sold and the price at which and the date on which the securities were to be
purchased or sold;

b. included a written formula or algorithm, or computer program, for determining the amount of securities to be purchased or sold
and the price at which and the date on which the securities were to be purchased or sold; or

c. did not permit the Company Insider to exercise any subsequent influence over how, when, or whether to effect purchases or
sales; provided, in addition, that any other person who, pursuant to the trading arrangement, did exercise such influence must not
have been aware of material nonpublic information when doing so.

“Trading Plan” means any 10b5-1 Plan or non-Rule 10b5-1 Trading Arrangement.
4. Exceptions. The trading restrictions of this Policy do not apply to the following:

(a) Gifts. Bona fide gifts of Company securities are exempt from this Policy. Because the circumstances under which a gift may be
considered bona fide vary based on context, you are encouraged to consult the Compliance Officer when contemplating a gift. Any Section 16
reporting person that desires to make a bona fide gift should notify the Compliance Officer as soon as possible prior to making a gift.

(b) Options. Exercising stock options granted under the Company’s equity incentive plans for cash or the delivery of previously owned
Company stock. However, the sale of any shares issued on the exercise of Company-granted stock options and any cashless exercise of Company-
granted stock options are subject to trading restrictions under this Policy.

() 401(k) Plan. If available, investing 401(k) plan contributions in a Company stock fund in accordance with the terms of the
Company’s 401(k) plan. However, any changes in your investment election regarding the Company’s stock are subject to trading restrictions under
this Policy.

5. Violations of Insider Trading Laws

Penalties for trading on or communicating MNPI can be severe, both for individuals involved in such unlawful conduct and their employers
and supervisors, and may include jail terms, criminal fines, civil penalties and civil enforcement injunctions. Given the severity of the potential
penalties, compliance with this Policy is mandatory.

(a) Legal Penalties. A person who violates insider trading laws by engaging in transactions in a company’s securities when she or he has
MNPI can be sentenced to a substantial jail term and required to pay a criminal penalty of several times the amount of profits gained or losses
avoided.

In addition, a person who tips others may also be liable for transactions by the tippees to whom she or he has disclosed MNPI. Tippers can
be subject to the same penalties and sanctions as the tippees, and the SEC has imposed large penalties even when the tipper did not profit from the
transaction.

The SEC can also seek substantial civil penalties from any person who, at the time of an insider trading violation, “directly or indirectly
controlled the person who committed such violation,” which would apply to the Company and/or management and supervisory personnel. These
control persons may be held



liable for up to significant monetary penalties, including three times the amount of the profits gained or losses avoided. Even for violations that result
in a small or no profit, the SEC can seek penalties from a company and/or its management and supervisory personnel as control persons.

(b) Company-Imposed Penalties. Employees who violate this Policy may be subject to disciplinary action by the Company, including
dismissal for cause. Any exceptions to the Policy, if permitted, may only be granted by the Compliance Officer and must be provided before any
activity contrary to the above requirements takes place.

PART 11: APPLICABLE TO COVERED PERSONS
1. Blackout Periods

All Covered Persons are prohibited from trading in the Company’s securities during blackout periods as defined below. During these periods,
Covered Persons generally possess or are presumed to possess MNPI about the Company’s financial results.

(a) Quarterly Blackout Periods. Trading in the Company’s securities is prohibited:
i.  beginning at the close of the market on the last trading day two (2) weeks before the end of each fiscal quarter; and

ii.  ending at the close of business on the second trading day following the later of the date the Company’s financial results are publicly
disclosed in a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K filed with the SEC.?

(b) Other Blackout Periods. From time to time, other types of MNPI regarding the Company (such as negotiation of mergers,
acquisitions or dispositions, prospective financings, investigation and assessment of cybersecurity incidents or new product or service developments)
may be pending and not be publicly disclosed. While such MNPI is pending, the Company may impose special blackout periods during which
Covered Persons are prohibited from trading in the Company’s securities. If the Company imposes a special blackout period, it will notify the
Covered Persons affected.

(c) Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan Exception. These trading restrictions do not apply to transactions under a written contract, instruction,
plan or arrangement for the purchase or sale of the Company’s securities (each, a “I10b5-1 Plan”) intended to satisfy the affirmative defense
conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c)(1) under the Exchange Act (“Rule 10b5-1) that has been adopted and approved pursuant to the Rule 10b5-1 Trading
Plan Guidelines in Appendix A hereto (an “Approved 10b5-1 Plan™). Please refer to Appendix A hereto for the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan Guidelines
or contact the Compliance Officer if you have questions.

2 For example: if the Company expects to file a Form 10-Q with the SEC on Tuesday, April 25™ for the first quarter ended Friday, March 31%, the quarterly blackout period
would begin at the close of trading on Friday, March 17% (i.e., two weeks before quarter-end) and end at the close of trading on Thursday, April 27% (i.e., two trading days
after the Form 10-Q is filed).



2. Trading Window

Covered Persons are permitted to trade in the Company’s securities when no blackout period is in effect. However, even during this open
trading window, a Covered Person who is in possession of any MNPI should not trade in the Company’s securities until the information has been
made publicly available or is no longer material. In addition, the Company may close this trading window if a special blackout period under Part II,
Section 1(b) above is imposed and will re-open the trading window once the special blackout period has ended.

3. Covered Persons Must Pre-Clear Securities Transactions
(a) Because Covered Persons are likely to obtain MNPI on a regular basis, the Company requires all Covered Persons to refrain from

any transactions in the Company’s securities, even during an open trading window under Part II, Section 2 above, without first pre-clearing the
transactions with the Compliance Officer by providing details of the proposed transaction, including the number and type of securities to be sold or
purchased, to the Compliance Officer at least two (2) trading days prior to the proposed transaction.

(b) In the event a Covered Person enters into any 10b5-1 Plan or a Company Insider enters into any Non-Rule 10b5-1 Trading
Arrangement, the Covered Person or Company Insider, as applicable, will pre-clear such Trading Plan with the Compliance Officer by providing
details of the proposed Trading Plan to the Compliance Officer at least two (2) trading days prior to the adoption date of such Trading Plan. Such
notice must include (i) whether the Trading Plan is intended to be a 10b5-1 Plan, (ii) the name and title of the Covered Person, (iii) the proposed
duration of the Trading Plan, and (iv) the aggregate number of securities to be purchased or sold pursuant to the Trading Plan. If the Trading Plan is
approved in the sole discretion of the Compliance Officer, the Covered Person will promptly notify the Covered Person of the date on which the
Covered Person adopted the Trading Plan.

(c) Subject to the exemption in subsection (e) below for Approved 10b5-1 Plans, no Covered Person may, directly or indirectly,
purchase or sell (or otherwise make any transfer, pledge or loan of) any Company security at any time without first obtaining pre-clearance from the
Compliance Officer. These procedures also apply to transactions by such Covered Person’s spouse, other persons living in such Covered Person’s
household and minor children and to transactions by entities over which such Covered Person exercises control.

(d) Unless revoked, a grant of permission for a Covered Person to execute a trade in the Company’s securities will normally remain
valid until the close of trading two (2) trading days following the day on which it was granted. If the transaction does not occur during the two-

trading day period, the pre-clearance will expire, and the Covered Person must re-request pre-clearance of the transaction from the Compliance
Officer.

(e) Pre-clearance is not required for purchases and sales of securities under an Approved 10b5-1 Plan. Any third party effecting
transactions on behalf of the Covered Person pursuant to an Approved 10b5-1 Plan should be instructed to send duplicate confirmations of all such
transactions to the Compliance Officer at the end of each trading day during which trades are executed under such Approved 10b5-1 Plan.



4, Prohibited Transactions

(a) Covered Persons are prohibited from trading in the Company’s equity securities during a blackout period imposed under an
“individual account” retirement or pension plan of the Company, during which at least 50% of the plan participants are unable to purchase, sell or
otherwise acquire or transfer an interest in the Company’s equity securities, due to a temporary suspension of trading by the Company or the plan
fiduciary. Covered Persons will be notified in advance of such “pension plan” trading blackout periods.

(b) Covered Persons, including any person’s spouse, other persons living in such person’s household and minor children and entities
over which such person exercises control, are prohibited from engaging in the following transactions unless pre-clearance is obtained from the

Compliance Officer:

i. Short-term trading. Company Insiders who purchase Company securities may not sell any Company securities of the same class for
at least six (6) months after the purchase;

il. Short sales. Company Insiders and Covered Persons may not sell the Company’s securities short or trade in any derivative securities,
the effect of which is to hedge or otherwise create a short position in the Company’s securities;

ii. Onptions trading. Covered Persons may not buy or sell puts or calls or other derivative securities on the Company’s securities;

iv. Trading_on margin or pledging. Covered Persons may not hold Company securities in a margin account or pledge Company
securities as collateral for a loan; and

V. Hedging. Covered Persons may not enter into hedging or monetization transactions or similar arrangements with respect to Company
securities.

As adopted by the Board of Directors of Wheels Up Experience Inc. on February 16, 2023.

* % %



ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND CERTIFICATION

The undersigned does hereby acknowledge receipt of the Company’s Amended and Restated Insider Trading Policy. The undersigned has
read and understands (or has had explained) the Company’s Amended and Restated Insider Trading Policy and agrees to be governed by such Policy
at all times in connection with the purchase and sale of securities and the confidentiality of nonpublic information.

(Signature)

(Please print name)

Date:

[Acknowledgement and Certification to Wheels Up Experience Inc.’s Amended and Restated Insider Trading Policy]



APPENDIX A
RULE 10B5-1 TRADING PLAN GUIDELINES

These Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan Guidelines (the “Guidelines”) address minimum requirements for directors, officers, employees and contractors
seeking to adopt or modify any 10b5-1 Plan. Terms used but not defined in these Guidelines have the meanings set forth in the Company’s Amended
and Restated Insider Trading Policy.

The Compliance Officer, in its sole discretion, may approve, or determine not to approve, any 10b5-1 Plan on the basis of the requirements set forth
in this Appendix A, applicable law or the advice of counsel. Compliance with these Guidelines, and approval of a 10b5-1 Plan by the Compliance
Officer, does not guarantee the affirmative defense under Rule 10b5-1 will be available to any person. The affirmative defense relies on facts and
circumstances, which will be determined with hindsight bias after all facts are known. Please refer any questions to the Compliance Officer or to
your broker or independent legal counsel.

What is a 10b5-1 Plan?

A “10b5-1 Plan” is any written contract, instruction, plan or arrangement for the purchase or sale of the Company’s securities intended to satisfy the
affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1. The rule provides an affirmative defense to persons, including directors, officers, employees and
contractors, when trading in the Company’s securities, which helps protect against claims of trades on the basis of MNPI. Trades under a 10b5-1 Plan
are made pursuant to pre-set instructions given at a time when the trader was not aware of any MNPI. Thus, by adopting a Rule 105-1 Trading Plan,
a person is giving future instructions to make trades in the Company’s securities (see “Required Provisions in 10b5-1 Plan” for specific details about
determining trade amounts, prices and dates).

Guidelines Apply to Specific Persons

The requirements of Rule 10b5-1 and these Guidelines apply to all directors, officers, employees and contractors of the Company. In some cases,
directors, officers and/or Covered Persons are subject to stricter requirements under Rule 10b5-1, which are specifically noted in these Guidelines.

Compliance Officer Pre-Clearance Required for Covered Persons

Covered Persons: Pre-clearance by the Compliance Officer is required before a Covered Person may enter into a proposed 10b5-1 Plan. Please
contact the Compliance Officer or the Legal Department to determine if you are a Covered Person.

Persons Other Than Covered Persons: No pre-clearance by the Compliance Officer is required. However, it may be prudent to obtain pre-clearance if
you believe you are in possession of MNPL.

You may not adopt or modify a 10b5-1 Plan:

e when in possession of MNPI;
e during any Company trading blackout period (see the Company’s Amended and Restated Insider Trading Policy); or



« if the first trade to be executed is less than the applicable Mandatory Cooling Off Period after adoption or modification of the 10b5-1 Plan
(see “Mandatory Cooling Off Period”).

Mandatory Cooling-Off Period

Employees and Contractors: The first trade under a 10b5-1 Plan adopted or modified by an employee or contractor (other than a director or officer)
must not occur less than 30 days after adoption or modification.

Directors and Officers: The first trade under a 10b5-1 Plan adopted or modified by a director or officer must not occur before the later of:

* 90 days after adopting or modifying such plan; or
* two (2) business days after public filing of the Form 10-Q or Form 10-K covering the quarter in which such 10b5-1 Plan was adopted (but
not to exceed 120 days).

The cooling-off periods above apply to all 10b5-1 Plans, including any to effect a sell-to-cover transaction, and are referred to herein as “Mandatory
Cooling-Off Periods.”

Effect of 10b5-1 Plan Modification

Any material modification of a 10b5-1 Plan (i.e., changing prices, amounts and dates) is viewed as adoption of a new plan under Rule 10b5-1. Any
material modification is subject to the same requirements and procedures for adoption of a new plan under Rule 10b5-1 and these Guidelines
(including, if applicable, Compliance Officer pre-approval).

Required Provisions in 10b5-1 Plan

Brokers, not the Company, provide 10b5-1 Plan forms. Each broker’s 10b5-1 Plan form is different. However, the Company requires that the
following provisions be in each 10b5-1 Plan:

» the amount or a written formula, algorithm or computer program for determining the:
o amount of securities to be purchased or sold; and
o purchase and sale prices;
» dates or date ranges for execution of transactions (or discernible formulas to determine each);
* representations that:
o the person entering into the plan is not aware of any MNPI about the Company or its securities,
o the 10b5-1 Plan is being entered into in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b-5; and
* aprohibition against:
o altering or deviating from the 10b5-1 Plan without complying with the requirements of this Policy, including these Guidelines, Rule
10b5-1 and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, and the interpretations thereof; and
o entering into or altering a corresponding hedging transaction or position with respect to securities subject to the 10b5-1 Plan.
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The Compliance Officer may have additional questions about, or decline to approve, any 10b5-1 Plan that:

* requires the Company to indemnify the broker or any other person in connection with the 10b5-1 Plan;

» requires the Company to make any covenants, representations and warranties, or other certifications that the 10b5-1 Plan is compliant with
the Company’s internal policies or any requirements under federal securities laws (including Rule 10b5-1);

» for Covered Persons, does not require notice by the broker to the Compliance Officer of executed trades and does not include Company
contact information; or

» utilizes a broker that is not reputable or well-known in the securities or financial planning industries.

Rule 10b5-1 prohibits use of multiple overlapping 10b5-1 Plans, subject to the exceptions below. “Overlap” relates to the period of time during
which trades will be executed. Thus, you may not have a 10b5-1 Plan for purchases of securities and a separate plan for sales of securities covering
the same period of time or dates.

Exceptions: Subject to the requirement of Rule 10b5-1(c)(1)(ii)(D):

* multiple 10b5-1 Plans with different brokers as part of a “common scheme” of purchases or sales;
+ separate plans that are successive (subject to a waiting period between each separate plan®); and
« adopt certain plans covering certain “sell-to-cover” transactions.

Limitations on “Single Trade” Plans

Rule 10b5-1 does not permit use of more than one open-market “single-trade” 10b5-1 Plan during any consecutive 12-month period. The only
exception is for “sell-to-cover” transactions.

“Sell-to-Cover” Transactions

A “sell-to-cover” transaction is a sale of securities to satisfy tax withholding obligations arising from the vesting of a compensatory award, such as
restricted stock or restricted stock units (but does not extend to sales incident to the exercise of stock options).* The restriction on multiple
overlapping 10b5-1 Plans and limitation on “single-trade” 10b5-1 Plans described above do not apply to “sell-to-cover” transactions.

Any 10b5-1 Plan for “sell-to-cover” transactions must meet the other requirements of Rule 10b5-1 and these Guidelines, including, Compliance
Officer pre-approval for Covered Persons.

Timing Limitations on Successive 10b5-1 Plans

It is possible to have one earlier-commencing and one later-commencing 10b5-1 Plan. However, trading under the later-commencing 10b5-1 Plan
may not begin until after all trades under the earlier-commencing plan are completed, cancelled or expired without execution. In this scenario, the
later-commencing plan is treated as being adopted on the date the earlier-commencing plan ends. The later-commencing plan must comply with the
Mandatory Cooling-Off Period as-if it was adopted on the day the earlier-commencing plan

3 See “Timing Limitations on Successive 10b5-1 Plans.”

4 To the extent you hold convertible securities that were issued for compensatory purposes other than restricted stock or restricted stock units (e.g., profits interest),
the Compliance Officer may determine, with the advice of counsel, whether a “sell-to-cover” transaction with respect to the vesting or conversion thereof satisfies
the exception for “sell-to-cover” transactions under Rule 10b5-1, after considering, without limitation, interpretations by the SEC or its staff.
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ended. Thus, the first trade under the later-commencing plan may not occur until at least 30 days after the earlier-commencing plan ends (longer
period applies to directors and officers; see “Mandatory Cooling Off Period”).

Director and Officer Disclosure Obligations

Directors and Officers: Beginning in 2025, the adoption, modification or termination of a 10b5-1 Plan by a director or officer must be disclosed in

the next Form 10-K or Form 10-Q filing. The disclosure must include the director’s or officer’s name and the material terms (except for prices) of the
10b5-1 Plan.

Beginning April 1, 2023, any Form 4 or Form 5 filed by a director or officer must note whether the trade was executed pursuant to a 10b5-1 Plan by
both checking a box on the form and including footnote disclosure of the existence and date of adoption of the applicable 10b5-1 Plan.

All Other Persons: Although other Covered Persons must disclose a proposed 10b5-1 Plan to the Compliance Officer for pre-approval, other persons
(other than directors and officers) are not required to disclose a 10b5-1 Plan to any other person, and the Company is not required to disclose in its

SEC filings.

Penalties for Violation

A violation of Rule 10b5-1 has serious personal consequences, including potential investigation and action by the SEC or U.S. Department of
Justice, forfeiture of any profits earned in improper transactions, monetary penalties, sanctions and imprisonment. The Company would also consider
any violation of Rule 10b5-1 by an officer, employee or contractor to be a violation of the Company’s Amended and Restated Insider Trading Policy,
and constitute conduct for which disciplinary action may be taken, up to and including termination.

As adopted by the Board of Directors of Wheels Up Experience Inc. on February 16, 2023.

* %k

% Disclosures about director and officer 10b5-1 Plans will first appear in the Company’s Form 10-K for fiscal year 2024, which will be filed in 1Q 2025. Similar
disclosures must appear in all subsequent Form 10-Ks and Form 10-Qs.
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APPENDIX B

L1°

® Names of employees (other than Executive Officers) to whom this Amended and Restated Insider Trading Policy is applicable to be listed.



SUBSIDIARIES OF WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.

Name of Subsidiary

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2024

Jurisdiction of Organization

Exhibit 21.1

Aircraft Charter Company Three, LLC
Aircraft Charter Company Two, LLC

Aircraft Holding Company One, LLC

Air Partner Aviation Services Limited

Air Partner CHS Limited

Air Partner Group Limited

Air Partner Havacilik ve Tasimacilik

Air Partner International GmbH

Air Partner International SAS

Air Partner Investments Limited

Air Partner Limited

Air Partner LLC

Air Partner Middle East DMCC

Air Partner S.r.1.

Apex AP MidCo Inc.

Apex Kenyon MidCo Inc.

Avianis Systems LLC

Baines Simmons Limited

Cincinnati Aviation Services LLC

Hire Up Talent Services LLC

Kenyon International Emergency Services Limited
Kenyon International Emergency Services LLC
Redline Aviation Security Limited

Safeskys Limited

TMC UP Holdings LLC

Travel Management Company, LLC

Travel Management Company Holdings, LLC

Travel Management Company Intermediate Holdings, LLC

Travel Management Company Intermediate Holdings II, LLC

Wheels Up Blocker Sub LLC
Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLC

Indiana

Indiana

Indiana

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Republic of Tiirkiye
Germany

France

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Delaware
United Arab Emirates
Italy

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
United Kingdom
Delaware
Delaware
United Kingdom
Delaware
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Delaware
Indiana
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

Delaware



Wheels Up Partners LLC
Wheels Up Private Jets LLC
Wheels Up TOA Holdings LLC
Wheels Up UK Limited

Delaware
Kentucky
Delaware
United Kingdom




Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our reports dated March 11, 2025, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and internal control over financial reporting
included in the Annual Report of Wheels Up Experience Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024. We consent to the incorporation
by reference of said reports in the Registration Statements of Wheels Up Experience Inc. on Forms S-3 (File No. 333-284063 and File No. 333-
258418) and on Forms S-8 (File No. 333-280065, File No. 333-280062, File No. 333-272347, and File No. 333-259636).

/s GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York, New York
March 11, 2025



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, George Mattson, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report of Wheels Up Experience Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 11, 2025 By:  /s/ George Mattson

Name: George Mattson
Title: Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF INTERIM CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Eric Cabezas, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report of Wheels Up Experience Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 11, 2025 By:  /s/ Eric Cabezas

Name: Eric Cabezas
Title: Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Wheels Up Experience Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, as filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, George Mattson, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted
pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. To my knowledge, the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company as of and for the period covered by the Report.

Date: March 11, 2025 By:  /s/ George Mattson

Name: George Mattson
Title: Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Wheels Up Experience Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Eric Cabezas, Interim Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as
adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. To my knowledge, the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company as of and for the period covered by the Report.

Date: March 11, 2025 By:  /s/ Eric Cabezas

Name: Eric Cabezas
Title: Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



